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Interest on the Series 2020 Bonds is not excludable from gross income for federal income tax purposes pursuant to Section
103(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. See “TAX MATTERS” for a brief description of certain federal
income tax consequences to certain recipients of interest on the Series 2020 Bonds. The Series 2020 Bonds and the interest
thereon will be exempt from all State, county, municipal and school district and other taxes or assessments imposed within the
State of South Carolina, except estate, transfer and certain franchise taxes.
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Dated: Date of Issuance Due: June 1 as shown on the inside cover

The City of Spartanburg, South Carolina (“City” or “Issuer”), is issuing its Taxable Water System Refunding Revenue
Bonds, Series 2020 (“Series 2020 Bonds”) to defray all or a portion of the costs of (1) refunding the City’s outstanding
$27,255,000 Water System Revenue Bonds, Series 2013, and (2) paying the costs and expenses relating to the issuance of the
Series 2020 Bonds, all as more fully described herein.

The Series 2020 Bonds are being issued pursuant to the terms of a bond ordinance enacted by the City Council of the City
(“City Council”) on October 26, 1998, as amended by an ordinance of the City Council enacted on December 10, 2001, a series
ordinance enacted by the City Council on February 24, 2020, and a series resolution adopted by the Commissioners of Public
Works of the City (“Commissioners”), the governing body of the water system of the City (the “System”), on February 25, 2020.
The Series 2020 Bonds are payable from and secured by a pledge of that portion of the Gross Revenues of the System, as shall
remain after payment of all Operation and Maintenance Expenses of the System and by a statutory lien on the System. See
“SECURITY FOR THE SERIES 2020 BONDS” herein for a description of the priority of such pledges and liens.

THE SERIES 2020 BONDS ARE SUBJECT TO OPTIONAL AND MANDATORY REDEMPTION PRIOR TO
MATURITY AS DESCRIBED HEREIN.

The principal and redemption price of the Series 2020 Bonds are payable at the principal corporate trust office of The
Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as trustee, registrar and paying agent for the Series 2020 Bonds. Interest on
the Series 2020 Bonds is payable semiannually on June 1 and December 1 of each year, commencing December 1, 2020.

The Series 2020 Bonds will be issued as fully registered bonds in denominations of $5,000 or integral multiples thereof.
The Bonds will initially be registered only in the name of Cede & Co. as nominee of The Depository Trust Company, New York,
New York (“DTC”), as securities depository for the Bonds. See “THE SERIES 2020 BONDS-Book-Entry System” herein.

THE SERIES 2020 BONDS WILL NOT CONSTITUTE AN INDEBTEDNESS OF THE CITY, NOR A
CHARGE, LIEN OR ENCUMBRANCE, LEGAL OR EQUITABLE, UPON ANY PROPERTY OF THE CITY OR
THE COMMISSIONERS, OR ANY INCOME, RECEIPTS OR REVENUES THEREOF, OTHER THAN THAT
PORTION OF THE GROSS REVENUES OF THE SYSTEM PLEDGED THERETO AS DESCRIBED HEREIN.
NO RECOURSE MAY BE HAD FOR THE PAYMENT OF THE SERIES 2020 BONDS OR THE INTEREST
THEREON AGAINST THE GENERAL FUND OF THE CITY. THE FAITH, CREDIT, AND TAXING POWER
OF THE CITY ARE NOT PLEDGED THERETO.

This cover page contains certain information for quick reference only. It is not a summary of the issue. Investors should
read the entire Official Statement to obtain information essential to the making of an informed investment decision.

The Series 2020 Bonds are offered when, as and if issued and delivered to the Underwriters and are subject to the approval
of legality and of certain other legal matters by Bond Counsel, Haynsworth Sinkler Boyd, P.A., Greenville, South Carolina.
Certain legal matters will be passed upon for the Underwriters, by their counsel, Parker Poe Adams & Bernstein LLP, Columbia,
South Carolina, for the Commissioners by their counsel, Haynsworth Sinkler Boyd, P.A., Greenville, South Carolina, and for
the City by the City Attorney, Robert P. Coler, Spartanburg, South Carolina. First Tryon Advisors serves as financial advisor to
the Commissioners. Haynsworth Sinkler Boyd, P.A., Charleston, South Carolina, serves as Disclosure Counsel. It is expected
that the Series 2020 Bonds will be available for delivery through the facilities of DTC, on or about May 28, 2020.

Stephens Inc.

Dated: April 23,2020



$28,875,000
CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA
TAXABLE WATER SYSTEM REFUNDING REVENUE BONDS

SERIES 2020
MATURITY SCHEDULE
Due Principal Interest
June 1 Amount Rate Yield CUSIP!

2021 $ 215,000 1.309% 1.309% 847184VD7
2022 220,000 1.349 1.349 847184VES5
2023 225,000 1.596 1.596 847184VF2
2024 230,000 1.769 1.769 847184VG0
2025 235,000 1.869 1.869 847184VHS
2026 615,000 1.908 1.908 847184VJ4
2027 1,005,000 1.958 1.958 847184VKl
2028 1,345,000 2.085 2.085 847184VL9
2029 1,375,000 2.185 2.185 847184VM7
2030 1,405,000 2.235 2.235 847184VN5
2031 1,435,000 2.355 2.355 847184VPO0
2032 1,470,000 2.455 2.455 847184VQ8
2033 1,510,000 2.555 2.555 847184VR6
2034 1,545,000 2.655 2.655 847184VS4
2035 1,585,000 2.755 2.755 847184VT2

$6,810,000 2.914% Term Bond due June 1, 2039, Yield 2.914%, CUSIP 847184VU9
$7,650,000 3.034% Term Bond due June 1, 2043, Yield 3.034%, CUSIP 847184VV7

! Copyright, American Bankers Association. CUSIP data herein are provided by CUSIP Global Services. The CUSIP numbers listed
above are being provided solely for the convenience of bondholders only at the time of issuance of the Series 2020 Bonds, and the
Issuer makes no representation with respect to such numbers nor undertakes any responsibility for their accuracy now or at any time
in the future.



In connection with this offering, the Underwriters may over allot or effect transactions that stabilize or
maintain the market price of the Series 2020 Bonds at a level above that which might otherwise prevail in the open
market, and such stabilizing, if commenced, may be discontinued at any time.

No dealer, broker, salesman or other person has been authorized to give any information or to make any
representation in connection with this offering other than as contained in this Official Statement, and, if given or made,
such other information or representation must not be relied upon. This Official Statement does not constitute an offer
to sell, or the solicitation of an offer to buy, nor shall there be any sale of the Series 2020 Bonds by any person, in any
jurisdiction in which it is not lawful for such person to make such offer, solicitation or sale. The information set forth
herein has been obtained from the City and from other sources that are deemed to be reliable. Neither the delivery of
this Official Statement nor the sale of any of the Series 2020 Bonds implies that the information herein is correct as
of any time subsequent to the date hereof. The information contained herein is subject to change after the date of this
Official Statement, and this Official Statement speaks only as of its date.

THE SERIES 2020 BONDS WILL NOT BE REGISTERED OR QUALIFIED WITH THE SECURITIES
AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION BY REASON OF THE PROVISIONS OF SECTION 3(A)(2) OF THE
SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED, AND SECTION 304(A)(4) OF THE TRUST INDENTURE ACT OF
1939, AS AMENDED. THE REGISTRATION OR QUALIFICATION OF THE SERIES 2020 BONDS IN
ACCORDANCE WITH APPLICABLE PROVISIONS OF SECURITIES LAWS OF THE STATES IN WHICH THE
SERIES 2020 BONDS HAVE BEEN REGISTERED OR QUALIFIED, AND THE EXEMPTION FROM
REGISTRATION OR QUALIFICATION IN OTHER STATES, SHALL NOT BE REGARDED AS A
RECOMMENDATION THEREOF.

These securities have not been recommended by any federal or state securities commission or regulatory
authority. Furthermore, the foregoing authorities have not confirmed the accuracy or determined the adequacy of the
document. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

All quotations from and summaries and explanations of laws and documents herein do not purport to be
complete, and reference is made to such laws and documents for full and complete statements of their provisions. Any
statements made in this Official Statement involving estimates or matters of opinion, whether or not expressly so
stated, are intended merely as estimates or opinions and not as representations of fact. The information and expressions
of opinion herein are subject to change without notice, and neither the delivery of this Official Statement nor any sale
of the Series 2020 Bonds shall under any circumstance create any implication that there has been any change in the
affairs of the City since the date hereof.

This Official Statement contains forecasts, projections, and estimates that are based on current expectations
but are not intended as representations of fact or guarantees of results. If and when included in this Official Statement,
the words “expects,” “forecasts,” “projects,” “intends,” “anticipates,” “estimates,” and analogous expressions are
intended to identify forward-looking statements as defined in the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and any such
statements inherently are subject to a variety of risks and uncertainties, which could cause actual results to differ
materially from those contemplated in such forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements speak only
as of the date of this Official Statement. The City disclaims any obligation or undertaking to release publicly any
updates or revisions to any forward-looking statement contained herein to reflect any change in the City’s expectations
with regard thereto or any change in events, conditions, or circumstances on which any such statement is based.

ER T3 EERNT ER)

The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as Trustee, Registrar and Paying Agent, has not
provided, or undertaken to determine the accuracy of, any of the information contained in this Official Statement and
makes no representation or warranty, express or implied, as to (i) the accuracy or completeness of such information,
(i1) the validity of the Series 2020 Bonds, or (iii) the tax status of the interest on the Series 2020 Bonds.

The Underwriters have provided the following sentence for inclusion in this Official Statement. The
Underwriters have reviewed the information in this Official Statement in accordance with, and as part of, their
responsibility to investors under the federal securities laws as applied to the facts and circumstances of this transaction,
but the Underwriters make no representation or warranty, express or implied, as to (1) the accuracy or completeness
of such information, (2) the validity of the Series 2020 Bonds, or (3) the tax status of the interest on the Series 2020
Bonds.
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SUMMARY STATEMENT

The following Summary Statement is qualified in its entirety by the more detailed information and financial
statements contained elsewhere in this Olfficial Statement and the Appendices hereto (collectively, the “Olfficial
Statement”). Unless otherwise defined in this Summary Statement, all capitalized terms used in this Summary Statement
shall have the meanings ascribed to them elsewhere in the Olfficial Statement and in Appendix B - “BOND ORDINANCE
TOGETHER WITH AMENDMENTS.” The offering of the Series 2020 Bonds to potential investors is made only by means
of this entire Official Statement, and no person is authorized to detach this Summary Statement from the Official Statement
or to otherwise use it without the entire Official Statement.

The Issuer

The Series 2020 Bonds

Dated Date and Date
of Delivery of Series
2020 Bonds

Interest Payments
Maturities

Redemption

Purpose of the Issue

Security

Tax Status of Interest
on the Series 2020
Bonds

The City of Spartanburg, South Carolina (“City” or “Issuer”), incorporated in 1831, serves as
the county seat and has an area of 19.5 square miles. See Appendix D - “INFORMATION
REGARDING THE CITY OF SPARTANBURG AND SPARTANBURG COUNTY,
SOUTH CAROLINA.”

The $28,875,000 City of Spartanburg, South Carolina, Taxable Water System Refunding
Revenue Bonds, Series 2020 (the “Series 2020 Bonds”) are being issued by the Issuer, initially
in book-entry only form in principal amounts of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof. See
“THE SERIES 2020 BONDS.”

The Series 2020 Bonds will be initially dated their date of delivery, and will bear interest from
such date. It is expected that the Series 2020 Bonds will be available for delivery through the
facilities of The Depository Trust Company in New York, New York on or about May 28, 2020.

Interest on the Series 2020 Bonds (calculated on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day
months) will be payable on each June 1 and December 1 commencing December 1, 2020.

The Series 2020 Bonds mature serially on June 1, 2021 to 2035, and as term bonds on June 1,
2039 and June 1, 2043 as indicated on the inside cover hereof.

The Series 2020 Bonds are subject to optional and mandatory redemption prior to maturity as
set forth herein.

The Series 2020 Bonds are being issued to (i) provide funds to refund the Refunded Bonds (as
defined herein); and (ii) pay the costs and expenses of issuance of the Series 2020 Bonds. See
“SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS” and “PLAN OF REFUNDING.”

The Series 2020 Bonds and the interest thereon are payable solely from and shall be secured by
a pledge of the portion of the Gross Revenues of the System remaining after payment of all
Operation and Maintenance Expenses of the System, and by a statutory lien on the System.
Such Series 2020 Bonds shall not constitute an indebtedness of the City within the meaning of
any provision, limitation or restriction of the constitution or the laws of the State of South
Carolina, other than those provisions authorizing indebtedness payable solely from a revenue-
producing project not involving revenues from any tax or license; and the faith, credit and taxing
power of the City are expressly not pledged therefor. The City is not obligated to pay any of
the Series 2020 Bonds or the interest thereon except from the Gross Revenues of the System.
See “SECURITY FOR THE BONDS.”

Interest on the Series 2020 Bonds is not excludable from gross income for federal income tax
purposes pursuant to Section 103(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. See
“TAX MATTERS?” for a brief description of certain federal income tax consequences to certain
recipients of interest on the Series 2020 Bonds. The Series 2020 Bonds and the interest thereon
will be exempt from all State, county, municipal and school district and other taxes or
assessments imposed within the State of South Carolina, except estate, transfer and certain
franchise taxes.



Professionals Involved
in the Offering

Authorization

Continuing Disclosure

General

Haynsworth Sinkler Boyd, P.A., Greenville, South Carolina, is serving as Bond Counsel.
Certain legal matters will be passed upon for the Issuer by Robert P. Coler and for the
Commissioners of Public Works of the City (the “Commissioners”) by Haynsworth Sinkler
Boyd, P.A., Greenville, South Carolina. Haynsworth Sinkler Boyd, P.A., Charleston, South
Carolina, is serving as Disclosure Counsel. Parker Poe Adams & Bernstein, LLP, Columbia,
South Carolina, is serving as Underwriter's Counsel. The Bank of New York Mellon Trust
Company, N.A. is serving as Trustee, Paying Agent and Registrar. First Tryon Advisors is
serving as Financial Advisor.

The Series 2020 Bonds are being issued pursuant to terms of Title 6, Chapter 21, Code of Laws
of South Carolina, 1976, as amended from time to time, and a bond ordinance enacted by the
City Council of the City (“City Council””) on October 26, 1998, as amended by an ordinance
of the City Council enacted on December 10, 2001, a series ordinance enacted by the City
Council on February 24, 2020, and a series resolution adopted by the Commissioners on
February 25, 2020. See “INTRODUCTION - Authorization.”

The Issuer has undertaken, pursuant to a covenant to comply with Rule 15¢2-12 promulgated
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Rule”), for the benefit of holders
of the Series 2020 Bonds, to provide certain financial information and operating data relating to
the Issuer by not later than the last day of the seventh month after the end of each fiscal year
commencing with the fiscal year ending June 30, 2020 (the “Annual Information”), and to
provide notices of the occurrence of certain enumerated events. The Annual Information and
the event notices will be filed by or on behalf of the Issuer with the Municipal Securities
Rulemaking Board through its Electronic Municipal Market Access (“EMMA”) system (and
with the State Information Depository, if any, established by the State of South Carolina). These
covenants have been made in order to assist the original purchaser of the Series 2020 Bonds in
complying with the Rule. The nature of the information to be provided in the Annual
Information and the notices of certain significant events are set forth under the caption
“CONTINUING DISCLOSURE.”

This Official Statement speaks only as of its date, and the information contained herein is subject
to change. A copy of the Official Statement will be deposited with the Municipal Securities
Rulemaking Board through EMMA. Copies of the Official Statement, the Bond Ordinance, the
Series Ordinance and the Series Resolution (as such terms are defined herein) and other relevant
documents and information regarding the documents are available from the office of G. Newton
Pressley, Chief Financial Officer, Commissioners of Public Works, (864) 580-5620, 200
Commerce Street, Spartanburg, South Carolina 29304.

The Official Statement, including the cover page, inside cover page and the attached
Appendices, contains specific information relating to the Series 2020 Bonds, the Issuer and the
System and other information pertinent to this issue. See “THE WATER SYSTEM” and
Appendix A for financial information relating to the System.

All information included herein has been provided by the Commissioners except where
attributed to other sources. The summaries and references to all documents, statutes, reports
and other instruments referred to herein do not purport to be complete, comprehensive or
definitive, and each such reference or summary is qualified in its entirety by reference to each
such document, statute, report or other instrument.

il



OFFICIAL STATEMENT

$28,875,000
CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA
TAXABLE WATER SYSTEM REFUNDING REVENUE BONDS
SERIES 2020

INTRODUCTION

General

This Official Statement, which includes the cover page hereof, the inside cover page, the table of contents and
the appendices hereto, is provided to furnish certain information in connection with the offering of $28,875,000
aggregate principal amount of Taxable Water System Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2020 (the “Series 2020 Bonds™)
to be issued by the City of Spartanburg, South Carolina (the “City”).

For a more complete description of the terms and conditions of the Series 2020 Bonds, reference is made to the
Bond Ordinance (See Appendix B, “BOND ORDINANCE TOGETHER WITH AMENDMENTS”), the Series
Ordinance and the Series Resolution (all defined below under “-Authorization”). All capitalized terms used but not
defined herein have the same meaning as in the Bond Ordinance, the Series Ordinance and the Series Resolution unless
the context indicates otherwise. As used in this Official Statement, “System” or “Water System” means the facilities
for the production, supply, distribution and sale of water operated and maintained by the Commissioners of Public Works
of the City of Spartanburg, South Carolina (the “Commissioners”), together with any and all improvements, extensions
and additions thereto, or hereafter constructed or acquired.

All information included herein has been provided by the Commissioners except where attributed to other
sources. The summaries and references to all documents, statutes, reports and other instruments referred to herein do
not purport to be complete, comprehensive or definitive, and each such reference or summary is qualified in its entirety
by reference to each such document, statute, report or other instrument.

Authorization

The Series 2020 Bonds will be issued pursuant to and in accordance with Title 6, Chapter 21, Code of Laws of
South Carolina, 1976, as amended from time to time, and all other statutory authorizations (the “Act”), a Bond Ordinance
enacted by the City Council of the City (“City Council”) on October 26, 1998, as amended by an ordinance of the City
Council enacted on December 10, 2001 (“Bond Ordinance”), a series ordinance enacted by the City Council on
February 24, 2020 (“Series Ordinance”), and a series resolution adopted by the Commissioners on February 25, 2020
(“Series Resolution,” together with the Bond Ordinance and the Series Ordinance, “Authorizing Documents”).

THE SERIES 2020 BONDS WILL NOT CONSTITUTE AN INDEBTEDNESS OF THE CITY, NOR A
CHARGE, LIEN, OR ENCUMBRANCE, LEGAL OR EQUITABLE, UPON ANY PROPERTY OF THE CITY
OR THE COMMISSIONERS, OR ANY INCOME RECEIPTS OR REVENUES THEREOF, OTHER THAN
THAT PORTION OF THE GROSS REVENUES OF THE SYSTEM PLEDGED THERETO AS DESCRIBED
HEREIN. NO RECOURSE MAY BE HAD FOR THE PAYMENT OF THE SERIES 2020 BONDS OR THE
INTEREST THEREON AGAINST THE GENERAL FUND OF THE CITY. THE FAITH, CREDIT, AND
TAXING POWER OF THE CITY ARE NOT PLEDGED THERETO.

Purpose

The Series 2020 Bonds are being issued in order to defray all or a portion of the costs of (1) refunding the City’s
outstanding $27,255,000 Water System Revenue Bonds, Series 2013 (the “Refunded Bonds™), and (2) paying the costs
and expenses relating to the issuance of the Series 2020 Bonds, all as more fully described herein.

THE SERIES 2020 BONDS

Terms

General Terms. The Series 2020 Bonds will initially be issued in the form of a single, fully registered bond for
each maturity, will be dated the date of delivery, and will bear interest (payable semiannually by check or draft on June



1 and December 1 of each year, commencing December 1, 2020, computed on the basis of a 360-day year consisting of
twelve 30-day months) at the rates per annum as set forth on the inside cover page hereof. Subject to the redemption
provisions set forth herein, the Series 2020 Bonds will mature on June 1 in the years and in the amounts set forth on the
inside cover page hereof. Upon initial issuance, the ownership of each such Bond will be registered on the registration
books kept by the Registrar, The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., in the name of Cede & Co., as
nominee of DTC. See “-Book-Entry System” below.

Denominations. The Series 2020 Bonds will be available to the purchasers thereof in denominations of $5,000
or any integral multiple thereof.

Payment Provisions. The principal and redemption price of the Series 2020 Bonds shall be payable by the
Paying Agent to or upon the order of the Holder thereof upon presentation and surrender of such Series 2020 Bonds at
the designated corporate trust office of the Paying Agent. Interest is payable on each Bond Payment Date (i) by check
or draft mailed on such date to the Holder thereof at such Holder’s address as it appears on the Register maintained by
the Registrar on the fifteenth day of the month next preceding such Bond Payment Date (“Record Date™), or (ii) by wire
transfer in accordance with a written notice and completed wire instructions for a wire transfer address in the continental
United States provided by the Holder hereof to the Paying Agent not less than 20 days prior to such Bond Payment Date,
which notice may provide that it will remain in effect with respect to subsequent Bond Payment Dates unless and until
changed or revoked by subsequent notice; provided that such wire transfer shall only be made for a Holder of $1,000,000
or more in aggregate principal amount of the Series 2020 Bonds as of the close of business on the Record Date for such
Bond Payment Date. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Record Date for defaulted interest shall be the fifth day
preceding payment thereof.

Transfer, Registration and Exchange. So long as DTC or its nominee is the registered owner of the Series
2020 Bonds, registration of transfers and exchanges of beneficial ownership interests in the Series 2020 Bonds will be
available only through DTC participants, as hereinafter described. See “~-Book-Entry System” below.

Redemption Provisions

Optional Redemption. The Series 2020 Bonds maturing after June 1, 2030, are subject to redemption on or
after June 1, 2030, as a whole or in part, at any time, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of
Series 2020 Bonds to be redeemed, plus accrued interest, if any, to the redemption date.

Mandatory Redemption. The Series 2020 Bonds maturing on June 1, 2039 and June 1, 2043, are subject to
mandatory sinking fund redemption (to the extent not previously redeemed) at a redemption price of 100% of such
principal amount, plus interest accrued to the redemption date, on June 1 of each of the following years in the respective
principal amounts for each year specified below:

Year Amount”

2036 $1,630,000
2037 1,675,000
2038 1,725,000
2039* 1,780,000

*Final maturity.

Year Amount”

2040 $1,825,000
2041 1,885,000
2042 1,940,000
2043* 2,000,000

*Final maturity.

The amount of any mandatory sinking fund redemption shall be reduced to the extent Series 2020 Bonds of the
applicable maturity have been purchased by the Commissioners or redeemed by the Commissioners pursuant to any



optional redemption provisions, in such manner as the Commissioners shall direct, or, absent such direction, on a pro-
rata basis.

Notice of Redemption. If any of the Series 2020 Bonds, or portions thereof, are called for redemption, the
Trustee shall give notice to the Holders of any Series 2020 Bonds to be redeemed, in the name of the Commissioners on
behalf of the City, of the redemption of such Series 2020 Bonds, or portions thereof. Notice of each redemption of
bonds is required to be mailed by the Trustee by first class mail, postage prepaid, not less than 30 nor more than 60 days
prior to the redemption date to each registered owner of Series 2020 Bonds to be redeemed, at the address of such owner
recorded on the bond register and to be otherwise given in accordance with, among others, the following requirements:

(1)  notices must contain, at a minimum, the complete official name of the Series 2020 Bonds,
CUSIP numbers, Bond numbers, principal amount of each Bond to be redeemed (if less than
all), publication date, redemption date, redemption price, redemption agent’s name and address
with contact person and phone number, Trustee’s and Registrar’s names and addresses, date of
the Series 2020 Bonds, interest rate, maturity date, the place or places where amounts due will
be payable, and any other descriptive information deemed necessary by the Trustee;

(2)  notices must be sent to Bondholders of $1,000,000 or more, to at least two national information
services, and any Securities Depository by certified mail — return receipt requested; notices sent
to any Securities Depository must be sent so that such notice is received by such Securities
Depository at least two days prior to the mailing of such notices to Bondholders; in addition,
any Bondholder holding in excess of $1,000,000 principal amount of the Series 2020 Bonds
may request the Trustee to send notices to any additional addressee specified,;

(3) asecond notice to registered owners of the Series 2020 Bonds must be mailed by the means
specified above to any registered owner of Series 2020 Bonds who has not presented Series
2020 Bonds for redemption 60 days after the redemption date, unless the registered owner holds
the Series 2020 Bonds as depository under a book-entry system;

(4) notices of redemption effected by advance refundings must also be given in accordance with
the above requirements at least 15 days but no more than 90 days prior to the actual redemption
date;

(5)  CUSIP number identification with appropriate dollar amounts for each CUSIP number must
accompany all redemption payments and interest payments, whether by check or by wire
transfer; and

(6)  except with respect to mandatory sinking fund redemptions, no notice of redemption shall be
sent unless (a) the notice explicitly states that the proposed redemption is conditioned on there
being on deposit with the Trustee on the redemption date sufficient money to pay the full
redemption price on the Series 2020 Bonds to be redeemed or (b) sufficient funds have
previously been deposited with the Trustee to pay the full redemption price of the Series 2020
Bonds to be redeemed.

The failure of the Trustee to give notice to a Bondholder or any defect in such notice shall not affect the validity
of the redemption of any other Series 2020 Bonds for which notice is properly given. Any Bondholder may waive notice
of redemption by delivery of a written waiver to the Trustee.

Provided sufficient funds for such redemption are on deposit with the Trustee or Paying Agent, all Series 2020
Bonds so called for redemption shall cease to bear interest on the specified redemption date and shall no longer be
deemed to be outstanding under the Bond Ordinance. If said money shall not be so available on the redemption date,
such Series 2020 Bonds or portions thereof shall continue to bear interest until paid at the same rate as they would have
borne had they not been called for redemption.

Selection of Series 2020 Bonds to be Redeemed. In the event that less than all of the Series 2020 Bonds are to
be redeemed at the option of the Commissioners, Series 2020 Bonds to be redeemed shall be in such order of maturity
as selected by the Commissioners. In the event of redemption of less than all of the Series 2020 Bonds of any maturity,
the Series 2020 Bonds or portions of Series 2020 Bonds to be redeemed, shall be selected by lot by the Trustee. The
portion of any Series 2020 Bond of a denomination which is larger than the minimum denomination for the Series 2020
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Bonds shall be in the principal amount of such minimum denomination or a multiple thereof, and that, in selecting
portions of such Series 2020 Bonds for redemption, the Trustee shall treat each such Bond as representing that number
of Series 2020 Bonds of minimum denomination which is obtained by dividing the principal amount of such Bond to be
redeemed in part by the amount of the minimum denomination; provided further that, if less than all of the beneficial
interests in a Bond of a single maturity registered in the name of a Securities Depository or a Securities Depository
Nominee are to be redeemed, the beneficial interests to be redeemed shall be selected by the Securities Depository in
accordance with its rules and procedures. If there shall be drawn for redemption less than all of a Bond, the
Commissioners on behalf of the City shall execute, and the Trustee shall authenticate and deliver, upon the surrender of
such Series 2020 Bond, without charge to the owner thereof, for the unredeemed balance of the principal amount of the
Series 2020 Bond so surrendered, Series 2020 Bonds of the same Series in any authorized denomination.

Registration, Transfer and Exchange

With respect to the Series 2020 Bonds registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC, neither the
City nor the Registrar nor the Trustee nor the Paying Agent will have any responsibility or obligation to any Direct
Participant or to any Indirect Participant. See “-Book-Entry System” below for the definition of “Direct Participant,”
“Indirect Participant” and “Participant.” Without limiting the immediately preceding sentence, the City, the Registrar,
the Trustee and the Paying Agent will not have any responsibility or obligation with respect to: (i) the accuracy of records
of DTC or any Participant with respect to any ownership interest in the Series 2020 Bonds; (ii) the delivery to any
Participant or any other person other than a Bondholder, as shown in the registration books kept by the Registrar, of any
notice with respect to the Series 2020 Bonds, including any notice of redemption; or (iii) the payment to any Participant
or any other person, other than a Bondholder shown on the registration books kept by the Registrar, of any amount with
respect to principal of, premium, if any, or interest on the Series 2020 Bonds.

So long as any Series 2020 Bonds in registered form shall be Outstanding, the Commissioners shall cause books
for the registration and for the transfer of such Series 2020 Bonds to be kept. Such books shall be kept by the Trustee
unless there shall have been appointed a Registrar other than the Trustee to keep the books of registration for any
particular Series of Series 2020 Bonds. The transfer of each Series 2020 Bond may be registered only upon the
registration books of the Commissioners kept for that purpose by the registered owner thereof in person or by his duly
authorized attorney upon surrender thereof and an assignment with a written instrument of transfer satisfactory to the
Trustee or the Registrar, as the case may be, duly executed by the registered owner or his duly authorized attorney. Upon
the registration or transfer of any registered Series 2020 Bond, the Commissioners shall cause to be issued in the name
of the transferee a new Bond or Series 2020 Bonds of the same aggregate principal amount, maturity and interest rate as
the surrendered Bond.

The City, the Commissioners, the Trustee, and any Registrar or Paying Agent may deem and treat the person
in whose name any registered Bond shall be registered upon the registration books of the Commissioners as the absolute
owner of such Bond, whether such Bond shall be overdue or not, for the purpose of receiving payment of, or on account
of, the principal of, premium (if any) and interest on such Bond and for all other purposes, and all such payments so
made to any such registered owner or, upon his order, shall be valid and effectual to satisfy and discharge the liability
upon such Bond to the extent of the sum or sums so paid; and none of the Commissioners, the Trustee and any Registrar
or Paying Agent shall be affected by any notice to the contrary.

In all cases in which the privilege of exchanging or transferring bonds is exercised, the Commissioners on
behalf of the City shall execute and the Trustee or the Registrar, as the case may be, shall authenticate and deliver Series
2020 Bonds in accordance with the provisions of the Bond Ordinance. All Series 2020 Bonds surrendered in any such
exchanges or transfers shall forthwith be canceled and destroyed and shall not be reissued, and a counterpart of the
certificate of destruction evidencing such destruction shall be furnished by the Trustee or the Registrar, as the case
maybe, to the City and the Commissioners. All Series 2020 Bonds so destroyed shall thereafter no longer be considered
Outstanding for any purposes of the Authorizing Documents. There shall be no charge to the Holder for such exchange
or transfer of Series 2020 Bonds except that the Trustee or the Registrar, as the case may be, may make a charge sufficient
to reimburse it for any tax or other governmental charge required to be paid with respect to such exchange or transfer.
Neither the City, the Commissioners, nor the Trustee or the Registrar, as the case may be, shall be required to register,
transfer or exchange Series 2020 Bonds of a Series during the period between a Record Date and its related Bond
Payment Date, or during the period beginning 15 days prior to any selection of Series 2020 Bonds for redemption and
ending upon the mailing of any notice of redemption; nor shall either be required to register, transfer or exchange any
Series 2020 Bonds called for redemption.



Book-Entry System

Beneficial ownership interests in the Series 2020 Bonds will be available only in book-entry form. Beneficial
owners of the Series 2020 Bonds (“Beneficial Owners”) will not receive a physical bond certificate representing their
interests in the Series 2020 Bonds purchased. Unless and until the book-entry system has been discontinued, the Series
2020 Bonds will be available only in book-entry-only form in principal amounts of $5,000, or any integral multiple
thereof. SO LONG AS CEDE & CO., AS NOMINEE FOR DTC OR ITS NOMINEE IS THE REGISTERED OWNER
OF THE SERIES 2020 BONDS, REFERENCES IN THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT TO THE OWNERS OF THE
SERIES 2020 BONDS SHALL MEAN DTC OR ITS NOMINEE AND SHALL NOT MEAN THE BENEFICIAL
OWNERS.

THE FOLLOWING DESCRIPTION OF DTC, ITS PROCEDURES AND RECORDKEEPING ON
BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP INTEREST IN THE SERIES 2020 BONDS, PAYMENT OF INTEREST AND OTHER
PAYMENTS ON THE SERIES 2020 BONDS TO DTC PARTICIPANTS (AS DEFINED BELOW) OR TO
BENEFICIAL OWNERS OF THE SERIES 2020 BONDS, CONFIRMATION AND TRANSFER OF BENEFICIAL
OWNERSHIP INTERESTS IN THE SERIES 2020 BONDS, AND OF OTHER TRANSACTIONS BY AND
BETWEEN DTC, DTC PARTICIPANTS AND BENEFICIAL OWNERS IS BASED SOLELY ON INFORMATION
FURNISHED BY DTC TO THE SYSTEM FOR INCLUSION IN THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT. ACCORDINGLY,
THE SYSTEM MAKES NO REPRESENTATIONS CONCERNING THESE MATTERS.

Depository Trust Company. DTC will act as securities depository for the Series 2020 Bonds. The Series 2020
Bonds will be issued as fully registered bonds registered in the name of Cede & Co. (DTC’s partnership nominee) or
such other name as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. One fully registered Bond in the aggregate
principal amount of each maturity of the Series 2020 Bonds will be delivered to the Trustee through DTC’s Fast
Automated Securities Transfer system for the benefit of DTC.

DTC Participants and Indirect Participants. DTC, the world’s largest securities depository, is a limited-
purpose trust company organized under the New York Banking Law, a “banking organization” within the meaning of
the New York Banking Law, a member of the Federal Reserve System, a “clearing corporation” within the meaning of
the New York Uniform Commercial Code, and a “clearing agency” registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. DTC holds and provides asset servicing for over 3.5 million issues of U.S. and
non-U.S. equity, corporate and municipal debt issues, and money market instruments from over 100 countries that DTC's
participants (“Direct Participants”) deposit with DTC. DTC also facilitates the post-trade settlement among Direct
Participants of sales and other securities transactions in deposited securities through electronic computerized book-entry
transfers and pledges between Direct Participants' accounts. This eliminates the need for physical movement of
securities certificates. Direct Participants include both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust
companies, clearing corporations and certain other organizations. DTC is a wholly-owned subsidiary of The Depository
Trust & Clearing Corporation (“DTCC”). DTCC is the holding company for DTC, the National Securities Clearing
Corporation and Fixed Income Clearing Corporation, all of which are registered clearing agencies. Access to the DTC
system is also available to others such as both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies,
and clearing corporations that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a Direct Participant, either directly
or indirectly (“Indirect Participants”). DTC has a Standard & Poor's rating of AA+. The DTC Rules applicable to its
Participants are on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission. More information about DTC can be found at
www.dtcc.com.

Purchases of the Series 2020 Bonds under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct Participants,
which will receive a credit for the Series 2020 Bonds on DTC's records. The ownership interest of each actual purchaser
of each Bond (“Beneficial Owner™) is in turn to be recorded on the DTC Direct and Indirect Participants' records.
Beneficial Owners will not receive written confirmation from DTC of their purchase. Beneficial Owners are, however,
expected to receive written confirmations providing details of the transaction, as well as periodic statements of their
holdings, from the Direct or Indirect Participant through which the Beneficial Owner entered into the transaction.
Transfers of ownership interests in the Series 2020 Bonds are to be accomplished by entries made on the books of Direct
and Indirect Participants acting on behalf of Beneficial Owners. Beneficial Owners will not receive certificates
representing their ownership interests in Series 2020 Bonds, except in the event that use of the book-entry system for
the Series 2020 Bonds is discontinued.

To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Series 2020 Bonds deposited by Direct Participants with DTC are
registered in the name of DTC's partnership nominee, Cede & Co. or such other names as may be requested by an



authorized representative of DTC. The deposit of Series 2020 Bonds with DTC and their registration in the name of
Cede & Co. or such other DTC nominee do not affect any change in beneficial ownership. DTC has no knowledge of
the actual Beneficial Owners of the Series 2020 Bonds; DTC's records reflect only the identity of the Direct Participants
to whose accounts such Series 2020 Bonds are credited, which may or may not be the Beneficial Owners. The Direct
and Indirect Participants will remain responsible for keeping account of their holdings on behalf of their customers.

The City and the Trustee will recognize DTC or its nominee, Cede & Co., as the registered owner of the Series
2020 Bonds for all purposes. Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct
Participants to Indirect Participants, and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial Owners will be
governed by arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from
time to time.

Redemption notices shall be sent to DTC. If less than all of the Series 2020 Bonds are being redeemed, DTC's
practice is to determine by lot the amount of the interest of each Direct Participant in the Series 2020 Bonds to be
redeemed.

Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor such other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to the Series
2020 Bonds unless authorized by a Direct Participant in accordance with DTC's MMI Procedures. Under its usual
procedures, DTC mails an Omnibus Proxy to the City as soon as possible after the record date. The Omnibus Proxy
assigns Cede & Co.'s consenting or voting rights to those Direct Participants to whose accounts the Series 2020 Bonds
are credited on the record date (identified on a listing attached to the Omnibus Proxy).

Principal and interest payments on the Series 2020 Bonds will be made to Cede & Co., or such other nominee
as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. DTC's practice is to credit Direct Participants' accounts,
upon DTC's receipt of funds and corresponding detail information from the City or the Trustee on the payable date in
accordance with their respective holdings shown on DTC's records. Payments by Participants to Beneficial Owners will
be governed by standing instructions and customary practices, as is the case with securities held for the accounts of
customers in bearer form or registered in “street name,” and will be the responsibility of such Participant and not of
DTC nor its nominee, the City and the Trustee, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect
from time to time. Payment of principal and interest to Cede & Co. (or such other nominee as may be requested by an
authorized representative of DTC) is the responsibility of the City acting through the Trustee, disbursement of such
payments to Direct Participants shall be the responsibility of DTC, and disbursement of such payments to the Beneficial
Owners shall be the responsibility of Direct and Indirect Participants.

DTC may discontinue providing its services as depository with respect to the Series 2020 Bonds at any time by
giving reasonable notice to the City or the Trustee. Under such circumstances, in the event that a successor depository
is not obtained, Bond certificates are required to be printed and delivered.

The City may decide to discontinue use of the system of book-entry-only transfers through DTC (or a successor
securities depository). In that event, Bond certificates will be printed and delivered to DTC.

Mutilated, Lost, Stolen or Destroyed Series 2020 Bonds

In the event that any Bond is mutilated, lost, stolen or destroyed, the Commissioners, on behalf of the City,
shall execute and the Trustee shall authenticate a new Bond of the same date, maturity and denomination as that
mutilated, lost stolen or destroyed Bond; provided that, in the case of any mutilated Bond, such mutilated Bond shall
first be surrendered to the Trustee, and in the case of any lost, stolen or destroyed Bond, there shall be first furnished to
the Commissioners, on behalf of City, and to the Trustee evidence of such loss, theft or destruction satisfactory to the
Commissioners, on behalf of the City, and the Trustee together with such indemnity satisfactory to them. In the event
any such mutilated, lost, stolen or destroyed Bond shall have matured, instead of issuing a duplicate Bond, the
Commissioners, on behalf of the City, may pay the same. The Commissioners, on behalf of the City, and the Trustee
may charge the holder or owner of such mutilated, lost, stolen or destroyed Bond with their reasonable fees and expenses
in connection therewith.



SECURITY FOR THE SERIES 2020 BONDS

Pledged System Revenues

The Series 2020 Bonds are payable from and secured by a pledge of that portion of the Gross Revenues of the
System as shall remain after payment of all Operation and Maintenance Expenses (as such terms are defined in
Appendix B, “BOND ORDINANCE TOGETHER WITH AMENDMENTS”) and on a parity with its water system
revenue bonds as shall remain outstanding after the issuance of the Series 2020 Bonds: (1) Water System Revenue
Bond, Series 2012, in the currently outstanding principal amount of $4,695,000 (“2012 Bond”), (2) Water System
Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2015A, in the currently outstanding principal amount of $26,085,000 (“2015A
Bonds”), (3) Taxable Water System Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2015B, in the currently outstanding principal
amount of $3,840,000 (“2015B Bonds”), (4) Water System Refunding Revenue Bond, Series 2017A, in the currently
outstanding principal amount of $49,155,000 (“2017A Bond”); and (5) Water System Refunding and Improvement
Revenue Bonds, Series 2017B, in the currently outstanding principal amount of $45,930,000 (“2017B Bond,” and,
together with the 2012 Bond, the 2015A Bonds, the 2015B Bonds, the 2017A Bond, the “Parity Bonds™). The Series
2020 Bonds are further secured by a statutory lien upon the System within the meaning of Section 6-21-330 of the Act,
on a parity with the Parity Bonds. At the time of the enactment of the Bond Ordinance in 1998, there were outstanding
certain senior lien bonds secured by the Gross Revenues of the System. Those senior lien bonds are no longer
outstanding, and additional senior lien bonds are not permitted to be issued under the Bond Ordinance. As such, there
are no bonds that are senior to the Series 2020 Bonds, the Parity Bonds and any Additional Bonds issued on a parity
therewith.

The Bond Ordinance provides that all Bonds issued pursuant thereto shall be secured by a pledge of that portion
of the Gross Revenues of the System as shall remain after payment of all Operation and Maintenance Expenses. See
Appendix B, “BOND ORDINANCE TOGETHER WITH AMENDMENTS” for the definitions of Gross Revenues and
Operation and Maintenance Expenses. Pursuant to the Bond Ordinance, all Bonds are further secured by a statutory lien
upon the System within the meaning of Section 6-21-330 of the Act.

THE SERIES 2020 BONDS WILL NOT CONSTITUTE AN INDEBTEDNESS OF THE CITY, NOR A
CHARGE, LIEN OR ENCUMBRANCE, LEGAL OR EQUITABLE, UPON ANY PROPERTY OF THE CITY OR
THE COMMISSIONERS OR ON ANY INCOME, RECEIPTS OR REVENUES THEREOF, OTHER THAN THAT
PORTION OF THE GROSS REVENUES OF THE SYSTEM PLEDGED THERETO AS DESCRIBED HEREIN. NO
RECOURSE MAY BE HAD FOR THE PAYMENT OF THE SERIES 2020 BONDS OR THE INTEREST THEREON
AGAINST THE GENERAL FUND OF THE CITY. THE FAITH, CREDIT, AND TAXING POWER OF THE CITY
ARE NOT PLEDGED THERETO.

The Series 2020 Bonds will be secured on a parity in all respects with the Parity Bonds and any Additional
Bonds.

Debt Service Reserve Funds

The Bond Ordinance provides for the establishment with the Trustee of a separate debt service reserve fund
(each, a “Debt Service Reserve Fund”) for each Series of Bonds outstanding to be used to secure the timely payment of
the principal of and interest on such Series of Bonds. Unless the Commissioners determine a Reserve Requirement (as
defined herein) is not necessary, and subject to the above and additional limitations set forth in the Bond Ordinance, the
aggregate value of the securities and monies on deposit in each Debt Service Reserve Fund shall be maintained at a level
(“Reserve Requirement”) which shall be, with respect to any Series of Bonds and as of any date of calculation, the least
of (a) the greatest remaining Annual Principal and Interest Requirements for the then-current and each future fiscal year
with respect to that Series of Bonds or (b) 10% of the proceeds from the sale of that Series of Bonds at the time of
issuance of such Series or (c) 125% of the average Annual Principal and Interest Requirements for the then-current and
each future fiscal year with respect to that Series of Bonds Outstanding or (d) if interest on the Bonds is intended to be
exempt from federal income taxation, the maximum amount permitted by the Code (as defined herein) to be funded with
sales proceeds of an issue and to be invested without restriction, other than the obligation, if any to pay arbitrage rebate
to the United States Government; provided, that if the sum of the Reserve Requirements so determined for all Series of
Bonds outstanding exceeds the maximum Annual Principal and Interest Requirement for all Bonds outstanding, then the
Reserve Requirement for each Series of Bonds shall be that Series’ proportionate amount of the maximum combined
Annual Principal and Interest Requirement for all Bonds then outstanding.



Accordingly, the Commissioners have determined there will be no Reserve Requirement with respect to the
Series 2020 Bonds; provided, however, that if the sum of the Reserve Requirements so determined for all outstanding
Bonds, Parity Bonds and Additional Bonds, exceeds the maximum Annual Principal and Interest Requirement for all
bonds outstanding under the Ordinance, then the Reserve Requirement for the Series 2020 Bonds shall be its
proportionate amount, for the fiscal year in question, of the maximum Annual Principal and Interest Requirement (for
all future years) for all bonds outstanding under the Ordinance in such fiscal year. For a more detailed description of the
Reserve Requirement, see Appendix B, “BOND ORDINANCE TOGETHER WITH AMENDMENTS.”

Money, or a permissible instrument in lieu of money, on deposit in the Debt Service Reserve Fund for a Series
of Bonds shall be used only for the purposes of (i) preventing a default in the payment of debt service on such Series of
Bonds by reason of a deficiency in the Debt Service Fund for such Series of Bonds, (ii) paying the principal of, interest
on, and redemption premium, if any, on such Series of Bonds in the event that all Outstanding Bonds of such series are
to be redeemed as a whole and (iii) effecting a partial redemption of Bonds of a Series but only with funds on deposit in
the Debt Service Reserve Fund for such Series of Bonds in excess of the Reserve Requirement for such Series of Bonds.
See Appendix B, “BOND ORDINANCE TOGETHER WITH AMENDMENTS.”

Future Amendments Regarding Debt Service Reserve Funds

The City and the Commissioners intend to provide in the future that the Commissioners shall be entitled to
purchase an irrevocable and unconditional debt service reserve fund surety bond or similar instrument issued by a
municipal bond insurance company or similar financial institution (“Surety Bond”), or an irrevocable and unconditional
letter of credit of a bank or similar financial institution (“Letter of Credit”), payable to the Trustee or the Paying Agent
for the applicable Series of Bonds, in an amount equal to all or a portion of the Reserve Requirement in respect of any
Outstanding Series of Bonds (including without limitation the Series 2020 Bonds) for deposit in the applicable Debt
Service Reserve Fund, in lieu of a cash deposit therein, under the terms described in the remainder of this paragraph.
Any such Surety Bond shall have been issued by a company whose municipal bond insurance policies insuring the
payment of principal of and interest on municipal bond issues, or guaranties of such policies, result in such issues being
rated not lower than the second highest rating category by Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. (“Moody’s) or S&P Global
Ratings (“S&P”). Any such Letter of Credit shall have been issued by a bank or other financial institution which is rated
not lower than the second highest rating category by Moody’s or S&P. Any such Surety Bond or Letter of Credit shall
otherwise be required to meet the requirements of Section 7.04 of the Bond Ordinance with respect to Surety Bonds and
Letters of Credit (see Appendix B, “BOND ORDINANCE TOGETHER WITH AMENDMENTS”), except that the
ratings requirements set forth above shall be controlling.

Further, as to any Series of Bonds issued pursuant to the Bond Ordinance in addition to the Series 2020 Bonds,
the City and the Commissioners intend to provide in the future that the ratings requirements with respect to any Surety
Bond or Letter of Credit purchased in respect of a Debt Service Reserve Fund established for the benefit of the holders
of such Series of Bonds, as well as the obligation to replenish such Debt Service Reserve Fund with cash upon the
occurrence of any ratings downgrades with respect to such Surety Bond or Letter of Credit, all as currently provided in
Section 7.04 of the Bond Ordinance, may be liberalized to the degree determined by the City and the Commissioners.

The above-described proposed provisions shall only become effective upon receipt by the Trustee of a written
opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that such provisions (i) have been duly authorized, executed and delivered, (ii) are
permitted by the terms of the Bond Ordinance, and (iii) will not adversely impact the tax-exempt status of any Series of
Outstanding Bonds.

By its purchase of any Series 2020 Bond, the Holder thereof shall be deemed to have consented for all purposes
to the proposed provisions described in the preceding paragraphs under this subheading, without requirement of any
further indication of consent.

Other Funds

The Bond Ordinance also establishes the Gross Revenue Fund, a Debt Service Fund and a Debt Service Reserve
Fund for each Series of Bonds, an Operation and Maintenance Fund, and the Depreciation and Contingent Fund. With
certain limited exceptions, all Gross Revenues of the System shall be deposited in the Gross Revenue Fund which will
be held by a bank or depository selected by the Commissioners. Moneys in the Gross Revenue Fund shall be used to
pay monthly Operation and Maintenance Expenses.



The Debt Service Fund is intended to provide for the ratable payment of the principal of, and redemption
premium, if any, and interest on each Series of Bonds. With respect to the Series 2020 Bonds, the Commissioners have
established the 2020 Debt Service Fund.

The Operation and Maintenance Fund is intended to provide for the payment of such Operation and
Maintenance Expenses that have not been funded as described above. Withdrawals from this fund shall be made by or
on order of the Chief Financial Officer in accordance, as nearly as may be practicable, with the annual budget established
by the Commissioners prior to the commencement of each fiscal year.

The Depreciation and Contingent Fund, which shall be held, maintained and controlled by the Commissioners,
is intended to provide a reasonable reserve for depreciation of the System, for contingencies and for improvements,
betterments and extensions of the System.

The Commissioners have established a Rate Stabilization Fund which is designed to provide for the
stabilization of rates, and the Commissioners may determine, by resolution at any time, to deposit in the Rate
Stabilization Fund any percentage or set amount of surplus revenues, to the extent realized; provided, however, that the
amount on deposit in the Rate Stabilization Fund shall not exceed the amount budgeted for the Operation and
Maintenance Fund for the then-current fiscal year. Amounts on deposit in the Rate Stabilization Fund may, at the
direction of the Chief Financial Officer, be used to make deposits into the Operation and Maintenance Fund. Amounts
on deposit in the Rate Stabilization Fund may, at the option of the Commissioners, be withdrawn and used for any other
lawful purpose of the Commissioners, but in such event, such withdrawals for purposes other than Operation and
Maintenance Expenses shall not be included in the computation of Net Earnings under the Bond Ordinance.

For a more detailed description of these funds see Appendix B, “BOND ORDINANCE TOGETHER WITH
AMENDMENTS.”

Disposition of Gross Revenues

Gross Revenues of the System, except customers’ deposits and certain amounts, the disposition of which is
controlled by other provisions of the Bond Ordinance, are declared to be a part of the General Revenue Fund and shall
be, as received, deposited into the General Revenue Fund. The dispositions from the General Revenue Fund required
below shall be made on or before the business day which is five business days prior to the end of each month, unless
otherwise provided below, and in the order of priority established by the following sequence:

(1)  first, to the extent not paid from the General Revenue Fund as described above, for amounts budgeted
for Operation and Maintenance Expenses for the ensuing month by deposit to the Operation and
Maintenance Fund;

(2) second, for the payment of the principal of and interest on all Bonds Outstanding under the Bond
Ordinance, without priority of any Bonds over others, but ratably as to each Series of Bonds. To that
end, there shall first be deposited, to the extent not already funded at the required levels due to
accumulated interest earnings or otherwise, in the respective Debt Service Funds for the Outstanding
Series of Bonds the monthly fraction of aggregate interest and principal to come due on the next ensuing
interest payment date and principal payment date, as the case may be;

(3)  third, to the respective Debt Service Reserve Funds for the Outstanding Series of Bonds which shall be
maintained at the levels required in the authorizing proceedings of the City;

(4)  fourth, for reimbursement for payment of interest on amounts advanced by the provider of any surety
bond, line of credit, insurance policy or letter of credit with respect to any Debt Service Reserve Fund;

(5) fifth, for the payment of any indebtedness junior and subordinate to the Series 2020 Bonds;

(6)  sixth, for one-twelfth of the amounts budgeted for a reasonable reserve for depreciation of the System
and for contingencies and improvements and extensions to the System, by deposit to the Depreciation
and Contingent Fund; and

(7)  thereafter, all money remaining after making the above payments shall be used as determined from time
to time by the Commissioners for the maintenance or improvements to, or payment of debt payable from
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revenues of, or for the payment of Special Facilities Bonds, or payment into a Rate Stabilization Fund
or for any lawful purpose of the Commissioners.

2013 Transfer Agreement

With respect to any Gross Revenues remaining after the required funding referred to in subparagraphs (1)
through (6) under “-Disposition of Gross Revenues” above, the Commissioners have agreed, pursuant to the Economic
Development Participation Agreement dated June 10, 2013 (“2013 Transfer Agreement”), to make annual transfers to
the City Council, to be paid in monthly installments as follows:

(i)  for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2019, an amount calculated as follows: (a) $1,000,000, plus (b) the
product of $1,000,000 times the percent increase in the average of the twelve monthly consumer price
indices (“CPI Increase Percentage”) for the period January through December of 2017, not to exceed
two and one-half percent (2.5%); and

(i)  for each of the fiscal years ending June 30, 2020 through 2028, an amount calculated as follows: (a) the
amount of the transfer for the immediately preceding fiscal year, plus (b) the product of (1) the transfer
for the immediately preceding fiscal year, times (2) the CPI Increase Percentage for the most recent
twelve-month period consisting of January through December of the preceding calendar year (that is,
the calendar year ending immediately prior to the July 1 which is the commencement date of the fiscal
year for which the transfer is to be calculated), provided, that the CPI Increase Percentage to be utilized
in the calculation shall not result in a percentage which, when aggregated with the CPI Increase
Percentage utilized for calculation of the preceding fiscal year transfer, would exceed four and one-half
percent (4.5%).

For purposes of paragraphs (i) and (ii) above: (a) if the average of the twelve monthly consumer price indices
for the immediately preceding fiscal year is negative, the CPI Increase Percentage for the fiscal year of calculation is
deemed to be zero; and (b) the CPI Increase Percentage shall be the same percentage used by the Office of Research and
Statistics of the State Fiscal Accountability Authority for purposes of determining millage rate limitations under S.C.
Code Ann. § 6-1-320, while such statutory millage rate limitation calculation methodology remains in effect.

Under the terms of the 2013 Transfer Agreement, the Commissioners may suspend transfer payments
thereunder if, in the Commissioners’ reasonable judgment, the payment of any transfer payment due thereunder would
result in, or worsen, an unfavorable operating budget position as of such time for the applicable fiscal year. If any
unfavorable operating budget position should thereafter become positive in such fiscal year, the Commissioners are
obligated to reinstitute transfer payments in such fiscal year to the extent of such positive budget position if, in the
reasonable judgment of the Commissioners, doing so will not result in an event of default under the Authorizing
Documents or any Outstanding Bonds of the System.

The Commissioners may terminate transfer payments under the 2013 Transfer Agreement at any time prior to
the stated termination date of June 30, 2028, by providing written notice to the City of their intent to terminate by June
30 of the fiscal year prior to the last fiscal year during which transfers will be made.

Rate Covenant

The Commissioners have covenanted to maintain rates and charges for all services furnished by the System
(“Rate Covenant”), which at all times shall be sufficient:

(1)  to provide for the punctual payment of the Bonds and any Subordinate Lien Bonds that may from time
to time hereafter be Outstanding;

(2)  to maintain the Debt Service Funds and thus provide for the punctual payment of the principal of and
interest on the Bonds;

(3)  to maintain the Debt Service Reserve Funds in the manner prescribed by the Bond Ordinance;

(4)  to provide for the payment of the Operation and Maintenance Expenses;
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(5)  to build and maintain a reserve for depreciation of the System, for contingencies and for improvements,
betterments and extensions to the System other than those necessary to maintain the same in good repair
and working order;

(6) to pay all amounts owing under a reimbursement agreement with any provider of a surety bond,
insurance policy or letter of credit with respect to any Debt Service Reserve Fund; and

(7)  to discharge all obligations imposed by the Enabling Act and by the Bond Ordinance including those
obligations set forth below.

The Commissioners have further covenanted and agreed that they will, at all times, prescribe and maintain and
thereafter collect rates and charges for the services and facilities furnished by the System which, together with other
income, are reasonably expected to yield annual Net Earnings (as defined in Appendix B, “BOND ORDINANCE
TOGETHER WITH AMENDMENTS”) in a Fiscal Year equal to at least the sum of (i) 110% of the Annual Principal
and Interest Requirement for all Series of Bonds Outstanding in such Fiscal Year plus (ii) 100% of the amount necessary
to make payment of any amounts owing in such Fiscal Year under a reimbursement agreement with any provider of a
surety bond, line of credit, insurance policy or letter of credit with respect to any Debt Service Reserve Fund plus (iii)
100% of the principal and interest on Subordinate Lien Bonds (as defined in “-~Subordinate Lien Bonds” under this
heading) plus (iv) 100% of any required payment into a Debt Service Reserve Fund due in such Fiscal Year, and,
promptly upon any material change in the circumstances which were contemplated at the time such rates and charges
were most recently reviewed, but not less frequently than once in each Fiscal Year, the Commissioners shall review the
rates and charges for its services and shall promptly revise such rates and charges to the extent necessary to comply with
the foregoing requirement.

Additional Bonds

(A) From time to time, Additional Bonds may be issued on a parity with the Series 2020 Bonds and the
Parity Bonds, subject, except in the case of a Series or a portion of a Series of Bonds issued for the purpose of refunding
any Bonds and which Series or portion meets the test described in the following paragraph (C) with respect to refunding
Bonds, to the following requirements being met:

(1)  Net Earnings, as forecast by the Accountant or by the Feasibility Consultants for each of the
five Fiscal Years following the issuance of the proposed Series of Bonds, shall be certified by
the Accountant or by the Feasibility Consultants to be not less than 110% of the Combined
Annual Principal and Interest Requirement for each Fiscal Year during this five-year period on
all Bonds Outstanding at the time of issuance (including such proposed Series of Bonds); and

(2)  Net Earnings during the most recent Fiscal Year for which audited financial statements of the
Water System are complete or during any 12 of the most recent 18 months shall be certified by
the Accountant or the Feasibility Consultants on the basis of such information to be not less
than 100% of, for all fiscal years following the end of such five-year period, the maximum
Combined Annual Principal and Interest Requirement on all such Bonds Outstanding
(including such proposed Series of Bonds).

(B) For purposes of the above tests, such Net Earnings shall be adjusted to reflect:

(1)  any rate increases currently adopted or expected by the Feasibility Consultants to be adopted
during such five-year period referred to in (A)(1) above and determined pro forma as though
such rate increases had been in continuous effect during such Fiscal Year for which such rate
increase is expected to be implemented,;

(2)  in the event proceeds of such proposed Series of Bonds will be used to acquire a water utility,
system or enterprise that is in existence and operating and whose current customers will become
customers of the Water System upon such acquisition, 100% of the estimated Net Earnings to
be received by the Water System during the Fiscal Year following the date of issuance of the
proposed Series of Bonds, as projected by the Accountant or the Feasibility Consultants, from
the utility, system or enterprise to be acquired with the proceeds of such proposed Series of
Bonds, taking into account for the estimation of such Net Earnings in this clause (B)(2) only
the then-existing customer base and population of the acquired utility, system or enterprise;
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(3) in the event proceeds of such proposed Series of Bonds will be used to construct or to acquire
a newly constructed water utility, system, enterprise, or component of the Water System which
will serve a currently-populated area, 100% of the Net Earnings, estimated by the Feasibility
Consultants, to be received by the Water System during the first Fiscal Year beginning after the
earlier of (a) the date on which such project constructed or acquired with the proceeds of the
proposed Series of Bonds is placed in service or (b) the third anniversary of the date of delivery
of the proposed Series of Bonds, from the newly constructed or to-be-constructed utility,
system, enterprise, or component of the Water System, taking into account for the estimation
of such Net Earnings in this clause (B)(3) only the current population;

(4)  in the event proceeds of such proposed Series of Bonds will be used to pay interest on such
proposed Series, 100% of the interest that will accrue on such Series of Bonds during the first
twelve full months following the date of delivery of the proposed Series and that will be paid
from such proceeds, provided however that any such interest accruing in such twelve-month
period that is to be paid on a date within the Fiscal Year of maximum Combined Annual
Principal and Interest Requirements shall not be so added into such Net Earnings, and further
provided, however that the adjustment allowed by this clause (B)(4) may not be used jointly
with the adjustments allowed by clauses (B)(2) and (B)(3) with respect to the same proposed
new Bonds;

(5) in the event proceeds of such proposed Series of Bonds will be used to construct or to acquire
an expansion to the Water System, 100% of estimated Net Earnings to be received by the Water
System in the first Fiscal Year following the completion of such project, certified by the
Feasibility Consultants, from customers under long-term contracts which extend for the life of
such proposed Series of Bonds; and

(6)  any amount allowed by any of clauses (B)(2) through (B)(5) of this sentence as an adjustment
with respect to a previously issued Series of Bonds if the proposed Series of Bonds is being
issued prior to the end of the Fiscal Year (a) for which incremental Net Earnings from the
project financed by the previously issued Series of Bonds were allowed to be projected under
clauses (B)(2), (B)(3) or (B)(5), or (b) in which capitalized interest on the previously issued
Series of Bonds is exhausted;

provided that in the instance of any Series of Bonds in the aggregate principal amount of $3,000,000 or less, such
calculations required by paragraph (A) above, unless provided to the contrary in any Series Ordinance, may be made by
the Chief Financial Officer and provided further, that any Series of Bonds in the aggregate principal amount of
$3,000,000 or less, may be issued to complete a project authorized by a Series Ordinance without meeting the
requirements of paragraph (A) above.

© In lieu of compliance with paragraph (A) above, in the case of a Series or a portion of a Series of
Bonds issued for the purpose of refunding any Bonds, (1) the Annual Principal and Interest Requirements of the
refunding Bonds shall not exceed the Annual Principal and Interest Requirements of the refunded Bonds for any Fiscal
Year until a time subsequent to the last maturity of Bonds issued prior to the issuance of such refunding Bonds which
are not refunded and which remain Outstanding following the issuance of the refunding Bonds, and (2) the sum of (a) the
Annual Principal and Interest Requirements on the refunding Bonds and (b) the Annual Principal and Interest
Requirements of the nonrefunded Bonds, does not exceed the sum of the (x) Annual Principal and Interest, Requirements
of the refunded Bonds, and (y) the Annual Principal and Interest Requirements of the nonrefunded Bonds.

(D) If any Series of Bonds shall contain Variable Rate Bonds:

(1)  The applicable Series Ordinance or Series Resolution shall provide for and specify a maximum
interest rate on (a) such Bonds and (b) any reimbursement obligation to a liquidity provider for
such Bonds;

(2)  The liquidity provider for such Bonds shall be rated in the highest short term rating category
by either Moody’s, S&P, or Fitch; and

(3)  Any accelerated principal payments or any interest computed at a rate in excess of that on such
Bonds due to the liquidity provider for such Bonds pursuant to any reimbursement agreement
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with such liquidity provider shall be subordinate to the payment of debt service on all Bonds;
provided, however, if the tests referred to in paragraphs (A) and (C) above are calculated (and
met) assuming such accelerated principal payment and such excess interest amount to the
liquidity provider, then such accelerated principal payment and excess interest amount may be
on a parity with the payment of debt service on all Bonds.

See Appendix B, “BOND ORDINANCE TOGETHER WITH AMENDMENTS” for further details regarding
the issuance of Additional Bonds.

Subordinate Lien Bonds

Notwithstanding that Bonds may be outstanding, the City, acting through the Commissioners, may at any time,
and without limitation and free of all conditions, issue Subordinate Lien Bonds, in such amount as it may from time to
time determine, payable from the revenues of the System, provided that the pledge of revenues and any statutory lien
upon the System granted for the protection of said Subordinate Lien Bonds, shall at all times be and remain subordinate
and inferior in all respects to the pledges of revenues and liens upon the System made or authorized for the Bonds; and
provided further, that the maturity of the Subordinate Lien Bonds may not be accelerated and paid in full unless all of
the Bonds shall have been paid or provision therefor has been made. Such Subordinate Lien Bonds may, under certain
circumstances specified in the Bond Ordinance, accede to the status of Bonds as discussed in Appendix B, “BOND
ORDINANCE TOGETHER WITH AMENDMENTS.”

Special Facilities Bonds

The City, acting through the Commissioners, shall have at all times the right to enter into contracts, leases or
other agreements pursuant to which it will agree to construct, operate and pay the costs of Special Facilities to be financed
by its issuance of obligations (“Special Facilities Bonds™), subject to the following conditions:

(a) it shall have been determined to the satisfaction of the Commissioners that the rents, revenues or
receipts to be derived from the Special Facilities shall be at least equal to the principal, interest, and
any reserve requirements contained in the authorization for such Special Facilities Bonds and to pay
all operation, maintenance and other costs and expenses applicable to such Special Facilities; and

(b) the revenues derived from Special Facilities need not be deposited in the General Revenue Fund, and
may be pledged to secure Special Facilities Bonds, but no debt service or other cost or expense related
to any Special Facilities may be paid from System revenues deposited in the General Revenue Fund
except surplus moneys.

For purposes of the Authorizing Documents, the term “Special Facilities” shall include all or a portion of water
facilities and rights to all or a portion of the use of, or the capacity available from, any such facilities. See Appendix B,
“BOND ORDINANCE TOGETHER WITH AMENDMENTS.”

PLAN OF REFUNDING

A portion of the proceeds of the Series 2020 Bonds, along with other available funds, will be utilized to refund
the Refunded Bonds and to pay costs of issuance of the Series 2020 Bonds. A portion of the net proceeds of the Series
2020 Bonds will be deposited with The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as Escrow Agent, in order to
fund an escrow deposit account. Under the terms of an escrow deposit agreement between the Commissioners and the
Escrow Agent, the funds held in escrow shall be invested in “Government Obligations,” as permitted by the Bond
Ordinance, pending redemption of the Refunded Bonds. The redemption of the Refunded Bonds will occur on June 1,
2023.

13



SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS

The following table sets forth an estimation of the sources of funds to be derived from the sale of the Series
2020 Bonds and the uses of such funds.

Sources of Funds:

Par Amount of Series 2020 Bonds $28,875,000.00

Transfer from 2013 Debt Service Fund 645,356.25

Transfer from 2013 Debt Service Reserve Fund 2.396,206.58
Total Sources: $31,916,562.83
Uses of Funds:

Costs of Issuance! $ 371,255.53

Deposit to Escrow Deposit Account 31.,545.307.30
Total Uses: $31,916,562.83

ncludes underwriters’ discount, legal and financial advisory fees, Trustee’s fees, rating agency fees, and other costs
of issuance.

ANNUAL DEBT SERVICE REQUIREMENTS

The table below sets forth the annual debt service requirements for the Parity Bonds and the Series 2020 Bonds:

Fiscal Year Principal and
Ending Interest on Series 2020 Bonds Total Principal

June 30 Parity Bonds* Principal Interest and Interest
2020 $ 11,993,127 $ 11,993,127
2021 10,709,312 $ 215,000 § 768,783 11,693,094
2022 10,736,740 220,000 759,615 11,716,354
2023 11,053,933 225,000 756,647 12,035,579
2024 11,054,717 230,000 753,056 12,037,773
2025 11,056,299 235,000 748,987 12,040,286
2026 10,675,825 615,000 744,595 12,035,420
2027 10,305,889 1,005,000 732,861 12,043,750
2028 9,639,969 1,345,000 713,183 11,698,152
2029 7,758,069 1,375,000 685,140 9,818,208
2030 7,750,044 1,405,000 655,096 9,810,140
2031 7,753,419 1,435,000 623,694 9,812,113
2032 7,749,419 1,470,000 589,900 9,809,319
2033 7,752,544 1,510,000 553,811 9,816,355
2034 7,754,094 1,545,000 515,231 9,814,325
2035 7,753,294 1,585,000 474,211 9,812,505
2036 7,759,644 1,630,000 430,544 9,820,188
2037 6,938,744 1,675,000 383,046 8,996,790
2038 7,997,744 1,725,000 334,237 10,056,980
2039 8,004,494 1,780,000 283,970 10,068,464
2040 903,244 1,825,000 232,101 2,960,345
2041 905,656 1,885,000 176,731 2,967,387
2042 902,256 1,940,000 119,540 2,961,796
2043 903,206 2,000,000 60,680 2,963,886
2044 902,388 902,388
2045 905,725 905,725
2046 903,050 903,050
2047 904.531 904,531
$189,427,373 $28,875,000 $12,095,658 $230,398,030

*Does not include the Refunded Bonds which will be defeased with a portion of the proceeds of the Series 2020
Bonds.
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THE WATER SYSTEM

Description of the Commission

The System is governed by the Commissioners, an entity that was established in 1908 pursuant to Act 612 of
the South Carolina General Assembly (“General Assembly”) under the authority vested by Act 39 of the General
Assembly adopted in 1896. The Commissioners approve all major operating procedures, expenditures, capital
improvements and rates and charges of the System. The three members of the Commissioners are elected every six
years by the residents of the City. The Commissioners may incur long-term indebtedness only with the approval of City
Council, but is not otherwise subject to the control of City Council.

The Commissioners currently in office are as follows:

Name Occupation Expiration of Term
Horace C. Littlejohn, Jr. USAF Lieutenant Colonel (Retired) November 2025
John D. Montgomery Real Estate Executive November 2023
Angela M. Viney Non-profit Management November 2021

Description of the Water System

The System supplies water to approximately 56,814 residential customers, 6,485 commercial customers and 54
industrial customers. In addition, wholesale service is provided to two water districts, two water companies and one
town located in Spartanburg County and adjoining counties.

The System currently operates three water filtration facilities: the R.B. Simms Water Treatment Facility
(“Simms Plant”), Myles W. Whitlock Water Treatment Facility (“Whitlock Plant”), and the Landrum Water Treatment
Facility (“Landrum Plant”). The Simms Plant obtains its raw water supply from Lake Bowen and Municipal Reservoir
#1, impoundments on the South Pacolet River. Treated water is pumped to the Boiling Springs storage tanks located
approximately 12 miles northeast of the City whereby it then flows to the water distribution system. The Whitlock Plant
obtains its water from Lake Blalock which is located on the Pacolet River system off Highway 221 approximately 10
miles east northeast of the City. The Landrum Plant obtains its raw water from Hogback Creek, located near the top of
Hogback Mountain, as well as Vaughn’s Creek, located at the headwaters of Lake Lanier. The water source for all three
facilities is located within the Broad River Basin.

Based upon historical records of drought conditions, the daily safe yield of the current reservoirs ranges from
approximately 94 to 115 million gallons of water per day (MGD). Lake Bowen has a safe yield range of 49 to 60 MGD,
and Lake Blalock has a safe yield of 45 to 55 MGD. The lower limit of the yield range is used for planning purposes.
The annual average daily water demand for calendar year 2019 was 25.4 MGD. The maximum daily water demand in
calendar year 2019 was 32.19 MGD. The maximum dependable capacity of the Simms Plant is 64 MGD and for the
Whitlock Plant is 22.5 MGD.

After treatment, the Simms Plant pumps finished water to two covered ground storage tanks, having an
aggregate capacity of six million gallons. These tanks are located approximately three miles south of the Simms Plant.
The drinking water, from these tanks, flows by gravity through four major transmission pipelines into the System’s
distribution system. The drinking water from the Whitlock Plant is pumped directly into a 42-inch main line that also
feeds the System’s distribution system. The drinking water from the Landrum Plant flows by gravity out of two ground
storage tanks at the facility into the Town of Landrum distribution system.

The treated water transmission and distribution system includes over 1,300 miles of water mains ranging in
size from 1 % inches to a maximum diameter of 42 inches.

Capital Improvement Program — Future Issuance

The Commissioners annually review the Capital Improvement Program (“CIP”) in conjunction with the budget
and rate setting process in order to address increasing demand and meet increasingly stringent treatment standards. The
Commissioners anticipate that future CIP requirements will total $57,215,000 from fiscal year 2021 through fiscal year
2025, the substance of which may be modified based on market or regulatory conditions and demand. Future CIP
requirements will be funded through a combination of proceeds from prior bond issues and cash on hand.
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Historical Summary of Revenues and Expenses

The table below sets forth a summary of the System’s revenues and expenses for the Fiscal Years indicated.
The information presented is based upon the System’s audited financial statements for fiscal years ended June 30, 2015

through 2019.

(Restated) (Restated)

2015! 2016 2017 20182 2019

Operating Revenue $37,543,394 $39,841,136 $42,221,469  $40,855,351 $42,272,030
Operating Expenses Before
Depreciation and Amortization (21,508,056)  (23,292,434)  (23,516,057) (25,633,608)  (26,494,111)
Operating Income Before
Depreciation and Amortization 16,035,338 16,548,702 18,705,412 15,221,743 15,777,919
Depreciation (6,936,967) (7,244,640) (7,872,092) (7,915,554) (8,333,554)
Operating Income 9,098,371 9,304,062 10,833,320 7,306,189 7,444,365
Non-operating Revenue 4,061,002 4,282,617 4,233,792 4,981,061 6,259,652
Non-operating Expenses (8,566,764) (8,097,263) (7,798,600) (5,984,629) (5,894,814)
Net Income Before Transfer and
Extraordinary Items 4,592,609 5,489,416 7,268,512 6,302,621 7,809,203
Transfers to Other City
Governmental Units (1,100,000) (1,000,000) (1,000,000) (1,000,000) (1,021,000)
Capital Contributions® 378,256 1,253,314 923,529 676,992 1,190,543
Net Income 3,870,865 5,742,730 7,192,041 5,979,613 7,978,746
Beginning Net Position $50,540,970 $54,411,835 $60,154,565  $57,316,663 $63,296,276
Ending Net Position $54,411,835 $60,154,565 $67,346,606  $63,296,276 $71,275,022

IThe System reported a restatement of net position in the financial statements for the Fiscal Year ended June 30, 2015 (as reported in the
financial statements included in the June 30, 2016 CAFR), due to a change in accounting principle and a prior period adjustment. The
change in accounting principle was required because the System adopted GASB Statement Nos. 68 and 71 relating to the accounting and
financial reporting of pensions. GASB Statement Nos. 68 and 71 requires governmental employers to recognize the long-term obligation
for pensions provided through pension plans administered as trusts or equivalent arrangements as a liability. Therefore, the System was
required to record its beginning net pension liability and the effects on the net position of contributions made by the System during the
measurement period (Fiscal Year ended June 30, 2014). The prior period adjustment was made and the net position restated due to errors
found in previously issued financial statements relating to the initial recording of the System’s Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2015A
and Series 2015B.

The System reported a restatement of net position in the financial statements for the Fiscal Year ended June 30, 2018 (as reported in the
financial statements included in the June 30, 2019 CAFR), due to a change in accounting principle and a prior period adjustment.
3Capital contributions represent contributions from developers in the form of cash payments and donated lines for certain water line
extension projects. The Commissioners are required to identify these contributions as non-operating revenue under Governmental
Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 33.

Source: Spartanburg Water System Comprehensive Annual Financial Reports for the Fiscal Years ended June 30, 2015
through 2019.
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Historical Debt Service Coverage

The table below set forth the Net Income, Net Earnings and debt service coverage for the Fiscal Years indicated.
This summary should be read in conjunction with the audited financial statements of the System for the applicable Fiscal

Year. The audited financial statements of the System for the Fiscal Year ended June 30, 2019, are included as
Appendix A.
Restated Restated
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
Net Income $3,870,865 $5,742,730 $7,192,041 $5,979,613 $7,978,746
Less: Gain on Sale of Fixed
Assets (76,468) (80,853) (137,449) (108,241) (61,463)
Less: Restricted Investment
Income (672) (2,853) (78,853) (469,651) (957,202)
Less: OPEB Adjustment - - - (52,709) (136,717)
Less: Capital Contributions (378,256) (1,253,314) (923,529) (676,992)  (1,190,543)
Less: Transfers into Rate
Stabilization Fund 400,000 200,000 1,000,000 1,029,849 (86,285)
Plus: Transfers out of Rate
Stabilization Fund - - - - 500,000
Plus: Excess transfers in
over out (400,000) (200,000) (1,000,000) (1,029,849) -
Plus: Depreciation 6,936,967 7,244,640 7,872,092 7,915,554 8,333,554
Plus: Interest Expense 8,178,983 8,097,263 7,677,708 5,516,898 5,894,814
Plus: Governmental
Transfers 1,100,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,021,000
Plus: Pension Adjustment 225,898 161,415 810,690 1,079,626 510,949
Plus: Bond Issuance Costs 387,781 - 120,892 467,731 -
Net Earnings $20,245,098 $20,909,028 $23,533,592  $20,651,829  $21,806,853
Total Revenue Bond Debt
Service $12,896,810 $12,151,334 $12,997,256  $11,118,019  $11,990,692
Debt Service Coverage 1.57 1.72 1.81 1.86 1.82

Source: Spartanburg Water System Comprehensive Annual Reports for the Fiscal Years ending June 30, 2015 through

2019.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis

Management’s discussion of the System’s financial condition as of June 30, 2019, is provided as part of the
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the Fiscal Year ended June 30, 2019, attached hereto as Appendix A.

The operations of the System for the 2019 Fiscal Year including the System’s revenues and expenses were
consistent with the amounts budgeted for the 2019 Fiscal Year, and a summary of the System’s results of operations for
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the 2019 Fiscal Year is included in the table under “THE WATER SYSTEM - Historical Summary of Revenues and
Expenses” herein. Further, with respect to the current 2020 Fiscal Year, the operations of the System to date have been
consistent with expectations of the management of the System as set forth in the budget for the 2020 Fiscal Year (on an
unaudited basis) and, to date, there have been no material deviations from the budget. Moreover, the operating results
of the System to date for the 2020 Fiscal Year (on an unaudited basis), do not reflect any material decreases in revenue
or increases in expenses when compared to the operating results for the prior fiscal years.

System Personnel

The Chief Executive Officer of the System is responsible for the overall functioning of the System, which
includes operational, maintenance, administration, planning, and technical aspects. The Chief Executive Officer is
assisted by the Chief Financial Officer and the Chief Operating Officer.

Sue G. Schneider was appointed Chief Executive Officer of the System in 2007. Ms. Schneider earned a
bachelor of science degree in landscape architecture from The Ohio State University in 1978, a master of science degree
in environmental science from the University of Cincinnati in 1987, and a master of business administration degree from
Wake Forest University in 2003. Ms. Schneider’s experience includes over 30 years in water-wastewater consulting,
hazardous-industrial waste management, and environmental-regulatory management.

G. Newton Pressley was employed by the System in 1986 and is the Chief Financial Officer. He also serves as
Secretary/Treasurer of the Commission. Mr. Pressley received a bachelor’s degree in Accounting from the University
of South Carolina in 1977. Mr. Pressley’s experience includes over 30 years of service as a chief financial officer with
water/wastewater utilities.

Robert F. Walden was employed by the System in 1977 and is the Chief Operating Officer. Mr. Walden has a
very diverse operation and maintenance background with over 40 years of experience in the drinking water industry and
22 years of experience in wastewater collection.

Charles E. Jackson was employed by the System in 1996 and is the Capital Projects Engineer, Mr. Jackson is
a licensed professional engineer and received his bachelor’s degree in Civil Engineering from Clemson University in
1982. Mr. Jackson has over 36 years of experience with various civil and environmental projects, with a majority related
to the water/wastewater industry.

Currently, the System has approximately 222 full-time and part-time employees, including the Commissioners.

Service Area

The System serves retail customers located inside and outside the city limits of the City and the Towns of
Landrum, Cowpens and Pacolet. The retail customers served by the System include 56,814 residential customers, 6,485
commercial customers, and 54 industrial customers. Additionally, the System provides water on a wholesale basis
through master meters to two water districts, two water companies, and one town. These wholesale customers are
located primarily inside Spartanburg County and, to a lesser extent, Cherokee County and Union County.

Wholesale Customers. The wholesale customers of the System, the billable consumption, total charges, and
the percentage of water sales revenues for Fiscal Year ended June 30, 2019, are as follows:

Percent of FY 2019
FY 2019 Billable Total Total Water Sales

Wholesale Customers Consumption (100g) Charges Revenues
Liberty-Chesnee-Fingerville Water District 4,807,816 $ 788,791 1.99%
Metropolitan Sub-District “B” 2,149,350 352,970 0.89
Goucher Water Company 2,091,218 342,195 0.86
Meansville-Riley Water Company 1,031,255 170,241 0.43

Town of Jonesville 575.395 95,214 0.24

TOTAL 10,655,034 $1,749,411 4.41%

Source: Spartanburg Water System Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the Fiscal Year ending June 30, 2019.
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Each of the wholesale customers resells and distributes water purchased from the System directly to their
respective customers under certain contracts for water purchase and supply. The System service area along with the
wholesale customers and their respective service areas are shown in Figure 1.

The Liberty-Chesnee-Fingerville Water District, the System’s largest wholesale customer, entered into a water
purchase and supply contract on June 18, 1984, which, by the terms of a Second Amendment dated August 27, 2013,
expires on July 1, 2027. The contract provides that the Commissioners will be the exclusive source of water supply for
the Liberty-Chesnee-Fingerville Water District; however, the Commissioners are not obligated to supply water beyond
certain maximum capacity, flow rate and storage limits. The Commissioners must approve any annexation of additional
area and the assignment of the contract. The rates for the supply of water are the published rates of the Commissioners.
There are no early termination or expiration rights.

Map of System Service Area

[[] retail water Service
: Wholesale Water Service

Communities Served By
Spartanburg Water System

Not To Scale ‘W
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Retail Customers. The ten largest retail water customers of the System, including their annual consumption
and revenues, are listed below:

Annual Percentage of FY 2019
Customer Consumption(100g) Annual Revenue Water Sales Revenue”
Auriga Polymers, Inc. (Invista)™ 2,992,180 $1,522,603 3.84%
Milliken & Company 905,939 625,823 1.58
Spartanburg Regional Medical Center 905,034 365,996 0.92
Wofford College 728,678 320,580 0.81
Michelin North America 663,420 450,735 1.14
Pet Inc. Dairy Division 623,385 429,313 1.08
Spartanburg Sanitary Sewer District 535,111 374,628 0.94
R R Donnelly & Sons 510,656 351,955 0.89
BASF Corporation 480,957 328,808 0.83
Kohler Company 331,650 227.972 _0.57
Total 8,677,010 $4,998,413 12.60%

*May not add to total due to rounding.
“*There are three industrial users, Auriga, Johns-Manville and Air Liquide at this location on a single meter.
Source: Spartanburg Water System Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the Fiscal Year ending June 30, 2019.

Customer Base. The following table shows the number of customers of the System for the years shown:

Fiscal Year Ending Number of
June 30 Connections

2015 60,006

2016 60,716

2017 61,422

2018 62,375

2019 63,358

Source: Spartanburg Water System Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the Fiscal Year ending June 30, 2019.

Revenues of the System

The Commissioners are responsible for determining the water rates and charges imposed upon the customers
of the System. The Commissioners retain an independent water rate consultant in order that current analyses and
continuous water rate studies are provided. It has been and continues to be the policy of the Commissioners to
periodically review the rates and charges imposed upon customers of the System and to maintain sufficient rates and
charges to meet the requirements contained in the Bond Ordinance. See “SECURITY FOR THE SERIES 2020 BONDS
— Rate Covenant” herein.

Cost of Service-Water Rates

All bills are due and payable within 25 days from date of billing. The right is reserved to discontinue all
services which are in arrears after that date without further notice. A nonpayment service charge of $35 is charged in
the event service is discontinued due to nonpayment. This charge must be paid at the time service is again provided.

The System rate structure consists of two components: a fixed or “Base Charge”; and a Volume Charge. In
addition, the System charges a Capacity Fee for new customers connecting to the System.
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Base Charge. The Base Charge recovers the following types of fixed costs:

Meter reading, billing, collection and customers services;

Meter repair and replacement costs;

Availability cost (including a portion of the costs incurred in making a base level of water service
available to the customer at all times).

The Base Charge is reviewed annually by the Commissioners, is based on meter size, frequency of billing
(monthly vs. bimonthly), and location (inside vs. outside city).

The System’s Base Charge rate structure, currently in effect, is provided below:

Monthly Bi-Monthly

Meter Size Inside-City” Inside-City”
5/8” $ 7.50 $ 15.00
1” 17.11 34.22
1%” 33.13 66.27
2” 52.36 104.73
3” 97.23 194.47
4” 161.33 322.67
6” 321.58 643.17
8” 526.70 1,053.41
107 789.51 1,579.03

*Outside city base charges are billed at the inside city rate plus 50%.

Volume Charge. The Volume Charge applies to actual usage. The Volume Charge is designed to include
recovery of costs associated with the requirements of the residential, commercial and industrial classes along with those
of the wholesale water customers.

The Volume Charge schedule presently imposed by the Commissioners, effective August 1, 2016, is set forth
in the following table:
Volume Charge Schedule
per 100 Gallons

Inside City Outside City"
$0.384 $0.672

*Outside city volume charges are billed at the inside city rate plus 75%.

Capacity Fees. Effective April 1, 1988, the Commissioners adopted a Capacity Fee, which is a one-time charge
for new connections to the System. It is based on the concept that the new user should pay a “pro-rata” share of the basic
infrastructure which has been constructed to meet the needs of that user. The Capacity Fee was established by the
Commissioners upon recommendation from their consulting engineers, and is based upon the net depreciated asset of
the System.

All new connections to the System are subject to these fees. Current Capacity Fees by meter size are shown in
the following table:

Meter Size Capacity Fee
5/8” $ 300
17 750
17 1,500
27 2,400
3” and up *

*Negotiated on an individual basis.
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Comparative General Statistics For Past Five Fiscal Years

The following table shows the miles of pipe, annual usage and water sales of the System during the past five
Fiscal Years.

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
Miles of Pipe 1,317 1,319 1,331 1,331 1,344
Annual Billed Usage (Million gallons) 59.78 62.06 66.71 65.14 63.10
Water Sales (Million dollars) $35.8 $37.9 $40.1 $36.2 $39.7

Additions to Property, Plant, and Equipment

The following table shows the amounts expended from prior bond issues and revenues to defray the cost of
capital improvements to the System during the past five Fiscal Years.

Fiscal Year Amount
Ending June 30 Expended
2015 $ 6,304,768
2016 9,061,904
2017 12,664,708
2018 9,105,527
2019 7,185,949
Total $44,322,856

Source: Records of the Commissioners of Public Works.

Regulation and Permits

The water rates charged by the System are not subject to regulation by the South Carolina Public Service
Commission and are not subject to review or adjustment other than by the Commissioners. The System is regulated by
the United States Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA”) and the South Carolina Department of Health and
Environmental Control (“DHEC”). DHEC is responsible for ensuring compliance with federal and state water quality
standards, approving plans and specifications for water projects within the State, issuing operating and construction
permits, and handling other administrative functions that have been delegated to DHEC by EPA.

The System historically has been operated in compliance with regulations and is currently not under any
regulatory orders. The System is proactive in addressing regulatory issues and planning for system improvements,
upgrades, and expansions. The CIP has been designed by System staff to be in accordance with appropriate regulations
and to address the water requirements of the System’s service area.

Even though federal and state environmental legislation and regulations are constantly evolving, the System’s
management does not anticipate regulatory changes that will require additional capital costs to maintain operating
permits during the next five years or that will otherwise have a material impact on the construction cost of projects that
are part of its CIP.

Retirement Plans

The System is a member of the South Carolina Retirement System (“SCRS”), one of four defined benefit
retirement systems maintained by the Retirement Division of the State Fiscal Accountability Authority. Each system
publishes their own component unit financial report. The systems provide retirement, death and disability benefits to
State employees, public school employees and employees of counties, municipalities and certain other State political
subdivisions. Each system is independent. Assets may not be transferred from one system to another or used for any
purpose other than to benefit each system’s participants. SCRS is a cost-sharing, multiple-employer pension system that
benefits employees of public schools, the State and its political subdivisions including the System. Membership is
required as a condition of employment. In fiscal year 2020 employees contribute at 9% of their salary and employers at
15.41%. In addition to those rates, participating employers of SCRS contribute 0.15% of payroll to provide a group life
insurance benefit for their participants.
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The System’s contributions to the SCRS for the last five fiscal years are as follows:

2015 2016 2017 2018 019

$1,011,873 $1,110,276 $1,210,662 $1,344,341 $1,644,754

The System has paid all required contributions for fringe benefits as they have come due and there are no
liabilities for underfunding of such fringe benefits.

GASB 75

The System implemented Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 75 (“GASB 75”) in fiscal
year 2018. GASB 75 requires the System to recognize a net OPEB (other post-employment benefits) liability and any
related deferred outflows and inflows of resources along with a more comprehensive measure of OPEB expense for the
System’s OPEB plan on financial statements prepared on the economic resources measurement focus and accrual basis
of accounting (i.e. the Statement of Net Position) and requires more extensive note disclosures. The System's OPEB
expense in 2019 was $877,783. However, the adoption resulted in the restatement of the System’s net position as of
July 1, 2017 for its financial statements to reflect the reporting of a net OPEB liability and deferred outflows of resources
for the System’s OPEB plan in accordance with GASB 75. Net position of the System’s financial statements as of July
1, 2017, was decreased by $10,029,943 for the year ended June 30, 2018, reflecting the cumulative change in the
accounting principle related to the adoption of GASB 75. Changes in the System’s net OPEB liability for fiscal year
2019 are shown in the following table.

Total OPEB Plan Fiduciary Net OPEB

Liability Net Position Liability

Balance as of December 31, 2017 $15,718,563 $4,453,868 $11,264,695
Charges for the year:

Service Cost 541,715 - 541,715

Interest 737,040 - 737,040

Difference between expected and actual experience (3,799) - (3,799)

Contributions - employer - 1,295,588 (1,295,588)

Net investment income - 60,482 (60,482)

Benefit payments (408.588) (408,588) -
Net Changes 866,368 947,482 (81,114)
Balance as of December 31, 2018 $16,584,931 $5,401,350 $11,183,581

Cyber Security Management

The Issuer, like many other large public and private entities, relies on a large and complex technology
environment to conduct its operations and faces multiple cyber security threats including, but not limited to, hacking,
phishing, viruses, malware and other attacks on its computing and other digital networks and systems (collectively,
“Systems Technology™). As a recipient and provider of sensitive information, the Issuer may be the target of cyber
security incidents that could result in adverse consequences to the Issuer and its Systems Technology, requiring a
response action to mitigate the consequences.

Cyber security incidents could result from unintentional events, or from deliberate attacks by unauthorized
entities or individuals attempting to gain access to the Issuer’s Systems Technology for the purposes of misappropriating
assets or information or causing operational disruption and damage. The Issuer has implemented certain controls,
including data and network security measures, malware protection, security configuration, website filtering and
protection, and user training, to mitigate the risk of cyber security breaches from internal sources or activities, and the
Issuer has in place a cyber security insurance policy. In addition, in 2019, the Issuer developed and implemented a
Security Response Plan which remains in effect.
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Recent Developments

The United States, including the State, the City and the Commissioners, is currently in the midst of a pandemic
caused by a novel coronavirus and resulting disease known as COVID-19. The pandemic has led to a declaration of
emergency by the Governor of South Carolina (the “Governor”) and the issuance of progressively stringent orders by
the Governor in March and April 2020 including, but not limited to, a stay-at-home order and the closure of (1) public
schools for the remainder of school year, (2) dining establishments (except for take-out services), (3) non-essential
businesses and (4) public access to recreational sites. On April 20, 2020 the Governor announced the loosening of some
of those restrictions, including the reopening of certain retail establishments.

The System’s large commercial and industrial meters are read monthly, typically on the 20™ of the month. The
most recent usage data through April 20, 2020 shows that aggregate usage for the System’s top ten customers is
comparable with the usage in the previous month and in the same month of the prior year. The aggregate usage in April
2020 includes increased usage by some customers and reduced usage by other customers, including Wofford College
which transitioned its students to at-home instruction in March 2020. Additionally, aggregate flow through the water
treatment plant during April is comparable to the aggregate flow during the prior month. Revenues and expenses for
the System for the nine-month period ending March 31, 2020 are tracking comparably with the budget for the 2020
Fiscal Year.

The COVID-19 pandemic has altered and is continuing to alter the behavior of businesses and people in a
manner that is having negative effects on global and local economies, including the Issuer. In addition, global financial
markets have experienced significant volatility attributed to concerns over COVID-19. The impact of the pandemic on
the System, its operations, and the local, regional, national and international economies cannot be predicted due to the
dynamic nature of the outbreak, including uncertainties relating to its duration and severity, as well as what actions may
be taken by governmental authorities, businesses and institutions to attempt to contain or mitigate its impact.

RATINGS

Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. and S&P Global Ratings (collectively, the “Rating Agencies”) have assigned
long-term ratings of “Aa2” and “AA”, respectively, to the Series 2020 Bonds. Such ratings reflect only the views of the
Rating Agencies and an explanation of the significance of such ratings may be obtained from the Rating Agencies. The
Commissioners have furnished the Rating Agencies with certain information and materials respecting the City, the
Commissioners and the Series 2020 Bonds. Generally, the Rating Agencies base their ratings on such information and
materials and on investigations, studies and assumptions furnished to and obtained and made by them. There is no
assurance that such ratings will remain unchanged for any period of time or that they may not be lowered or withdrawn
entirely by the Rating Agencies, if in their judgment circumstances so warrant. Any such downward revision or
withdrawal of such ratings may have an adverse effect on the market price of the Series 2020 Bonds.

UNDERWRITING

The Series 2020 Bonds are being purchased by Stephens Inc. and Robert W. Baird & Co. Incorporated (the
“Underwriters”). The Underwriters have agreed to purchase the Series 2020 Bonds at an aggregate purchase price of
$28,750,125.83 (which amount equals the par amount of the Series 2020 Bonds, less Underwriters’ discount of
$124,874.17). The initial public offering prices set forth on the inside cover of this Official Statement may be changed
by the Underwriters, and the Underwriters may offer and sell the Series 2020 Bonds to certain dealers and others at
prices lower than the public offering prices.

LEGAL MATTERS
Litigation

No litigation is now pending or, to the best of the Commissioners’ knowledge, threatened, against or affecting
the System which seeks to restrain or enjoin the authorization, execution or delivery of the Series 2020 Bonds, the Series
Ordinance, the Series Resolution, or which contests the validity or the authority or proceedings for the adoption,
authorization, execution or delivery of the Series 2020 Bonds, or the System’s creation, organization or corporate
existence, or the title of any of the present officers thereof to their respective offices or the authority or proceedings for
the Commissioners’ authorization, execution and delivery of the Series Resolution or the Series 2020 Bonds, or the
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Commissioners’ authority to carry out its obligations thereunder, or which would have a material adverse impact on the
System’s condition, financial or otherwise.

Opinions of Counsel

Certain legal matters related to the authorization, execution, sale and delivery of the Series 2020 Bonds are
subject to the approving opinion of Haynsworth Sinkler Boyd, P.A., Greenville, South Carolina, Bond Counsel. The
proposed form of Bond Counsel’s opinion is included as Appendix C. Certain legal matters will be passed on for the
Commissioners by their counsel, Haynsworth Sinkler Boyd, P.A., Greenville, South Carolina, for the City by the City
Attorney, Robert P. Coler, Spartanburg, South Carolina, and for the Underwriters by their counsel, Parker Poe Adams
& Bernstein LLP, Columbia, South Carolina.

TAX MATTERS
Federal Income Tax

Generally. INTEREST ON THE SERIES 2020 BONDS IS NOT EXCLUDED FROM GROSS INCOME
FOR FEDERAL INCOME TAX PURPOSES. OWNERS OF THE SERIES 2020 BONDS SHOULD CONSULT
THEIR OWN TAX ADVISORS AS TO THE FEDERAL, STATE AND LOCAL TAX CONSEQUENCES AND
FOREIGN TAX CONSEQUENCES OF THEIR ACQUISITION, OWNERSHIP AND DISPOSITION OF THE
SERIES 2020 BONDS.

The following is a summary of certain U.S. federal income tax considerations of the purchase, ownership and
disposition of the Series 2020 Bonds. This summary applies to holders only if they are a Beneficial Owner of a Series
2020 Bond and acquire a Series 2020 Bond in this offering for a price equal to the issue price of the Series 2020 Bond.
The issue price of the Series 2020 Bond is the first price at which a substantial amount of the Series 2020 Bonds is sold
other than to bond houses, brokers, or similar persons or organizations acting in the capacity of underwriters, placement
agents or wholesalers. For purposes of this discussion, a “U.S. Holder” means a Beneficial Owner of a Series 2020
Bond that, for U.S. federal income tax purposes, is: a citizen or resident alien individual of the United States; a
corporation (including for this purpose any other entity treated as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes)
created or organized in or under the laws of the United States or any State thereof or the District of Columbia; an estate
the income of which is subject to U.S. federal income taxation regardless of its source; or a trust (i) that is subject to the
primary supervision of a court within the United States and under the control of one or more “United States persons”
(as defined for U.S. federal income tax purposes), or (ii) that has a valid election in effect under applicable U.S. Treasury
regulations to be treated as a “United States person.”

For the purposes of this discussion, a “non-U.S. Holder” means a Beneficial Owner of a Series 2020 Bond that,
for U.S. federal income tax purposes, is an individual, corporation (including for this purpose any other entity treated as
a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes), trust or estate that is not a U.S. Holder.

This summary is based on provisions of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), Treasury
regulations issued thereunder, and administrative and judicial interpretations thereof, all as of the date of this Official
Statement and all of which are subject to change or differing interpretation (perhaps retroactively), and is for general
information only. This summary addresses only Beneficial Owners of the Series 2020 Bonds that hold the Series 2020
Bonds as capital assets within the meaning of Section 1221 of the Code and does not represent a detailed description of
the U.S. federal income tax consequences to prospective purchasers of the Series 2020 Bonds in light of their particular
circumstances. In addition, it does not represent a detailed description of the U.S. federal income tax consequences
applicable to prospective purchasers of the Series 2020 Bonds that are subject to special treatment under the U.S. federal
income tax laws, such as taxpayers subject to the alternative minimum tax, the U.S. federal estate and gift tax, U.S.
expatriates, financial institutions, partnerships or other pass-through entities, or investors in such entities, individual
retirement and other tax deferred accounts, dealers and traders in securities or currencies, insurance companies, tax-
exempt organizations, persons holding the Series 2020 Bonds as part of a conversion, constructive sale, wash sale or
other integrated transaction or a hedge, straddle or synthetic security, and U.S. Holders whose functional currency is
other than the U.S. dollar. The Issuer cannot assure holders that a change in law will not alter significantly the tax
considerations that are described in this summary.

If a U.S. or non-U.S. partnership (including for this purpose an entity or arrangement treated as a partnership
for U.S. federal income tax purposes) holds the Series 2020 Bonds, the tax treatment of a partner generally will depend
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upon the status of the partner, the activities of the partnership and certain determinations made at the partner level. Non-
U.S. partnerships also generally are subject to special tax documentation requirements.

U.S. Holders. Interest. It is expected and this discussion assumes that either the issue price of the Series 2020
Bonds will equal the stated principal amount thereof or the Series 2020 Bonds will be issued with less than a de minimis
amount of original issue discount (“OID”). Therefore, a U.S. Holder will have ordinary interest income equal to the
amount of interest paid or accrued on a Series 2020 Bond, includable in accordance with the U.S. Holder’s regular
method of tax accounting for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

Disposition of the Series 2020 Bonds. Unless a nonrecognition provision of the Code applies, the sale,
exchange, redemption, defeasance, retirement or other disposition of a Series 2020 Bond will result in capital gain or
loss equal to the difference, if any, between the amount realized on the disposition (excluding amounts attributable to
accrued and unpaid interest, which, as described above, will be taxed as ordinary income to the extent not previously
included in gross income by the U.S. Holder) and the U.S. Holder’s tax basis in the Series 2020 Bonds. Generally, the
U.S. Holder’s tax basis for determining gain or loss on the disposition of the Series 2020 Bond will equal the purchase
price paid by the U.S. Holder for the Series 2020 Bond, (i) increased by the amount of OID previously included in
income by such U.S. Holder with respect to such Series 2020 Bond, if any, and (ii) decreased by any payments previously
made on such Series 2020 Bond (other than payments of qualified stated interest), and further decreased by any
amortized premium (if any). Such gain or loss will be long-term capital gain or loss if the Series 2020 Bond is held for
more than one year as of the time of the disposition. The deductibility of capital losses is subject to limitations. U.S.
Holders should consult their tax advisors regarding the treatment of capital gains and losses.

Non-U.S. Holders. Interest. The United States generally imposes a 30% withholding tax on payments of
interest to non-U.S. persons. The 30% (or lower applicable treaty rate) U.S. federal withholding tax will not apply to a
non-U.S. Holder in respect of any payment of interest on the Series 2020 Bonds that is not effectively connected with
the conduct of a U.S. trade or business provided that such non-U.S. Holder is not a bank whose receipt of interest on the
Series 2020 Bonds is described in Section 881(c)(3)(A) of the Code; and (a) provides identifying information (i.e., name
and address) to the Issuer or its paying agent on IRS Form W-8BEN (or successor form), and certifies, under penalty of
perjury, that such non-U.S. Holder is not a U.S. person or (b) a financial institution holding the Series 2020 Bonds on
behalf of such non-U.S. Holder certifies, under penalty of perjury, that it has received the applicable IRS Form W-8BEN
(or successor form) from the Beneficial Owner and provides the Issuer or its paying agent with a copy.

If a non-U.S. Holder cannot satisfy the requirements described above, payments of interest made to such non-
U.S. Holder will be subject to the 30% U.S. federal withholding tax, unless such non-U.S. Holder provides the Issuer or
its paying agent with a properly executed (i) IRS Form W-8BEN (or successor form) claiming an exemption from or
reduction in withholding under the benefit of an income tax treaty or (ii) IRS Form W-8ECI (or successor form) stating
that interest paid on the Series 2020 Bond is not subject to withholding tax because it is effectively connected with such
non-U.S. Holder’s conduct of a trade or business in the United States.

Ifanon-U.S. Holder is engaged in a trade or business in the United States and interest on the Series 2020 Bonds
is effectively connected with the conduct of that trade or business (or, if required by an applicable income tax treaty, is
attributable to a permanent establishment in the United States maintained by such non-U.S. Holder), such non-U.S.
Holder, although exempt from the 30% withholding tax, generally will be subject to U.S. federal income tax on that
interest on a net income basis in the same manner as if such non-U.S. Holder were a “United States person” as defined
under the Code. In addition, if a non-U.S. Holder is a non-U.S. corporation, it may be subject to a branch profits tax
equal to 30% (or lower applicable treaty rate) of its earnings and profits for the taxable year, subject to adjustments, that
are effectively connected with the conduct by it of a trade or business in the United States. For this purpose, effectively
connected interest on the Series 2020 Bond will be included in earnings and profits.

Disposition of the Series 2020 Bonds. Any gain realized on the disposition of a Series 2020 Bond by a non-
U.S. Holder generally will not be subject to U.S. federal income or withholding tax unless (i) that gain is effectively
connected with the non-U.S. Holder’s conduct of a trade or business in the United States (or, if required by an income
tax treaty, is attributable to a U.S. permanent establishment maintained by such non-U.S. Holder), (ii) such non-U.S.
Holder is an individual who is present in the United States for 183 days or more in the taxable year of that disposition
and certain other conditions are met, or (iii) in the case of disposition proceeds representing accrued interest, the non-
U.S. Holder cannot satisfy the requirements of the complete exemption from withholding tax described above (and the
non-U.S. Holder’s U.S. federal income tax liability has not otherwise been fully satisfied through the U.S. federal
withholding tax described above).
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If a non-U.S. Holder’s gain is effectively connected with such non-U.S. Holder’s U.S. trade or business (or, if
required by an applicable income tax treaty, is attributable to a U.S. permanent establishment maintained by such non-
U.S. Holder), such non-U.S. Holder generally will be required to pay U.S. federal income tax on the net gain derived
from the sale in the same manner as if it were a “United States person” as defined under the Code. If such a non-U.S.
Holder is a corporation, such non-U.S. Holder may also, under certain circumstances, be subject to a branch profits tax
at a 30% rate (or lower applicable treaty rate). If a non-U.S. Holder is subject to the 183-day rule described above, such
non-U.S. Holder generally will be subject to U.S. federal income tax at a flat rate of 30% (or a reduced rate under an
applicable treaty) on the amount by which capital gains allocable to U.S. sources (including gains from the sale,
exchange, retirement or other disposition of the Series 2020 Bonds) exceed capital losses allocable to U.S. sources, even
though the non-U.S. Holder is not considered a resident alien under the Code.

Information Reporting and Backup Withholding. In general, information reporting requirements apply to
interest paid to, and to the proceeds of a sale or other disposition of a Series 2020 Bond (including a redemption) by,
certain U.S. Holders. In addition, backup withholding (currently at a rate of 28%) may apply to a U.S. Holder unless
such holder provides a correct taxpayer identification number and otherwise complies with applicable requirements of
the backup withholding rules. Backup withholding generally does not apply to payments made to certain exempt U.S.
persons.

In general, a non-U.S. Holder will not be subject to backup withholding and information reporting with respect
to interest payments made to such holder provided that the Issuer or its paying agent has received from such holder the
certification described above under “~Non-U.S. Holders-Interest” and neither the Issuer nor its paying agent has actual
knowledge or reason to know that the purported non-U.S. Holder is actually a U.S. Holder. However, the Issuer or its
paying agent may be required to report to the IRS and the non-U.S. Holder payments of interest on the Series 2020
Bonds and the amount of tax, if any, withheld with respect to those payments. Copies of the information returns reporting
such interest payments and any withholding may also be made available to the tax authorities in the country in which
the non-U.S. Holder resides under the provisions of a treaty or agreement.

Payments of the proceeds of a sale or other disposition (including a redemption) of the Series 2020 Bonds made
to or through a non-U.S. office of non-U.S. financial intermediaries that do not have certain enumerated connections
with the United States generally will not be subject to information reporting or backup withholding. In addition, a non-
U.S. Holder will not be subject to backup withholding or information reporting with respect to the proceeds of the sale
or other disposition of a Series 2020 Bond within the United States or conducted through non-U.S. financial
intermediaries with certain enumerated connections with the United States, if the payor receives the certification
described above under “-Non-U.S. Holders-Interest” or such holder otherwise establishes an exemption, provided that
the payor does not have actual knowledge or reason to know that the purported non-U.S. Holder is actually a United
States person or the conditions of any other exemption are not, in fact, satisfied.

Backup withholding is not an additional tax. Any amounts withheld under the backup withholding rules will
be allowed as a refund or credit against a holder’s U.S. federal income tax liability provided the required information is
furnished by such holder to the IRS in a timely manner.

Net Investment Income Tax. The Code generally imposes a tax of 3.8% on the “net investment income” of
certain individuals, trusts and estates for taxable years beginning after December 31, 2012. Among other items, net
investment income generally includes gross income from interest and net gain attributable to the disposition of certain
property, less certain deductions. Prospective purchasers should consult their own tax advisors regarding the possible
implications of this legislation in their particular circumstances.

State Tax Exemption

Haynsworth Sinkler Boyd, P.A., Greenville, South Carolina (“Bond Counsel”) is of the opinion that the Series
2020 Bonds and the interest thereon are exempt from all taxation by the State of South Carolina, its counties,
municipalities and school districts except estate, transfer or certain franchise taxes. Interest paid on the Series 2020
Bonds is currently subject to the tax imposed on banks by Section 12-11-20 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina
1976, as amended, which is enforced by the South Carolina Department of Revenue as a franchise tax. The opinion of
Bond Counsel is limited to the laws of the State of South Carolina and federal tax laws. No opinion is rendered by Bond
Counsel concerning the taxation of the Series 2020 Bonds or the interest thereon under the laws of any other jurisdiction.
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UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY CODE

The undertakings of the City and the Commissioners in connection with the Series 2020 Bonds should be
considered with reference to Chapter 9 of the United States Bankruptcy Code, 11 U.S.C. Section 901, et seq., as amended
(“Bankruptcy Code”), and other laws affecting creditors’ rights and public instrumentalities generally. Chapter 9 permits
a municipality, political subdivision, public agency, or other instrumentality of a state that is insolvent or unable to meet
its debts as such debts mature to file a petition in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the purpose of effecting a plan
to adjust its debts; directs such a petitioner to file with the court a list of its creditors; provides that the filing of the
petition under that Chapter operates as a stay of the commencement or continuation of any judicial or other proceeding
against the petitioner but does not limit or impair the power of a state to control a municipality by legislation; directs a
petitioner to file a plan for the adjustment of its debts; permits the petitioner in its plan to modify the rights to payment
of'its creditors; and provides that the plan must be accepted in writing by or on behalf of creditors of each class of claims
holding at least two-thirds in amount and more than one-half in number of the creditors which have accepted or rejected
the plan. The plan may be confirmed notwithstanding the negative vote of one or more classes of claims if the court
finds that the plan is in the best interest of creditors, is feasible, and is fair and equitable with respect to the dissenting
classes of creditors. A petitioner has the right to reinstate or otherwise modify indebtedness under its plan varying from
the original maturity schedule of such indebtedness notwithstanding any provision in the documents under which the
indebtedness arose relating to the insolvency or financial condition of the debtor before the confirmation of the plan, the
commencement of a case under the Bankruptcy Code, or the appointment of or taking possession by a trustee in a case
under the Bankruptcy Code or by a receiver or other custodian prior to the commencement of a case under the
Bankruptcy Code.

ENFORCEABILITY OF REMEDIES

The remedies available to the owners of the Series 2020 Bonds upon the event of default under the Authorizing
Documents are in many respects dependent upon judicial actions which are often subject to discretion and delay. Under
existing constitutional and statutory law and judicial decisions, including specifically Title 11 of the United States Code,
the remedies specified by the Bankruptcy Code, the Bond Ordinance and the Series 2020 Bonds may not be readily
available or may be limited. The various legal opinions to be delivered concurrently with the delivery of the Series 2020
Bonds (including Bond Counsel’s approving opinion) will be qualified, as to the enforceability of the various legal
instruments, by limitations imposed by bankruptcy, reorganization, insolvency or other similar laws affecting the laws
of creditors enacted before or after such delivery.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE

In accordance with Section 11-1-85 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, as amended, the
Commissioners have covenanted in the Series Resolution to file with a central repository for availability in the secondary
bond market when requested (1) an annual independent audit, within thirty days of the Commissioners’ receipt of the
System’s audit, and (2) event specific information, within thirty days of an event adversely affecting more than five
percent of the System’s revenues. The only remedy for failure by the Commissioners to comply with this covenant shall
be an action for specific performance. Moreover, the Commissioners have specifically reserved the right to amend or
repeal this covenant to reflect any change in or repeal of Section 11-1-85 without the consent of any bondholder.

Further, as required by SEC Rule 15¢2-12 (“Rule”), the Commissioners, on behalf of the City, have covenanted
for the benefit of the holders and beneficial owners of the Series 2020 Bonds to provide notices of the occurrence of
certain enumerated events, and, in addition, to file annually by the last day of the seventh month following the end of
each of the Commissioners’ fiscal years, commencing with the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, “annual financial
information” (as such term is defined in the Rule) (each, an “Annual Report”) which includes the System’s audited
financial statements and certain other financial information and operating data included in this Official Statement, which
the Commissioners specifically agree will be provided in the System’s Annual Reports.

The Commissioners have undertaken and implemented formal Disclosure Policies and Procedures, including
the engagement in September 2014 of Digital Assurance Corporation, L.L.C. (“DAC”). The Commissioners will enter
into a Disclosure Dissemination Agent Agreement (“Disclosure Dissemination Agreement”) for the benefit of the
holders of the Series 2020 Bonds with DAC, under which the Commissioners will designate DAC as Disclosure
Dissemination Agent. The form of Disclosure Dissemination Agreement is attached hereto as Appendix E.
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The Commissioners may modify from time to time, consistent with the Rule, the information provided to the
extent necessary or appropriate in the judgment of the Commissioners, but: (1) any such modification may only be made
in connection with a change in circumstances that arise from a change in legal requirements, change in law or change in
the identity, nature or status of the System; (2) the information to be provided, as modified, would have complied with
the requirements of the Rule as of the date of this Official Statement, after taking into account any amendments or
interpretations of the Rule, as well as any changes in circumstances; and (3) any such modification does not materially
impair the interest of the Holders or the beneficial owners, as determined by the Trustee or nationally recognized bond
counsel or by the approving vote of the Holders of a majority in principal amount of the Series 2020 Bonds then
Outstanding at the time of the amendment. Any annual financial information containing modified operating data or
financial information will explain, in narrative form, the reasons for the modification and the impact of the change in
the type of operating data or financial information being provided. The Commissioners’ Rule 15¢2-12 undertakings
will terminate on payment, or provision having been made for payment in a manner consistent with the Rule, in full of
the principal of and interest on the Series 2020 Bonds.

FINANCIAL ADVISOR

First Tryon Advisors has served as financial advisor (the “Financial Advisor”) to the Commissioners with
respect to the sale of the Series 2020 Bonds. The Financial Advisor’s fee for services rendered with respect to the sale
of the Series 2020 Bonds is contingent on the issuance and delivery of the Series 2020 Bonds. The Financial Advisor
is not obligated to undertake, and has not undertaken, either to make an independent verification of or to assume
responsibility for the accuracy, completeness, or fairness of the information contained in this Official Statement and the
appendixes thereto.

VERIFICATION

The accuracy of the arithmetical computations of the adequacy of the maturing principal amounts of principal
and interest on the federal securities placed in escrow to pay, when due, the principal of and the interest on the Refunded
Bonds will be verified by Bingham Arbitrage Rebate Services, Inc. Such verification of arithmetical accuracy and
mathematical computations will be based upon information supplied by the Commissioners and the Underwriters.

AUTHORIZATION OF OFFICIAL STATEMENT

This Official Statement has been authorized and adopted by the Commissioners on behalf of the City.
Concurrently with the delivery of the Series 2020 Bonds, the undersigned will furnish their certificate to the effect that,
to the best of their knowledge, this Official Statement did not, as of its date, and does not as of the date of delivery of
the Series 2020 Bonds, contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact which should be
included therein for the purposes for which this Official Statement is to be used, or which is necessary in order to make
the statements contained therein, in light of the circumstances in which they were made, not misleading.

CONCLUDING STATEMENT

All of the summaries of the provisions of the Act, the Series 2020 Bonds, the Authorizing Documents and all
summaries and references to other documents, instruments and materials not purported to be quoted in full are only brief
outlines of certain provisions thereof and are not intended to be and do not constitute complete statements of the Act,
the Authorizing Documents or other such documents or provisions. Reference is made hereby to the complete documents
relating to such matters for the complete terms and provisions thereof, or for the information contained therein, copies
of which may be obtained from G. Newton Pressley, Chief Financial Officer, Commissioners of Public Works, (864)
580-5620, 200 Commerce Street, Spartanburg, South Carolina 29304. The attached Appendices are integral parts of
this Official Statement and should be read in their entirety together with all foregoing statements.

Certain of the information set forth in this Official Statement and in the Appendices hereto has been obtained
from sources other than the City or the Commissioners that are believed to be reliable but is not guaranteed as to accuracy

or completeness by the Underwriter, the City or the Commissioners.

The execution of this Official Statement and its delivery have been duly authorized by the City and the
Commissioners.
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This Official Statement is not to be construed as a contract with the holders of the Series 2020 Bonds. Any
statements made in this Official Statement involving matters of opinion or estimates, whether or not expressly so
identified, are intended merely as such and not as representations of fact.

CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA
By _/s/ Sue G. Schneider

Chief Executive Officer
Commissioners of Public Works
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Letter of Transmittal
December 2, 2019

To the Commissioners and Customers
of the Spartanburg Water System

We are pleased to submit to you the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (*CAFR”) for the
Spartanburg Water System (the “System™) for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019. Responsibility for
both the accuracy of the data and the completeness and fairness of the presentation, including all
disclosures, rests with the System’s management. To the best of our knowledge and belief, the enclosed
data is accurate in all material respects and is reported in a manner designed to present fairly the financial
position and results of operations of the System. All disclosures necessary to enable the reader to gain an
understanding of the System’s financial activities have been included.

The System’s management has established a system of internal accounting controls designed to provide
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance for the safeguarding of assets and financial statement preparation
in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”).
The concept of reasonable assurance recognizes that the cost of internal controls should not exceed the

benefits.

The System is required by state law to publish an annual financial report audited by a certified public
accountant and this CAFR fulfills that requirement. McAbee, Schwartz, Halliday & Co., Certified Public
Accountants, conducted the independent audit of the System’s financial statements. The objective was to
obtain reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free of material misstatement. The audit was
conducted in accordance with U.S. generally accepted auditing standards. McAbee, Schwartz, Halliday
& Co. issued an unmodified opinion that the System’s financial statements are fairly presented, in all
material respects, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. The independent
auditor’s report is presented as the first component of the financial section of this report.

A Management Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A™) is provided in the financial section of this report.
The MD&A serves as a narrative introduction, overview and analysis of the System’s financial
statements. This Letter of Transmittal is intended to compliment the MD&A and should be read in

conjunction with it.

PROFILE OF THE SYSTEM

The System is a Commission of Public Works created in 1908 by the General Assembly of the State of
South Carolina to provide public water utility services to Spartanburg, South Carolina and surrounding

communities.
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The System is located in Spartanburg County, which is located in the northwest Piedmont section of
South Carolina on the I-85 corridor between Atlanta, Georgia and Charlotte, North Carolina. The System
serves retail customers located inside and outside the city limits of the City and the Towns of Cowpens,
Pacolet and Landrum. Additionally, the System provides water on a wholesale basis through master
meters to two water districts, two water companies, and one town. These wholesale customers are located
primarily inside Spartanburg County and, to a lesser extent, Cherokee County and Union County.

The System is governed by a three member Commission elected from the residents of the City of
Spartanburg. The Commissioners serve staggered six-year terms, with elections held every two years.

The Spartanburg Water System has three water filtration plants. Raw water supply for the R.B. Simms
Water Filtration Plant is obtained from Lake Bowen and Municipal Reservoir #1. Both lakes are located
on the South Pacolet River system. The raw water flows by gravity to the Simms Plant, which is located
near the confluence of the South and North Pacolet Rivers at a point approximately 12 miles northeast of
the City of Spartanburg. Raw water for the Myles W. Whitlock, Jr. Water Treatment Facility is obtained
from Lake Blalock. This lake is located on the Pacolet River system. The raw water is pumped to the
Whitlock Plant, which is located off Highway 221 approximately 10 miles east northeast of the City of
Spartanburg. The Landrum Water Filtration Plant uses surface water from Hogback Creek, located near
the top of Hogback Mountain, as well as Vaughn’s Creck, located near Lake Lanier. The source water is
located in Spartanburg County within the Broad River Basin.

LOCAL ECONOMY

Spartanburg County possesses a diversified business and industry base. The following types of industry
represent major employers in Spartanburg County: automotive, research and development on
yarns/chemicals, flexible plastic packaging materials. radial truck tires, china plumbing fixtures, catalog
printing and binding, non woven materials and consumer specialty bags. Spartanburg County has the
highest per capita international investment in the nation. The County has an available, skilled labor force
and has taken advantage of the State’s excellent worker training programs. Other major employers in the
area include public schools, state and local governments, and health care providers.

The city serves as the national headquarters for Denny’s, QS/1, and Advance America. The Chapman
Cultural Center serves Spartanburg’s cultural community for visual and performing arts, science and
history. The 86,000-square-foot center is in downtown Spartanburg, adjacent to Barnet Park. The USC
Upstate George Dean Johnson, Jr. College of Business and Economics is located in the heart of
downtown Spartanburg.

Spartanburg County’s unemployment rate in June 2019 was 3.5%, as compared with the state rate of
3.6% and the national rate of 3.7%.

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

The System adopts an annual operating budget for management and financial planning purposes. The
System'’s computerized financial planning and rate-setting model is updated annually to provide for a
five-year financial plan. Capital improvement plans, and applicable debt service projections for future
bond issues, are incorporated in the financial planning process. The five-year plan is reviewed with the
Commission, which adopts the budget and rates for the upcoming year only. The overall objective of the
financial planning process is to minimize the impact of customer rate increases. while maintaining
required debt service coverage. Other considerations of the financial planning process include: volume
trends by customer class; maintaining sufficient fund balances to meet the System's operations,
maintenance, and capital improvement needs; growth trends for various expenditure categories; and the
comparison of customer rates to other utilities in the region.
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During the fiscal year, financial management tracking includes the following: monthly preparation and
analytical review of departmental and company-wide financial reports; significant expenditure variances
require follow-up with the responsible budget manager; the company-wide financial report is presented at
the monthly Commission meeting; utility user charges are monitored monthly in relation to the approved
budget and historical results; the tracking of utility user charges is performed for revenues and flows by
customer class.

The Red Flags Rule is federal legislation that requires government agencies, including utilities, to develop
written, board-approved programs designed to detect, prevent, and mitigate identity theft. A written Red
Flags Identity Theft Prevention Program was approved by the Commissioners on April 28, 2009; the
program details the procedures implemented to verify the identity of applicants opening new accounts and
to protect sensitive customer information such as social security numbers, bank account information, and
credit card numbers. The Red Flags Rule program is monitored on an ongoing basis to ensure compliance
with procedures and to provide training. The annual Red Flags Program report was provided at the June
25, 2019 Commission meeting. Management concluded that the program is effective, the policies and
procedures have been followed, and that the internal controls and electronic security measures are
protecting sensitive customer data.

The System’s cash management policy provides that available funds are invested overnight and longer-
term in accordance with state law, which permits the following types of investments: obligations of the
United States and its agencies, general obligations of the State of South Carolina and its subdivisions,
savings and loan associations to the extent of federal insurance, certificates of deposit collaterally secured,
repurchase agreements secured by the foregoing obligations, and the State Treasurer’s Investment Pool.
For more information regarding the June 30, 2019 investment distribution, see Note 2 to the Financial
Statements.

The System is a member of the South Carolina Retirement System, one of four defined benefit retirement
systems maintained by the Retirement Division of the State Budget and Control Board of South Carolina.
For information regarding the System’s retirement plan, see Note 8 to the Financial Statements.

For information regarding the System’s risk management function, see Note 11 to the Financial
Statements.

FINANCIAL CONDITION

The increase in net position for fiscal year 2019 was $7,978,746, a 12.6% increase for the fiscal year. The
customer base increased by 983 accounts, or 1.6%, for fiscal year 2019. The average annual growth rate
over the past five years was 1.2%. The System’s revenue bond covenants require debt service coverage
of 110% for Revenue Bonds. The debt service coverage ratio was 182% for fiscal year 2019. A recent
rate survey of comparable utilities in the region indicated that the System’s customer rates compared
favorably with the majority of the agencies in the survey.

Various funds are maintained to meet the operational, maintenance, and capital improvement needs of the
system. The Depreciation Fund provides for the renovation and replacement of operational equipment
and system facilities and has been adequately funded in recent years; this fund had a June 30, 2019
balance of $9,894.943.
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AWARDS

Spartanburg Water was the recipient of two national awards at the National Association of Clean Water
Agencies (NACWA). Spartanburg Water was the sole recipient of The Water Resources Utility of the
Future Award, given to member agencies that demonstrate bold, transformational leadership in managing
resources, partnering effectively in local economic development, and engaging stakeholders — resulting in
environmental, economic, and social benefits. Spartanburg Water was recognized for its innovative
programs to engage its customers, including Choose Tap, Water Matter and events like Paddle Fest and
Lake Sweep. The Public Information & Education Awards honor agencies for their inventive efforts to
educate the public on the effects of wastewater treatment and pollution control on the environment.

The Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA) awarded a
Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to Spartanburg Water System for its
comprehensive annual financial report for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018. This was the sixteenth
year that the government has achieved this prestigious award. In order to be awarded a Certificate of
Achievement, a government must publish an easily readable and efficiently organized comprehensive
annual financial report. This report must satisfy both GAAP and applicable legal requirements.

A Certificate of Achievement is valid for a period of one year only. We believe that our current
comprehensive annual financial report continues to meet the Certificate of Achievement Program’s
requirements and we are submitting it to the GFOA to determine its eligibility for another certificate.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We appreciate the support of the Commissioners and the dedication of all our System employees.

Respectfully Submitted,
4 ’A&:ﬁ@»&——
ue . Schneider G. Newton Pressley
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer
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A FROFESSIONAL CORPORATION
CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS AND CONSULTANTS

I McAbee, Schwartz, Halliday Cg Co.

To the Commissioners and Officers of
Spartanburg Water System

200 Commerce Street

Spartanburg, South Carolina

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Spartanburg Water System, as of and for the
years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively
comprise the Spartanburg Water System’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted
our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation
of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. Accordingly,
we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective
financial position of the Spartanburg Water System as of June 30, 2019 and 2018, and the respective changes
in financial position and cash flows thereof for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.

(1)

824 E. MAIN STREET, 29302 MEMBERS OF: AMERICAN INSTITUTE OF CERTIFIED PUBLIC SPARTANBURG (864) 583-0856
SPARTANBURG, S.C. ACCOUNTANTS, PCPS AND SEC DIVISIONS; 5.C. ASSOCIATION OF CERTIFIED TOLL FREE (800) 788-3193
WWW.MSHCPA.COM PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS; N.C. ASSOCIATION OF CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS FAX NUMBER (864) 594-4365




To the Commissioners and Officers of
Spartanburg Water System
Page Two

Emphasis-of-Matter

As discussed in Note 16 to the financial statements, in the year ended June 30, 2018, the Spartanburg Water
System adopted new accounting guidance, Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement
No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other than Pensions. Our opinion
was not modified with respect to this matter.

Other Matters
Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s
discussion and analysis, schedules of the System's proportionate share of the collective net pension liability
and employer contributions and schedules of changes in the net OPEB liability and related ratios and employer
contributions, as listed in the table of contents, be presented to supplement the basic financial statements.
Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental
Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic
financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain
limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of
preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our
inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial
statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited
procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Other Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic financial statements that collectively
comprise the Spartanburg Water System’s basic financial statements. The schedules of operating expenses
and the introductory and statistical sections are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a
required part of the financial statements.

The schedules of operating expenses is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates
directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. Such
information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements
and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial
statement themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the schedules of operating expenses are fairly stated
in all material respects in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.

The introductory and statistical sections have not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit
of the basic financial statements and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on
them.

/M%; ,&&VM;,, ﬂmﬁg % G

Spartanburg, South Carolina
December 2, 2019
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Spartanburg Water System
Management’s Discussion and Analysis

This Management Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) serves as an introduction to the basic financial
statements and provides a narrative overview and analysis of the System’s financial condition and
performance for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019. This information should be read in conjunction with
the transmittal letter and the System'’s financial statements, as listed in the table of contents included in this
report.

Financial Highlights

As of June 30, 2019, total assets of $269,533,668 and deferred outflows of resources of $9,745,929
exceeded total liabilities of $207,716,869 and deferred inflows of resources of $287,706 by $71,275,022.
For the fiscal year 2018, total assets of $268,244,084 and deferred outflows of resources of $10,783,609
exceeded total liabilities of $215,605,307 and deferred inflows of resources of $126,110 by $63,296,276.

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019, the increase in net position, before capital contributions, was
$6,788,203. The System’s increase in net position, after capital contributions of $1,190,543, was
$7,978,746. For the fiscal year 2018, the increase in net position, before capital contributions, was
$5,302,621. The System’s increase in net position, after capital contributions of $676,992, was $5,979,613.

For fiscal year 2019, operating revenues increased by $1,416,679 to $42,272,030 or 3.5%, nonoperating
revenues increased by $1,278,591 to $6,259,652 or 25.7%, and total expenses increased by $1,209,688
to $41,743,479 or 3.0%. For fiscal year 2018, operating revenues decreased by $1,366,118 to $40,855,351
or 3.2%. Nonoperating revenues increased by $747,269 to $4,981,061 or 17.7%. Total expenses increased
by $347,042 to $40,533,791 or 0.9%.

The System’s revenue bond covenants require debt service coverage of 110% for all revenue bonds. The
fiscal year 2019 total system revenue bond debt service coverage ratio was 182%. The fiscal year 2018
total system revenue bond debt service coverage ratio was 186%.

Overview of the Financial Statements

The financial statements of the System report information about the System using accounting methods
similar to those used by private-sector companies. These statements provide both long-term and short-
term information about the System’s overall financial status.

The Statements of Net Position present the System’s financial position and reports information on all of the
assets (resources owned by the System), deferred outflows of resources, liabilities (obligations of the
System), and deferred inflows of resources. The difference between assets plus deferred outflows and
liabilities plus deferred inflows is reported as net position.

All of the current year’s revenues and expenses are accounted for in the Statements of Revenues,
Expenses and Changes in Net Position. Revenue is reported when earned, and expenses are reported
when incurred. This statement measures the success of the System’s operations over the past year and
serves as the basis for determining the System’s actual Debt Service Coverage Ratio, as required by the
System’s revenue bond covenant.

The Statements of Cash Flows report cash receipts, cash payments, and net changes in cash resulting
from operating, investing, and financing activities. The statements provide information as to where did cash
come from, what was cash used for, and what was the change in the cash balance during the reporting
period.
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Financial Analysis of the System

The Condensed Statements of Net Position are provided below as a summary of Assets, Deferred Outflows
of Resources, Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources and Net Position for the years ended June 30, 2019,
2018 and 2017. The largest portion of the System’s net position reflects its investment in capital assets, less
any related debt used to acquire those assets that is still outstanding.

Condensed Statements of Net Position

2019 2018 Restated 2017

Assets

Current and Noncurrent Assets $ 73,026,989 $ 70,577,100 $ 58,745,977

Capital Assets 196,506,679 197,666,984 196,477,686
Total Assets $ 269,533,668 $ 268,244,084 $ 255,223,663
Deferred Outflows of Resources

Deferred loss on refundings $ 5,290,010 $ 5,733,143 $ 4,050,096

Deferred amounts related to Pension 3,143,789 3,797,289 3,527,111

Deferred amounts related to OPEB 1,312,130 1,253,177 -
Total Deferred Outflows of Resources $ 9,745,929 $ 10,783,609 $ 7,577,207
Liabilities

Current Liabilities $ 13,312,095 $ 14,173,232 $ 13,753,461

Noncurrent Liabilities 194,404,774 201,432,075 181,700,803
Total Liabilities $ 207,716,869 $ 215,605,307 $ 195,454,264
Deferred Inflows of Resources

Deferred amounts related to Pension $ 284,356 $ 126,110 $ -

Deferred amounts related to OPEB 3,350 - -

$ 287,706 $ 126,110 $ -

Net Position

Net Investment in Capital Assets $ 75,359,394  § 71,738,818  § 76,099,078

Unrestricted (4,084,372) (8,442,542) (8,752,472)
Total Net Position $ 71,275,022 $ 63,296,276 $ 67,346,606

In fiscal year 2019, current and noncurrent assets increased by $2,449,889 to $73,026,989, due to an
increase in unrestricted investments, other receivables, and inventories offset by a decrease in restricted
and unrestricted cash, accounts receivable-net of allowance for doubtful accounts, and restricted
investments. In fiscal year 2018, current and noncurrent assets increased by $11,831,123 to $70,577,100,
due to an increase in restricted and unrestricted investments offset by a decrease in restricted and
unrestricted cash, accounts receivable — net of allowance for doubtful accounts, and inventories.

Capital assets decreased by $1,160,305 to $196,506,679 in fiscal year 2019 and increased by $1,189,298
to $197,666,984 in fiscal year 2018. See Capital Assets section on page 9 for further explanation.

Current and noncurrent assets included cash and investments of $65,296,487. The distribution by fund of
the year-end balances for fiscal years 2019 and 2018 is provided on the following page:
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Fund 2019 2018

Operating $ 7,343,158 $ 5,680,263
Debt Service Trust Account 8,041,492 8,310,984
Rate Stabilization 3,226,134 3,639,849
Depreciation 9,894,943 8,171,629
Capital Project Funds

Capital 3,908,286 1,931,998

Water Line Repair/Replacement 3,373,417 3,621,835

Bond Funds 29,509,057 31,150,711
Total Cash and Investments $ 65,296,487 $ 62,507,269

Current and noncurrent assets also included receivables of $6,117,930, with the substantial portion
associated with customer accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts, of $5,158,710 and
the intercompany receivable from Spartanburg Sanitary Sewer District of $943,839. This is compared to
the fiscal year 2018 receivables of $6,494,598 with the substantial portion associated with customer
accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts, of $5,583,199, and intercompany receivable
from Spartanburg Sanitary Sewer District of $895,852.

Current liabilities as of June 30, 2019 included accounts payable from operating funds of $626,753,
accounts payable from capital funds of $577,755, and retainage payable of $29,670. Current liabilities as
of June 30, 2018 included accounts payable from operating funds of $667,022, accounts payable from
capital funds of $858,564, and retainage payable of $429,325. The current portion of long-term debt totaled
$6,250,000 and $6,135,000 at June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

The Condensed Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position are provided below as
a summary for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2019, 2018 and 2017.

Condensed Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position

2019 2018 Restated 2017
Revenues
Operating Revenues
Water Sales $ 39,662,643 $ 38,622,915 $ 40,183,098
Tap & Meter Sales 999,085 715,805 603,515
Other Operating Revenues 1,610,302 1,516,631 1,434,856
42,272,030 40,855,351 42,221,469
Nonoperating Revenues
Intercompany Services 3,475,522 3,189,295 3,011,119
Other Nonoperating Revenues 2,784,130 1,791,766 1,222,673
6,259,652 4,981,061 4,233,792
Total Revenues 48,531,682 45,836,412 46,455,261
Expenses
Operating Expenses, Before Depreciation 26,494,111 25,633,608 23,516,057
Depreciation Expense 8,333,554 7,915,554 7,872,092
Nonoperating Expenses 6,915,814 6,984,629 8,798,600
Total Expenses 41,743,479 40,533,791 40,186,749
Excess, Before Capital Contributions 6,788,203 5,302,621 6,268,512
Capital Contributions 1,190,543 676,992 923,529
Change in Net Position 7,978,746 5,979,613 7,192,041
Net Position, Beginning of Year-Restated (2018) 63,296,276 57,316,663 60,154,565
Net Position, End of Year $ 71,275,022 $ 63,296,276 $ 67,346,606
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Revenues (excluding capital contributions) for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019 were comprised of the
following:

Revenues 2019

Water Sales $39,662,643

81.7% Tap & Meter Sales

$999,085
2.0%

Other Operating Revenue
$1,610,302
3.3%

Inter-Company
Service $3,475,522
7.2%
Capacity Fees
$313,346
7%

Other Non-Operating Revenue
$594,743
1.2%
Fishing & Boating Permits Interest Income
$383,483 $1,492,558
.8% 3.1%

Water sales were comprised of metered volume charges of $31,042,512, base charges of $8,460,756,
and other miscellaneous billings of $159,375. Water sales increased by $1,039,728 or 2.7%. Volume
charges increased by 2.9%, resulting from a 3.2% volume rate increase that was effective August 1,
2018.

e The billed volume for fiscal year 2019 was 63,102,203 (100 gallons), a decrease of
2,032,945 or 3.1%, from fiscal year 2018, as a result of decreased irrigation use due to
increased rainfall. The billed volume for fiscal year 2018 was 65,135,148 (100 gallons), a
decrease of 1,578,715 or 2.4%, over fiscal year 2017 primarily due to a decrease in irrigation
use. The change in billed volume for fiscal years 2019 and 2018 was distributed among the
following customer classes:

FY18to FY19 % of FY17 to FY18 % of
Incr./(Decr.) (100g) Incr./(Decr.) Incr./(Decr.) (100g) Incr./(Decr.)

Retail

Residential (623,466) -2.0% (447,645) -1.4%

Commercial (152,829) -1.1% (493,495) -3.3%

Industrial (364,929) -4.4% (201,207) -2.4%

Total Retail (1,141,224) -7.5% (1,142,347) -71.1%
Wholesale (891,721) -1.7% (436,368) -3.6%
System Total (2,032,945) -3.1% (1,578,715) -2.4%

Base charge revenue for fiscal year 2019 increased by $117,352 over fiscal year 2018, resulting from the
growth in the residential customer base. The increase from fiscal year 2018 over fiscal year 2017 was
$259,423.
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Fiscal year 2019 volume charges are further analyzed by the following charts:

Fiscal Year 2019 Metered Volume Charges — Revenue vs. Volume

| Water Volume (100g) |
Wholesale Wholesale
$1,733,893 10,655,034
6% 17%
Retail Retail
$29,308,619 52,447,169
94% 83%

The System maintains a comprehensive tracking program to monitor Unaccounted for Water, as reflected
graphically, by calendar year.

Spartanburg Water System
Unaccounted For Water
20.00%
15.00%
11.03%
9 9.59% 8.43%
(e 7.99%
- . l
0.00% : ;
2015 2016 2017 2018
Calendar Year

In fiscal year 2019, other nonoperating revenue increased by $992,364, due to an increase in capacity fees
of $18,571, interest income of $961,795, miscellaneous income of $49,743, and administrative income of
$35,928, offset by a decrease in lake revenue of $26,895 and gain on sale of capital assets of $46,778. In
fiscal year 2018, other nonoperating revenue increased by $569,093, due to an increase in capacity fees
of $21,010, lake revenue of $47,244, interest income of $448,438, miscellaneous income of $36,980, and
administrative income of $44,629, offset by a decrease in gain on sale of capital assets of $29,208.

The intercompany reimbursement from Spartanburg Sanitary Sewer District was comprised of the
following types of intercompany services: billing and collection, administrative and financial, engineering,
fleet maintenance, field maintenance, and facility allocations for maintenance and the lab. The increase
in 2019 was primarily due to the full year of monthly billing and increased staff for Customer Service and
Field Services.
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Operating expenses before depreciation were comprised of the following:

Operating expenses before depreciation 2019

System Operation &
Maintenance

$1,416,394
5.3%

Treatment & Filter
Supplies
$1,581,406
6.0%

Service Connection
Supplies
$222.,893

0.8%

Group Insurance
$2,689,901
10.2%

Salaries & Wages
$13,551,060
51.1%

Other Expenses .
Other Supplies &

$1,264,164 : . '
4.8% Other ng;sélg zi;rwces Utilities Maintenance
’10 5,’,/ $1,291,032 $1,707,318

= 4.9% 6.4%

The following table provides a comparison of 2019, 2018 and 2017 operating expenses before depreciation
for major expense categories.

Comparison of operating expenses before depreciation

Expense Category Increase / (Decrease)

2019 2018 Amount % of Change
Salaries and wages $13,551,060 $13,325,304 $225,756 1.7%
Group insurance 2,689,901 2,942,182 (252,281) -8.6%
System operation and maint. 1,416,394 1,245,874 170,520 13.7%
Treatment and filter supplies 1,581,406 1,908,252 (326,846) -17.1%
Service connection supplies 222,893 271,847 (48,954) -18.0%
Other supplies and maintenance 1,707,318 1,512,231 195,087 12.9%
Utilities 1,291,032 1,238,852 52,180 4.2%
Other outside services 2,769,943 2,098,291 671,652 32.0%
Other expenses 1,264,164 1,090,775 173,389 15.9%
Total operating expenses before
depreciation $26,494,111 $25,633,608 $860,503 3.4%

Increase / (Decrease)

2018 2017 Amount % of Change
Salaries and wages $13,325,304 $12,518,298 $807,006 6.4%
Group insurance 2,942,182 2,553,747 388,435 15.2%
System operation and maint. 1,245,874 1,081,272 164,602 15.2%
Treatment and filter supplies 1,908,252 1,068,491 839,761 78.6%
Service connection supplies 271,847 184,154 87,693 47.6%
Other supplies and maintenance 1,512,231 1,453,669 58,562 4.0%
Utilities 1,238,852 1,187,067 51,785 4.4%
Other outside services 2,098,291 2,198,756 (100,465) -4.6%
Other expenses 1,090,775 1,270,603 (179,828) -14.2%
Total operating expenses before
depreciation $25,633,608 $23,516,057 $2,117,551 9.0%
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Operating expenses before depreciation increased by $860,503 or 3.4% from fiscal year 2019 to 2018. The
increase was $2,117,551 or 9.0%, from fiscal year 2018 to fiscal year 2017, primarily due to an increase in
treatment and filter supplies, service connection supplies, group insurance and system operations and
mainteneace. Highlights of the 2019 — 2018 expense comparison are provided below:

» The Group Insurance decrease resulted from an favorable claim experience for fiscal year 2019.

» The System Operations and Maintenance line item includes supply cost and contracted
maintenance applicable to the water filtration plants and distribution system. The increase is
primarily the result of costs associated with line breaks and repairs during fiscal year 2019.

» The Treatment and Filter Supplies decrease was due to reduced demand for water quality
requirements and a substanial decrease in water flows.

» The variance in Other Supplies and Maintenance is primarily the result of an increase in Building &
Grounds Maintenance offset by a decrease in Printing and Office Supplies.

» The variance in Other Outside Services was associated with the increase in Legal and Other
Outside Services, due to payment processing costs for monthly billing and other outside lab
monitoring costs.

» Theincrease in Other Expenses is associated with the increase in Public Relations and Information
and Worker's Comp Insurance.

» The other line items reflected no significant change in the comparison of fiscal year 2019 to fiscal
year 2018.

Nonoperating expenses decreased by $68,815 or 1.0%, due to the decrease in bond issuance costs of
$467,731 offset by the increase in payments to other governmental units of $21,000 and interest and paying
agent fees of $377,916.

Capital Contributions:

The System receives contributions from developers in the form of cash payments and donated lines; and
occasionally, contributions from federal/state agencies in the form of grants for capital projects. Accounting
principles generally accepted by the United States of America require that these contributions be reflected
as a revenue source on the Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position. Capital
contributions for fiscal year 2019 totaled $1,190,543 and were comprised of donated lines of $805,620 and
cash payments of $384,923. Capital contributions for fiscal year 2018 totaled $676,992 and were comprised
of donated lines of $412,150 and cash payments of $264,842. The capital contributions received in cash
were comprised of participation fees and miscellaneous project contributions.

Capital Assets

At June 30, 2019, the System had $196,506,679 invested in capital assets, as provided in the following
schedule:
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Capital Assets at Year-End

2019 2018 2017

Transmission, Distribution and $ 177,908,923 § 180,354,508 $ 181,686,308

Treatment Facilities
Other Facilities & Property 5,685,113 5,157,501 5,106,039
Vehicles, Office & Maintenance Equipment 5,237,025 6,581,141 6,673,708
Construction in Progress 7,675,618 5,573,834 3,011,631
Capital Assets - Net of

Accumulated Depreciation $ 196,506,679 $§ 197,666,984 $ 196,477,686

Significant changes for Capital Assets during fiscal year 2019 included a net decrease in Transmission,
Distribution and Treatment Facilities. The additions of $805,620 in donated lines, various waterline
extensions and rehab of $764,096 and R.B. Simms Continuous Sludge Removal of $433,564; capitalized
labor, storage tank rehab and various distribution system improvements were offset by an increase in
current year depreciation expense.

Significant changes during fiscal year 2018 included a net decrease in Transmission, Distribution, and
Treatment Facilities. The additions of $412,150 in donated lines, various waterline extensions and rehab
of $1,341,338, and R.B. Simms Continuous Sludge Removal of $2,911,638, capitalized labor, storage tank
rehab and various distribution system improvements were offset by an increase in current year depreciation
expense.

For more information on changes in capital assets, see Note 4 to the financial statements.
Debt Administration

Debt Service Coverage

In the System’s revenue bond resolution, the System covenants and agrees that it will, at all times, prescribe
and maintain and thereafter collect rates and charges for the services and facilities furnished by the System
which, together with other income, are reasonably expected to yield annual net earnings in the current fiscal
year equal to at least 110% of the annual principal and interest requirements for all revenue bonds
outstanding in such fiscal year. The computation of net earnings is presented in the Historical Statements
of Revenues, Expenses, Debt Service and Debt Service Coverage, which is provided in the statistical
section of this report. The System’s historical debt service coverage is summarized by the following table:

Debt Service Coverage 2019 2018 Restated 2017
Net Earnings per Revenue Bond Covenant $ 21,806,853 § 20,651,829 $§ 23,533,592
Revenue Bond Debt Service 11,990,692 11,118,019 12,997,256

Revenue Bond Debt Service Coverage 1.82 1.86 1.81
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Spartanburg Water System
Debt Service Coverage
225%
200% -
182% 186% 181%
175%
150%
mExcess
125%
@Required
100% A
75%
50% -
2019 2018 2017

Outstanding Debt at Year-End
The System had $157,590,000 in long-term revenue bond debt outstanding at year-end, as scheduled
below:

Average Outstanding Debt
Yield 2019 2018 2017

Long-term Debt

2007B Water System Revenue Bond 4.39% $ - $ - $ 4,180,000

2009 Water System Revenue Bond 4.97% - - 33,935,000

2012 Water System Revenue Bond 2.23% 4,695,000 5,205,000 5,700,000

2013 Water System Revenue Bond 4.62% 27,255,000 27,255,000 27,255,000

2015A Water System Refunding Revenue Bond 3.40% 26,085,000 26,085,000 26,085,000

2015B Water System Refunding Revenue Bond 3.40% 4,470,000 5,090,000 5,700,000

2017A Water System Refunding Revenue Bond 1.75% 49,155,000 54,160,000 59,080,000

2017B Water System Refunding Revenue Bond 2.90% 45,930,000 45,930,000 -
Total Debt Outstanding $ 157,590,000 $ 163,725,000 $ 161,935,000

For more information on changes in short-term and long-term debt, see Note 5 to the financial statements.
Bond Ratings
Based on the System’s continued trend of strong financial performance, management proactively reached

out to Moody’s and asked for an updated rating. Moody upgraded the System from Aa3 to Aa2 in February
2019.

| Agency Revenue
Standard & Poor’s AA
Moody’s Aa2
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Financial Planning

Although the System does not have a legally adopted budget, an annual operating budget is adopted for
management and financial planning purposes. The System conducts an update of the financial planning
process as follows: departmental staffing plans, detailed budget requests, and depreciation schedules are
prepared; System-wide budget information, including revenues, flow estimates, debt service, cost
allocations, etc., are completed; capital improvement plans and applicable debt service projections are
utilized for long-term financial planning; the computerized financial planning and rate-setting model is
updated to provide for a five-year financial projection; the annual operating budget is presented to the
Commission; and a public hearing is advertised and held prior to final approval of the budget and water
rates.

The System Commission approved a balanced Annual Operating Budget for fiscal year 2020 in the total
amount of $47,362,508, which represents a 2.1% increase over the previous year’s budgeted revenues
and expenditures. The approved budget included funding of reserves for the Depreciation Fund -
$1,900,000, Capital Fund - $1,000,000, Meter/Endpoint Fund - $665,000 and the Distribution System
Rehab Fund - $1,000,000.

Other Significant Matters

e Replacement of Aging Infrastructure
The System has enhanced efforts to address aging water mains. Various water main
replacement projects were completed by the Maintenance Department and outside contractors
during fiscal year 2019, with ongoing projects captured in the Construction in Progress.

e Monthly Billing
Spartanburg Water System and Sanitary Sewer District introduced monthly billing in February
2018. Most customers were previously billed on a bimonthly basis. Monthly billing provides
various benefits to customers: more efficient household budgeting, timely water usage
information, and earlier detection of water leaks. Monthly billing represents the more typical
billing method utilized in the water/sewer industry.

Requests for Information

This financial report is intended to provide a general overview of the System’s finances. For questions
concerning this report or other requests for financial information, please contact:

Chief Financial Officer
Spartanburg Water System
P.O. Box 251

Spartanburg, SC 29304
(864) 583-7361
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SPARTANBURG WATER SYSTEM
STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION

JUNE 30, 2019 AND 2018

ASSETS AND DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Exhibit A

Restated
2019 2018
Assets
Current assets
Cash $ 1,746,979 3,027,686
Investments 24,472,868 18,572,157
Accounts receivable - net of allowance for doubtful
accounts of $200,099 and $176,994 as of 2019
and 2018, respectively 5,158,710 5,583,199
Loans receivable 15,381 15,547
Other receivables 943,839 895,852
Inventories 1,612,572 1,575,233
Total current assets 33,950,349 29,669,674
Noncurrent assets
Restricted cash 1,727,742 1,921,170
Restricted investments 37,348,898 38,986,256
Capital assets - nondepreciable 9,630,607 6,694,568
Capital assets - net of accumulated depreciation 186,876,072 190,972,416
Total noncurrent assets 235,583,319 238,574,410
Total Assets 269,533,668 268,244,084
Deferred Outflows of Resources
Deferred loss on refundings 5,290,010 5,733,143
Deferred amounts related to pensions 3,143,789 3,797,289
Deferred amounts related to OPEB 1,312,130 1,253,177
Total Deferred Outflows of Resources 9,745,929 10,783,609
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SPARTANBURG WATER SYSTEM
STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION - CONTINUED

JUNE 30, 2019 AND 2018

Exhibit A - Continued

LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES AND NET POSITION

Liabilities

Current liabilities
Accounts payable

Payable from restricted assets - customer deposits
Accrued salaries and wages

Accrued employee benefits

Accrued interest expense

Other payables

Sewer and water collections payable to others
Long-term debt - current portion

Total current liabilities

Noncurrent liabilities
Net pension liability

Net other post-employment benefit liability
Long-term debt - net of current portion

Total noncurrent liabilities

Total Liabilities

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Deferred amounts related to pensions
Deferred amounts related to OPEB

Net Position

Net investment in capital assets

Unrestricted

Total Net Position

Restated

2019 2018
1,234,178 1,954,911
1,526,091 1,720,545
1,212,581 1,234,375
407,769 362,249
466,084 474,705
406,748 492,270
1,808,644 1,799,177
6,250,000 6,135,000
13,312,095 14,173,232
23,065,802 23,366,599
11,183,581 11,264,695
160,155,391 166,800,781
194,404,774 201,432,075
207,716,869 215,605,307
284,356 126,110
3,350 -
287,706 126,110
75,359,394 71,738,818
(4,084,372) (8,442,542)
$ 71,275,022 $ 63,296,276

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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SPARTANBURG WATER SYSTEM

Exhibit B

STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION
FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2019 AND 2018

Operating Revenues
Water sales
Private fire service rates
Cut-off service charges
Tap and meter sales
New account fees
Ice machine sales
Miscellaneous

Operating Expenses

Operating expenses before depreciation

Depreciation

Operating Income

Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)
Capacity fees
Fishing and boating permits
Interest income
Miscellaneous
Intercompany services
Administrative income
Payments to other governmental units
Gain on sale of capital assets
Bond issuance costs
Interest and paying agent fees

Increase in Net Position
Before Capital Contributions
Capital Contributions

Increase in Net Position

Net Position - Beginning of Year - Restated

Net Position - End of Year

Restated
2019 2018

39,662,643 38,622,915
367,241 356,078
419,314 360,354
999,085 715,805
191,640 191,040
410,229 405,520
221,878 203,639
42,272,030 40,855,351
26,494,111 25,633,608
8,333,554 7,915,554
34,827,665 33,549,162
7,444,365 7,306,189
313,346 294,775
383,483 410,378
1,492,558 530,763
211,547 161,804
3,475,522 3,189,295
321,733 285,805
(1,021,000) (1,000,000)
61,463 108,241
- (467,731)
(5,894,814) (5,516,898)
(656,162) (2,003,568)
6,788,203 5,302,621
1,190,543 676,992
7,978,746 5,979,613
63,296,276 57,316,663
71,275,022 63,296,276

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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SPARTANBURG WATER SYSTEM
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2019 AND 2018

Cash Flows Provided (Used) by Operating Activities
Cash received from customers
Cash paid to suppliers for goods and services
Cash paid to or for the benefit of employees

Cash Flows Provided (Used) by Noncapital
Financing Activities
Intercompany services
Payments to other governmental units

Cash Flows Provided (Used) by Capital and
Related Financing Activities
Capital contributions
Capacity fees
Acquisition and construction of capital assets
Proceeds from sale of capital assets
Proceeds from issuance of revenue bonds
Payments to current and advanced refundings escrow
Bond issuance costs
Repayments of bonds payable - revenue bonds
Interest and paying agent fees

Cash Flows Provided (Used) by Investing Activities
Interest income

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and Cash Equivalents - Beginning of Year

Cash and Cash Equivalents - End of Year

(16)

Exhibit C

Restated
2019 2018

$ 43,278,075 $ 43,166,754
(10,916,463) (8,701,513)
(15,929,506) (15,158,763)
16,432,106 19,306,478
3,475,522 3,189,295
(1,021,000) (1,000,000)
2,454,522 2,189,295
384,923 264,842
313,346 294,775
(6,380,329) (8,693,378)
74,163 108,916

- 15,590,934
- (4,269,003)
- (125,960)
(6,135,000) (6,025,000)
(5,847,071) (5,451,479)
(17,589,968) (8,305,353)
1,492,558 530,763
2,789,218 13,721,183
62,507,269 48,786,086
$ 65,296,487 62,507,269




Exhibit C - Continued

SPARTANBURG WATER SYSTEM
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS - CONTINUED

FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2019 AND 2018

(17)

Restated
2019 2018
Reconciliation of Operating Income to Net Cash
Provided (Used) by Operating Activities:
Operating income $ 7,444,365 $ 7,306,189
Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net
cash provided (used) by operating activities
Depreciation 8,333,554 7,915,554
Pension expense 2,155,703 2,423,966
OPEB expense 877,783 1,006,475
Nonoperating income 916,763 857,987
(Increase) decrease in assets:
Accounts receivable 424,489 1,390,488
Loans receivable 166 7,364
Other receivables (47,987) 98,975
Inventories (37,339) 393,233
Deferred outflows related to pensions (1,644,754) (1,344,340)
Deferred outflows related to OPEB (1,014,500) (1,059,184)
Increase (decrease) in liabilities:
Accounts payable (720,733) 191,045
Customer deposits (194,454) 41,459
Accrued salaries and wages (21,794) 131,377
Accrued employee benefits 45,520 81,814
Accrued interest expense (8,621) 14,428
Other payables (85,522) (65,482)
Sewer and water collections payable to others 9,467 (84,870)
Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities $ 16,432,106 $ 19,306,478
Noncash Investing, Capital and Financing Activities
Contribution of capital assets $ 805,620 $ 412,150
Amortization included in interest expense $ 47,743 $ 65,419
Current refunding
Proceeds from revenue bond issue $ -5 31,510,000
Defeased revenue bonds $ - $  (38,115,000)
Deferred loss on refunding $ - $ (2,110,109)
Bond premium $ - $ 4,787,877
Bond issuance costs $ - $ (341,771)



SPARTANBURG WATER SYSTEM

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS - CONTINUED

Exhibit C - Continued

FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2019 AND 2018
Restated
2019 2018
Reconciliation of Cash and Investments as Shown on
the Statements of Net Position and Cash Flow Statements
Statement of net position classifications
Current assets
Cash $ 1,746,979 $ 3,027,686
Investments 24,472,868 18,572,157
26,219,847 21,599,843
Noncurrent assets
Restricted cash 1,727,742 1,921,170
Restricted investments 37,348,898 38,986,256
39,076,640 40,907,426
$ 65,296,487 $ 62,507,269
Cash flow classifications
Petty cash $ 5,717 $ 4,217
Cash on hand 546,117 322,557
Cash deposits 2,922,887 4,622,082
Investments - cash equivalents 61,821,766 57,558,413
Total cash and cash equivalents $ 65,296,487 $ 62,507,269

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statemen
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SPARTANBURG WATER SYSTEM
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2019 AND 2018

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

This summary of significant accounting policies of the Spartanburg Water System (the System) is presented
to assist in understanding the financial statements. The financial statements and notes are representations
of the System's management, which are responsible for their integrity and objectivity. These accounting
policies conform to accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (US GAAP)
and have been consistently applied in the preparation of the financial statements.

Management uses estimates and assumptions in preparing financial statements. Those estimates and
assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities, and reported revenues and expenses. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Reporting Entity

The System provides public water utility services to the residents and businesses of Spartanburg, South
Carolina and surrounding communities. The System is a special purpose district created in the year 1908
by the General Assembly of the State of South Carolina. The System is a primary government with no
component units. The System is governed by three elected commissioners of the Commission of Public
Works of the City of Spartanburg.

Basis of Accounting

Under US GAAP, the System is considered to be a self-supporting enterprise, and these financial
statements are presented accordingly. Enterprise funds are used to account for operations financed and
operated in a manner similar to private business enterprises where the intent of the governing body is that
the cost (expenses, including depreciation) of providing goods or services to the general public on a
continuing basis be financed or recovered primarily through user charges. The basis of accounting
employed is the accrual method whereby revenues are recognized when they are earned and expenses
are recognized when they are incurred. Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the
accepted standard-setting body for establishing governmental accounting financial reporting principles.

Use of Restricted Resources

When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the System’s policy to use the
restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources as they are needed.

Revenues and Expenses

Operating revenues and expenses consist of those revenues and expenses that result from the ongoing
principal operations of the System. Operating revenues consist primarily of charges for services. Non-
operating revenues and expenses consist of those revenues and expenses that are related to financing and
investing types of activities and result from nonexchange transactions and ancillary activities.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

For purposes of reporting cash flows, all investments with a maturity of three months or less at the time of
purchase are considered to be cash equivalents.

Investments

Investments are stated at fair value.
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SPARTANBURG WATER SYSTEM
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
JUNE 30, 2019 AND 2018

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - CONTINUED
Accounts Receivable
Accounts receivable include fees for charges earned but not yet collected. Unbilled (i.e. cycle billings)
receivables at year end are estimated to record revenues earned through year end. Receivables are
reported net of applicable allowances for uncollectible accounts, which management determines based on
historical collection trends and other factors.

Inventories

Inventories are valued at cost using the first-in, first-out method. Inventories consist of expendable supplies
held for consumption.

Capital Assets

Capital assets are stated at cost. Donated capital assets are recorded at estimated acquisition value on the
date donated. Assets are recorded as capital assets when valued at $1,000 or more.

Prior to fiscal year 2019, major outlays for capital assets and improvements were capitalized as projects
were constructed. These costs primarily included construction costs, engineering fees, legal fees and
settlements related to acquisition. Effective for fiscal year 2019, the District discontinued capitalized interest
on a prospective basis per GASB Statement No. 89, Accounting for Interest Cost Incurred Before the End
of the Construction Period.

Capital assets are depreciated using the straight-line method over the following useful lives:

Years
Motor vehicles 5-10
Service and maintenance equipment 10
Office furniture and fixtures 3-10
Buildings and improvements 20 - 33
System infrastructure 10 - 40

Compensated Absences

The System provides eligible employees annual leave for each full calendar month of service. When an
employee separates from employment, he is compensated for any unused annual leave.

Employees also accumulate sick leave based upon months of service. Sick leave does not vest and is lost
upon termination of employment and thus is not accrued. A portion of accumulated sick leave, not to exceed
forty-five days, may be redeemed for cash upon retirement. This redemption liability is not reasonably
estimable in aggregate, nor accrued for financial statement purposes.

Long-Term Liabilities

Bond premiums and discounts are deferred and equally amortized over the life of the bonds.
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SPARTANBURG WATER SYSTEM
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
JUNE 30, 2019 AND 2018

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - CONTINUED
Deferred Outflows and Inflows of Resources

In the Statements of Net Position, in addition to assets and liabilities, separate sections for deferred outflows
and deferred inflows of resources are reported. Deferred outflows of resources represent a consumption of
net position that applies to future periods and will not be recognized as an expense until then. Deferred
inflows of resources represent an acquisition of net position that applies to future periods and will not be
recognized as revenue until that time. The System’s deferred outflows of resources are deferred amounts
arising from debt refunding and amounts related to the System’s defined benefit pension and OPEB plans.
The System’s deferred inflows of resources are amounts related to the System’s defined benefit pension
and OPEB plans.

Capital Contributions

The System frequently has contributions from developers and contractors. In addition, the System receives
grant monies for construction of improvements or extensions to its system at various times. The
contributions are recognized in the Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position when
earned.

NOTE 2 - CASH DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS

Custodial credit risk - deposits - the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the deposits may not be returned
to the System. The System’s policy is to secure funds in accordance with Section 6-5-15 of the S.C. Code
of Laws, and will include collateralization of deposits through appropriately pledged securities or other
investments. As of June 30, 2019 and 2018, the System was not exposed to custodial credit risk.

Statutes authorized the System to invest in obligations of the United States and its agencies, general
obligations (not revenue obligations) of the State of South Carolina and its subdivisions, savings and loan
associations to the extent of federal insurance, certificates of deposit collaterally secured, repurchase
agreements secured by the foregoing obligations, and the State Treasurer’'s Investment Pool (SC Pool).
The SC Pool, established pursuant to Section 6-6-10 of the South Carolina Code, is an investment trust
fund, in which public monies in excess of current needs, which are under the custody of any governing body
of a political subdivision of the State, may be deposited.

In addition to the state laws governing allowable investment instruments, the System adopted a formal
deposit and investment policy in 2019. The System is to invest its funds based on the following objectives,
in priority order: safety, liquidity, and yield.

Credit risk — The System'’s policy to minimize the risk of loss due to the failure of the security issuer or backer
is to limit investments to the safest type of securities; pre-qualify the financial institutions; and diversify the
investment portfolio so that potential losses on individual securities will be minimized.

Interest rate risk - the System’s policy to minimize the risk that the fair value of securities in the portfolio will
fall due to changes in general interest rates is to structure the investment portfolio so that securities mature
to meet cash requirements for ongoing operations and invest operating funds primarily in shorter-term
securities, money market mutual funds, or similar investment pools.
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SPARTANBURG WATER SYSTEM
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
JUNE 30, 2019 AND 2018

NOTE 2 - CASH DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS - CONTINUED
Investments measured and reported at fair value are classified according to the following hierarchy:
Level 1 - Investments reflect prices quoted in active markets.

Level 2 - Investments reflect prices that are based on a similar observable asset either directly or indirectly,
which may include markets that are not considered active.

Level 3 - Investments reflect prices based upon unobservable sources.

The categorization of investments within the hierarchy is based upon the pricing transparency of the
instrument and should not be perceived as a particular investment’s risk. Assets classified in Level 1 of the
fair value hierarchy are valued directly from a predetermined primary external pricing vendor. Assets
classified in Level 2 are subject to pricing by an alternative pricing source due to lack of information available
by the primary vendor.

The SC Pool is a 2a7-like pool, which is not registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC),
but has a policy that it will operate in a manner consistent with the SEC’s Rule 2a7 of the Investment
Company Act of 1940. In accordance with governmental accounting statements, investments are carried
at fair value determined annually based upon quoted market prices. The total fair value of the SC Pool is
apportioned to the entities with funds invested on an equal basis for each share owned, which are acquired
at a cost of $1.00. Funds may be deposited by SC Pool participants at any time and may be withdrawn up
to 24 hours’ notice. Financial statements for the SC Pool may be obtained by writing the Office of State
Treasurer, Local Government Investment Pool, Post Office Box 11778, Columbia, South Carolina 29211-
1950.

The System had the following investments, which are not applicable to the fair value hierarchy, as of June
30, 2019 and 2018:

Investment Value
Type Maturity 2019 2018 Rating
State treasurer's investmentpool <60days $ 53,780,274 $ 49,247,429  Notrated
Dreyfus Government Prime <90 days 8,041,492 8,310,984 Aaa-mf

$ 61,821,766 $ 57,558,413

The Spartanburg Water System is required under bond indenture agreements in connection with the
issuance of bonds, to segregate certain assets. The following assets have been segregated and are
restricted in use for the acquisition and construction of capital assets and debt service/debt service reserve
funds.

Assets restricted in use to fulfill customer deposits have also been segregated. The assets listed below are
shown in their respective categories in the accompanying statements of net position.
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SPARTANBURG WATER SYSTEM
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
JUNE 30, 2019 AND 2018

NOTE 2 - CASH DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS - CONTINUED

2019 2018
Restricted Assets for Customer Deposits
Cash $ 1,526,091 $ 1,720,545
Restricted assets for the Acquisition and
Construction of Capital assets
Cash 201,652 200,625
Investments 29,307,405 30,675,272
29,509,057 30,875,897
Restricted Assets for Debt Sernvice Resenve
and Debt Senice Funds
Investments 8,041,492 8,310,984

$ 39,076,640 $ 40,907,426

NOTE 3 - LOANS RECEIVABLE

The System provides a program whereby it finances participation and capacity fees for new customers. The
loan terms are bi-monthly payments of one to ten years at interest rates of nine to twelve percent. These
loans are secured by a recorded lien against the homeowner's real property. The balance of loans
receivable from customers was $15,381 and $15,547 at June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
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SPARTANBURG WATER SYSTEM
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
JUNE 30, 2019 AND 2018

NOTE 4 - CAPITAL ASSETS

A summary of changes in capital assets follows:

2019
Balance Removals/ Balance
June 30,2018 Additions Disposals June 30,2019
Capital Assets
Nondepreciable
Land $ 1,120,734 $ 834255 §$ - $ 1,954,989
Construction in progress 5,573,834 4,745,168 2,643,384 7,675,618
Total nondepreciable 6,694,568 5,579,423 2,643,384 9,630,607
Depreciable
Motor vehicles 4,880,496 225,193 135,115 4,970,574
Service and maintenance
equipment 11,893,242 230,026 57,021 12,066,247
Office furniture and fixtures 5,033,848 161,011 123,705 5,071,154
Computer software 1,979,251 42,672 - 2,021,923
Office buildings 6,070,555 - - 6,070,555
Transmission, distribution
and treatment facilities 272,877,961 2,773,069 - 275,651,030
Joint maintenance facility 1,657,119 12,319 - 1,669,438
Joint lab building 882,354 - - 882,354
Donated system facilities 14,857,222 805,620 - 15,662,842
Total depreciable 320,132,048 4,249,910 315,841 324,066,117
Total Capital Assets 326,826,616 9,829,333 2,959,225 333,696,724
Accumulated Depreciation
Motor vehicles 3,387,977 644,276 135,115 3,897,138
Service maintenance and
equipment 8,902,192 906,080 45,331 9,762,941
Office furniture and fixtures 4,302,732 267,019 122,695 4,447,056
Computer software 612,807 172,931 - 785,738
Office buildings 3,045,132 224,564 - 3,269,696
Transmission, distribution
and treatment facilities 102,391,339 5,659,817 - 108,051,156
Joint maintenance facility 1,170,489 68,571 - 1,239,060
Joint lab building 357,640 25,827 - 383,467
Donated system facilities 4,989,324 364,469 - 5,353,793
129,159,632 8,333,554 303,141 137,190,045
Capital Assets - Net of
Accumulated Depreciation $ 197,666,984 $ 196,506,679
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SPARTANBURG WATER SYSTEM
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
JUNE 30, 2019 AND 2018

NOTE 4 - CAPITAL ASSETS - CONTINUED

2018
Balance Removals/ Balance
June 30,2017 Additions Disposals June 30,2018
Capital Assets
Nondepreciable
Land $ 1,120,734 $ - 8 - $ 1120734
Construction in progress 3,011,631 7,407,202 4,844,999 5,573,834
Total nondepreciable 4,132,365 7,407,202 4,844,999 6,694,568
Depreciable
Motor vehicles 4,315,398 762,680 197,582 4,880,496
Service and maintenance
equipment 11,314,341 637,651 58,750 11,893,242
Office furniture and fixtures 4,875,323 250,936 92,411 5,033,848
Computer software 1,800,194 179,057 - 1,979,251
Office buildings 5,772,416 298,139 - 6,070,555
Transmission, distribution
and treatment facilities 268,932,819 3,945,142 - 272,877,961
Joint maintenance facility 1,599,550 57,569 - 1,657,119
Joint lab building 882,354 - - 882,354
Donated system facilities 14,445,072 412,150 - 14,857,222
Total depreciable 313,937,467 6,543,324 348,743 320,132,048
Total Capital Assets 318,069,832 13,950,526 5,193,742 326,826,616
Accumulated Depreciation
Motor vehicles 2,950,590 634,969 197,582 3,387,977
Service maintenance and
equipment 8,066,321 894,621 58,750 8,902,192
Office furniture and fixtures 4,162,720 231,748 91,736 4,302,732
Computer software 451,917 160,890 - 612,807
Office buildings 2,826,428 218,704 - 3,045,132
Transmission, distribution
and treatment facilities 97,055,602 5,335,737 - 102,391,339
Joint maintenance facility 1,110,774 59,715 - 1,170,489
Joint lab building 331,813 25,827 - 357,640
Donated system facilities 4,635,981 353,343 - 4,989,324
121,592,146 7,915,554 348,068 129,159,632
Capital Assets - Net of
Accumulated Depreciation $ 196,477,686 $ 197,666,984

Depreciation expense for the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018 was $8,333,554 and $7,915,554,
respectively.

Interest costs incurred during the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018 were $5,847,071 and $5,543,606,
respectively. Interest capitalized for the year ended June 30, 2018 was $104,098.

(25)



SPARTANBURG WATER SYSTEM
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
JUNE 30, 2019 AND 2018

NOTE 5 - LONG-TERM DEBT

2019
Balance Balance Due Within
June 30, 2018 Additions Reductions Refunded June 30, 2019 One Year
Bonds and Other Noncurrent
Liabilities Payable
Revenue bonds $163,725,000 $ - $(6,135,000) $ - $157,590,000 $6,250,000
Bond premium 9,210,781 - (395,390) - 8,815,391 -
$172,935,781 $ - $(6,530,390) $ - $166,405,391 $ 6,250,000
2018
Balance Balance Due Within
June 30, 2017 Additions Reductions Refunded June 30, 2018 One Year
Bonds and Other Noncurrent
Liabilities Payable
Revenue bonds $161,935,000 $45,930,000 $(6,025,000) $(38,115,000) $163,725,000 $6,135,000
Bond premium 3,613,614 6,364,450 (361,643) (405,640) 9,210,781 -

$165,548,614 $52,294,450 $(6,386,643) $(38,520,640) $172,935,781 $6,135,000

Revenue Bonds

Bonds payable at June 30, 2019 and 2018 were comprised of the following issues:

2019 2018

$8,000,000 City of Spartanburg, South Carolina Water System
Junior Lien Revenue Bonds, Series 2012, dated July 13, 2012.
Annual maturities beginning in 2013 of $450,000 to $650,000
maturing in 2027 with semi-annual interest of 2.23%. Bonds
issued to fund improvements to the System. $ 4,695,000 $ 5,205,000

$27,255,000 City of Spartanburg, South Carolina Water System
Revenue Bonds, Series 2013, dated October 29, 2013. Annual
maturities beginning in 2026 of $380,000 to $2,265,000 maturing
in 2027 with semi-annual interest of 1.81% to 2.50%. Bonds
issued to fund improvements to the System. 27,255,000 27,255,000

$26,085,000 City of Spartanburg, South Carolina Water System
Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2015A, dated June 23, 2015.
Annual maturities beginning in 2028 of $1,000,000 to $3,860,000
maturing in 2035 with semi-annual interest of 1.22% to 5.00%.
Bonds issued to refund the Series 2007B bonds. 26,085,000 26,085,000

$6,255,000 City of Spartanburg, South Carolina Water System
Revenue Refunding Bonds, Taxable Series 2015B, dated June
23, 2015. Annual maturities beginning in 2016 of $375,000 to
$740,000 maturing in 2027 with semi-annual interest of 1.22% to
3.68%. Bonds issued to refund the Series 2010 bonds. 4,470,000 5,090,000
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SPARTANBURG WATER SYSTEM
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
JUNE 30, 2019 AND 2018
NOTE 5 - LONG-TERM DEBT - CONTINUED

Revenue Bonds - Continued

2019 2018

$59,080,000 City of Spartanburg, South Carolina Water System
Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2017A, dated June 1, 2017.
Annual maturites beginning in 2018 of $4,920,000 to
$5,850,0,000 maturing in 2028 with semi-annual interest of
1.75%. Bonds issued to refund the Series 2007Abonds. 49,155,000 54,160,000

$45,930,000 City of Spartanburg, South Carolina Water System
Refunding and Improvement Revenue Bonds, Series 2017B,
dated August 24, 2017. Annual maturities beginning in 2022 of
$25,000 to $7,425,000 maturing in 2047 with semi-annual interest
of 3.25% to 5.00%. Bonds issued to refund the Series 2007B and
2009 bonds, fund improvements to the distribution and treatment
facilities, and fund capitalized interest. 45,930,000 45,930,000

157,590,000 163,725,000

Less: current portion (6,250,000) (6,135,000)

Total long-term revenue bonds payable $ 151,340,000 $ 157,590,000

Debt service requirements to maturity including interest on all outstanding bonds as of June 30, 2019 are
as follows:

Year Ending
June 30 Principal Interest Total

2020 $ 6,250,000 $ 5,743,127 $ 11,993,127

2021 6,375,000 5,625,024 12,000,024

2022 6,525,000 5,502,452 12,027,452

2023 6,970,000 5,374,645 12,344,645

2024 7,115,000 5,230,430 12,345,430
2025-2029 35,355,000 23,824,538 59,179,538
2030-2034 33,105,000 17,498,644 50,603,644
2035-2039 41,170,000 9,129,763 50,299,763
2040-2044 12,185,000 1,808,988 13,993,988
2045-2047 2,540,000 173,306 2,713,306

$ 157,590,000 $ 79,910,917 $ 237,500,917

There are a number of limitations and restrictions contained in the various debt instruments. The System
is in compliance with all significant limitations and restrictions.
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SPARTANBURG WATER SYSTEM
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
JUNE 30, 2019 AND 2018

NOTE 6 - DEFEASANCE OF DEBT AND ADVANCED REFUNDINGS

On August 24, 2017, the System issued $45,930,000 of Water System Refunding and Improvement
Revenue Bonds, Series 2017B. These proceeds were used to currently refund $4,180,000 of outstanding
Water System Revenue Bonds, Series 2007B and advance refund $33,935,000 of outstanding Water
System Revenue Bonds, Series 2009. The net proceeds of $36,361,746 along with System funds of
$4,310,443 were used to currently refund and advance refund and defease the outstanding 2007B and
2009 debt, respectively.

The current and advanced refunding resulted in a gross cash flow gain of $13,136,683 and an economic
cash flow gain of $5,168,811 for the year ending June 30, 2018.

In current and prior years, advance refundings resulted in book losses that are being amortized over the
original remaining life of the old bonds that were defeased or the life of the new debt, whichever is less. The
unamortized losses at June 30, 2019 and 2018 are shown on the Statements of Net Position as deferred
loss on refundings under deferred outflows of resources. Amortization has been included in interest
expense and was $443,133 and $427,062 for the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

The proceeds from current and previous bonds issued that defeased certain revenue bonds in current and
prior years were placed in an irrevocable trust to provide for all future debt payments on the old bonds.
Accordingly, the trust accounts’ assets and the liability for the defeased bonds are not included in the
System’s financial statements. At June 30, 2019 and 2018, $0 and $33,935,000 of bonds outstanding
are considered defeased from current and prior years.

NOTE 7 - CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS
Donated assets and/or grants provided to finance capital expenditures are accounted for as capital

contributions. During the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, the System received the following as
donated assets or to partially finance plant extensions or additions:

2019 2018
Donated assets $ 805,620 $ 412,150
Private industry and developers 2,500 -
Participation fees 382,423 264,842
$ 1,190,543 $ 676,992

NOTE 8 - PENSION PLAN

Plan Description - The System, as the employer, participates in the South Carolina Retirement System
(SCRS) Plan - a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan administered and managed
by the South Carolina Public Employee Benefit Authority (PEBA), a state agency. PEBA issues a
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) containing financial statements and required
supplementary information for the Systems’ Pension Trust Funds. The CAFR is publicly available
through the Retirement Benefits’ link on PEBA’s website at www.peba.sc.gov, or a copy may be obtained
by submitting a request to PEBA, 202 Arbor Lake Drive, Columbia, SC 29223.

Benefits Provided/Membership - SCRS provides retirement and other benefits for teachers and
employees of the state, its public school districts, and political subdivisions. An incidental death benefit
is also available to beneficiaries of active and retired members of employers who participate in the death
benefit program.
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NOTE 8 - PENSION PLAN - CONTINUED

Benefits Provided/Membership- Continued - Benefit terms are prescribed in Title 9 of the South
Carolina Code of Laws. PEBA does not have the authority to establish or amend benefit terms without
a legislative change in the code of laws. Generally, all employees of covered employers are required to
participate in and contribute to the system as a condition of employment. Key elements of the benefit
calculation include the benefit multiplier, years of service, and average final compensation/current
annual salary.

This plan covers general employees and teachers and individuals newly elected to the South Carolina
General Assembly beginning with the November 2012 general election. An employee member of the
system with an effective date of membership prior to July 1, 2012, is a Class Two member. A Class
Two member who has separated from service with at least five or more years of earned service is
eligible for a monthly pension at age 65 or with 28 years credited service regardless of age. A member
may elect early retirement with reduced pension benefits payable at age 55 with 25 years of
service credit.

An employee member of the system with an effective date of membership on or after July 1, 2012, is a
Class Three member. A Class Three member who has separated from service with at least eight or
more years of earned service is eligible for a monthly pension upon satisfying the Rule of 90 requirement
that the total of the member's age and the member’s creditable service equals at least 90 years.

Both Class Two and Class Three members are eligible to receive a reduced deferred annuity at age
60 if they satisfy the five- or eight-year earned service requirement, respectively.

The annual retirement allowance of eligible retirees or their surviving annuitants is increased by the
lesser of 1% or $500 every July 1. Only those annuitants in receipt of a benefit on July 1 of the preceding
year are eligible to receive the increase. Members who retire under the early retirement provisions
at age 55 with 25 years of service are not eligible for the benefit adjustment until the second July 1 after
reaching age 60 or the second July 1 after the date they would have had 28 years of service credit had
they not retired.

Contributions - Contributions are prescribed in Title 9 of the South Carolina Code of Laws. If the
scheduled employee and employer contributions provided in statute, or the rates last adopted by
the board, are insufficient to maintain the amortization period set in statute, the board shall increase
employer contribution rates as necessary. After June 30, 2027, if the most recent actuarial valuation
of the SCRS for funding purposes shows a ratio of the actuarial value of the system assets to the
actuarial accrued liability of the system (the funded ratio) that is equal to or greater than 85%, then
the board, effective the following July 1%, may decrease the current contribution rates upon making
a finding that the decrease will not result in a funded ratio of less than 85%. The Retirement System
Funding Administration Act establishes a ceiling on employee contribution rates at 9%. The
employer contribution rates will continue to increase annually by 1% through July 1, 2022. The
legislation’s ultimate scheduled employer rate is 18.56%. The amortization period is scheduled to
be reduced one year for each of the next 10 years to a 20 year amortization period. Required
employee (both Class Il and IIl) contribution rates for the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018 was
9%. The required employer contribution rate for the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018 was
14.41% and 13.41%, respectively. Both required employee and employer contribution rates are
calculated on earnable compensation as defined by Title 9 of the South Carolina Code of Laws.
Employers also contribute an additional .15% of earnable compensation, if participating in the death
benefit program.

Contributions to the Plan from the System were $1,644,754 and $1,344,341, for the years ended June
30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
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NOTE 8 - PENSION PLAN - CONTINUED

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows
of Resources Related to Pensions - At June 30, 2019, the System reported a net pension liability of
$23,065,802 for its proportionate share of the collective net pension liability. The net pension liability
was measured as of June 30, 2018. The total pension liability, net pension liability and sensitivity
information are based on an actuarial valuation performed as of July 1, 2017. The total pension liability
was rolled-forward from the valuation date to the plan’s fiscal year end June 30, 2018, using generally
accepted actuarial procedures. The allocation of the District’s proportionate shares of the collective net
pension liability and pension expense were calculated on the basis of the District’s contributions actually
remitted to the plan relative to the total contributions remitted to the plan for all participating employers,
less employer contributions that are not a representative of future contributions efforts, as of June 30,
2018. Based upon this information, the System’s proportion of the collective net pension liability at June
30, 2019 and 2018 was .102940% and .103798%, respectively, a decrease of .00086% since June 30,
2017, the prior measurement date.

For the year ended June 30, 2019, the System recognized pension expense of $2,258,102. The System
also recognized revenue of $102,399 as a result of a nonemployer contribution from the State of South
Carolina. The funds, approved by the General Assembly to help offset a portion of the burden of
increased employer contributions, were sent directly to PEBA for the SCRS trust fund and represented
1% of the SCRS employer contribution increase for the year ended June 30, 2018. For the year ended
June 30, 2018, the District recognized pension expense of $2,423,966. At June 30, 2019 and 2018, the
System reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to the pension
as follows:

2019

Differences between expected and actual experience
Changes in assumptions

Net difference between projected and actual
earnings on pension plan investments

System contributions subsequent to the measurement date
Total

2018

Deferred Outflows
of Resources

Deferred Inflows
of Resources

$ 217,512 $ 284,356
915,122 -

366,401 -
1,644,754 -

$ 3,143,789 $ 284,356

Differences between expected and actual experience
Changes in assumptions

Net difference between projected and actual
earnings on pension plan investments

System contributions subsequent to the measurement date

Total
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Deferred Inflows
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$ 432,798 $ 126,110
1,367,864 -
652,286 -
1,344,341 -
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NOTE 8 - PENSION PLAN - CONTINUED

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows
of Resources Related to Pensions - Continued

$1,644,754 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions in 2019 resulted from System
contributions subsequent to the measurement date and will be recognized as a reduction of the net
collective pension liability in the year ended June 30, 2020. Any other amounts reported as deferred
outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension
expense as follows:

Year Ended
June 30
2020 $ 995,836
2021 560,386
2022 (299,903)
2023 (41,640)

$ 1,214,679

Actuarial Assumptions — Actuarial valuations of the plan involve estimates of the reported amounts
and assumptions about the probability of occurrence of events far into the future. Examples include
assumptions about future employment, mortality, and future salary increases. Amounts determined
regarding the net pension liability are subject to continual revision as actual results are compared to past
expectations and new estimates are made about the future. South Carolina state statute requires that
an actuarial experience study be completed at least once in each five-year period. An experience report
on the System was most recently issued for the period ending July 1, 2015.

The June 30, 2018 total pension liability, net pension liability, and sensitivity information determined by
the July 1, 2017 valuation, used the following actuarial assumptions and methods:

Actuarial cost method Entry age normal

Inflation 2.25%

Salary increases 3.0% to 12.5% (varies by senice
and includes 2.25% inflation)

Benefit adjustments lesser of 1% or $500 annually

Investment rate of return 7.25% (includes 2.25% inflation)

The post-retiree mortality assumption is dependent upon the member’s job category and gender. The
base mortality assumptions, the 2016 Public Retirees of South Carolina Mortality Table (2016 PRSC),
were developed using the Systems’ mortality experience. These base rates are adjusted for future
improvement in mortality using published Scale AA projected from the year 2016.

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments is based upon the 30 year capital
market assumptions. The long-term expected rates of return represent assumptions developed using
an arithmetic building block approach primarily based on consensus expectations and market based
inputs. Expected returns are net of investment fees. Expected returns, along with the expected inflation
rate, form the basis for the target asset allocation adopted at the beginning of the 2018 fiscal year. The
long-term expected rate of return is produced by weighting the expected future real rates of return by
the target allocation percentage and adding expected inflation, and is summarized in the following table.
For actuarial purposes, the 7.25% assumed annual investment rate of return used in the calculation of
the total pension liability includes 5.00% real rate of return and a 2.25% inflation component.
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Actuarial Assumptions - Continued

Target Long-term Expected

AssetClass Allocation Real Rate of Return
Global Equity 47% 3.38%
Real Assets 10% 0.42%
Opportunistic 13% 0.48%
Diversified Credit 18% 0.65%
Conservative Fixed Income 12% 0.10%
Total Expected Real Return 100% 5.03%
Inflation for Actuarial Purposes 2.25%
Total Expected Nominal Return 7.28%

Discount Rate - The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.25%. The projection
of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that contributions from participating
employers in SCRS will be made based on actuarially determined rates based on the provisions of the
South Carolina State Code of Laws. Based on those assumptions, the System’s fiduciary net position
was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current plan members.
Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods
of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.

Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate - The following presents
the System’s proportionate share of the collective net pension liability calculated using the discount rate
of 7.25%, as well as what the System’s net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount
rate that is 1% lower (6.25%) or 1% higher (8.25%) than the current rate:

1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase
(6.25%) (7.25%) (8.25%)
System's proportionate share of the
collective net pension liability $ 29,473,812 $ 23,065,802 $ 18,484,689

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position - Detailed information regarding the fiduciary net position of the
plan, administered by PEBA, is available in the Systems’ audited financial statements for the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2018 (including the unmodified opinion on the financial statements). Information about
the fiduciary net position of the Systems and additions to/deductions from the Systems fiduciary net
position have been determined on the accrual basis of accounting. Additional actuarial information is
available in the accounting and financial reporting actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2018. The additional
information is publically available on PEBA’s Retirement Benefits’ website at www.peba.sc.gov.

NOTE 9 - POST-RETIREMENT HEALTH CARE BENEFITS
Plan Description

The System, through its substantive commitment to provide other post-employment benefits (OPEB),
maintains an agent employer defined benefit plan to provide certain postretirement health care benefits.
The plan provides health care and prescription drug coverage in the Group insurance plan; and upon
becoming eligible for Medicare coverage, retirees are provided with Medicare supplement insurance which
includes health care and prescription drug coverage. Participants must be eligible to retire under the SCRS
with a minimum of 12 years of service to receive benefits.
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NOTE 9 - POST-RETIREMENT HEALTH CARE BENEFITS - CONTINUED
Plan Description - Continued

The System explicitly provides a portion of the cost of coverage for retirees and the retirees are required to
pay a portion of the premiums which is determined each year. Retirees may continue dependent coverage
(and pay the full premium for this coverage) if enrolled in dependent coverage at the time of retirement.
Spouses age 65 or older may continue coverage by paying the total cost of coverage. Spouses are not
covered for pre or post-65 retirees.

The System, upon majority vote of the three member Commission, has the authority to establish and amend
benefit provisions.

The Plan's assets are held in an irrevocable trust for the exclusive benefit of the Plan participants and are
administered by the South Carolina Other Retirement Benefits Employer Trust (SCORBET). Each member
shares in the SCORBET’s administrative and investment related expenses. The SCORBET issues a
publically available Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR). A copy of the CAFR may be obtained
by submitting a request to Risk Management Services, Municipal Association of South Carolina, Post Office
Box 12109, Columbia, SC 29211.

Plan Membership

Membership in the plan as of January 1, 2017, the date of the last actuarial valuation was :

Inactive plan members of beneficiaries receiving benefits 53
Active plan members 199
Total plan members 252

Contributions

The Plan is financed on a pay-as-you-go basis and through separate contributions to SCORBET based on
the actuarially determined employer contribution. The SCORBET allows each member to choose a
contribution amount into the trust based on the actuarially determined employer contribution. The System
paid $1,195,060 and $1,193,816 in pay-as-you-go and SCORBET contributions for the years ended June
30, 2019 and 2018.

Net OPEB Liability

The System's net OPEB liability June 30, 2019 and 2018 of $11,183,581 and $11,264,695, respectively
was measured as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively, and the total OPEB liability used to
calculate the net OPEB liability as of June 30, 2019 and 2018 was determined by an actuarial valuation date
of January 1, 2017.

Actuarial assumptions and other inputs - the Total OPEB liability in the January 1, 2017 actuarial valuation

was determined using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the
measurement, unless otherwise specified:
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Actuarial assumptions and other inputs - continued

Inflation 2.25%

Salaryincreases 3.00%-7.00%, including wage inflation of 3.00%

Investment rate of return 4.75%, net of OPEB plan investment expense, including price inflation
Municipal bond index rate 3.55%

Single equivalent interest rate 4.75%
Heath care costrates

Pre-medicare 7.50% for 2017 decreasing to an ultimate rate of 5.00% by 2023
Medicare 5.50% for 2016 decreasing to an ultimate rate of 5.00% by 2020
Discount rate Based upon the long-term expected rate of return

Mortality rates were based on the RP-2014 Mortality Table for Employees with a 95% multiplier to better
reflect anticipated experience and provide a margin for future improvements.

The demographic actuarial assumptions for retirement, disability incidence, withdrawal, and salary
increases used in the January 1, 2017 valuation were based on the 2016 experience study adopted by the
SCRS pension plan. The experience report on the SCRS was most recently issued as of July 1, 2015, and
are required to be completed at least once in each five-year period by S.C. state statute. The remaining
actuarial assumptions (e.g., initial per capita costs, health care costs trends, rate of plan participation, rates
of plan election, etc.) used in the January 1, 2017 valuation were based on a review of recent plan
experience done concurrently with the January 1, 2017 valuation.

Several factors should be considered in evaluating the long-term rate of return assumption, including long-
term historical data, estimates inherent in current market data, and a log-normal distribution analysis in
which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected return, net of investment
expense and inflation) and developed by the investment consultant for each major asset class. These
ranges should be combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected
future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and then adding expected inflation. The
capital market assumptions developed by the investment consultant may cover a shorter investment horizon
and may not be useful in setting the long-term rate of return for funding OPEB plans which are likely to cover
a longer timeframe. The assumption is intended to be a long-term assumption and is not expected to
change absent a significant change in the asset allocation, a change in the inflation adjustment, or a
fundamental change in the market that alters expected returns in future years. The target asset allocation
for each major asset class, as provided by the plan, are summarized in the following table:

Fixed income 94.30%
Cash and cash equivalents 5.70%
100.00%

Discount rate - the discount rate used to measure the total OPEB liability was 4.75%. The projection of
cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that total payroll for the initial projection year
consists of the payroll of the active membership present on the valuation date. In subsequent projection
years, total payroll was assumed to increase annually using the payroll growth assumptions; active
employees do not explicitly contribute to the plan; the System continues to contribute the full actuarially
determined employer contribution through deposit to the SCORBET and direct payment of benefits to the
plan members as the benefits come due; projected assets do not include employer contributions that fund
estimated service costs of future employees; and cash flows occur mid-year. Based on those assumptions,
the plan's fiduciary net position was projected to not be depleted.
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Changes in the Net OPEB Liability

The total OPEB liability (TOL) is based upon the actuarial valuation performed as of the January 1, 2017
valuation date. An expected TOL as of December 31, 2018 for the year ending 2019 is determined using
standard roll back techniques. An expected TOL is determined as of December 31, 2017 for the year ending
2018 using standard roll forward techniques. The roll forward calculation begins with the TOL, as of January
1, 2017, subtracts the expected benefit payments for the year, applies interest at the discount rate for the
year, and then adds the annual normal cost (also called the service cost). The procedure used to determine

JUNE 30, 2019 AND 2018

the TOL, as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, is shown in the following table:

2019
Plan
Total OPEB Fiduciary Net Net OPEB
Liability Position Liability
(a) (b) (c)

Balance as of December 31, 2017 $ 15,718,563 $ 4,453868 $ 11,264,695
Changes for the Year

Service cost 541,715 - 541,715

Interest 737,040 - 737,040

Difference between expected and actual experience (3,799) - (3,799)

Contributions - employer - 1,295,588 (1,295,588)

Netinvestmentincome - 60,482 (60,482)

Benefit payments (408,588) (408,588) -
Net Changes 866,368 947,482 (81,114)
Balance as of December 31,2018 $ 16,584,931 $ 5401,350 $ 11,183,581

2018
Plan
Total OPEB Fiduciary Net Net OPEB
Liability Position Liability
(a) (b) (c)

Balance as of December 31,2016 $ 14855179 $ 4,185,737 $ 10,669,442
Changes for the Year

Service cost 525,937 - 525,937

Interest 693,898 - 693,898

Difference between expected and actual experience 142,956 - 142,956

Contributions - employer - 669,407 (669,407)

Netinvestmentincome - 117,441 (117,441)

Benefit payments (499,407) (499,407) -

Plan administrative expenses - (19,310) 19,310
Net Changes 863,384 268,131 595,253
Balance as of December 31,2017 $ 15,718,563 $ 4,453,868 $ 11,264,695
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Changes in the Net OPEB Liability - Continued
Sensitivity of the net OPEB liability to changes in the discount rate - the following presents the net OPEB
liability of the System, as well as what the System's net OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a

discount rate 1.0% lower or 1.0% higher than the current discount rate:

Discount Rate Sensitivity

1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase
3.75% 4.75% 5.75%
Net OPEB Liability $ 14,179,902 $ 11,183,581 $ 8,799,508

Sensitivity of the net OPEB liability to changes in the health care cost trend rates - the following presents
the net OPEB liability of the System, as well as what the System's net OPEB liability would be if it were
calculated using health care cost trend rates that are 1.0% lower or 1.0% higher than the current health care
cost trend rates:

Health Care Cost Trend Rate Sensitivity

1% 1%
Decrease Current Increase
Net OPEB Liability $ 8,270,344 $ 11,183,581 $ 14,994,717

OPEB plan fiduciary net position - detailed information about the OPEB plan's fiduciary net position is
available in a separately issued SCORBET financial report prepared using the economic resources
measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. The report may be obtained in writing to Risk
Management Services, Municipal Association of South Carolina, Post Office Box 12109, Columbia, South
Carolina 29211.

OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to
OPEB

For the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, the System recognized OPEB expense of $877,783 and
$1,006,475, respectively. At June 30, 2019 and 2018, the System reported deferred outflows or resources
and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB from the following sources:

2019
Deferred Deferred
Outflows Of Inflows of
Resources Resources
Differences between expected and actual experience $ 109,160 $ 3,350
Net difference between projected and actual earnings
on plan investments 188,470 -
District contributions subsequent to the measurement
date 1,014,500 -
$ 1312130 $ 3,350
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OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to
OPEB - Continued

2018
Deferred Deferred
Outflows Of Inflows of
Resources Resources

Differences between expected and actual experience  $ 126,058 $ -
Net difference between projected and actual earnings

on plan investments 67,935 -
District contributions subsequent to the measurement
date 1,059,184 -

$ 1253177 § -

$1,014,500 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB in 2019, resulted from System
contributions subsequent to the measurement date and will be recognized as a reduction of the net OPEB
liability in the year ended June 30, 2020. Any other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources
and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB will be recognized in OPEB expense as follows:

Meaurement Period

Ended
December 31:

2019 $ 67,813
2020 67,813
2021 67,812
2022 50,828
2023 16,449

Thereafter 23,565

$ 294,280

NOTE 10 - DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLANS

Two deferred compensation plans are available to System employees. The multiple-employer plans,
created under Internal Revenue Code Sections 401(k) and 457 are administered and accounted for by the
State of South Carolina. Employees may withdraw the current value of their contributions when they
terminate employment. With approval of the State’s Deferred Compensation Commission, employees may
also withdraw the current value of their contributions prior to termination of employment if they meet certain
requirements. These requirements differ between the two plans. The plans, available to all System
employees, permit them to defer a portion of their salary until future years. Participation in the plans is
optional and participants elect how their salary deferrals are invested.

Compensation deferred under the Section 401(k) and 457 plans is placed in trust for the contributing
employees. Neither the State nor the System has any liability for losses under the plan.
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NOTE 11 - RISK MANAGEMENT

The System is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of
assets; errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters.

The System is insured under policies through the South Carolina Office of Insurance Services, South
Carolina Reserve Fund (IRF), a public entity risk pool, which issues policies to assume those risks of
loss, accumulates assets to cover the risks of loss, and pays claims incurred for covered losses the
System is exposed to, related to the following assets, activities, and/or events:

1. Real property, its contents, and other equipment.
2. Motor vehicles.
3. General tort claims.

The IRF purchases reinsurance to obtain certain services and specialized coverage and to limit losses
in the areas of property, boiler and machinery, automobile liability, and medical professional liability
insurance. The IRF’s rates are determined actuarially.

The System did not have settled claims that exceeded the System’s insurance coverage in any of the past
three years.

The System provides employee health care under a self-funded insurance program. Under this program,
specific stop loss coverage for each claim in excess of $95,000 and aggregate stop loss coverage, including
Spartanburg Sanitary Sewer District, for claims in excess of $4,437,858 is provided by a commercial
insurance company. The following represents the change in unfiled, unpaid claims from July 1, 2018 to
June 30, 2019 and July 1, 2017 to June 30, 2018:

2019 2018
Beginning of the year liability $ 179,811 $ 123,757
Claims 2,185,942 2,309,044
Claims payments (2,156,363) (2,252,990)
End of the year liability $ 209,390 $ 179,811

The liability is included in accrued employee benefits on the Statements of Net Position.

NOTE 12 - PAYMENTS TO OTHER GOVERNMENTAL UNITS

On June 11, 1991, the System adopted a resolution to transfer a percentage of actual gross water revenue
to the City of Spartanburg for services and return on investment beginning July 1, 1991. A new transfer
agreement was adopted on June 10, 2013, providing that the System pay a flat fee of $1,200,000 in 2014;
$1,100,000 in 2015; and $1,000,000 each year from 2016 through 2018. Transfer amounts will
henceforward increase for the years 2019 through 2028 by the Consumer Price Index of the preceding year.
As part of the amended agreement, the System paid the City $1,021,000 and $1,000,000 for the years
ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, as reported in the Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net
Position.
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NOTE 13 - RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The System provides billing, collection and engineering services as well as other administrative functions
for the Spartanburg Sanitary Sewer District. The System receives a fee for these services. These fees are
presented on the Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position as intercompany
services.

The fees were as follows:

2019 2018

Billing and collection fees $ 611,460 $ 613,452
Administrative fees 1,019,832 987,636
Labor reimbursements 599,870 560,921
Water quality and maintenance fee 220,428 166,018
Fleet services fee 131,968 138,161
Engineering 755,413 528,899
Operations fee 136,551 194,208

$ 3,475,522 $ 3,189,295

The following amounts were due from (to) the Spartanburg Sanitary Sewer District at June 30, 2019 and
2018 and included in sewer and water collections payable to others and other receivables on the Statements
of Net Position:

2019 2018
User charges collected $ (1,789,503) $ (1,781,973)
Other payables (406,748) (492,270)
Miscellaneous receipts 943,839 895,852
$ (1,252,412) $ (1,378,391)

The System with the Spartanburg Sanitary Sewer District jointly owns an office building on North Liberty
Street in downtown Spartanburg, South Carolina. The facility provides offices for the engineering and other
support service departments that serve both organizations. The System owns an undivided interest of the
office building. At June 30, 2019 and 2018, the System's share is included in capital assets with a cost of
$572,381 and accumulated depreciation of $458,657 and $440,408, respectively.

The System also jointly owns with the Spartanburg Sanitary Sewer District approximately 42 acres on
Highway 295 By-Pass in Spartanburg County for future additional space requirements and facilities to
accommodate a maintenance shop and personnel involved in maintenance activities. At June 30, 2019
and 2018, the System's share is included in capital assets with a cost of $1,669,438 and $1,657,119 and
accumulated depreciation of $1,239,060 and $1,170,489, respectively.

The System additionally with the Spartanburg Sanitary Sewer District jointly owns a laboratory building on
Highway 295 By-pass in Spartanburg County. The facility provides office and laboratories for the industrial
wastewater, backflow prevention and water quality services. At June 30, 2019 and 2018, the System’s
share is included in capital assets with a cost of $882,354 and accumulated depreciation of $383,467 and
$357,640, respectively.

NOTE 14 - SUMMARY DISCLOSURE OF SIGNIFICANT CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS

Sick Pay

As described more fully in Note 1, no estimate of any potential liability has been made.
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NOTE 14 - SUMMARY DISCLOSURE OF SIGNIFICANT CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS -
CONTINUED

Unemployment Compensation

The System is required to pay unemployment compensation on covered employees. It has chosen the
alternative of paying claims as billed by the South Carolina Employment Security Commission. However,
under this method of funding, no accurate estimate of any potential liability has been made.

Underground Storage Tanks

The System has underground storage tanks that are subject to federal and state regulations concerning
cleanup costs and third party liability claims. The System has 24 hour a day monitoring systems installed
on all storage tanks. However, the System is not insured in the event that a leak should occur, and no
estimate of potential liability, if any, has been made in the accompanying financial statements.

Construction Commitments

Outstanding commitments on construction contracts totaled $1,603,788 and $1,554,863 at June 30, 2019
and 2018, respectively.

Arbitrage Rebate Liabilities

Arbitrage represents the difference or "spread" between lower interest rates on tax-exempt government
securities and the higher interest on taxable investment securities. The Internal Revenue Code requires
local governments to rebate arbitrage earnings to the federal government every five years for as long as the
local government has tax-exempt bonds outstanding. The System does not believe an estimate of potential
liability, if any, is required in the accompanying financial statements.

NOTE 15 - RECLASSIFICATIONS

Certain accounts in the prior year financial statements have been reclassified for comparative purposes to
conform to the presentation in the current year financial statements.

NOTE 16 - PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENT AND CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLE/RESTATEMENT

The System has restated its previously issued financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2018 for
matters relating to the following previously reported items: capital assets — net of accumulated depreciation
and depreciation expense due to calculation errors during software conversion. The accompanying financial
statements for 2018 have been restated to reflect the correction that resulted in an increase in net position
of $288,546. The District also reclassified a portion of net position that is restricted for debt service reserves
that was originally included in net investment in capital assets of $6,455,113, which has no effect on total
net position. The effect on the previously issued 2018 financial statements is summarized as follows:
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SPARTANBURG WATER SYSTEM
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
JUNE 30, 2019 AND 2018

NOTE 16 - PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENT AND CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLE/RESTATEMENT -
CONTINUED

Previously Increase
Reported (Decrease) Restated
Statements of Net Position
Capital assets - net of accumulated depreciation $ 190,683,870 $ 288,546 $ 190,972,416
Total noncurrent assets 238,285,864 288,546 238,574,410
Total assets 267,955,538 288,546 268,244,084
Net investment in capital assets 77,905,385 (6,166,567) 71,738,818
Total net position (14,897,655) 6,455,113 (8,442,542)
Statements of Revenues, Expenses and
Changes in Net Position
Depreciation expense 8,204,100 (288,546) 7,915,554
Total operating expenses 33,837,708 (288,546) 33,549,162
Operating Income 7,017,643 288,546 7,306,189
Increase (decrease) in net position, 5,014,075 288,546 5,302,621
before capital contributions
Increase in net position 5,691,067 288,546 5,979,613
Net Position - End of Year 63,007,730 288,546 63,296,276

Statements of Cash Flows
Reconciliation of Operating Income to Net Cash
Provided (Used) by Operating Activities:
Operating income 7,017,643 288,546 7,306,189
Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash
provided (used) by operating activities
Depreciation 8,204,100 (288,546) 7,915,554

Furthermore, for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018, The System adopted Governmental Accounting
Standards Board (GASB) Statement 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits
Other Than Pensions. The implementation required the System to record beginning net OPEB liability and
contributions made subsequent to the measurement date as deferred outflows of resources and remove
the net OPEB obligation as required by GASB Statement 45. Beginning net position was restated as follows:

2018
Net Position - Beginning of Year $ 67,346,606
Removal of the Net OPEB Obligation (GASB 45) 34,284
Implementation of GASB Statement 75 - Net OPEB Liability (10,669,442)
Implementation of GASB Statement 75 - Deferred Outflows Related to OPEB 605,215
Net Position - Beginning of Year - Restated $ 57,316,663
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SPARTANBURG WATER SYSTEM
SCHEDULE OF THE SYSTEM'S PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF

THE COLLECTIVE NET PENSION LIABILITY

SOUTH CAROLINA RETIREMENT SYSTEM
LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS*

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
System's Proportion of the Collective
Net Pension Liability 0.102940% 0.103798% 0.100366% 0.100390% 0.102614%
System's Proportionate Share of the
Collective Net Pension Liability $ 23,065,802 $ 23,366,599 $ 22,142,905 $ 19,039,448 $ 17,666,729
System's Covered Payroll $ 10,669,170 $ 10,472,856 $ 10,038,663 $ 9,412,769 $ 9,316,040
System's Proportionate Share of the
Collective Net Pension Liability as a
Percentage of its Covered Payroll 216.19% 223.12% 220.58% 202.27% 189.64%
Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a
Percentage of the Total
Pension Liability 54.10% 53.34% 52.91% 56.99% 59.92%
*The amounts presented were determined as of the prior fiscal years ending June 30.
SPARTANBURG WATER SYSTEM
SCHEDULE OF THE SYSTEM'S CONTRIBUTIONS
SOUTH CAROLINA RETIREMENT SYSTEM
LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS
2018 2018 2017 2016 2015
Statutorially Required Contributions $ 1,644,754 $ 1344341 $ 1210662 $ 1,110,276 $ 1,011,873
Contributions in Relation to the
Statutorially Required Contributions 1,644,754 1,344,341 1,210,662 1,110,276 1,011,873
Contribution Deficiency (Excess) $ - $ - $ - $ - $ -
System's Covered Payroll $ 11,296,390 $ 10,669,170 $ 10,472,856 $ 10,038,663 $ 9,412,769
Contributions as a Percentage of
Covered Payroll 14.56% 12.60% 11.56% 11.06% 10.75%

Notes to Schedules:

June 30, 2015 was the first year of GASB 68 implementation, therefore 10-year data is not yet available.
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SPARTANBURG WATER SYSTEM
SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN THE SYSTEM'S NET OPEB LIABILITY AND RELATED RATIOS
LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS ENDING JUNE 30

Total OPEB Liability
Service cost
Interest on total OPEB liability
Difference between expected and actual experience
Benefit payments
Net Change in Total OPEB Liability
Total OPEB Liability - Beginning of Year

Total OPEB Liability - End of Year (a)

Plan Fiduciary Net Position

Contributions - employer

Net investment income

Benefit payments

Administrative expenses
Net Change in Plan Fiduciary Net Position
Plan Fiduciary Net Position - Beginning of Year
Plan Fiduciary Net Position - End of Year (b)
Net OPEB Liability - Ending (a-b)

Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a Percentage of the
Total OPEB Liability

Covered Payroll

Net OPEB Liability as a Percentage of Covered Payroll

Notes to Schedule:

2019 2018
541,715 525,937
737,040 693,898

(3,799) 142,956
(408,588) (499,407)
866,368 863,384
15,718,563 14,855,179
16,584,931 15,718,563
1,295,588 669,407
60,482 117,441
(408,588) (499,407)
- (19,310)

947,482 268,131
4,453,868 4,185,737
5,401,350 4,453,868
11,183,581 11,264,695
32.57% 28.34%
9,953,096 9,953,096
112.36% 113.18%

June 30, 2018 was the first year of GASB 75 implementation, therefore 10-year data is not yet

available.
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SPARTANBURG WATER SYSTEM

SCHEDULE OF THE SYSTEM'S CONTRIBUTIONS
LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS ENDING JUNE 30

Actuarially Determined Contribution (ADC)

Contributions in Relation to the ADC

Annual Contribution Deficiency

Covered Payroll

2019 2018

$ 1,093,916 $ 1,033,974

1,195,060 1,193,816

$  (101,144) $  (159,842)

$ 9,953,096 $ 9,953,096

Actual Contributions as a Percentage of Covered Payroll 12.01% 11.99%

Notes to Schedule:

Valuation Date

January 1, 2017

Methods and Assumptions Used to Determine Contributions Rates:

Actuarial Cost Method

Amortization Method

Amortization Period

Asset Valuation Method

Inflation

Healthcare Cost Trend Rates
Pre-medicare

Medicare

Salary Increases
Investment Rate of Return

Participation Rates
Demographic Assumptions

Mortality

Entry age normal

Level percent of pay, closed

21 years

5-year smoothed market value, 80%-120% corridor
2.25%

7.50% for 2017 decreasing to an ultimate rate of 5.00% by
2023

5.50% for 2016 decreasing to an ultimate rate of 5.00% by
2020

3.00%-7.00%, including wage inflation of 3.00%

4.75%, net of OPEB plan investment expense, including
price inflation

The assumed annual rates of plan participation and spouse
coverage were 90% and 15%, respectively.

Based on the 2016 experience study adopted for the SCRS
pension plan.

Based on the RP-2014 Mortality Table for Employees with a
95% multiplier to better reflect anticipated experience and
provide a margin for future improvements.

June 30, 2018 was the first year of GASB 75 implementation, therefore 10-year data is not yet available.
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AN ORDINANCE

PROVIDING FOR THE ISSUANCE AND SALE OF JUNIOR LIEN WATER
SYSTEM REVENUE BONDS OF THE CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH
CAROLINA, AND OTHER MATTERS RELATING THERETO.

(JUNIOR LIEN BOND ORDINANCE OF 1998)
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BE IT ORDAINED BY THE MAYOR AND THE COUNCIL MEMBERS OF THE CITY OF
SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA, IN MEETING DULY ASSEMBLED:

ARTICLE I
FINDINGS OF FACT

Section 1.01. Recitals and Statement of Purpase.

Ingident to the adoption of this Ordinance and the issuance of the bands providcd for herein, the
City Council.of the City of Spartanburg, South Carolina (the "City Council"), the governing body of the
City of Spa:tdnburg, South Carolina (the "City") finds, as a fact, Lhat each of the staternents hereinafter

set forth is in all respects true and correct,

(A)  The City is 2 municipal corporation of the State of South Carolina (the "State"), and as
such possesses all gcncrai prowers granted by the Constitution and statutes of the State ta municipal
corpomttons, including the power to operate a waterwotks system ahd -to Furnish water service for
dmmcstxc and industrial use both within and without the corporate lirmits of the City.

(B} Pursuant to the favorable result-of 'an election held in the City in 1907, the City acquired
& water system (the "Water Systém"). Since acquisition of the Water Systeny, it has been cantmuously
operated by the City, through its Commissioners of Public Works (the "Commissioners").

(8] The-revenues denved from the Water Systcm are now hiypothecated and pledged to the
paymeént of those bonds listed on Exhibit A attached hereto and incorporated: herein (hereinafter referred
to as the “Escmwcd Senior:Lien Bonds") and also-td-the payment of 'those bands listed on Exhibit B
attdched hereta and mcorporatcd lierein (hcmmaﬁ:er referred td.as the™Senior Lien Bands").

G  The Eschch Senior Licn Bonds were issued pursuant to proceedings
which either (i) did hot provide for the niet defeasance of the Escrowed Senior Licn Bonds
by the establishment of an escruw deposit fund as cogtemplated by Act 179 or (ii)
required any such-net defeasance to provide for redemption of the defeased bands at the
first, eall date therc()f Thus, although pmcmds of the Series 1985 Bonds apd other
revenues of the Water System are invested id escrow accounts in obhgaﬂons of the United
States, .the maturing principal of and interest on' which ars computed to be sufficient to
pay the principal and interest on the Escrowed Senior Licn Bonds; the Hscrawed Senior
Lien Bonds have nevertheless only been cquuanucaﬂy defeased, and the lens securing
each of the Hsorowed Senior Lien Bands, remain outstanding until such time as such
issues -are actually paid. Two series of Escrowed Senior Lien Bonds, the Seties 1977
Bonds and'the Series 1979 Bonds, remain outstanding. As of June 1, 1998, the Series
1977 Bonds are outstanding in the aggregate prnicipal amount of $4,025,000, and the
Series 1979 Bonds are outstanding in the ageregate principal amount of $2:575,000.

(i)  The payment of the principal of and interest on the Senior Lien Bonds is
secured by the provisions of an ordinancs providing for the issuance and sale of water
systetn revenue bonds adopted by the City Council on September 28, {992 (the "Bond
Ordinance of 1992") and ordinances supplemental thereto.



(D The Commissioners have conducted an extensive investigation and find that, while the
earnings tests and other cavenants set forth in the Bond Ordinance of 1992 for the issuance of additional
Water System improvement revenue bonds on a parity therewith are similar to those generally prevailing
throughout the United States at the time of its adoption, in a large number of instances different eamings

{ests and covenants now prevail.

(E) Because the Cominissioners and the City presently contemplate enlargements and
improvements to the Water System both now and in the future, the Commissioners have recommended
that the City Council adopt this ordinance which would authorize the issuance of additional bonds to
provide for extensions and improvements to the Water System of the City on 2 mare flexible basig than

that-established in the Bond Ordinance of 1992.

(F) The members of City Council (i). expressly recognize that until such time as the Seaior
Licn ‘Bonds are ne longer “Outstanding” uader the Bond Ordinance of 1992, the bonds authorized
‘hereunder shall be jnniof arid subordinate to the Senior Lien Bands and the Escrowed Senior Lien Bonds
and shafl be considered to be “Junior Lien Bonds" under the Bond Ordinance of {992; (ii) have been

advised By the Commissionecs, Bond Counsel and the Managmg Underwriter of the proposed initial seres
of bonds to be issued under tig ordinance, that such status is necessary and that the issuance ‘of j junior

and subordinate bonds by an entity such as the City is an accepted financing practice.

(@) In order tq enhcmca the cmd:tworﬂuness of the bonds authorized by this ordinance, the
Cujy Council will agree (i} pot to-issue-any other Water System :mpmVement reveiue bonds pursuant to
the authority set forthiin the Bond Ordinance of 1992; and (ii). not to provide for 'the ‘accession of any
bonds authorized by this ordinance to the status of Senior Lien Bonds. .

ao The CJL}' Council has therefore determmcd to adopt this ordinance in order to achieve
greater flexibility in its ubﬂrty to issue water systen: improvement revenue bonds.,

ARTICLE II ,
DEFINITION‘? CONSTRUCTION AND INTERPRETATIONS
Section 2,01, Definition of Ordmmnce.

This ordinance may be hereafter c:tcd and is hereinafter sometimes referred to as the "Junior Lien
Bond Ordinance of 1998;" such term shaﬂ include all ordinances supplcmentai to, or ainendatdry of, thts

ordinance,
Sectiost 2.02. Defined Terms.

In this ordinance, terms defined in Article I shall have the meaning assigned therein, and unless
a different meaning clearly appears from the context, the following terms shall have the following
respective meanings:

"Accountant” shall meair an independent firm of certified public accountants of sujtable standing
who audit the boaks, records, and accounts of the Commissioners.



"Accreted Value" shall mean the amounts set forth in or the amounts determined in the thanner
set forth in, a Junior Lien Series Ordinance, authorizing the issuance of Junior Lien Bonds in the form of

Capital Appreciation Junior Lien Bonds.
_ “Act 179" means Act No. 179 of the 1981 Acts and Joint Resolutions of the General Assembly
of the State of South Carolina

"Additional Bonds Test" shall mean those Net Bamnings requirements set forth in Section 4.02(7)
of this Junior Lien Bond Ordinance of 1998.

" Annyal Budget” shaﬂ mean the annual budget or amended budget of the Comm;ssmners in effect
as provided in or adopted parsuant to the provisions of this ordinance.

“Annual Principal and Interest Requirement” shall mean, with respect to any particular Fiscal Year
and to a Séges of Junior Lien BondsQutstanding, an amount (other than amounts pa!d from proceeds of
Jurioc Lien Bonds) equal to the sim of (1) all interest payable on such Series of Funior Lien Bonds during

-such -Fiscal Year plus (2) aty Principal Installments-of such Series of Junior Lien Bonds during such
Fiscal Year. For purposes of computing "Angual Pnnctpal and Interest Requirement,” the rate of interast
used' to détermine (1) above shall be*a rate per annum equal to (1) with respeet to any Series of Yunior
Lien Bonds which bear interest at a fixed rate, the mte of interest home or {o be bome by such Junior
Lien Bonds, and (b) with respect to any Senes of Vadable Rate Junior Lien Bonds, the interest rate, shall

be assumed to be the highest of:

(1] the actual rate on the date of calculation, or if the Variable Rate Junior Lien
Bonds are not yet Outstanding; the initial rate (if established and binding),

(ii} if the Vatiable Rate Junior Lien Bonds have been Qutstanding for at least twelve
(12) . months, the average rate over the twelve months immediately preceding the date of

calculation, and

Gif) (1) if interest on the Variable Rate Junior Lien Bonds is mtended by the

- Commissioners to be excludable from grdss incotne under the applicable provisions of the Code,
the Bond :Buyer. 25 Revenve Bond Index (or comparable index if such is no longer published)
puBlished not earlier than two weeks prior to the sale date, of (2) if interest is not intended to.be
so excludahle, the interest rate on Government Obligations with comparable matuntms, provided,
however, that for purposes of any rate covenant measuring actual debt service covernge during
a test period, Variable Rate Junior Lien Bonds shall be deemed to bear interest at the actual mte

per annum applicable during the test period.

“Authorized Invesm}cuts" shall rmean investments that are, at the time of investment, lawful for
investment of the Commissioners’ funds under Section 6-3-10, Code of Laws of South Carcolina 1976, as
amended from titne to time, or any successor or other applicable provision of the Code of Laws of South

Carolina 1976, as amended from time to time: provided, however; that the definition of "Authorized
Investments” may be: further specified in each Jumior Lien Series Ordinance and Junior Lien Series

Resalution.
"Beneficial Owners” shall mean, with respect to any Series of Junior Lien Bonds then in boak-
entty system form, those persons who have purchased Junior Lien Bonds through a Participant.
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“Bond Counsel” shall mean an attomey or firm of attorneys of recognized standing in the field
of law relating to municipal, state and public agency financing, selected by the Commissioners.

“Bond Ordinance of 1992" shall mean that ordinance entitled, “An Ordinance Providing for the
Issuance and Sale of Water System Revenve Bonds of the City of Spartanburg, South Carolina, and Other
Matters Relating Thereto," adopted by the City Council on September 28, 1992.

"Business Day" shall mean any day other than a Saturday, a Sunday or a day on which banking
institutions, in the State or in the State of New York or in the state in which the Paying Agent's principal
corporate trust office is located, are required or authorized by law (including executive orders) to close.

“Capital Appreciation Junior Lien Bonds" shall mean Junior Lien Bonds that bear interest payable

only at maturity or payable prior to maturity only on the redemption dates set forth in, and in the amounts
détermined by reference to the Acoreted Value established in accordance with the provisions of the funior
Lien Series Ordinance authorizing thc igsuance of such Capital Appreciation Junier Lien Bonds.

“Capitalized Interest Account" shatl mean, for a particular Seres of Junior Lien Bonds, that -
account established within a Debt Service Fund for such Series of Junior Lien Bonds for the payment of
mterest on such Seres of Junior Lien Honds, and as established by the provisions of Section 7.09 hereof,

"Chair" shall mean the Chair of the Commissioners. The term shall include the Vice-Chair
whenever, by reason of absence, iliness or other reason, the person who is the Chair is unable to act.

"Chief Fmanmal Officer” shall mean the individual to whom the Commissioners have delegated
the respousibility of supervising and maintaining records and accounts relating to the collection and
dlsbumcment of the revenues derived from the operation and maintenance of the Water System.

"City" shiall mean the City of Spartanburg, South Carolina. References to actions requued of or
permitted by the City shall mean actions taken by or under the authority of the City Council or of the
Commissioners, whxchcver is the dppropnate legal entity to take such action under the laws of the State

at the time such action is to be taken.
‘“C.'it}’ Council" shall mean the City Council of the City of Spartanburg, South Carolina,

"Cletk" shall mean the Clerk of the City. The term shall include the Acting Clerk or the Assistant
Clerk whenever, by reason of absence iliness or other reason, the person who is the Clerk is unable to act.

"Code" shall mean the Intemal Revenue Code of 1986, as mmended, and applicable Treasury
Regulations from time to ime in effect.

“Combined Annual Principal and Intercst Requirement” shall mean, with respect to any Fiscal
Year, the sum of the Annual Principal and Interest Requirements for all Series of Junior Lien Bands to

be Outstanding during that Fiscal Year.
"Comunissioners" shaﬂ mean the Commissioners of Public Wotks of the City of Spananburg,
Soutft Carolina, or any successar body.



"Consulting Engineers" shall mean any independent firm of consulling engineers having a national
reputation fov skill' and experience in wtility financing and rate design, and the design and operation of

water facilities.

“Date of Issue” shall mean that date established in any Junior Lien Seties Ordinance and Junior
Lien Series Reselution from which interest shall accrue on the Junior Lien Bonds of the applicable Seres.

"Debt Service Funds" shall mean the funds herein so designated and designed to provide for the
payrnent of the principal of and interest on {he respective Series of Junior Lien Bonds issued pursuant to
this Junior Lien Bond Ordinance of 1998, as the same respectively fall due, and as established by the

provisions of Section 7.03 hereof.

“Debt Service Reserve Funds" shall mean the funds so designated and designed (1) to secure the

timely payment of the principal of and interest on the respective Series of Justior Lien Bonds Qutstanding
and issued pursuant to this Junior Lien Bond Ordinance of 1998, and (2) to provide for the redemption
of such Seres of Outstanding Junior Lien Bonds prior to their stated maturity, as established by the
provisions of Section 7.04 hereof; provided, however, that any Junior Lien Series Ordinance or Junior Lien
Series Résohition may designate the Debt Service Reserve Fund for the Sedes of Junior Lien Bonds
authorized thereby to be consolidated with, the Debt Service Reserve Fund for each other Series so
designated, in which case all such designated Series shail be considered in the aggregate as a smgie Series

f’or all purposes related to the consolidated Debt Service Reserve Fund.

"Defeasauce Qbligations", unless otherwise provided in a J unior Lien Series Qrdinance or Junior
Lien Series Resolution for a particular Serdes of Junior L1cn Bonds, shafl mmean non-callable (l)
Govemment Obligations or (i) évidences of ownership.of a pmpornonate interest in sPemﬁcd Gﬂvemmcnt
Chbligations, whick Govermnment Obligahons are held by a bank or trust company orgamzed and emsung :
under the laws of the Uhited States of Anerica or any state thereof in the capacity of custodian. -

“Depository" means any bank or trust company or national banking association selected by the
City as a depository of moneys or securities held under the provisions of this Junior Lien Bond Ordinnce
of 1998 and may mcluda the Trustee. -

| "Deprecxauon and C‘.ontmgant Fund” shall mean the fand herein so designated and designed to
provide for contingencies, for the replacement of depreciated or obisolets parts of the Water System. and
for improvements, bettexmcnm and éxtensions of the Water System, as cstabhshcd by thc provisions of

Section 7.06 hereof,

"Enabling Act" shall mean Chapter 21 of Title 6, Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as
amended from time ¢o time, and all ather statutory authorizations, authorizing and enabling the City

Council to adopt this Junior Lien Bond Ordinance of 1998.
"BEscrowed Sefiior Lien Bonds" shall mean the bonds listed in Exhibit A herato.

"Bveats of Defanlt” shall mean thase events set forth in Section 13.01 of this Juttior Lien Bond

Ordinance of 1998,



“Feasibility-Consultants" shall mean any independent firm of consultants, engineers or accountants
having skill and expedence in utility financing and rate design, or the design and opetation of, water

and/or sewer facilities.

“Fiduciary™ or "Fiduciaries” shall mean, with respect to a Series of Juniar Lien Bonds, the Trustee,
as well as any Registrar ot any Paying Agent and any other agent of the Conimissioners for such Series
of Junior Lien Bonds appointed pursuant to the authorizations of this Junior Lien Bond Ordinance of 1998
and any Junijor Lien Series Crdinance or Junior Lien Series Resolution or any or all of them, as may be
appropriate, '

“Fiscal Year shall mean the period of twetve (12) calendar months, beginning on July 1 of each
year, and ending on June 30 of the next year, unless the same shail have been changed by the
Commissioners pursuant to the autherization contained in Section 3.01 hereof.

"Fitch" shall mean Fitch IBCA, Inc. and its successors.,

“General Revenue Fund" shall mean the account or accounts which shall be established and

maintained by the Cormmissioners in such fashion as to reflect adequately all of the receipts and revenues
- derved from the operation of the Water System and all interest and other income eamed by the
Commissioners in connection with the operation of the Water System,.as estabhshed by the provisions of

Section 7.02 hereof.

"Govefnment Obligations" shall mean direct generm!.obligations of the United States of America
ar its agencies, the payment of which is fully and uncondmonsdly guamnte,ed by the United States of

Amerca.
"Gruss Revenues" or “Gross Revenues of the Water System" shall mean for the period in question:

() all receipts and n:venucs (except customers’ deposits) derived from the operation
of the Water System including service ﬁ:ea (tap-m fees, connection fees, front-fogt assessiments

and avyailability fees),

' ()  all proceeds from the sale or other disposition of any property owned directly or
beneficially by the Commissioners or by the City in connection with the opcration of the Water
System, .

() all interest and other income received by the Commissionets, directly or indirectly
from the investment of any moneys or accounts relating to thie Water System; excluding, howover,
investment incoine restricted to a purpose inconsistent with the paymient of operating expenses or
debt service, and specifically excluding (whether or not so restricted) interest eamed on any
construction fund or comstruction account created with the proceeds of boowing by the

Commissioners, and

(d) all other unencumbered money to which the Commissioners may becomme entitled
from. any source whatsoever, but specifically excluding any governmenot grants or aids-to-

construction.



“Insurer”, with respect to any Series of Junior Lien Bonds, shall mean an insurance company that
has written a Municipal Bond Insucance Policy covering such Series of Junior Lien Bonds.

“Junior Lien Bond Ordinance of 1998" shall mean this ordinance, including all ordinances

supplemental to or amendatory hereof,

“Junjor Lien Bond Payment Date” shall mean the dates on which the principal of or interest on
any of the Junior Lien Bonds shalf be payable or én which both principal and interest shall be payable
on any of the Junior Liea Bonds, all as set forth in the Junior Lien Series Ordinances and Juaior Lien
Series Resolutions authorizing the issuance of the respective Series of Junior Lien Bonds authorized under

this ordinance.

*Tunjor Lien Bondholdér” or "Holder," or any similar term, when used with reference to a
registered Jumior Lien Bond or junior Lien Bonds, shall mean asiy pecson who shall be the registered
owrer of any Outstandlng Junior Lien Bond, and in the case of Junior Lien Bonds consisting of
_contractaal obhgatwns wot in the form of an instrumerit, the party entitled te enforce the Commissioners’
payment obligation theteutidér, provided, howevet, that for purposes of Articles XII, XIV and XV and
Sections 16.04 and 11.02 of this Junior Lien Bond Ordinance of 1998, Junior Lien Bondholders shall

mean "Beneficial Owners of Junior Lien Bonds,

. “Junipr Lien Bonds* shall mean any indcbtedness.or obligatious, including any obligations entered
into under the provisions of logg-term confracts payable from the tevenues of the Water System, issued
in accordarice with-the provisions of the Enabling, Act, this Junior Lien Bond Ordinatce of 1998, a Junior
Lien Series Ordmance and a Junior Lien Series Resolution, excluding mdehtcdness mcurred in accordance

with Article VI hereof,

“Junior.Lien Series Qrdinance" shall meatt an ordmance of City Council authorizing the issuance
of a Series of Junior Lien Bonds pursuant 0 this Junior Lien Boiid Ordinance of 1998 in accordance with

the ferms and provisions heredf, adopted by C‘lty Council in' accordance with Article IV,

-

"Jumior Lien Series Resolution" shiall mean a resolution of the Commissioners authonzmg the
issuance of & Sedes of Junior Lien Bands by. the Commiissioners pursuant to this Junior Lien Bond
Otdinzance of 1998 in accordance with the tcnns and pravisions fereof, adopted by the Commissioners in

accordance with Article TV hereof.

“Mayor shall mean the. Mayor of the City. The tetm shall include the Acting Mayor or the
Mayor Pro Tempore whenever, by reason of absence, 111ness or other reason, the pecson who is the Mayor

is unable tcl act,
“Moody's" shall mean Moody's Investors Service and.its successors.

*Municipal Bond Insuranice Policy” shall mean any municipal bond insurance pohcy insuring the -
payment, when due, of the principal of and interest on a Sedes of Junior Lien Bonds.

"Net BEamiugs" shall mean for the period in question the net income of the Commissioners,
determined in accordance with geverally accepted accounting principles. Whether or not generally
accepted accounting principles so require, however, for purposes of the calculation made to determine Net

Eamings, the following provisions shall apply.



(a) Net Earnings shall inchude:

(1) Gross Revenues of the Water System (except as excluded in (b) below);
(i) amounts transferred into the Operation and Maintenance Fund from a Rate
Stabilization Fund, pursuant to Section 8.08 hereof; and

(i) amount transferred to the City pursuant to service contracts.

(b)  Net Eamings shall not include:

6] gains on the sale or other dispesition of jnvestruents ot fixed or capital assets, not
resuiting from the ordinary course of business of the Commissioners;

(i) investment income restricted to a purpose incousistent with the payment of
operating expenses or debt service including (whether or not so restricted) interest earned
on aay Pro_yect Fund or account créated with the proceeds of any bon‘owmg of the

Commissioners;
(iii)  government grants and aids-to-construction; and

(iv)  amounts transferred into the Rate Stabilization Fund pursuant to Section 8,08, to
the extznt that such transfers- in do not exceed transfers out from that Fund to the
Operation and Maintenance Fund pursuant to Section 8.08 in the then current Fiscal Year.

() The following shall not be subtracted as expenscs in determining Net Eammgs
(D) losses ori the sale or other disposition of fnvestments.or fixed or capital assets, not
resulting from the ordinary course of business of the Commissioners;

(if) the amortization of financing expenses, underwriting discounts, call premiums,
gains or losses on the extinguishmoent of debt due to refinancing of the same, and other
related and non-recurring expefises resulting from the issuance or refinancing of Junior

“Lien Bonds; and

(i)  principal and interest paid on the Junior Lien Bonds, amounts paid into any debt
service reserve fund cstablished for any Junior Lien Bonds, and depreciation expense for

such period.

"Operation and Maintenance Expenses" shall mean for the period in question ail expenses incurmed
in connection with the administration and the operation of the Water System, including, without limiting
the generality of the foregoing, such expenses as may be reasonably necessary to preserve the Water
System in good repair and working order, the fées and charges of the Trustee(s) aud the custodian or
‘trustee of any fund, the costs of audits required hereunder, the costs of computation and payment of any
arbitrage rebate, and the premiums for all insurance and fidelity bonds required by this Junior Lien Bond

Ordinance of 1998. Operation and Maintenance Expenses shall not include:

(a) depreciation allowances;



amounts paid as interest on bonds, including the Senior Lien Bonds;

()
{c) amonnts expended {or extracrdinary repairs to the Water Systern;
the amortization of financing expenses, underwriting discounts, call premiums, gains or

(d
losses on the extinguishment of debt due 1o the refinancing of the same, and other related
or incidental non-recurrihg expenses resulting {tom the issuance or refinancing of Junjor

Lien Bonds; and

{(e) amounts paid as capital costs pursuant to the provisions of long-term conteacts which the
Commissioners fias entered {nto io order (o provide service to the areas included within
its service area, such obligations being specifically included within the defipitions of
Junior Lien Bonds or Subordinate Lient Bonds depending upon the pledge given to secure

the same.
"QOperation and Maintenance Fund” shall mean the fund designed to provide: for the payment of
all OperauOn and Midintenance Bxpenses. -

_ "On:linan‘ce Elevation Date" shall mean that date on which no bonds issued under the anthority
of the Bond Qrdinance of 1992 shall be "Outstanding," as such term is defined in the Bond Ordinance of
1992,

"Qutstanding", when used with reference to any Junior Lien Bonds and subject to Section 17.01
hereof and except as. may tie modtﬁed for any Series of Junior Lien Bonds pursuant to the provisions of
a Junior Lien'Series Ordinance, shall mmean, 4s of any date, all such Juntior Licn Bonds theretofore or then

being authentiocated and delivered except:

{(a) Junior Lien Bonds cancelled at or prior to such date;

®) Junior Lien Bonds in lieu of or in substitution for which other Jumior Lien Bonds shall
kave been executed and delivered;
Junior Lien Bonds deemed to have beeu paid as proyided in Article XVI hereof; and

()
@ for purpases of any consent or other actien to be taken by the Holders of a specified
percentage of Junior Lien Bonds, Junior Lien Bonds held by, or for the account of the
Commissionets, or by any petson controlling, coutrolied by, or under common control

with the Commmissioners unless all Junior Lien Bonds are so held.

“Participant" shall mean those broker-dealers, banks and other firtancial institutions for which the
Securities Depository for a particular Series of Junior Lien Bonds bolds such Series of Tunior Lien Bonds

as securities depository.

"Paying Ageat" for n particular Series of Junior Lien Bonds, shall mean the Trustee, or any bank,
trust company, or national banking association which is designated by the Commissioners to make
disbursements of principal, interest and redemption premium, if any, with regard to a particular Seriés of
Junior Lien Bonds to the Halders of such Series of Junior Lien Bonds.



“Principal Installiment" shall mean, as of any date of calculation, (i} the aggregate principal amount
af Qutstanding Junjor Lien Bonds stated to mature on 4 certain date, reduced by the aggregate principal
amount of such Junior Lien Bonds which will be retired by reason of any mandatory sinking fund payment
payable before such date, plus (ii) any mandatory sinking fund payment due on such certain date, together
with the aggregate amount of the pretoiutns, if any, applicable to such mandatory sinking fund payrments,
plus (iii)} with respect to any Capital Appreciation Junjor Lien Bonds required to be paid on such certain
date, the Accreted Value as of such certain date of such Capital Appreciation Junior Lien Bonds; and in
this latter respect, any reference ‘to “principal” of Jupior Lien Bonds in this Junior Lien Bound Ordinance
of 1998 shall inean, with respect to Capital Appreciation Junior Lien Bonds, the Accreted Value of such

Capital Appreciation Junior Lien Bonds.

"Project Fund" shall mean, for a particular Series of Junior Lien Bonds, that fund established by
a Junior Lien Series Ordinance or Junior Lien Series Resolution and into which proceeds of such Series
of Junior Lien Bonds, which proceeds are intended to be used for the expansion or improvement of the

Water System, are to be deposited.

"Rate Covenant® shall mean that covenant made (n Section 3.04 of this Junior Lien Bond

Qrdinance of 1998,

"Rate Stabilization Funds® shall mean the funds designed to provide for the stabilization of rates
by carrying forward surplus revenues, as established by the provisions of Section 7.07 hereof. .

“Record Date" shall mean the fifteenth (15th) day of the month immediately preceding each Junior
Lien Bond Payment Date (or such other time or times as shall be prescribed for any Series by the
applicable Junior Lien Series Ordinance and Jumor Lien Series Resolution),

“Redemption Price” shall mesn, with respect to Junior Lien Bouds or a portion thereof, the
principal amount of such Junior Lien Bonds or portion thereof plus the applicatile premiurn, if any,
payable upon redemption thereof in ths manner contomplated in accordance with its terms, this Junior Lien
Bond Ordinance of 1998 and the applicable Junior Lien Series Qrdinance and Iumor Lien Sedes

Resolution.

*Registrar” for a particular Series of Junior Liers Bonds, shall mean the Trustee, or any bank, trust
company, or national banking association which is authotized by the Commissionters to maintain an
accurate list of those wha from time to time shall be the Holders of Junior Lien Bonds.of a particafar
Series and to effect the transfer of such Junior Lien Bonds in accordance with the provisions of this Junior
Lien Bond Qrdipance of 1998 and having the duties, rcsponqlbﬂmcs, and rights provided for in this Janior
Lien Bond Ordinance of 1998 and any Junior Lien Sedes Ordinance and Junior Lien Series Resolution,
and its successor or successors and any other corporation or association which at any time may be
substituted in 'its place purstiant to this Junior Lien Bond Qrdinance of 1998,

"Reserve Requiremnent” shall mean, with respect to any Serdes of Janior Lien Bonds and as of any
date of calculation, the least of (a) the greatest remaining Annual Prncipal and Interest Requirement for
the then-current and each future Fiscal Year with respect to that Series of Junior Lien Bonds or (b) 10%
of the proceeds from the sale of that Series of Junior Lien Bonds at the time of issnance of such Serics
or (¢) one hundred twenty-five percent.(125%) of the average Annual Principal and Interest Requirerients
for the then-current and each fiuture Fiscal Year with respect to that Sedes of Jumior Lien Bonds
Qutstanding or (d) if interest on the Junior Lien B{mds/i:é intended to be exempt from federal income
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taxation, the maximum amount permitted by the Code to be funded with saies proceeds of an issue and
to be invested without restriction, other than the obligation, if any, to pay arbitrage rebate to the United
States Govemment; provided, however, that a Junior Lien Series Ordinance and Junjor Lien Series
Resaolution authorizing a Series of Junior Lien Bonds may provide that there not be a Reserve Requirement
for a Series of Junior Lien Bonds if one is determined not to be necessary; and further provided, that if
the sum of the Reserve Requirements so determined for all Series of Junior Lien Bonds Qutstanding
exceeds the maximum Annual Principal and [nterest Requirement for all Tunior Lien Bonds OQutstanding,
then the Reserve chu:rement for each Series of Junior Lien Bonds shall be that Series’ proporlionate
amount of the maximum combined Annual Principal and Interest Requirement for all Junior Lien Bonds
then Outstanding. For purposes of this definition, the “proportionate amount" of a Series shall be the
proportion between () principal and interest coming due on that Series of Junior Lien Bonds in the next
ensuing twelve (12) months and (i) principal and interest coming due on all Series of Junior Lien Bonds

in the next ensuing twelve (12) mounths.

"S&P" shall mean Standard & Poor’s Ratings Group and its successors,

4
"Secretary" shall mean the Secretary of the Commissionsrs. The term shall include the Acting .
Secretary or the Assistant Secretaty whenever, by reasan of absence, illness or other reason, the person

who is the Secretary is unable to act.

*Securities Depository" shall mean The Depository Trust Cotnpany, New Yotk, New York, or
other recoguized sgcuritie.'s depasitory selected by the Commissioners, which securities depository
maintains a book-entry systam in respect of the Junjor Lien Bonds of any Segieg, and shall include any
substitute for or-successor to the securities depository .initially acting as Securities Depository.

“Securities Depository Nominee" shall mean, 45 to any Securities Depository, such Secutities
. Depository or the nominee of such Securities Depasitory in whose name there shall be registered on the .
registration books maintained by any Registrar, the Junior Lien Bond certificates to be delivered to and
immobilizeéd at such Securities Depository during the contlnuatlou with such Securities' Depasitory of

participation in its book-entry system.
“Senior Lien Bonds" shall mean the bonds listed in Exhibit B hereto,

- "Serzﬂl Junior Lien Bonds” shall mean the Junior Lien Bonds of any Series which are stated to
mature in instaliments. and for which there are no mandatory sinking fund provisions.

"Series® shall mean all of the Junjor Lien Bonds authenticated and delivered on original issuance
in a simuijtaneous, transaction and designated as a single Serles by the authorizing Junior Lien Seties
Ordinance, and any Junior Lien Bonds thereafter authenticated and delivered in lieu of or in substitution
for {but not to refund) such Junior Lien Bonds as herein provided, regardless of variations i roaturity,

interest rate or other pmvxszons
“Series 1985 Bonds" shall mean the $15,135,000 Water System Refunding and [mprovcmc,nt
Revenue Bonds, Series 19835, of the City. ‘
"Series 1992 Bonds" shall mean that seres of bonds described in pamagraph 1 of Exhibit B of this
Junior Lien Bond Crdinance of 1998.
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*Series 1996 Bonds" shall mean that series of bonds descrbed in paragraph 2 of Exhibit B of this
Junior Lien Bond Qrdinance of [998.

“Series 1997 Bonds” shall mean that series of bonds described in paragraph 3 of Exhibit B of this
Junior Lien Bond Ordinance of 1998,

“South Carolina Code" shail mean the Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, &s fTom Hme €0

4

time amended.
“Special Facilities” shall mean those facilities financed with the proceeds of Special Facilities
Bonds as described in Section 6.02 hereof.

“Special Facilities Bouds" shall mean those obligations issued in accordance with Section 6.02
hereof.

_ "State" shall mean the State of South Carolina.

“Subordinate Lien Bonds" shall mean any rgvenue bonds issued by the Commissioners or other

obligations entered into by the Commissioners including such obligations under the provisions of long-
term contracts which are secuped by pledgcs of and liens on the revenues of the Water System which ace
junior and subordinate in all respects o the pledges and liens inade to secure ihe Junior Lien Bonds,

“Systedi" ar "Water System” shall mean the Water System of the City as the same is now or may
be constituted, all property real and personal, used and useful therefor, all apparitus and equipment used
in connection. therawith;’ and all acqmsmons rcplacemcnts ealargements, improvements, extensions,
additions and bétterments that snay be made thereto at any time hereafter; pmwdad that during such time
as dny Special Facilities Bonds issued to finance Special Facilities are’ outstandmg, the term. “Water

System" shall not include such Special Facilities.

"Term Junior Lien Bonds" shall mean the Junior Lien Bonds of any Sedes which are stated to
roature in  single. year and which are subject to mandatory sinking fund mdempuon pnor to the stated

raaturity date.

“Trustea" shall mean the financial institution designated bj’ the Commissioners to serve as Trustee
for the Jumior Lien Bonds and which shall have such other duties, privileges and functions as are set forth
herein. Such tenn shall include any successor.and any corporation or association resulting from or
sarviving any consolidation or merger to which it or its successors may be a party and any successor

trustee at the tirne serving as successor trustee hereunder.

"Value" shall mean, with respect to any investment, the-value caleniated as follows:

(i) as to investments the bid and asked prices of which are published ont a regulac basis
in The Wail Street Journal (or, if not there, then in The New York Times): the average of the bid
and asked prices for such investments so published on er most recently prior to the time of

determination;

(i} as to investrnents the bid and asked prices of which are not published on a regular
basis in The Wall Street Journal or The New York Tirmes: the avarage bid price at the time of

12



determination for such investments by any two nationally recognized government securities dealers
(selected by the Trustee for the funds for which “value” is to be determined in its absolute
discretion) at the time making a market in such investments or the bid price published by a

nationally recognized pricing service;
(i) as to certificates of deposit and bankers acceptances: the face amount thcrcof plus
accrued interest; and

(iv) as to any investment not specifted above: the value thereof established by pror
agreement between the Commissioners and the Trustee for the funds for which “value” is to be
detarmined and, with respect. to any insured Series of Junior Lien Bonds, the Insurer.

MVariable Rate J uniqr Lien Bonds" shall mcin, for any period of time, any Junior Lien Bonds
which during such period bear interest ata variable rate; provided that Junior Lien Bonds the interest rate
an which has’been fixed for the remzinder of the term thereof shall no longer be Variable Rate Junior Lien

Bonds.
Section 2.03. Interpretations,

In this Junior Lien Bond Onlinance of 1998, unless the context otherwise reguires:

(A) Articles, Sections and paragraphs referred to by number shall mean the coeresponding
Atticles, Sections and paragraphs of this Junior Lien Bond Ordinance of 1998.

(B) . Words of the masculine gender shall be deemed and construed te include correlative words
of the feminine-and neuter-genders. Words tmportmg the singular number shall include the plural number
and vice versd; and words importing persons shall include- finms, associations, partnerships (including
limited partmerships), trusts, corporauons or ather legal entities, including public bodles, as well as natural
persons.

). The terms “hereby”, "hcreot" "hereto”, "herzin", "hcreunder“ zmcl eny similar terms, as
used in this-ordinance refer ta the Junior Lien Bond Ordinance of 1998 o¢ sections or parageaphs of this
Junior Lien Beond Ordinance of 1998 and the term “hereafter® shall mean any date after the date of

adoption of this ordinance.

()] References to the payment of principal of Junior Lien Bonds shall be deemed to include
paymeant of principal both at maturity and by mandatary redemption pursuant to any sinldng fund payment

abligations. A

(B)  Any Fiduciary shall be deemed to hold an Authorized Investment in which money is
invested ptrsuant to the provisions of this Junior Lien Bond Ordinance of 1998, even though such
Authorized Investment is evidenced anly by a book entry or similar record of investinent,
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ARTICLE III
FISCAL YEAR

Section 3.01, Establishment and Modification of Fiscal Year,

The Water System shall continue to be operated on a Fiscal Year basis, which, until changed, shall
commence on the first ({st) day of July of each year and shalf end on the thirtieth (30th) day of June of
the next year, The Commissioners, in their sole discretion, may from time to time, change the Fiscal Year

from that now existing to a different twelve (12) month period,

ARTICLE [V
THE JUNIOR LIEN BONDS

Section 4.01. Authorization for Junior Lien Bonds in Series.

(A)  PFrom titne to time and for the purposes of:

(1} Obtaining funds for the expansion and improvement of the Waler Syster,
including the recoupment-of funds already so expended;

(2) Providing funds for the payment of any bond anticipation note or notes issued in
order to defray the cost of expansions and improvements to the Water System and that were

issued in anticipation of the issuance and 'sale of Junior Lien Bonds;

© (3)  Refunding bonds or other obligations issued to pravide land or fucilities which
aré or are to become a part of the Water System or which are or were payab[c in whole or in part

from revenues of the Water Systern;

(4)  Funding the Debt Service Reserve Funds or restoring the valus of the cash aiid
securities in the Debt Service Reserve Funds to the amounts equal to their Reserve Requiretnents,
and reimbursing amounts owed to any providers of a surety band, line of credit, m.mrancc policy
or letter of credlt established pursoant to Section.7.04(D) heceof; and '

)] Paying the costs of issuance of Jumior Lien Bonds, mcludmg any credit

enhancement thegefor,

but subject to the terms, limitations and conditions herein, the City Council may authorize the issuance
of a Series of Junjor Lien Bonds by the adoption of a Junior Lien Series Ordinance, and the Junior Lien
Bonds of any such Series may be issued and delivered upon compliance with the provisions of this Article.
The Junior Lien Bouds of cach Seres shall be issved in fully registered form, without coupons.

In addition ta the title, "City of Spartanburg, South Carolina, Juuior Lien Water Systern Revenue
Bonds" (unless the Senior Lien Bonds are no longer outstanding, in which case the term "Junior Lien"
may be omitted), the Junior Lien Bonds shall bear a fetter or mumber Series designation as wmay be
necessary to distinguish them (rom the Junior Lien Bonds of every othier Series and shall designate the
year in which the Series is issued. Junior Lien Bonds of any Seties may be authocized to be issued in the
form of Serial Junior Lien Bonds or Term Junior Lien Bands, with or without mandatory sinking fund
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payments, or Capital Appreciation Tunior [.ien Bonds, or as any other type of debt instrurnent as detailed
in & Junior Lien Series Ordinance or Junior Lien Series Resolution, or a cornbination of any of them, and
may bear interest in whatever manner and payable at whatever frequency as shall be preseribed by the

applicable Junior Lien Seres Ordinance and Junior Lien Series Resalution.

(B) Each Junior Lien Series Ordinance shall include a determination by the City to the effect
that-the issuance of such Series of Jumior Lien Bonds is necessary to provide funds to be used and
expended for one ar more of the purpases set out ifl Section 4.01(A) hereof. Each Junior Lien Series
Ordinance may authorize the Commissioners to adopt a Jinior Lien Series Resolution taking the action
prescribed in Section 4.01(C} hereof. Each Juaior Lien Series Ordinance shall specify and determine, or
expressly delegate to the Commissioners, the authority to specify and determine the following details with

respect to the Junior Lien Bonds.

(1) ' The Date of Issue of such Series of Junior Lien Bonds, or the ofﬁcilals authorized

to make such deternmination;

) The maximum authorized principal amount of such Series of Junior Lien Bonds,
and the mannet of determining the precise principel amount and the officials authonzcd to make

such determination;

(3) The Junior Lien Payment Dates for the Junior Lien Bonds in such Sedies and the

Record Dates, and the date or dates of maturify and the amounts thereof, or the manner of
deterpining such datés and amounts and the officials authorized to make such determinations,

pmvided that the Junior Lien Series Rasoluhon shall specify a date beyond which the final
maturity of such Series shall not extend;

4) The specific purposes for which such Series of Junior Lien Bonds is being issued;

(5 The title and designation of the Jupior Lien Bonds of such Serdes;

(6) The manner in which Junior Lien Bonds of such Series are to be sold and
provisions for the sale thereof or the officials authorized to make such detenmuanon. and

N Any other provisions or funds deemed advisable for the Junior Lien Bonds of such

Serdes,

(C)  Bach Junior Lien Sedes Resolution shall express the approval of the Commissioners to
the issuance of the particular Series of Junior Lien Bonds ard shall express thé agreemént of the
Commissioners to abide by and reaffinm each of the tertns and provisions, as well as the covenants and

agreements set forth in this Junior Lien Bond Ordinance of 1998 and the Junior Lien Series Ordinance.
In addition, it may, if so permitted by the Junior Lien Series Ordinance, specify and determine, or

expressly authorize cettain officials to specify and determine, the following details:

(0 The precise principal amount of the Junior Lien Bonds of such Seties, or the
manner of determining such precise principal amount;

(2) The specific purposes for which such Series of Junior Lien Bonds is being issued;
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3 The manner of numbering and lettering, and the denormination or denaminations

“of the Junior Lien Bonds of such Series;

4 The date or dates of maturity and the amounts thereof and thie issue date of the
Junior Lien Bands of such Series, or the officials autharized to make such determination:

(5)  The interest rate or rates, or the manner of determining such rate or rates, of the
Junior Lien Bonds of such Series, including whether and an what terms there shall be entered by
the Comumissioners an agreetment for any form of interest rate hedpe or similar transaction with

respect to such Series;

(@) The time for the payment of interest on the funior Lien Bonds in such Series and
the Record Date;

(7) The portion of such Serdes that are Serial Junior Lien Bonds or that are Term
Junior Lien Bords or that are Capital Appreciation Junior Lien Bonds or that are any other type
of debt instrement; if any, including the amount and date of each mandatory redemptionor sinking
fund instalinient, if any, required by such Junior Lien Sedes Ordinance to be paid for the
retirement of any such Junior Lien Bonds, or ‘the manner of making such designations and the

officials authorized to make such designations;

(8) The redemption price or redemiption prices and the redemption date or redemption
dates and other terms of rederoption (if any) apphcablc to any of the J umor Lien Bonds of such
Series for such payments, or the manner of dctemumng such: dates and prices and the officials

authorized ta make such de.termmatmns,

' () The Registrar and Paying Agent for such Series of Junior Tien Bonds if it is
determined that an institution other than the Trustee shall act in either capacity, and the escraw
agent if such.Junior Lien Bonds are advance refunding Junior Lien Bonds; :

(10)  The manner in which Junjor Lien Bonds of such Series are to be sold and

provisiens for the sale thereof;

{11)  The form or forms of the Junior Lien Bonds of such Saﬁes;

(12)  Whether the Junior Lien Bonds of such Series shall be issued in book—e'n!ry form
pursuant to Section 4.19 hereof;

(I3)  That the then appiicable Reserve Requirements for all Series of Junior Lien Bonds
Qutstanding and for the proposed Series of Junior Lien Bonds, has been or will be tmet; |

(14) ' The disposition or application of the proceeds of the sale of such Series of Junior
Lien Bonds; .

(15}  That a Debt Service Fund and a Debt Service Reserve Fund shall be established
far the Serics of Juttior Lien Bonds, and thata Project Fund be establistied if the proceeds of the
Junior Lien Bonds of any Sedes are intended to be used for the exparsion or improverment of the
Water Systern, and that a capitalized interest account be established within any such Debt Service
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4,02:

Fund if interest for any period is to be paid from proceeds of such Series of Junior Lien Bonds;
and-

(16)  Auy other pravisions or funds deemed advisable by the Commissioners for the
Junior Lien Bonds and any other applicable redemption requirement for the Junior Lien Bonds
of such Seres and the method of satisfying the same and pot in conflict with or in substitution
for the provisions of this Junior Lien Bond Ordinance of 1998 and the Junior Lien Series

Ordinance.

Section 4.02. Conditions to Issuance of Junior Lien Bonds of a Series.

All Junior Lien Bonds shall be issued in compliance with the following provisions of this Section

(1) Junior Lien Bonds shall be stated to mature and/or have mandatory or sinking
fund redemptions on the dates and in the amounts prescribed, or approved in -the manner
established, by the Junior Lien Series Ordinance or the Junior Lien Series Resolution.

) Junior Lien Bonds shall bear interest at the.rates and on the oecasions prescribied,
or approved ip the manner established, by the Junicr Lien Series Ordinance or the Junior Liea
Seres Resolution.

¢3)  Junior Lien Bonds shall be {ssued for a purpose or purposes set forth in. Section
4.01(A) Hereaof,

{4) There shall exist, on.the oocasion of the issuance of the {ﬁnior Lien Bonds, no
defanit. in the payment of.the princ¢ipal of or interest on any Junior Lien Bonds or Subordinate

Lien Bonds then Outstanding.l

(5)  The Commissioners shall obtain an opir;ioﬁ of Bond Counsel to the effect that (a)
this Jupior Lien Bonc_!_Ordinance of 1998, the Junior Lien Series Ordinance and the Junior Lien
Series Resolution have been duly and tawfully adopted and are in full force and effect; (b) the
Junior Lien Bonds have been duly and lawfully authorized; executed and isswed by the
Commissioners and are valid and binding upon, and enforceable against, the Comnissioners.
(except to the extent that the enforceability thereof may be limited by the aperation of bankruptcy,
insolvency and similar laws affecting rights and remedies of creditors); and (c) with respect to
such Junior Lien Bonds, this Jugior Lien 'Bond Ordinance of 1998 creates the valid pledge of the
Gross Revenues subject to the application thereof ta the purposes and on the coaditions permitted

by this Junior Lien Bond Ondinance of 1998.

(6) Unless on the date of delivery of such Series of Junior Lien Bonds there shall be
on depasit in ‘each Debt Service Reserve [und an amount equal to the applicable Reserve
Requireiment immediately following the issuance of such Series of Junior Lien Bonds, or a
qualified fine of credit, surety bond, insurance policy or letter of credit shall be in effect in lieu
thereof in accordance with Section 7.04(D) hereof; there shall be deposited in each Debt Service
Reserve Fund such amount, or a qualified substitute in accordance with Sextion 7.04 hereof shal
be provided, as is necessary to make the value of the moneys and securities in each Debt Service
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Reserve Fund, - including any such qualiﬁed substitute, equal to the respective Reserve

Requirement.

Except in the case of the initial Series of Junior Lien Bonds issued hereunder, for

M

which there shall be no such requirement and except in the case of a Series or a portion of a
Series of Junior Lien Bonds issued for the purpose of refunding any Junior Lien Bonds and which
Series or portion mests the test prescribed in Section 4.02(8) hereof, and in any event subject to
the provisions of Section 4.02(9) hereof, the following requirements must be met:

(i) Net Barmings, as forecast by the Accountant or by the Feasibility Consultants for
each of the five (5) Fiscal Years following the issuance of the proposed Series of Junior

" Lien Bonds, shall be certified by the Accountant or by the Feasibility Consultants to be

1
not less than one hundred ten percent (110%) of the sum of (a) the Combined Annual
Principal and Interest Requirement for each such Fiscal Year during this five-year period
on ail Junior Lien Bonds Outstanding at the time of issuance (including sich proposed
Series of Junior Lien Bonds), and (b) the combined annual principal and interest
requirement for each such Fiscal Year during that same ﬁve—year period on all Senior

Lien Bonds outstanding; and.

(i)  Net Eamings during the most recent Fiscal Year for which audited financial
statemnents of the Water Systemn are complete or during any twelve (12} of the most recefit
eighteen (18) months, shall be certified by the Accountant or by the Fealibility
Consultants on the basis of such inforination to be nat less than one'hundréd percent
(100%) of the sum of, for all fiscal years following the end of such five-year period (a)
the ‘maximum Combined Annudl Prihcipal and Interest Requirement on all such Jonior
Lien Bouds Outstanding (including sugh proposed Series of Junier. Lien Bonds) and (k)
the maximum coribined annbial principal and interest requireriient on all Senior Lien
Bonds outstanding for all Fiscal Years following the end of stch five-year period.

Por purposes of this Section 4.02(7), such Net Bamings shall be adjusted to reflect:

(@)

()

any rate increases curtently adopted or*expeated by the Feasibility Consultants to be
adopted during such five-year period referred to in (i} above, and detecmined pro forma
as though such rate increases had been ift continueus effect during. such Fiscal Year for

which such rate increase is expected to be implemented;

in the event proceeds of such proposed Series of Jumdor Lien Bonds will be used to
acquire a water utility, system or enterprise that is in existence aind operating and whose
current custorners will becbme custorners of the Water System upon such acquisition,
100% of the estimated Net Eamings to be received by the Water System during the Fiscal
Year following the date of issuance of the proposed Series of Jumior Lien Bonds, as
projected by the Accountant or the Feasibility Consultants, from the utility, system or
enterprise to be acquired with the proceeds of such propoesed Sedes of Junior Lien Bouds,
taking into account for the estimation of such Net Eamings in this clause (b) only the
then-existing customer base and population of the acquired utility, system or enterprise;
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(c) in the event proceeds of such proposed Series af Junior Lien Bonds will be used to
construct or to acquire a newly-constructed water utility, systein, enterprise, or component
of the Water System which will serve a currently-populated area, 100% of the Net
Eamings, estimated by the Feasibility Consultants, to be received by the Water System
during the first Fiscal Year beginning after the eadier of (1) the date on which such
project constructed or acquired with the proceeds of the propesed Sedes of Junior Lien
Bonds is placed in service or (2) the third anniversary of the date of delivery of the
proposed Series of Junior Lien Boads, from the newly-constructed or to-be-constructed
utility, system, enterprise, or component of the Water Systein, taking inte account for the
estimation of such Net Eamings in this clanse (c) only the cumrent population;

(d) in the event proceeds of such preposed Series of Junior Lien Bonds will be used-to pay
interest on such proposed Series, [00% of the interest that will accrue on such Series of
Junior Lien Bonds during the first twelve full months following the date of delivery of
the proposed Series and that will be paid from such proceeds, provided however that any
such interest aconing in such twelve-mouth period that is to be paid on a date withirni the
Fiscal Year of maximum Combined Annual Principal and Interest Requirements shall not
be so added into such Net Eamings, and further provided, howsver that the adjustment
allowed by this clause (d) may not be used jointly with the adjustments allowed by
clauses (b) and (c) with respect to the same proposed new Junior Lien Bonds;

(e) in the event proceeds of such proposed Series of Junier Lien Bonds will be used to
consttuct or to acquire an expansion to the Water Systemn, 100% uof estimated Net
Eamings .to be received by the Water System in the first Fiscal Year following the
completion of such project, certified by the Feasibility Consultants, from customers under
long-term contracts which extend for the life of such proposed Scries of Junior Lien

Bonds; and

{f) any amount atlowed by any of clauses (b} thmugh {e) of this sentence as an adjustment
with respect to a prcviously-lssm:d Series of Junior Lien Bonds if the proposed Series of
Juniar Lien Bonds is being issued pdor to the end of the Fiscal Year (1) for which
incremental Net BEamnings from - the project financed by the previously-issued Series of
Junior Lien Bonds were allowed to be projected under clanses (b), (¢} or (e} or (2) in
which capltahzed interest on the previcusly-issued Series of Jundor Lien Bonds is

exhausted.

provided that in the instance of any Series of Junior Lien Bonds in the aggregate principal amount
of $3,000,000 or less, such calculations required by this paragraph 4.02(7), unless provided to the
contrary im any Junior Lien Seres Ordinance, may be made by (he Chief Financial Officer; and
provided further, that auy Series of Junior Lien Bouds in the aggregate principal amount of
$3,000,000 or less, may be issued to complete a project authorized by a Junior Lien Sedes

Ordinance without tneeting the requirement of this Section 4.02(7).

(8)  In lien of compliance with Section 4.02(7) hereof, in the case of a Series or a
portion of a Series of Junior Lien Bonds issued for the purpose of refunding any Junior Lien
Bonds, (i) the Annual Principal and Interest Requirements of the refuading Junior Lien Boods
shtall not exceed the Amoual Principal and Interest Requirements of the refunded Jumior Lien
Bonds for any Fiscal Year until a time subsequent to the last maturity of Junior Lien Bonds issued
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prior to the issuance of such refunding Junior Lien Bonds which are not refunded and which
remain Qutstanding following the issuance of the refunding Junior Lien Bonds; and (i} the sum
of (a} the Annual Principal and Interest Requirements on the refunding Junior Lien Bonds, (b) the
Annual Principal and Interest Requirerents of the nonrefunded Junior Lien Bonds, and (c) the
annual principal and interest requirements of the Setior Lien Bonds, does not exceed the sum of
the (x) Annual Principal and Interest Requirements on the refunded Junior Lien Bonds, () the
Annual Principal and Interest Requirements of the noncefunded Junior Lien Bonds, and (z) the

annuaf principal and interest requirements of the Senior Lien Bonds.

(9) Any proceedings authorizing the issuance of Junior Lien Bonds or Subordinate
Lien Bonds may prescribe, in addition to the requirements se¢ forth in Sections 4.02 (7) and 4.02
(8) hereof, further requirernents that must be met for the issuance of Junior Lien Bonds either an
a parity with such Junior Lien Bonds or senjor to such Subordinate Lien Bonds.

(10 If any Series of Junior Lien Bonds shall contain Variable Rate Junior Lien Bonds:

(a) The Junior Lien Series Ordinance or Junior Lien Series Resolution shall provide for und
specify a maximum interest rate on (i) such Junior Lien Bonds and (if) any reimburserment
abligation to 2 liquidity prowdcr for such Junior Lien Bonds;

) The liquidity provider for such Junior Lien Bonds shall be rated in the highest short term
ratiig catégory by either Moody's or S&P or Fitch; and

(c) Any accelerated principal payments or any interest computed at ‘a rate in excess of that
- on such Junior Lien Bonds due to the liquidity provider for such Junior Lien Bonds
pursuant to any reimbursement agreement with such liquidity provider shall be subordinate

to the payment of debt service on all Juniotr Lien Bonds; provided, hawever, if the fests
referted to in Section 4.02(7) and 4.02(8) of this Junior Lien Boud Ordinance of 1998 are
caleulated (and met) assuming such accelerated principal payment and such excess intsrest
amount to the liquidity provider, then such accelerated principal payment and excess
interest amount may be on a parity with the paymerit of debt sexvice on all Junior Lien

Bonds.

(11) Al amounts owing under a relmbursement agreement with any provider of a
surefy bond, line of credit, insurance policy or letter of credit as contemplated under Section

7.04(D) hareof shall have been paid.

Section 4.03. Reliance Upon Certificates,

The City, the Commissioners, the Trustee and any purchaser of any Junior Lien Bonds shall be
entitled to rely upon reports of Adcountant or certificates of the Feasibility Consultants, made in good

faith, pursuant to any provision of this Article.
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Sect}on 4.04. Execution of Junior Lien Bonds.

(A) Unless otherwise prescribed by any Junior Lien Series Ordinance, the Junior Lien Bonds
shall be executed in the name of and on behalf of the Commissioners by the Mayor, the corporate seal
of the City shall be impressed or reproduced therean and the same shall be attested by the Clerk. Such

officers may employ facsimiles of their signattnas.

(B)  Incase any officer whose signature or facsimile signature shall appear on the Junjor. Lien
Bonds shall cease to be such officer befare the delivery of any Junior Lien Bond, such signature or such
facsimile shall nevertheless be valid and sufficient for all purposes, the same as if such officer had

remained in office.

Section 4.05. Authentication.

Except for Junior Lien Bonds consisting of contract obligations not in the form of an instturent,
such Juntor Lien Bonds as shall have endorsed thereon a certificate of authentication duly executed by.the
Trustee (or the Registrar for such Series of Junior Lien Bonds, if pne shiall have been appointed other than
the Trustee) shall be entitled to any right or benefit under this Junior Lien Bond Ordinance of [998. No
such Junior Lien Bond shall be valid or obligatory for any purpose unless and until such certificate of
authentication ‘shall have been duly executed by the Trustee (or by the Registrar of such Series of Junior
Lien Bonds, should one have been nppouned), and such executed certificate upon any such Junior Lien
Bond shall be conclusive cvidence that such Junior Lien Bond fias been authenticated and delivered under

this Junior Lien Bond Ordinance of 1998. The certificate of authenucatlon on any such Juoior Lien Bond
shall be deemied to have been duly executed by it if signed by ary autharized officer of the Tyustes {or
of the Registrar far such Serfes of Junior Lien Bonds, should one have been-appointed), :

Section 4.06. Medium of Payment.

The Junior Lien Bonds shall be payable with respect to principal, interest, and premium, if any, -
in lawful muncy of the United States of Ametica.

Section 4,07, Mutilated, Lost, ‘Stolen or Destroyed Jmuor Lien Bonds,

' In the event any Junior Lien Bond is mutilated, lost, stolen or ‘destroyed, the City may executs .
and the Trustee (or Registrar for such Series of Juritor Lien Bonds, sheuld one have been appeinted) may
authenticate a new Junior Lien Bond of the same Series of like date, maturity and denomination as that
mutilated, lost, stolen or destroyed; provided that, iu the case of any mutilated Junior Lien Bond, such
mutilated Junior'Lien Bond shall first be surrendered to the Trustee (or Registrat for such Series of Tunior
Lien Bonds, should otie have been appointed), and in the case of any lost, stolen or destroyed Junior Lien
Bond, there shall be first fumished to the Commissioners and to the Trustee (or Registrar for such Serles
of Junior Lien Bonds, should ene have been appointed) evidence of such loss, theft or desttuction
satisfactory to the Copunissioners and the Trustee (or Registrar for such Series of Junior Lien Bonds,
should ane have been appointed), together with indewnnity satisfactory to them. In the event any such
Junior Lien Bond shall have matured, instead of issuing a duplicate Junior Lien Bond, the Commissioners
may pay the same. The Commissioners dnd the Trustee (or Registrar for such Series of Junior Lien
Bonds, should one have been appointed) may charge the Holder or owner of such Junior Lien Bond with
their reasonable fees and expenses in connection with their activities hereunder,
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Section 4.08. Transfer and Registry; Persons Treated as Owners.

(A) As long as any Junior Lien Bonds in registered form shall be OQutstanding, the
Cemmissioners shall cause books for the registration and for the transfer of such Junior Lien Bonds to be
kept. Such baoks shall be kept by the Trustee (unless there shall have been appointed a Registrar for such
Series of Junior Lien Bonds other than the Trustee) to keep the books of registration for any particular
Series of Junior Lien Bonds. The transfer of each such Junior Lien Bond may be registered only upen
the registration books of the Commissioners kept for that purpose by the registered owner thereof in
person or by his duly authorized atiomey upon sumender thereof and an assignment with 2 written
instrument of transfer satisfactory to the Trustee or the Registrar for such Seres of Junior Lien Bands,
as the case may be, duly executed by the registered owner or his duly authorized attorney. Upon the
registration ef transfer of any registered Junior Lien Bond, the Commissioners shall cause to be issued,
subject to the provisions of Section 4.11 hereof, in the name of the transferee a new Junior Lien Bond ar
Junior Lien Bonds of the same aggregate principal amount, maturity and mtcrest rate as the surtendered

“ Junior Lien Bond.

(B)  Bxcept as provided in Section 17.01 hereof, the Comumissioners, the Trustée, and any
Registrar or Paying Agent for a Series of Junior Lien Bonds may deem and treat the person in whosé
name any registered Junior Lien Bond of such Series shall be registered upon the registration books'of
the Commissioners as the absolute owner of such Junior Lien Bond, whether such Junior Liea Bouod shall
be overdue or not, for the purpose of receiving payment of, or on account of, the principal of, prémium
(if any) and interest on such Junior Lien Bond and for all other purposes, and all such payments so made
to any such registered owner or, upon his order, shall be valid and effectual to satisfy and discharge the
liability upon such Junior Lien Bond to the extent of the slim or sums so paid; and none of the
Comunissioners, the Trustee and any Registrar or Paying Agent for such Series of Junior Lien. Bonds shall

be affected by any notice to the contrary,

(C) Notwithstanding anything in paragraphs (A} and (B) of this Section 4.08 to the contrary,
Juniar Lien Bonds may be issued in the form of contructual obligations which are not instruments, which

may be transferred as provided in such contracis,
Section 409, Date and Payment Provisions.

Unless otherwise provided in any Junior Lien Series Ordinance or Junior Lien Sedes Resolution
with respect to Junior Lien Bonds issued thereunder, each Junior Lien Bond. of a Series shall be’
authenticated on such dates as they shall, in each case, be délivered. Each Junior Lien Bond shall bear
interest from: the Date of Issue if no interest has yet been paid; otherwise from the Inst date to which
intetest hias been paid and which date is on or prior to the date of such Junior Lien Bond's authentication.

Owners of at least $1,000,000 principal amount of a Series of Junior Lien Bonds may, by written
notice containing wiring instructions filed with the Trustee or the Registrar for such Sedes of Funior Lien
Bonds, as the case may be, at least 20 days prior to any Junior Lien Bond Payment Date, provide for the
payment of the interest on or the redemption price of such Junior Lien Bonds by wire t['.msfcr to an

account at a bank located in the continental United States.
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Section 4,10. Translerability of Junior Lien Bends.

Junior Lien Bonds of a Series, upon surrender thereof at the office of the Trustee or the Registrar
for the Junior Lien Bonds of such Seres, as the case may be, with a written instrument of transfer
satisfactory to such Trustee or Registrar, duly executed by the Holder or his duly authorized attomney, may,
at the option of the Holder and upon payment by such Holder of any charges made pursuant to Section
4.11 hereof, be exchanged for an equal aggregate principal amdunt of Junior Lien Bonds of such Series

of like maturity and intérest rate of auy otlier authorized denominations.

Section 4.11. Regulations With Respect to Exchanges and Transfer.

In all cases in which the privilege of exchanging or transferring Junior Lien Bonds is exercised,
the Commissioners shall execute and the Trustee or the Registrar of the particular Series, as the case may
be, shall authenticate and deliver Junior Lien Bonds in accordance: with the provisions of this Junior Lien
Bond Ordinrance of 1998, All Junior Lien Bonds sumrendered in any such exchanges ar transfers shall
forthwith be cancelled and destroyed and shall not be reissued, and a catinteérpart of the certificate of
destruction evidencing such destruction shall be furnished by the Trustee or the applicable Registrar, as
the case may be, to the Commissioners. All Jugior Lien Bonds so destroyed shall thereafter no longer be
considered Qutstanding for any purposes of this Junior Lien Bond Ordinance of 1998, There shall be no
charge to the Holder for such exchange or transfer of Junior Lien Bonds except that the Trustes or the
Registrar of the particular Series, a5 the case may be, may make a charge sufficient to reimburse it for any
tax or other govemnmental charge required to be paid with respect to such exchange or transfér, Neitlier
the Commissigners nor the Trustee or the applicable Registrar, as the case may: be, shall be required to
register, trangfer or.cxchange Junior Lien Bonds of a Serles during the period betweén a Record Date and
its related Junior Lien Bond Payment Date, or during the period beginaing 15 days price to any selection
of Junior Lien Bends for redemption and ending upan the maﬂmg of any notice of redetaption; nor shall
either be required to register, transfer or exchange any Junior Lien Bonds called for redemptmn

Secﬁon 4,12. Cancellation and Destruction of Mutilated, Paid or Surrendered Junior Lien
Bouds

Upon the sumrender of mutilated Junior Lien Bonds pursuant to Section 4,07 hereof, or J unlor Lién
Bonds paid or surrendeted, thc same shall be cancelled and déstroyed and shall not be reissued, aid a

counterpart ofithe cegtificate evidencing such destruction shall be furmished by the Trustes o the Registrar .
of the-particular Series, as the case may be, to the Commissioners. Al Junior Lien Bonds so destroyed

shall thereafter no longer be considered Qutstanding for any purposes of this Junior Lien Bond Ordinance
of 1998.
Sectiog 4.13. Notice of Redemption,

If any of the Junior Lien Bonds, or portions thereof, are called for redemption, the Trustee or
Registrar for the particular Series of Junior Lien Bonds to be redeemed, as the case may be, shall give
niotice to (he Holders of any Junior Lien Bonds to be redeemed, in the name of the Commissioners, of thé
redemption of such Junior Lien. Bonds, or portions thercof. Notice of each redemption of bonds is
required to be mailed by the Trustee or Registrar for the particular Series of Junior Lien Bonds, 25 the
case may be, to be redecmed by first class mail, postage prepaid, ot less than 30 nor more than 60 days
prior to the redemption date to each registered owner of Junior Lien Bonds to be redeemed, at the address
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of such owner recorded on the bond register and Lo be otherwise given in accordance with, amorg others,

the following requirements:

(1) notices must contain, al a minimumn, the complete official name of the Junior Lien

Bonds, CUSIP number, Junior Lien Bond numbers, principal amourt of each Junior Lien Bond
to be redeemed (if less than all), publication date, redemption date, redemption price, redemption
agent's name and address with contact person and phone number, the name and address of the
Trustee and, if one has been appointed, the Registrar, date of the Junior Lien Bonds, interest rate,
maturity date, the place or places where amounts due will be payable, and any other descriptive

information deemed necessary by the Trustee;

(2) notices must be sent to Junior Lien Bondholders of $1,000,000 or more, to at least

two national information services, and any Securities Depository by certified mail-return receipt

~ requested, Notices sent to any Securities Dcpository must be sent so that such notice is received
by such, Securitics Dep031tory at least two days prior to the mailing of such notices to Junior Lien
Bondholders. In addition, any Junior Lign Bondholder holding in excess of $1, 000,000 principal
amount of Junior Lien Bonds may request the Trustee or, if one has been appointed, the Registrar

to send notices to any additional addressee specified;

3) a second noticc to rcgistcred owners of the Junior Lien Bonds must be mailed by

the means specified above to any registered owner of Junior Lien Bonds who has not presented
Junior Lien Bouds for redemption 60 days after the redemption daté, unless the registered owner

fiolds the Junior Lien Bonds as depository under a book-entry system;

' (4) notice of redemptions effected by advance refundings must also be given in
accordance with the above requirements at least fifteen (15) days but no more than ninety {90)

days prior to the actual redemption date;

(3 CUSIP number identification with approptiate dollar amounﬁs for each. CUSIP:
number must accornpany all redcmptlon payrnents and interest paynents, whether by check or by

wire tmmfer and

. (® except - with respect to mandatory smkmg fund redermptions, no notice of
redemption shall be sent unless (a) the notice explicitly states that the propased redemiption is
conditioned on there being on deposit with the Trustee on the redemption date sufficient money
to pay the full redemption price of the Junior Lien Bonds to be redeemed or (b) sufficient funds
have previously been deposited with the Trustee to pay the full rcdernpuon price of the Jumor

Lien Bonds to be redeemed.

The failure of the Trustee or of the Registrar for a Series of Junior Lien Bonds, as the case may
be, to give notice to a Junior Lien Bondholder or any defect in stich notice shall not affect the validity
of the redemption of any other Junior Lien-Bonds for which notice is propedy given. Any Junior Lien
Bondholder may waive notice of rederuption by delivery of a written waiver to the Trustee-or, if one has

been appointed, the Registrar for such Series of Junior Lien Bonds.

Any Jmior Lien Sedes Ordinance providing for the issuance of Junior Lien Bonds consisting of
contractual obligations aot in the form of an idstrument or providing for Junior Lien Bouds in bearer form

may provide alternative methods for delivery of notice of redemption.
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" Provided sufficient funds for such redemption are on deposit with the Trustee, all Junior Lien
Bonds of such Seties so called for redernption shall cease (o bear interest an the specified redemption date
and shall no Jonger be deemed {o be Outstanding hereunder. If said money shall not be so available ag
the redemption date, such Junior Lien Bonds or partions thereof shall continue to bear interest until paid
at the same rate as they would have borme had they not been called for redemption.

Section 4.14. Cauncellation of Junior Lien -Bends That Have Been Redeemed.

All JTunior Lien Bonds that have been redeemed shall be cancelled and destroyed by the Trustee
and shall niot be reissued, and a counterpart of the certificate of destruction evidencing such destruction
shall be furnished by the Trustee to the Commissioners. All Junior Lien Bonds so destroyed shall
thereafter no lorger be censzdercd Qutstanding for any purposes of this Jumor Lien Bond Ordinance of

1998.
Section 4.15. Selection of Juniar Lien Bonds To Be Redeemed,

" In the event that less than all of the Junier Lien Bonds of-any Seres are to be redeemed at the
option of the Commissioners, Junior Lien Bonds to be redeemed shall be in such order of imdturity as

selected by the Commissiotiers. In the event of redemption of less than all of the Junior Lien Bonds of
a Seres of any maturity, the Junior Lien Bonds or portions of Junior -Lien Bonds to-be redeemed, shali
be selected by fot by the Trustee. The portion of any Junior Lien Bond of a denomination which is larger
than the mmmmm denomination for the Junior Lien Bonds of such Series shall be in the pringipal amount
of such- mirtmum denamination or 2 multiple thereof, and that, in selecting portions of such Junior Lieh
Bonds for. redemiption, the Trustee shall treat each such Juttior Lien Bond as representing that number of
Junier Lien Bonds of minimum dendmination which is obtained by dividing thie principal amount of such
Tunior Lien Bond to be.redeemed.in part by the amount of the minjmim denomination; provided further
that, if less than.all of the benefjcial interests in a Junior Lien Bond of a single miaturity registered in the
name ‘of a Scourltlcs Depasitory or a Securities Depository Nominet are to be retdeemed, the beneficial
interests to be rcdccmcd shall be selected by lot by the Securities: Depository. If thero shall be drawn for
redemption lc.ss than all of a Iumor Lien Bond, the City shall execute and the Trustee or, if a Registrar
has been appomted the Registrar for such Secies of Junior Lien Bonds shall guthenticate and deliver, upon
the surrender of such Junior Lien Bond, without charge to the owner ﬂnereof for the uhredesmed balance
of the principal amount of the Junior Lien Bond so sumrendered, Tunior Lmn Honds of the same Series in

any authorized denommatmn
Seetion 4.16. Restriction on Optional Redcm;iﬁun.

o Notwithstanding anything in this Junior Lien Bond Ordinance of 1998 to the contrary, no optional

redemption of Junior Lien Bonds may occur uniess all amounts payable by the City owing under a
reimbursement agreement with any provider of a surety bond, line of credit, insurance policy or letter of
credit as contemplated under Section 7.04(D) hereof shall have been paid in full..

Section 4.17. Purchase of Junior Lien Bonds.

The Trustee shall, if and to the extent practicable, purchase Junior Lien Bonds at the written
direction of the Comunissioners at such tirne, in such manner and at such price as may be specified by the
Commissioners. Such Trustee may so purchase Junior Lien Boads for cancellation with any money thien
held by the Trustee which is available for the redemption or purchase of Junior Lien Bonds and in excess
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of thzit set aside for the payment of such Juntor Lien Bouds called for redemption; provided, that the
Trustee is provided with an opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that such redemption or purchase
complles with any limitations ot restrictions on such redemption or purchase contained in this Junior Lien

Bond Ordinance of 1998,

Section 4.18. Security for Payment of Junior Lienn Bonds; Priority of Lien.
The Junior Lien Bonds shail be payable solely from and shall be secured by a pledge of and a ljen
upon the Gross Revenues of the Water System. The Junior Lien Bonds shall be junior and subordinate
“in all respects to the Senjor Lien Bonds and the Escrowed Senior Lien Bonds, Pursuant to Section 6-2]«
330 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended, and as additional security for the payment
of the Junior Lien Bonds, the City hereby grants the holders of the Junior Lien Bonds a statutory lien on
the Water System. Such p!cdgc and lien securing the Junior Lien Bonds at all times and in all respects
shall be and remain superior te pledges and liens made to secure any other bonds or other obligations
payable from the revenues of the Water Systemt, except for those pledges and liens previously made to
secure the Senfor Lien Bonds and the Escrowed Senior Lien Bonds. The Junior Lien Bonds shall not
constitute an indebtedness of the City within the meaning of any provision, limitation or restriction of the
Constitation or the laws of the State, other than those provisions authorizing indebtedness payable solely
froma rGVanue-producmg pro;cct not involving revenues from any tax or Licénse; and the faith, credit and
taxing power of the City are expressly not pledged therefor. The City is not oblxgated ta pay any of the
Junior Lien Bonds or the interest thereon except from the Gross Revenues of the Water System.

Section 4,19, Junior Lien Bonds in Book-Entry Form.

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Junior Lien Bond Ordinance of 1998 wrth respect to
the form of Junior Lien Bonds to the contrary, the City is hcreby authiorized to provide by Judior Lisn
Seties Ordinance or Junior Lien- Sédes Resolution for the issuance of one or mare Series of Junior Lien
Bonds solely in fully registered form registrable to a Securities Depasitory, a Securities - ‘Depository -
Nominee or the beneficial ewner of the Junior Tien Bonds. The.Commissioners are further authorized
to provide by Junior Lien Series Resolutién that such Series of Junior Lien Bonds shall be evidenced by
one or more certificates or by a system of book entries in form s1t15factory ta-the Chief Financial Cfficer
and to provide for payment, redemption, notices and like provisions in a manner cansistent with such

system of registration,
Section 4.20, Waiver of Certain Provisions,

Notwithstanding anything in this Junior Lien Bond Ordinance of 1998 to the contrary, whenever
all of the debt issued or all of the obhgmons incurred by the City under a Junidr Lien Series Ordinauce
are acquired by and are held by a single entity or are insured by an Insurer, that single entity or Insurer,
at its sole option, may waive any provision or requirement of this Junior Lien Bond Ordinance of 1998
that relates separately to the governance of such Series and is for the pratection and benefit of such single
entity only and not for the protection or benefit of any other Holder or Halders of Junior Lien Bonds;
provided that if such Series of Junior Lien Bonds is held by a single entity and is insured by an Insurer,
then any such waiver shall require the prior written approval of such Insurer,
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Sectien 4.21.  Junior Lien Bonds nat in the Form of an Instrument.

In the event that the Commissioners issues any Series of Junior Lien Bonds which are contractual
obligations nat in the form of an instrument, the provisions regarding cedemption or prepayment of such
Jupior Lien Bonds, notices to Junior Lien Bondholders and transfers of such Junior Lien Bonds contajned
herein may be altered or supplemented by the provisions of the Junior Lien Series Ordinance or Junior
Lien Series Resclution pursuant to which such Junior Lien Bonds are issued or the contract pursuant to

which such obligations are created.
Section 4.22. Tax-Exempt Status of Junior Lien Bonds.

Notwithstanding anything in this Junior Lien Bond Ordinance of 1998 to the contrary, the City
may from time to time, pursuant to one or more Junior Lien Series Ordinances, provide for the issuance
of Junior Lien Bonds the interest on which may be includable in gross income of the Holdérs-of such
Junior Lien Bonds for federal income taxation purposes. In such event, such Junior Lien Bonds may, at
the option of the City, bé issued as coupon bonds, payable to bearer, as provided in the applicable Junior
Lien Series Ordinapce. Such Junior.Lien Series Ordinance shall provide such rules and regulations with
respect to the OWncrshxp, transfer and substitution of such Junior Lien Bonds as are not inconsistent with

the other provisions of this Junior Lien Bond Ordinance of 1998.

ARTICLE V
BUDGET; RATES AND CHARGES

Section 5.01. Annual Budget,

Prior to- the beginning of each Fiscal Year, the Commissioners shail adopt an Annual Budget
mcludmg rate schedules to be in effect for such Fiscal Year. Such Budget.shall set forth ip reasonabls
detail the estimated Gross Revenues and a schedule of estimated expenditures for such Fiscal Year and
which shall include appropriations for the estimated operating expenses, the amount to be deposited during
such Fiscal Year in the Depreciation and Contingent Fund and estimated payments of principal of and
interest on tlie Senior Lien Bonds, Junior Lies Bonds and Subordinate Lien Bonds for such Fiscal Year,
Proposed capital projects m:compmucd by a statement of the sources of payment for such proposed capital
projects shall be prepated by the Commissioners on an annual basis. The Commissioners may at any time
adopt an amended Annual Budget for the remainder of the then current Fiscal Year.

Sectign 5.02. Rate Covenant,

(A) 1t is hereby determined that the rates for services and facilities furnished by the Water
Systern shall, until otherwise revised by the Commissioners, be as now established. Said rates and charges
are determined to be sufficiert to meet the requirements of this Junior Lien Bond Ordinance of 1998 but
they shall be revised whenever necessary in order that they shall at all tmes be maintained on a basis
sufficient to meet the requirements of this Junior Lien Bond Ordinance of 1998, and the Commissianers
specifically covenant and agree to maintain rates and charges for all services furnished by the Water

System which shall at all times be sufficient:
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(1) To provide for the punctual payment of the principal of and interest on al] Senior
Lien Bonds, all Junior Lien Bonds and all Subordinate Lien Bonds that may from time to time

hereafter be Outstanding;

(2) To maintain the Debt Service Punds and thus provide for the punctual payment

of the principal of and mterest on the Junior Lien Bonds]

To wmaintain the Debt Service Reserve Funds in the manner herein prescribed;

(3

(4) Ta provide for the payment of the Operation and Maintenapce Expenses;

(5) To build and maintain a reserve for depreciation of the Water System, for
contingencies and for improvements, betterments and extensions to the Water System other than
those necessary to maintain the same in good repair and working order;

(6) To pay all amounts owing under a reimbursement agreement ‘with any provider
of a surety bond, line of credit, insurance policy or letter of credit as contemplated under Sectiot

7.04(D) hereof; and
7 To discharge all obligations imposed by lhc Enabling Act and by this Junior Lien
Bond Ordinance of 1998,

(B) The Commissieners covenant and agree that they will, at all times, prescribe and maintain
and thereafter colleot rates and charges for the services and facilities furnished by the Water System which,
Atogether with ether income, are neasonubly expectcd to )fzcld annual Net Earnings in & Fiscal Year equal
to at least the sum of (i) one hundred ten percent (1 ID%) of the Annual Pnnc.xpal and TInterest
Requ;re:nents for all Seres of Jumor Likn Bonds Cutstanding in such Fiscal Year, plus (i) one hundred .
percent (1009) of the amount necessary to make payment of any amounts owing in such Fiscal Year
under a reitbursement agreement with any pmvider of a surety bond, line of credit, insurance policy or
[etter of credit rs contemplated under Section 7.04(D) hereof plus (iii) one hundred percant (100%) of the
principal and interest ou Subordinate Lien Bonds, plus (iv) one hundred percent (100%) of any required
payment into a Debt Service Reserve Fund due in such Fiscal Year; and, promptly upon any material
change in.the circamstances which werc contcmplaxcd at the time such rates and charges were most
recently reviewed, but not less frequcntly than once in each Fiscal Year, shall review the rates and charges
for its services and shall promptly revise such rates and charges as necessary to comply with tlie foregoing

requirement.

‘ (C) Until the Ordinance Elevation Date, the covenants made in this Section 5.02 shall be
supplemental to the covenants made with respect to rates and charges in Section 5.02 of the Bond

Ordinance of 1992.
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ARTICLE YI
SUBORDINATE LIEN BONDS
AND SPECIAL FACILITIES BONDS

Right to ssue Subordinate Lien Bonds; Accession Thereof to Status of Junior
Lien Bonds.

Section 6.01.

Notwithstanding that funior Lien Bonds may be Outstanding, the City, acting through the
Comunissionets, may at any time, and without limitation and free of all conditions issue Subordinate Lien
Junior Lien Bonds, in such amiount as it may from time to time determine, payable from the revenues of
the Water System, ‘provided that the pledge of revenues and any lien upon the revenues of the Water
System granted for the protection of said Subordinate Lien Bonds, shall at.all times be and remain
subordinate and inferior in all respects to the pledges of reveniues and liens upon such revenues made or
authaorized for the Junior Lien Bonds; and provided, [urther, that the maturity of Subordinate Lien Bonds
may not be accelerated and paid in full unless all of the Junior Lien Bonds shall fiave been paid or

pravision therefor has been made pursuant to Article XVI hereof.

By proceedings authorizing the issuance of Subordinate Lien Bonds, the City may provide foc the
elevation of such Subordinate Lien Bonds at a later date to'the status of Junior Lien Bonds provided all

of the following conditions are met at the time of such subsequent elevation,

N The Subordinate Lien Bonds were issued for 1 purpose-or purposes set forth in
Section 4.01(A) hereof; :

2) There shall exist on the date of accession (a) no default in the payment of the
peincipal of or interest on any Junior Lien Bonds or any Subordinate Lien Bonds then Outstanding

and (b) no défault in the performance of any duties required under the provisions of this Junior
Lien Bond Ordiriance of 1998 and (c) no amount owed by the City with respect to the full funding
of a Debt Secvice Reserve Puud, either by way of cash or reimbursement of any other funding -

mechanism;

)] The City shall obtain an opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that (a) this Junior
Lien Bond Ordinance of 1998 and the proceedings authorizing such Subbrdinate Lien Bonds have
been duly adopted and are in full force and effect; (b) the Subordindte Lien Bonds have been duly
and lawfully authorized and exectited by the City.and are valid and binding upon, and enforceable
against, the City (except to the extent that the enforceability thereof may be limited by the
operation of bankruptcy, insalvency and similar Iaws affecting rights and réraedies of creditors);
and (c) this Junior Lien Bond Ordinance of 1998 creates the valid pledge which it purports to
create of the revenues and of moneys and securities on deposit in any of the funds established
hereunder subject to the application thereof to the putposes and on the conditions permitted by

this Junior Lien Bond Ordinance of 1998;

(4)  There shall beon deposit on the date of accession in a Debt Service Reserve Fuad
an amount equal to the Reserve Requirement for such Subordinate Lien Bonds, considering such
Subordinate Lien Bonds to be a Sedes of Junior Lien Bonds;

(5) There shall be deposited in the Debt Service Fund for such Series of newly-
acceded Junior Lien Bonds the amounts which would have been required under the provisions of
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Secticn 8.02 herqof to be accumulated therein on the date of accession if said Subordinate [.jen
Bonds had originally been issued as Junior Lien Bonds;

(6) On the date of accession, the earnings tests prescribed by subparagraphs 7(a) and
7{b) of Section 4.02 shall have been met; and

(7) In the event such Subordinate Lien Bonds were issued with variable rates, the
provisions of suhparagraph (10) of Section 4.02 shall have been met.

Section 6.02. Right to Issue Special Facilitics Bonds,

The City, acting through the Commissioners, shall have at all times the right to enter into
contracts, feases or other agreements pursuant to which it will agree to construct, operate and pay the costs
of Special Facilitics (as defined hereinbelow) to be financed by its issuance of Special Facilities Bonds,

subject to the following conditions:

(a) ft.shall have been determined fo- the satisfaction of the Commissioners that the
rents, revenues or receipts to be derived from the Special Facilities shall be at least equal to the
principal, interest and any reserve requirements cofitained in the resolution anthorizing such
Specin! Facilities Bonds and to pay all operatior, maintenance and ather costs and expenses

applicable to such Special Facilities; and

()] The revenues derved from Special Facilities need not be deposited in the Genearal
Revenue Fund, and may be pledged to seture Special Facilities Bonds; but no debt service or
other costs or expense related to any Special Facilities may be paid from Water System revenues
deposited in the General Revenue Fund except pursuant to Section 8.08 hereof,

- For purposes of this Section 6.02, the term "Speéial Facilities" shall include .all or a portion of water
facilities and rights to all or a portion of the use of, or the capacity available from, any such facilities.

ARTICLE VII
ESTABLISHMENT OF FUNDS

Section 7.01. Requirement for Special Funds.

For so long a time as any sum remains due and payable by Way of principal or interest on Juniox
Lien Bonds, the following funds ot accounts relating to the Gross Revenues of the Water System shall
be established and maintained, and deposits shall be made thereiu in the manner herein required. Unless
othierwise specifically stated, all funds and accounts established hereby shali be in the custody and confrol

of the Commxssmncrs
Section 7.02. The General Revenue Fund.

(A)  There shall be established and maintained a fund or account designated as the General
Revenue Fund. This account shall be so naintained as to reflect accurately:

(I the Gross Reverues of the Water System; and
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(2} the Net Eamings.

4

(B) Except as otherwise specifically directed or permitted herein, all Gross Revenues of the
“Water System shall be deposited in accordance with and in the manner prescribed by Article VIII tereof
into the General Revenue Fund, Money in the General Revenue Fund shall be withdmawn and made use
of only in the manner and in the order of priority specified in Article VII hereof. So long as the
Commissioners establist, from an accounting standpoint, proper records of receipts and dishursements for
the General Revenue Fund, the General Revenue Fund may be used for the purposes of the Operation and

Maintenanoe Fund.

(C) Until the Ordinance Blevation Date, the "Gross Revenue Fund" established under the Bond

Ordinance of 1992 shall also be the General Revenue Fund.

Section 7.03. The Debt Service Funds,

(A)  Thers shall be established and maintained a Debt Service Fund for each Series of Junior
Lien Bonds Outstanding. The respective Debt Service Funds are intendéd to provide for the ratable
payiment of the principal of, redemption premium, if any, and interest on the respective Series of Junior
Lien Bonds as the same respectively fall due. Payments into such Debt Service Funds shall be made in
the manner prescribed by this hllnior Lien Bond Ordinance of 1998, including the applicable provisions
of Article VIII, and, except as hercin provided, all money in the respective Debt Service Funds shall be
used solely to pay the principal of, redemption premium, if any, and interest on the respective Sedes of
Junior Lien Bonds, and for no other purpose, Each Debt Service Fund shall bear 1 number Series

designation 2s may be necessary to distinguish each Debt Service Fund.

(8) Each Debt Service Fuud shall be kept in the complete custody and control of the Trustes,
and withdrawals from a Debt Service Fund shall be made anly by the Trustee who shall ttansmit to each
Junior Lien Bondholder of a particular Series, at such times as may be appropriate, the sums required to
pay the principal of, rcdcmptxon premium, if any, and interest on the respective Series of Junior Lien
Bonds. Amounts held by the Trustze due to non-presentment of -Junior Lien Bonds of a Series on any
redermiption date must be retained by the Trustée for a period of at least one year after the final maturity

of such Junior Lien Bonds.

(C)  Money in the Debt Service Funds shall be invested and reinvested at the direction of the
Chief Financial Officer in Authorzed Investments, maturing not later than the date on which such money
is required to pay the principal of, premium, if any, and interest next maturing. All earnings from such
investments shall be added to and become a part of the Debt Service Fund in which such investments are
held, but shall be credited against payments that would otherwise be made to such Debt Servicc Fund

putsuant to the provisions of Section 8.02 hereof.

Section 7.04. The Debt Service Reservc Funds.

(A) A Debt Service Reserve Fund shall be established for each Seties of Junior Lien Bonds
Outstanding and shall bear a number or Series designation as may be necessary to distinguish each Debt
Service Reserve Fund and shall, subject to the other provisions of this Junior Lien Bond Ordinance of
1998, be maintained in an amount equal to the Reserve Requirement for the particular Seres of
Quitstanding Junior Lien Bonds for which such Fund has been established, for as'long as such Series of
Junior Lien Bonds shall be Outstanding. Each such Debt Service Reserve Fund is intended to secure the
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timely payment of the principal of and interest on such Seres of Junior Lien Bonds, and to provide for
the redemption of such Juaior Lien Bonds prior to their stated maturties. Mouey in each Debt Service

Reserve Fund shall be used for the following purposes, and for no other, viz,,

) To prevent a default in the payment of the prncipal of or interest on the
applicable Serfes of Junior Lien Bends, by reason.of the fact that money in applicable Debt

Service [Fund is insufficient for such purposes;

(2) To pay the principal of, interest on, and redemption premium of the applicable.
Series of Junior Lien Bonds in the event that afl Qutstanding Junior Lien Bonds of such Series

are to be redeemed as a whole: or

(3) To effect partial redemption of the applicable Series of Junior Lien Bonds; but
subject to the restrictions of Section 4.16 hereof and provided that subsequent to said partial
redemption, the market value of the cash and securities in such Debt Service Reserve Fund shail

be not less than its Reserve Requirement.

The requirements for and provisions goverming any Debt Service Reserve Fund in the remainder
of this Junior Lien Bond Qrdinance of 1998, in references to “the Debt Service Reserve Fund", “the
Reserve Requiremient”, the "Debt Service Fund(s)" and "the Junior Lien Bonds®, shall be deemed to refer
to ‘each such Debt Service Reserve Fund created by a Junior Lien Sedes Ordinance, and in each case to
the respective Reserve Requirement and Debt Service Fund for the respective Series of Junior Lien Bonds
and to Junior Lien Bonds only of that respective Series and not to any other Junior Lmn Bonds.

(B) Each Debt Scwice.Resewc Fund shall be kept in the complete custody a_nd control of the
Trustee and withdrawals therefrom shal] be made cmly by the Trustee who shall transmit to a Junior Lien
Bondholder of such Series at such times as may be appropriate, the sums required to pay the pnncnpal of,

rederption premium, if any, and interest on such Series of Junior Lien Bonds.

" (C)  Money in each Debt Service Rcservc Fund shall be invested and reinvested by the Trustes
at the direction of the Chief Financial Officer in Authorized Investinents. Except with the written consent
of the Insurer insuring such Series of Junior Lien Bonds, the term to maturity of Authorized Investments
in any Debt: Service Reserve Fund shall not be greater than five (5) years. Subject’to the remaining
provisions of this paragraph (C), the eamnirigs from such investments in a particular Debit Service Reserve
Fund shall be added to and become a part of that Debt Service Reserve Fund, 'Whenever, and as of any
date of calculanon, the Vulue of the securities and money in any Debt Service Reserve Fund shall excead
its-Reserve Requirement, such excess shall, at the. optien of the Commissioners as determined by the Chief
Financial Officer, either be used to effect partial redemption of stich Seri¢s of Junior Lien Bonds, or
transferred into the Debt Service Fund for such Series of Junior Lien Bonds, or transferred to the Project

Fund, if any, established for such Series of Junior Lien Bonds. In the case of a consolidated Debt Service
Reserve Fund for several Series of Jenior Lien Bonds, the amount eligible to be transferred to a Project
Fund shall be equal to the investment carnings that have accrued in (he consolidated Debt Service Resarve
ffund since the later of (i) the most recent transfer out of the consolidated Debt Service Reserve Fund and
(ii) the creation of such Project Fund and that ars attributzble to a portion of the consolidated Debt Service
Reserve Fund not greater than the maximum Annual Principal and Intercst Requirement of the Seres of
Junior Lien Bonds authorized by the Junior Lien Series Ordinarice that established such Project Fund.
Any transfer of excess to the Debt Service Funds frum a'consolidated Debt Service Reserve Fund sliall
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be-in propon‘.ioln to the next monthly payments then scheduled to be made into such Debt Service Funds
pursuant to Section 8.02 of this Junior Lien Bond Ordinance of 1998,

() Notwithstanding enything in this Junior Lien Bond Ordinance of 1998 to the contrary, the
City, in lieu of the deposit of moneys into a Debt Setvice Reserve Fund for a particular Series of Jupior
Lien Bopds, may satisfy the applicable Reserve Requirement by causing to be credited to such Fund an
irrevocable and unconditional surety bond, line of credit, leiter of credit or insurance policy payable ta
the Trustee or the Paying Agent for such Serjes for the benefit of the Holders of the Junior Lien Bonds
of such Series in ap amount which together with other moneys on deposit in such Debt Service Reserve
Fund is equal to the applicable Reserve Requirement. In the event the amount on deposit in, or credited
to, a Debt Service Reserve Fund, in addition to the amount available under the surety bond, line of credit,
insurance policy ot letter of credit in question {the “Original Funding [nstrament") incindes aroounts
available under anether surety bond, line of credit, insurance policy ot letter of credit (the "Additional
Funding Instrument"), draws on the Qriginal Funding Instrument and the Additional Funding Instrument
shall be made on a pro rata basis to fund any insufficiency in the applicable Debt Service Fund. In the
event a Debt Service Reserve Fund is funded with both monies and a surety band, line of credit, insurmnce
policy ar letter of credit, (1) any withdrawals from such Debt Service Reserve Fund shall be made first
from such monies (or the liquidation of investments made therewnh) and second from such surety bond,
line of credit, insurance policy or letter of credit, and (2) deposits to such Debt Service Reserve Fund
pursuant to Section 8:03 shall be nsed first to reinstate the surety bond, line of credit, insutance policy or
letter of credit and second to restore the cash balance. The surety bond, line of credit, insurance policy
or letter of credit shall be payable (upon the giving of notice. as. required thereunder) on any Junior Lien
Bond Payment Date on which moneys will be required to be withdrawn from such Deht Service Reserve .
Fund and applied to the payment of the principal of or interest on the Qutstanding Scxjiss af Junior Lien
Bonds to which such surety bond, line of credit, insurance policy or letter of credit relates when such
payments cannot be made by amounts otherwise cregfitcd to such Debt Service Reserve Fund.

(E) (1) The company providing such surety bond, line of credit or insurance policy, or,
in lieu thereof, the guarantor of such company’s obligations under such. surety bond, line
of credit or insurance policy, shall be 2 cempany whose municipal bond insurance policies
insuring the payment of the prmctpﬂl of and interest on municipal bond issues, or whose
guarantee of such policies, results in such issues being rated (if rated at all) in the highest
rating category by S&P and Moody's and Fitch or their respective successors, and, if rated
by AM. Best & Company, such company must afso be rated in the highest rating
categary by AM. Best & Company. The letter of credit issuer shall be a bank or trust
company which is rated not lower than the second highest rating category by S&P and

. Moody's and Fitch or their successors, and the letter of credit itself shall be rated in the
highest category- of either such rating agency. The insutance pullcy or:surety bond must
extend for the life of the Sedes of Junior Lien Bonds which receive the benefit of the
sarne and must be unconditional and irevocable. IF a letter of credit or line of credit is
provided under the provisions of this paragraph, then within sixty (60) days prior to the
stated expiration date of any said letter of credit or line of credit which does not extend
far the term of the Series of Junior Lien Bonds as to which the same applies, (i} the
Commissioners shall, after giving written natice to the Trustee, obtain another letter of
credit or line of credit, as the case may be; or (i) the Trustes shall, at the written
direction of the Commissioners, draw upon the letter of credit or line of credit, as the case
may be, in order to fund the applicable Debt Service Reserve Fund with cash; or (fii) the
Commissioners shall, after giving written notice to the Trustez, fully fund the applicable
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Debt Service Reserve Fund with cash or Authorized Investments. If a disburserment is
made pursuant to a surety bond, & line of credit, an insurance policy of a fetter of credit
provided pursuant to this pacagraph, the Commissioners shall be obligated either (a) to
reinstate the maximum [imits of such surety bond, line of credit, insurance policy or letter
of credit, or (b} to depaosit into such Debt Service Reserve Fund cash in the amount of the
disbursement made under such surety bond, line of credit, insurance policy or-letter of
credit, or 2 combination of such altematives, as shall provide that the amoint credited
equals the Reserve Requirement on the respective Sedes of Junior Lien Bonds within a
time period not longer than one (1) year. The Trustee shall receive such opinions,
including legal opinions, certificates and other documentation, line of credit, as the
Trustee shall request, priar to receipt of such surety bond, letter of credit, line of credit

ar insurance palicy by the Trustee.

@ If a surety bond, insurance policy, line of credit or letter of credit on deposit in
a Debt Service Reserve Fund shall be tecminated (other than on its stated dxpirafion date),
may not be drawn upon for any reason, or shall otherwise no longer be in compliance
with the prows:ons of this Section 7.04(E), the Commissioners shall either (a) replace
such surety bond, insurance policy, line of credit or letter of credit with 4 substitute which
complies with the pravisions of Section 7.04(D), or (b) commence making deposits 'of
Gross Revenues to the Debt Service Reserve Fund over a period not longer than twelve
(12) months after the date of such termination until the amount on deposit in such Debt

Service Fund equals the applioable Reserve Requirement,

(F) - Notwithstanding the requirement of Section 7.04(A) above, any Junjor Lien Serdes
Ordinance may designate the Debt Service Reserve Fund for the Series of Junior Lien Bonds authorized
thereby to be cansolidated with the Debt Service'Reserve Fund for, each other Sefies so designated, in
which case ali such designated Series shall be considered in the aggregate as « smgle Series for all

purposes relatad to the consclidated Debt Servics Reserve Fund.

Section 7.05. The Operation and Maintenance Fund.

(A) There shall be established and maintzined an Oi)emtion and Maintenance Fund., The
Qperation and Maintenance Fund is intended to provide for the payment of Operation and Maintenance

Expenses,

&) Withdrawals from the Opetation and Maintenance [Fund shall be made by or on.the order
of the Chief Financial Officer in accordance, as neady as mny be practicable, with the Annval Budget then

in effect.

© Until the Ogdinance Blevation Date, the "Operation and Maintenance Fund® establistidd
ander the Bond Ordinance of 1992 shall also be the Operation and Maintenance Fund.

Section 7.06. The Depreciation and Contingent Fund.

(A) There shall be established and maintained a Depreciation and Contingent Fund. This Fund
shall be maintained in an amount to be established not less frequently than annually by the Coramissioners
on the advice of Feasibility Cousultants in order to provide a reasonable reserve for depreciation of the
Water System, for contingencies and for improvements, betterments and extensions of the Water Systen.
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(B) Money in this fund shall be used solely:

For the purpose of restoring depreciated or obsolete iterns of the Water System:

99/

, (2) For improvements, betterments and extensions to the Water System, other than
for those things which are reasonably necessary to maintain the Witer System in good repair and

working order;

To defray the cost of unforeseen contingencies and extraordinary repairs;

(3}
(Y] To prevent payment or other defaults of Escrowed Senior Lien Bonds, Senior Lien
Bonds, Junior Lien Bonds and Subordinate Lien Bonds; and

For optional redemption aof Junior Lien Bonds or Subordinate Lien Bonds:

(5

(C) Withdrawals from this Fund shall be made by or on order of the Commissioners.

(D)  Until' the Ordinance Elevation Date, the "Depreciation and Contingent Pund® established
under the Bond Ordinance of 1992 shali also be the Depreciation and Contingent Fund.

Section 7.07. Rate Stabilization Funds.

The Commissioners may by resolution, from time to time, cstablnsh a Rﬂte. Stahlhzatlon Fund for

a specified peried of time.
Section 7.08. Investments of Funds.

Whenever, in the opinion of the Commissioners, it becomes desirable to invest tnoney in any of
the funds established by this Article (other than the Debt Service Reserve Funds and the Debt Service
Funds for which-provisions are made above), the Commissionets may make Authorized Investments, In
the event the Commissioners directs the Trustee for a Series of Junior Lien Bonds to so invest, the Trustes
shall act in compliance with such directions. EHamnings resulting from the investment of money in a
particular fund shall be depositéd into the: General Revenue Fuad (i) except as provided in Sections 7.03
and 7.04 hereof and {ii) unless the Commissioners shall have determined pursuant to the Anaual Budget
that any such earnings on amounts in the Depreciation and Contingest Fund shall remain therein.

Section 7.09. Capitalized Initerest Accounts in Debt Service Funds.

There may be established in the respective Debt Service Funds from time to time a Capitalized
Interést Account to provide for the payment of interest on the Junior Lien Bonds of g particular Seres.
Any such account shall be created by the Junior Lien Series Crdinance or Junior Lien Series Resolution
relatiug to the issuancé of the Junior Lien Bonds of such Series. Any eamings from the investiment of

funds in the Capitalized Intetest Account not required to pay interest on the Junior Lien Bonds of any
Series during the period for which interest on the Junior Lien Bouds of such Series is capitalized shall be

deposited in the Project Fund for such Series of Junior Lien Bonds or, if such Praject Fund has been
termuinated, such camings shall be retained in the Debt Service Fund: '
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ARTICLE VIII
DISPOSITION OF REVENUES

Section 8.01. Depaosits te General Revenue Fund; Dispositions Therefrom.

The Gross Revenues of the Water System, excluding that money the disposition of which is -
controlled by other pravisians of the Junior Lien Boad Ordinance of 1998, are declared to be a pad of
the “General Revenue Fund" (previously established as the "Gross Revenue Fund® under the Bond
Ordinance of 1992) and shall be, as received, deposited into such fund. The dispositions from the General
Revenue Fund required by the remaining Sections of this Article shall be made on or before the Business
Day which is five (5) Business Days prior to the end of each month following the delivery of the first
Series of Junior Lien Bonds issued pursuant to this Junior Lien Bond Ordinance of 1998 and in the order
of priority established by the sequence of the remaining Sections of this Article.

Section 8.02. Payments for Junior Lien Bonds.

(A) Until the Ordinance Elevation Date, provision first shall be made for the payment of the
principal of and interest an the Bscrowed Senior Lien Bonds, if necessary, and the Senior Lien Bonds and
the funding to appropriate levels of the debt service fund, debt service reserve fund and operation and
maintenance fund created under Article VIII of the Bond Ordinance of 1992 and seres -ordinances

supplemental thereto.

(B) Provision then shall be made for the payment of the principal of and interest on all Junior
Lien Bonds then Outstanding, all without priority of any Junior _Licn Bonds over others but ratably as to

" each Serdes of Junior Lien Bonds. To that end:

(9] There shall be deposited into the respective Debt Service Funds the monthly

fraction of the aggregate amount of interest to become due od-the respective Series of Junior Lien

. Bonds on the next ensuing interest payment date; provided, however, that if provision has been
made for the payment of all or part of the next installment of interest to become due on any

particular Series of Junior. Lien Bonds, pursuant to any other provision of this Junior Lien Bond
Ordinance of 1998, or any Yunior Lien Series Ordinance, or by reason of intvestment eamings,

then, in such event, the deposits required by this pamgraph may be omitted, or reduced
accordingly. ' .

¢ There: shall be deposited into the respective Debt Service Funds the monthly
fraction of the aggregate amount of principal of the respective Series of Jumdor Lien Bonds
becoming due and payable on the next ensuing principal maturity date (whether at stated matucity
or by sinking fund installments), so that on each principal maturity date, the amount of primipal
to be' paid shall have been accumulated and be on hand. Provided, however, that if provision has
been made for the payment of all or part of thie next installment of principal to become due on
a Series of Junjor Lien Bonds, pursuant to any other provision of this Junior Lien Bond Ordinance
of 1998, or any Junior Lien Series Ordinance, or-by reason of investmenat earnings, then, in such
event, the deposits required by this paragraph may be omifted, or reduced accordingly.

(3) If, on the occasion when the deposits required by paragraphs (1) and (2) of this

section are to be made, the sum total of the dcpos:ts required thereby plus previous monthiy
deposits and the remaining deposits to be made prior to the next succeeding principal and interost
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payment dates, will be less than the sum required (o effect the payment of the next succeeding
installment of either principal or interest, or both, as the case may be, a sum equal to such

deficiency shall be added to the deposits so to be made.

(4) If any Junior Lien Bonds are called for optional redemption, there shall be
depasited in either the Debt Service Fund or a trust fund established pursuant to Article XV hereof
sufficient moneys to pay the principal of, premium, if any, and interest due on such funior Lien

Bonds on the applicable redemption date therefor.

Section 8.03. Deposits for the Debt Service Reserve Funds - Valuation,

Deposits shall next be made in the amounts required by this Section 8.03 into the respective Deht
Service Reserve Funds. The Trustee shall calculate the Value of the cash and securities in each Deht
Service Reserve Fund as of each June 30 and December 31, such calculation to be completed within forty-
five (45) days after such date, 2and as of the date of delivery of each Series of Junijor Lien Bonds on or
prior te such date, and as of any other date determined by the Chief Financial Officer (not to exceed two
(2) additional optional calculation dafes in any twelve (12) month pediad), in order to determine if the
Debt Service Reserve Fund contains the Reserve Requirentent therefor, and the extent to which payments
thetefor or withdrawals therefrom must be made, and the timing thereof, pucsuant to thiis Junior Iien Bond
Ordinance of 1998 and the respective Junior Lien Sedes Ordinances, Unlass a Debt Service Reserve Fund
then contains in cash and securities (or a surety bond, insurance policy, line of credit or letter of credit
as provided.in Section 7.04, hereof) an amount at least equal to its Reserve Requirement, there shall be
paid into such Debt Service Reserve Fund on the tenth {10th) Business Day of each of the eleven (11)
months following a determination of @ deficiency in such Debt Service Reserve Fund ore-eleventh (1/11)
of the amount necessary to re-establish in such Debt Service Reservé Fugd its Reserve Requirement;
provided, hoWever. nothing herein shall preclude the Commissioners from fully re-establishing such
Reserve Requirement in a more timely fashion than 2s s0 prescribed: Any surety bond, line'of credit,
insurance pclicy or letter of credit being used to meot tho Reserve Requirement of a Debt Service Reserve
Fund shall be valued at the amount still remaining to be drawn thereon; and in the event that any such
sumty bond, line of credit, insarance policy oc letter of credit has been deawn upon, the amount necessary
to restore the principal balance thereof shall be paid by the Commissioners in the same manner and on

a parity with the payments described in tliis Section 8,03.

Section 8.04. Reimbursement of Interest an Amounts Advanced for Debt Service Reserve
Fund.

Provision shall then be made for payment of interest on amounts advanced by the provider of an)'r
surety bond, line of credit, insurance policy or letter of credit as conternplated in Section 7.04(D) hereof.

. Section §.05. Depasits for Operation and Maintenance Fund,

+ There shall next be transferred to the Operation and Maintenance Fund, either from the General
Revenue Fuad or from the Rate Stabilization Fund as described in Section 8.08 hereof, the amount

budgeted for Operation and Maintenance Expenses for the ensuing month; provided, however, that until
the Ordinance Elevation Date, it is expressly recognized that deposits to this FFund generally shall be

controlled by the Bond Ordinance of 1992.
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Section 8.06. Payments for Suboerdinate Lien Bonds.

Provision shall then be made for the payment of any cther indebtédness which is junior and
subordinate to the Junior Lien Bonds in the arder of priority contemplated by the proceedings authorizing

their issuance.

Section 8.07. Deposits for the Depreciation and Contingent Fund,

There shall be dcpoéited into the Depreciation and Contingent Fund that sur which is one-twelfth
(1/12) of the sum which has been currently determined by the Commissioners to be the estimated
requirements therefor for the then current Fiscal Year; provided, however, that until the Ordinance
Elevation Date, it is expressly recognized that deposits to this Fund generally shall be controlled by the

Bond Ordinance of 1992,
Sectign 8.08. Use of éurplus Money.

All money remaining after making the payménts required by Sections 8.01 tc 8.07 hereof, shall
be used as determined from time to-time by the Commissioners, for the maintenance or improvement, or
.payment of debt piyable from the revenues, of the Water System or for the payment of Special Facilities -
Bonds, or for payment into a Rate Stabilization Fund, or for any other lawful purpose of the

Commissioners. The Commissioners may determine by resolution at any time to deposit any percentage
or any set amount of surplus money to the extent that it is realized, into a Rate Stabilization Fund:;

" provided, however, that the amount on deposit in a Rate Stabilization Fund ‘shall not exceed the amount
budgeted for the Operation and Maintenance Fund for the then current Fiscal Year. Amounts on deposit
in a Rate Stabilization Fund miay, at the direction of the Chief Financial Officer, be used to make the
deposits into the Operation and Maintehance Fund required by Section 8.05 hersof, Amounts on deposit
in a Rate Stabilization Fund may, at the option of the Commissioners, be withdrawn and used for any
other lawful purpose of the Commissioners, but in such event, such withdrawals for putposes other than

Operation and Maintenance Expenses shall not be included in Net Bamings.

ARTICLE IX
- AGREEMENT TO FURNISH
INFORMATION WITH RESPECT TO WATER SYSTEM

Section 9.01. Keeping Records,

The Commissioners recognize that those whe may from time to time hereafter be Junior Lien
Bondholders will, throughout the life of the Junior Lien Bonds, require full information with respect ta
the Water System, the fiscal affairs of the Water System, -and all matters incident to each. To that end
the Commissioners hereby covenant and agree that they will install and thereafter at all times maintain
proper books of records and sccounts, separate and distinet from -all other records and accounts, in which
complete and correct entries shall be made of all transactions relating to the Water System, and all
revenues and receipts derived therefrom, directly or indirectly. Such books and records shall be kept in

such fashion as to reveal in detail:

(A) The number of customers who may from time to time make use of the Water System;
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The Gross Revenues of the Water System and the source from Wwhence derived;

(B)

{C) All expenses incurred in the operation of the Water System suitably identified as to

purpose;
(o The Net Eamings of the Water System;

(E) All expenditﬁres made from the severaul funds established by this Junior Lien Bond
Ordinance of 1998, and Junior Lien Series Ordinances authorizing the issuance of the Junjor Lien Bonds;

and

(B The rate schedules that may from time to time be in force.

Section 9.02. Audit Required,

The Commissioners further covenant and agree that so long es any Jumior Lien Bonds are
Qutstanding, it will, not later than one bundred and twenty (120) days after the close of each Fiscal Year,
cause to be made and completed by the Accountants, an audit 'of the records, bocks and accounts
pertaining to the Water System, made in accordance. with recognized accounting practices, showing, among
other things, Gross Revenues and Net Eamnings; and that it will fumish a copy of such audit to the
Trustee, Such audit shall coriment upon auy violation of any provision of any ordinance authorizing the
issuance of any Junior Lien Bonds or Subordindte Lien Bonds and any violation of any provision of this
Junior Lien Bond Ordinance of 1998 noted by the auditing accountants, and such other matters as to them
seem pertinerit. The cost of such audit shall be treated as an Operation and Maintenance Expense of the

Water S}‘slte:m. Any copies so furnished need not be certified.

ARTICLE X
INSURANCE

Section 10.01. Requirement of [nsurance,

The Commissioners, acting an behalf of the City, covenant and agree that so long as any Junior
Lien Bonds are Qutstanding:

(A) That they will inisure and at all times kesp the Water System insured against
physical loss or damage with a responsible insurance company or companies, authorized and
qualified under the laws of the State. of South Caroling, to assume -the risks ihsured against, in
such amount as private corporations engaged in similar endeavors would customarily insure for;

(B)  That they will secure adequate fidelity bonds (blanket or individual) of a surety
company doing business in the State, indemuifying the Commissioners against defalcation of all
persons handling money derived from the Water System or signing checks on any bank accounts
relating to the Water System, other than the Trustee or a Registrar or Paying Agent;

(C)  That all premiums on all bonds or insurance pohc:es shall be deemed a pat of
the cost of cperating and maintaining the Water System;
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(D) That all insurance policies shall be open to the inspection of any Junior Lien

Bondholder at any reasonable time;

(E} That all money received by the Commissioners as a consequence of any
defalcation, covered by any fidelity bond, shall be used to restore the fund daplcted by the
defalcation. All sumis received by the Commissioners from-insurance policies covering the Water
System may, to the extent necessary, be apptied to the repair and replacement of the damaged or
destroyed property, but, in the event that such money is not used for such purposes, then the same

shall be deposited in the Depreciation and Contingent Fund; and

(F) That they will comply with the requirements of State law regarding the mandatory
purchase of liability insurance contained i Section 15-78-140(b) of the South Carolina Code of
Laws of 1976, as amended and as the same shali from time to time be amended.

ARTICLE XI
ADDITIONAL COVENANTS

' Section 11.01. Additional Covenants to Secure Junior Fien Bonds.

The Commissioners further cavenant and agree:

{A)  That neither the Water System, nor any part théreof, nor any of the revenues
derived from the Water System, have been or will be hypothecated, mortgaged, otherwise:pledged
or encumbered, save and except in accordance with the provisions hereofs

. (B) That they will permit no free service to be rendered, or use to be made of the
services and facilities of the Water Systemn, and for the secvices and facilities of the Water System
used by the City, the reasonable cost and value of such services and facilities shall be pald as such
services accrue, and that the revenue so received from the City shall be deemed revenue derived
from the eperution of the Water System, and-shall be accounted’ for in the same manner as other

“tevenues of the Water System; provided, however, that the provisions of this covenant and the
covenants in Section 11.01(13) shall not apply to fire protcc_m)n service afforded by the Water

System;
.(C.‘) That, to the extent fawful, they will not permit competing water systers to operatc
within its boundaries;

(D)  That they will permit no customer to be connected to the Water System, or to

receive any service afforded by the Water System, unless a proper meter is installed and a proper
account is established and charges are levied against such account for services rendered, and such
customer shall become obligated ta pay for the service rendered at the appropriate rate according

to the rute schedule then in force;

(E)  That so long as there are any Junior Lien Bonds Outstanding and unpaid, they will
perform all dudes with reference to the Water System required by the Constltunon and statules.

of the State;
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(5 That they will not sell, lease or dispese of any portion of the Water System,
necessacy or useful (as determined by the Feasibility Consultants; provided, however, if the fair
market valite of any such portion does not exceed $500,000, such determination may be made by
the Comrnissioners) in the operation of the Water System, until all Junior Lien Bonds shall be
paid in full, or.unless and until provision shall have been made for the payment of all Junior Lien
Bonds and the interest thereon in fall, and the Commissioners further obligate themselves and
covenant and agree with the Junior Lien Bondhalders to maintain in good condition and to opérate
said Water System, and to collect and charge such rates for the services and facilities of the Water
System so that the income and revenues of the Water System will be sufficient at all times to meet
the requirements of this Junior Licn Bond Grdinance of 1998. If, pursuant to this Section,
anything belonging to the Water Sysiem which is not deemed by the Commissicners to be
necessary or useful therefor shall be sold or disposed of, the proceeds of such sale or disposition
shall be deposited in the Depreciation and Contingent Fund or it the General Revenue Fund, as

shall be determined by the Chief Financial Officer;

(G)  That they will permit, so long as there are any Junior Lien Bonds Outstanding,
any Junior Lien Bondholder fo inspect the Wuter Systemt and ali records.and accounts thereof
under reasonable terms and conditions and after reasonable notice has been given;

(H)  That they will not make any use, and it shall direct the Trustee and each Fiduciary
not to make any use of the proceeds of any Series of Junior Lien Bonds which Junior Lien Bonds
were intended upon the issuance thereof to be exerpt from federal income taxation, which, if such
use had been rédsonably expected on the date of the issuance of the Junior Lien Bonds of such
Series ‘would have caused such Junior Lien Bonds ar any othier Junior Lien Bonds to be “arbitrage
bonds" within the meaning of Section [48 of the Code and will observe and not violate the

l;cquiremcnts of Section 148 of the Code;

’ tI) That, as to any Series of Junior Lien Bonds that was intended at the time of their
issuance to be exempt from federal incéme taxation, it will take all actions required of it under
the Code that are necessary to preserve the tax-exempt status of such Series of Junior Lien Bonds,

-mc[udmg without [imitation, actions necessary to comply with ail information reporting
requirements and any obligation to rebate athitrage carnings on the proceeds of such Junior Lien

Bonds to the Umted States Government:

@ That it will make all payments or deposits required under Articles VII and VII
of this Junior Lien Bond Ordinance of 1398 in a timely manner; and

(K}  That they will, from tiine tc time, forward to each Trustée, in writing, the name
of the Chief Financial Officer, together with his or her specimen signature,

: ARTICLE XII
MODIFICATION OF ORDINANCE

Section 12.61. Modification Without Junior Lien Bondhalder Approval.

(A) Pravided always that the security of the Jusior Lien Bonds shall not be lessened, or in any
manner impaired, the City may for any one or more of the following purposes at any time; or from titne
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to time, and without the approval of the Junior Lien Bondholders of any Series (but always with the prior
written consent of each Insurer, if zny), except with respect to the issuance of a Series of Junior Lien
Bonds under paragraph (1), adopt an ordinance, supplementing this Junior Lien Bond Ordinance of 1998,
which supplemental ordinance shall be fully effective in accordance with its terms:

(1) To provide for the issuance af a Series of Junior Lien Bonds in accordance with
Article I'V of this Junior Lient Bond Ordinance of 1998;

(@) To add to the covenants and agreements of the City in this Junior Lien Boud
Oudinance of 1998, such other covenants and agreerments thereafter to be observed;

(3) To surrender any right, power or privilege reserved to or conferred upon the City
by this Junior Lien Bond Ordinance of 1998;

(4) To cure, correct and remove any ambiguity or inconsistent provisions contained
in this Junior Lien Bond Ordinance of 199€; and

(5) To provide for the consolidation of the Debt Service Reserve Fund.

(B) It is further provided: that such supplemental ordinance shall not become effective until
(1) a copy thereof, duly certified, shall have been filed.in the office of the Clerk of Court for Spartanburg
County and (2) the Commnissioners shall have received an opinion of Bond Coungsel to thie effect that such
supplemental ordinance has been lawfully adopted in accordance with the provisions hercof and is in full
force and effect. The Trustee will pmmpﬂy provide a full transcrifit of all proceedings relating to such

supplemental ordinance made fiereunderito any Insurer.

Section 12.02. Modification with Junior Licn Bondholder Api:roval or Insurer Consent.

The rights and duties of the City and the Junior Lien Bondholdcrs and the terms and provisions

of this Junior Lien Bond Ordinance of 1998 or any Junior Lien Series: Ordinance., upon recommendation

-of the Commissioners, may be modified or altered in any respect by an ordinance adopted by the City
Council with,either (a) if there is not an Insurer for any Junior Lien Bonds, the consent of the Holders

of sixty-six and two-thirds percent (66-2/3%) in principal.amount of all Junior Lien Bonds of each Sedes

which would be affected by such modification or alteration then Outstanding or (b) if there is an Insurer,

the priar written consent of each [risurer, such consents to be evidenced by an instrument or instraments

executed by such Holders and the Insurer and duly acknowledged or proved before a natary public or

ather pubhc officer authorized to tzke oaths, provided that no such modification or alteration shall, without

the priar written consent of the Insurer for sach Series of Junior Lien Bonds o, if there is nio Insurer, the

cansent of the Holdees of all Junior Liett Bonds Qutstanding of that Series:

(A)  Extend the maturity of any payment of principal or interest due upon any Junior Lien
Bond;

(B) Effect a reduction in the amount which the City is required to pay by way of pringipal,
interest or redemption premium on any Junior Lien Bond;

(C) Effect a change as to the type of currency in which the City is obligated to effect payment
of the principal, interest and redemption premium of any Junjor Lien Honds;
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(D) Permit the creation of a pledge of or lien upon the revenues of the Water System priar
to or equal to the Junior Lien Bonds except ay may be permitted undec the provisions of this Junior Lien

Band Ocdinance of 1998;

(B} Permit preference or priotty of any Junior Lien Bonds to others;
(F) Alter or modify the provisions of Section 4.02 or of Articles V, V@, and VIII; or
(G)  Reduce the percentage required for the written consent to the modification or alteration

of the provisions of this funior Lien Bond Ordinance of 1998.

The Trustee will promptly provide a full transcript of all proceedings relating to such supplemental
ordinance made herennder td any [nsurer.

Section 12.03. Procedure for Procuring Junier Lien Bondholder Approval.

The City, the Commissioners and the Trustee may rely upon the registry books maintained by the
Registrar to. determine who are the Holders of the Junior Lien Bonds of a particular Serdas. Any and all
medifications made pursuant to Section 12,02 shall not become effective.until (1) there has been filed with
the Cleck. of Court far Spartanburg County and with the Trustee a copy of such amendatory ordinance
" hereinabove pmvuded for, duly certified, and (2) there shall have been filed with the Trustes proof of

corisent to such modification by either (a) if there is no Insurer, the Holders of sixty-six and two-thirds
percent (66—2!3%) in pristcipal arbount of the Junior Liey Bonds then Qutstanding or (b) if there is an .
Instirer, the Insurer. In the event that any Series of Juhior Lien Bonds are held under a book-entry systern
pursuant to Section 4.19, the approvals of Junior Lien Bondholders may be obtained in the manner

provided in the agreement with the Securities Depository.
Section 12,04, Notice to Rating Apencies and Bond Insurers.

Any rating agency rating & Series of Junior Lien Bonds shall be provided notice and a copy of
any amendment to this Junior Lien Bond Ordinance of 1998 or to the applicable Junior Lien Seres
Ordinance or Junior Lien Series Resolution at least fifteen (15) days in advance of its execution or

adoption.
~ AKTICLE X1I
EVENTS OF DEFAULT
Section 13.01. Eveuts of Default.

(A) Each of the following events is hereby declared to be an "Event of Default" with respect
to all Junior Lien Bonds Outstanding under this Juajor Lien Bond Qudinance of 1998:

(1) Payment of the principal of any of the Junior Lien Bonds shall not be made when
the same shall become due and payable, either at maturity or by proceedings for redemption;

(2) Payment of any installment of interest on any Junjor Lien Bonds shall not be
made when the saine becomes due and payable; '
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()] Payment of any installment of either interest or principal on any Subordinate Lien
Junior Lien Bonds shall not be made when the same becomes due and payable;

The City or the Commissioners shall for any reason be rendered incapable of

(4)
fulfilling its obligations hereunder;

(5) An arder or decree shall be entered with the consent or acquiescence of the City
or the Commissioners appointing a receiver, or receivers, of the Water System, or of the revenues
thereof, or any proceedings shall be instituted with the consent aor acquiescence of the City or the
Commissianers for the purpase of effecting .a compasitian between the City or the Commissioners
and their creditors whose claims relate to the Water System, or for the purpose of adjusting claims
of such creditors, pursuant to any federal or State statute now or hereafter enacted, or if such order
or decree, having been entered without the consent or acquiescence of the City or the
Commissioners, shall not be vacated or discharged or stayed on appeal within sxxty (60) days after
entry thereof, or if such proceeding having been instituted without the consent or acquiescence
of the City or the Commissioners, shall not be withdrawn or any ordecs entered shall not be
vacated, discharged, or stayed on appeal within sixty (60) days after the institution of such

proceedings, or the entry of such orders;

(6) The Commissioners shall {ail to operate the Water System in an efficient and
businesslike fashion so as to materially impair the opetations df the. Water System ar shall dafault
in the due and punctual performance of any other of the covenan'ts, conditions, agr'ecments ar
provxslons contained in Junior Lien Bonds Qutstanding or in any Junior Lien Scnes Ordinance
or in this Junior Lien Bond Ordinance of 1998 or any proceedings authorizing the i 1ssuance of any
Subordinate Lien Bonds, and such default as to efficient operation ar otherwise shall continue for
thirty (30) days after written notice, specifying such default and requiring the samie to be
rcrﬂ¢d1ed, ghall have been given to the Commissioners by any Junior Lien chdholder, provided
that in the case of default specified in this paragraph (6), if the default be such that it cannot be
corrected within the said thicty (30) day period, it shall not ednstitute an‘event of defanlt if
comective action is instituted by the Commissioners within said thirty (39) day perlod and

diligently pursued until tho default is corrected;

7 The occurrence of an event of defauit on the part of the City under any

reimbursement agrecment between the Commissioners and a provider of a surety bond, line of .
credit, insurance policy or letter of credit-as conternplated under Scctxon 7.04(D3) hereof; and

(8 Such other events of defauit as may be specified in a Junior Lien Series Ordmancc
or Junior Lien Sedes Resolution.

In determining whether a default in payment has occurred under paragraplis (1), (2) or (3) of the preceding

subisection (A) and in determining wiether a’ payrnent on a Series of Junior Lien Bonds has been made

under any other provision of this Junior Lien Bond Ordinance of 1998, no effect shall be given to

payments made by an Insurer under a Municipal Boud Tusurance Policy.

) The foregoing pravisions of paragraph (6) of the preceding subsection (A) are subject to
the following limitadons: If by reason of force majenre the City or the Commissioners are unable in
whole or in part to carry out their agresments herein contained {other than the obligations on the par of

e City or the Commissicners contained 1n any of Section 4.02 or Articles V, VI and VIII as to which
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this paragraph shail have no application), the City or the Commissioters shal{ not be deemad in default
during the continuance of such inability. The term “force majeure” as used herein shall mean, without
limitation, the following: Acts of God; strikes; lockouts or other industrial disturbances: acts of public
enemies; orders of any kind of the govemnment of the United States or of South Carolina or any of their
departments, agencies, or officials, or any civil or military authority; insurrections; riots; epidermics:
landslides; lightning; earthquake; fire; hurricanes; storms; floods; washouts; droughts; arrests; restraint of
government and people; civil disturbances; explosions; breakage or aecident to machinery, tunnels or
canals; partial or entire failure of utilities; or any other cause ar event not reasonably within the, control
of the City or the Commissioners, it being agreed that the seftlement of strikes, lockouts and other
industrial disturbances shall be entirely within the’ discretion of the City or the Commissioners, and the
City or the Commissioners shall not be required to inake settlement of strikes, lockouts and other industtial
disturbances by acceding to the demands of the opposing party or paities when such course is in the
judgnient of the City or the Commissioners unfavorahble to the City or the Commissioners.

ARTICLE XIV
REMEIHES

Section 14.0L. Acceleration; Annulment of Acceleration.

(A) Subject to the provisions of Section 17.01 of this Jugior Lien Bond Qrdinance of 1998,

upon the occurrence of an Event of Default with respect to a Series of Junior Lien Bonds, the Trustee (i)
rnay, with the written consent of the Insurer, if any, insuting such Series of Junior Lien Bonds, and (i}
shall, upon the written request of the Holders. of not Jess than tweniy-five percent (25%) i in aggregate
principal amount of such Series, of Junior Lien Bonds Outstanding (but anly with the prior writteq. consent
of the Insurer, if any, insuring such Series of Junior Lien Bonds, provided that such Insurer has not failed
to comply with.its payment obligations under its Municipal Bond Insurance Policy), declare such Seties
of Junior Lien Bonds immediatsly due and payable; dnd such Series of Junior Lien.Bonds shall becorne
and be irmnediately due and payable, anything in such Series of Junior Lien Bonds or in thig Junior Lien
Bond Ordinance of 1998 to the contrary notwithstanding. Such declaration shall be accomplished by
. notice-in writing to the City and the Commissioners and ¢o the Paying ‘Agent for such Secies of Tunior

Lien Bonds. In such event, there shall be due and payable on such Senies of Junior Lien Bonds an amount
equal to the total principal amount of all such- Jugioe Lien Bonds, plus all interest accrued thereon and

which will accrue théreon to the datz of payment,

_ (B)  Subject to the pravisions of Section 17.01 of this Junior Lien Bond Ordinance of 1998,
at any time after the principal of a Series of Junior Lien Bouds shall have been so declared to be due and
payable and before the entry of final judgment or decree in any suit, action or proceeding instituted on
account of such default, or before the conipletion of the enforcement of any ather remedy under this Junior
Lien Bond Ordinance of 1998, the Trustee may, with the prior written consent of the Insurer of such
Series of Junior Lien Bonds (provided that such Insurer has not failed to comply with its payment
obligations under its Municipal Bond Insurance Policy), anaul such declaration and its consequences with
respect to any Junior Lien Bonds not then due by their terns ifs

(1) Mormcys shall have been deposited in each Debt Service Fand sufficient to pay all
matured installments of intcrest and principal (other than principal then due only because of sach

declaration) of all Qutstanding funior Lien Bonds;
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(2) Moneys shall have been deposited with the Trustee sufficient ta pay the charges,
compensation, expenses, disbursements, advances and liabilities of the Trustee:

3 All other amouats then payable by the Commissioners hereunder shall have been
paid or & sum sufficient to pay the same shall have been deposited with the Trustee; and

4) Bvery Event of Default known to the Trustee (other than a default in the payment
of the principal of such Juriior Lien Bonds then due only because of such declaration) shall have
tieen rernedied to the satisfaction of the Trustee. No such annulment shall extend ta or affect any

subsequent Event of Default or impair any right consequent thereon,
Section 14.02. Additional Remedies and Enforcement of Remedies.

(A)  Upon the occurrence and continuance of any Event of Default, subject to the provisions

of Section {7.01 hereof; the Trustee may, and upon the written request of the Holders. of. not less than
twenty-five percent (25%) in aggregate principal amount of a particular: Series. of Juaior Lien Bonds
Outstanding, together with indemnification of the Trustee to its . $atisfaction thcrcf'or, shall proceed
forthwith to protect and enforce its rights and the rights of the Junior Lieri Bondholders of such Series
under this Junior Lien Boad Ordinance of 1998 by such suits, actions or proceedings as the Trustee, being

advised by counsel, shall deem expedient, including but not Iimited to:

n Rt:qu";ii‘ing the City and the Commissiofiers to carry out their duties and obligations
under the terms of the Junior Lien Bond Ordinance of 1998 and under the Euabling Act; -

(2) Suit upost all or any part of such Series of JTunior Lien Bonds;

(3) Civil action to require the City and the Commissioners to account as if they were
the trustees of an express trust for the Holders of such Series of Junior Lien Bonds; :

(4) Civil_ action to enjoin any acts or things which may be unlawful or in violuﬂon
of the 1ights of the Holders of such Serics of Junior qu Bonds; and

(5) - Enforcemenit of any other right of the Holdess of such Secies of Junior Lien Boads
conférred by law or by this Junior Lien Bond Ordinance of 1998 including the rght to make
applicaton for the appointment of a receiver 1o administer and operate the Water System.

(B) Regardless of the happening™of an Event of Default, and subject ta the provisions of
Section 17.01 hereof, the Trustee, if requested in writing by the Holders of not less than twenty-five
percent (25%) in aggregate principal amount of & Series of Junior Lien Bonds then Qutstanding, togethier
with indemnification of the Trustee to its satisfaction therefor, shall institute and maintain such suits and
proceedings as it muy be advised by counsel shall be necessary or expedient:

() To prevent any impaicment of the security under this Junior Lien Boud Ordinance
of [998 by any acts which may be unlavful or in violation of this Junior Lien Bond Ordinance

of 1998; or

(2 To preserve or protect the interests of the Holders of the Junior Lien Bonds of
such Series, provided that such request is in accordance with law and the provisions of this Junior
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Lien Bond QOrdinance of 1998 and, in the sole judgment of the Trustee, is not unduly prejudicial
to the interests of the Holders of Junior Lien Bonds not making such request,

Section 14.03. Application of Revenues and Qther Moneys After Default

(A) The Commissioners covenant that if an Event of Default shall happen ﬂnd shall not have
been remedied, the Comnmissiouers, upon demand of the Trustec shall pay or cause to be paid over to

‘such Trustee:

(1) Forttiwith, all moneys and securities then held by the Commissioners which are
credited to any fund under this Junior Lien Bond Ordinance of 1998 (Specifically including any
monieys and securities in any Project Fund created with proceeds of a Series of Junior Lien Bonds
for the payment of principal of or interest on such Series of Bands, but only for such Serjes of
Bonds, if construction of the projects ta be paid for thereby has been cornpleted ot teéfminated, but
exclusive of any amounts remaining in. such Project Fund that are in dispute between the

Commissiopers and any contractor); and

As promptly as ﬁracticai:lc after receipt thereof, all Grass Revenues,

(2)

(B}  During the continuance of an Bvent of Default, the Trustee shall apply all moneys,

securities, Gross Revenues, paymients and receipts in its possessiott and the income therefrom as foliows
and in.the fallowing order:

(1) To the payment of the reasonable and proper Lhdfgﬂs of the Trustee and its

reasonable counscl fees and expenses;

2 To the payment of the interest and principal (and redemption premnium, if any)
then due on that Series of Junior Lien Bonds, as follows:

(») Unless the principal of all of such Junior Lien Bonds shall have become
or have been declared due and payable,

(i) Figt: To the payment of the persons entitled -thereto of all
instaflments of interest then due in the order of the maturity of such installments,
and, if the amount available shall not be sufficieat (o pay in full any installment
or installments maturing on the same date, then to the payment thereof matably,
according to the amounts due thereon {o the persons entitled thetcto, without any

disccimination or preference;

(i} Second: To the payment to the persons entitled thereto of the unpaid
Principal Instaliments (and redemption premiums, if any) of any Junior Lien
*Bonds of such Series which shall have become due, whether at maturity or by call
for redemption, i the oder of their due dates, and if the amounts available shall
not be sufficient to pay in full all the Junior Lien Bonds of such Series due on
any date, then to the payment thereof mtably, according to the amounts of
principal (plus redemption premium, if any) due on such date, to the persons
entitled thereto, without any discrimination or preference.
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(b) If the principal of all of the Junior Lien Bonds of that Series shall have
become or have been decinred due and payable, to the payment of the principal and
interest then due and unpaid upon the Junior Lien Bonds of sech Sedes without
prefercnce or priority of principal over interest or of interest over principal, ot of any
installment of interest over any other installment of interest, or of any Junior Lien Bond
of such Series over any other Junior Lien Bond of that Series, ratably, according to the
.amounts due respectively for prineipal and interest, to the persons entitled thereto without
any discrimination or preference except as (o any differences as to the respective rates of

interest specified it the Junior Lien Bands of that Series;

3 To the payment of the amounts required by Sections 8.03 and 8.04, ratably,
according to the armounts due thereon to the persons entitled thereto;

4 To the payment of all other Operation and Maintenance Expenses;

(5) To the payment of the amounts required by Section 8.07, mtably, according to the
amounts due therson to the persons entitled thereto,

Section 14.04, Remedies Not Exclusive.

. No remedy by the terms of this Jupior Lien Bond Ordinance of 1998 confetred upen or reserved
to the Trustes or the Junior Lien Bondholders or any Insurer of any Series of Junior Lien Bonds is
intended to be, exciuswe of any other retnedy, but ¢ach and evety such remedy shall be cumulative and
shall be in %ddition to evety other remedy. given under this Junior Lien Bond Ordinance of 1998 or
existing at law or in equity or by statute (including the Enabling Act) on or after the date hereof,

Section 14.05. Remedies Vested in Trus'tee.

‘All dghts of action (including the right to file proof of claims) under this Junior Lien Bond
Ordinance of 1998 or under any of the Junior Lien Bonds may be enforced by the Trustée withoit the
possession of any of the Junior Lien Bonds of that Secies or the production thereof in any trial or other
proceedings relating theéreto. Any.such sult or pmccedu‘.tgs instituted by the Trustee sball be bmught in
its name as Trustee without the necessity of j jommg as pl*unuffs or deféndants any Holders of the Junior
Lien Bonds of that Series. Subject to the pravisions of Section 14,03 hereof, any recovery of judgment
shall be for the equal benefit of the Holdess of the Qutstanding Junior Lien Bonds of such Series.

Section 14.06. Majority of Junior Lien Bondholders Control Proceedings.

If an Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing, notwithstanding anything in this
Junior Lien Bond Ondinance of 1998 to the contrary, the Holders of at least a majority in eggregate
principal amount of a Seres of Junior Lien Bonds then Qutstanding shall have the right, at any time, by
an instrument in writing executed and delivered to the Teustee, to direct the toethod and place of
conducting any proceeding to be taken in connection with the enforcement of the terns and conditions
of this Junior Lien Borid Otdinance of 1998 or for the appointmient of a receiver or any other proceedings
hereunder, provided that such direction is in accordance with law and the provisions of this Juntor Lien
Boad Ordinance of 1998 (including indetnnity to the Trustee) and, in the sole judgment of the Trustee,
is not unduly prejudicial to the interests of the Jugior Lieu Bondholders of such Series not joining in such
direction and provided further that nothing in this Seetion {4.06 shall impair the right of the Trustes in
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its discretion to take 2ny other action under this Junior Lien Bond Ordinance of 1998 which it nay deem
proper and which is not inconsistent with such direction by Junior Lien Bondhelders of such Series.

Section 1407, Individual Junior Lien Bondholder Action Restricted.

(A) No Holder of any Junior Lien Bond of a particular Series ghall.have any right to institute
any suit, action, or proceeding in equity or at law for the enforcement of this Junior Lien Bood Ordinance
of 1998 or for the execution of any trust hereunder or for ‘any remedy under this Junior Lien Bond

Ordinance of 1998 unless:
(1) An Event of Default has occurred:

(a) under paragraph (1) or (2) of subsection (A) of Section 13.01 hereof:

(b) as to which the Trustee has actual notice; ar
(c) as to which the Trustee has beea uotified in writing; and

(2) The Holders of at least twenty-five percent (25%) in agpregate principal amount
of that Series of Junior Lien Bonds shall have made writen request to the Trustee to proceed to
exercise the powers granted in this Junior Lien Bond Ordinance of 1998 or to institute such action,

suit or proceeding in its own natne; and

3) Such Junior Lien Bondholders shall have offered the Trustes reasonabis

indefnnity; and

4 The Trustee shall have failed or refused to exercise the powers herein granltcd or
to institute such action, suit or proceedings in its own name for a period of sixty (60} days after
receipt by it of such réquest and offer of indemmnity.
(B) Na one or more Holders of Junior Lien Bords shall have any rght in any manner

. whatsoever to affect, disturh or prejudice the security of this Junior Lien Bond Ordinance of 1998 or to
enforce any right hereunder except in the maneer herein provided and for the equal benefit of the Holdefs

of all Junior Lien Bonds Outstanding.

C) Nothing contained in this Junior Lien Bond Ordinance of 1998 shall affect or impair, or
be construed to affect or impair, the right of the Holder of any Junior Lien Bond.

(1) To receive payment of the principal of or interest on such Junior Lien Bond on
the due date thereof;, or

(2)  To institute suit for the enforcement of any such payment on or after such doe
date in the manner presented by this Section 14.07. '
Section 14.08. Termination of Proceadings.

In case any proceeding taken by the Trustee or a Holder of a Junior Lien Boud, on account of any
Event of Default shall have been discontinued or abandoned for any reason or shall have been determined
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adversely to the Trustee or such Junior Lien Bondholders, the City, the Commissioners, the Trustee and
the Junior Lien Bondholders shalf be restored to their former positions and rights hereunder, and all rights,
remedies and powers of the Trustee and the Junior Lien Bondholders shall continue as if no such

proceeding had been taken,
Section 14.09. Waiver and Nonwaiver of Event of Default.

(A) No delay or omission of the Trustee or of any Halder of the Junior Lien Bonds of a
particular Seties to exercise any right or power accming upon any Event of Default shall impair any such
right or power oc shall be construed to be a waiver of any such Event of Default or an acquiescence
therein.. Every power and remedy given by this Article X1V to the Trustee and the Holders of the Junior
Lien Bonds, respectively, may be exercised from time to time and as often ds may be deemed expedient.

(B) The Trustee may waive any Bvent of Default which in its opinion shall have been
remedied before the entry of final judgment or decree in any suit, action or proceeding instituted by it
under the provisions of the Junmior Lien Bond Ordinance of 1998, or before the completion of the
enforcement of eny other remedy under this Junior Lien.Bond Ordinance of 1998,

Q) Notwithstanding anything contained in this Junior Lien Bond Otdinance of 1998 to the
contrary but subject to the provisions of Section 17.01 hereof, the Trustes, upon the written request of the
Holders of at feast a majority of the aggregate principal amonnt of Junior Lien Bonds of such Series then
Outstanding, shall waive any Bvent of Default hereunder and its consequences; provided, however, that
except under the circumstapces set forth in subsection (B) of Section 14.01 heraof or subsection (B) of

this Section 14.09, a default in the payment of the principal of, premium, if any, or interest on, any Junior
Lien Bond of a particular Series, when the $ame shall become due and payable by the tenms thereof or

upon call for redemption, may not be waived without the written consent of the Holders-of afl the Junior
Lien Bonds of such Series at the time Outstanding,

(D)  In case.of any waiver by the Trustee of an Event of Default hereunder, the Cily, the
Commissianers, (he Trustee, the Insurer and the Junior Lien Bondholders of such Series shall be restored
to their former positions and rights under the Junior Lien Bond Ordinanice of 1998, respectively, but no
such waiver shall extend to any subsequent or ather Event of Default or impair any right consequent
thereon. The Trustee shall not be responsible to anyone for waiving or refrainiug from waiving any Event

of Default in accordance with this Section 14.09.
Section 14.10. Notice of Defaults,

(A)  Within thirty (30) days after:

() The receipt of notice of an Event of Default as provided in Section 14.07(A)(1)b)

or (c) hereof; or
(2) The occurrence of an Bvent of Defauit under paragraphs (1) or (2) of subse:ctnon
(A) of Section 13.01 hereof, as to which the Trustee shall be deemed to have notice,

the Trustee shall, unless such Event of Defauit shall have theretofore been cured, give written notice
thereof by [icst class roail to the Insurer of such Series of Junior Lien Bonds and to each Holder of Junior
Lien Bonds of such Series then Outstanding, pruvided that, except in the case of a default in the payment
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of principal of, together with premium, if any and interest on any of such Junior Lizn Bonds, the Trustee
may withhold such notice if, in its sole judgment, it determines that the withholding of such notice is in

the best interests of the Junior Lien Bondholders of such Series,

(B) The Trustee shall immediately notify the Cormmissioners and the Insurer, if any, of such

Series of Junior Lien Bonds, of any Event of Default known to the Trustee.

Section 14.11. R.ig_hts of Insurers,

Any Insurer insuring a Series of Junior Lien Bonds shall be subrogated to the rights to payment
of the Holders of the Junior Lien Bouds of such Series with respect to which it pays any principal or

interest on' the Junior Tien Bonds owned-by that Holder,

ARTICLE XV
TRUSTEE AND ITS FUNCTIONS; OTHER FIDUCIARIES

Section 15.01. Appeintment and Vesting of PoW(;rs in Trustee; Limitation of Rights of
Junior Lien Bondhelders to Appolnt Trustee,

Prior to the delivery of a Series of Junjor'Lien Bond$ pursuant to this Junior Lien Bond Ordinance
of 1998, the Commissioners shall appoint the Trustee, The Trustee shall be and is hereby vested with all
rights and powers necessary to enable it to discharge its duties hereunder but the cight of the Junior Lien
Bondholders of a Serdes .of Junior Lien Bonds to appoint a Trustee hereunder is limited to the

circumstances contemplated by Section 15.10 hereof.’
Section 15.02. Functions of ‘Ti‘uste(;.
The Trustee shall have (he foilowiné additional functfons:.
(A} To authenticate the Junjor Lien Bonds (unless a separate Registrar is appointed for a Series
of Junior Lien Bonds):

(B) To act as custodian of the Debt Service Fund;

{C} To act as custodian of the Debt Service Reserve Fund;

(D)  To sct as Paying Agent for the Junior Lien Bonds (unless a separate Paying Agent is
appuinted for a Series of Junior Lien Bonds);

(E) In the event a Series of Junior Lien Bonds is issued in registered form, to act as Registrar
for such Series of Junitr Lien Bonds, and to maintain a set of registration boaks therefor, which shall at
all times accurately reflect the names and addresses of all those who may be Holders of such Junior Lien

Bonds (unless otherwise so determined by the Commissioners);

(B To make reports to the Comunissioners on a monthly or such other basis as may be
requested by the Comunissioners, but not less often than semi-aunually:
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(1 Establishing balances on hand;
) Listing investments made for any fund handled by the Trustes;

3 Bstablishing the market value of each Debt Service Reserve Fund; and

) Listing all securities, if any, pledged pursuant to Section [5.13 hereof.
Section 15.03. Duty of Trustece with Respect to Deficits in Debt Service Funds.

It shall be the further duty of the Trustee to give written notice to the Commissioners three (3)
Business Days prior ta each Junior Lien Bond Payment Date, if there is any deficiency in the Debt Secvice
Fund for that Series of Junior Lien Bonds which would result in a need for further moneys to meet the

payment of interest and/or principal {alling due on the next ensuing Juniqr Lien Bond Payment Date, and
the extent, if any, ta which resort must be had to that Debt Service Reserve Pund to meet such deficiency.

Section 15,04, Acceptance by Trustee Required.

Prior to the delivery of a Series of Junior Lien Bonds, the Trustes shall signify its acceptance of

thie powers, duties and obligations conferred and lmposcd upon it by this Junior Lien Bond Ordinance of
1998, by executing and delivering to the City and the Commissioners » written acceptance thereof,

Section 15.05. Liability as ta Recitals in Jumor Llen Bond Ordinance of 1998 and Junior
Lien Bonds,

The recitals of fact made in this Junior Lien Bond Ordinance of 1998 and in the Junior Lien
Bonds of a particular Series shall be taken as statements of the City, and the Trustee shall not be deemed
to have made any representation as to the comectness of the same. [n addition, the Trustee (i) shall not
be deemed to have made any representation whatsoever as to the vatidity or sufficiency of this Junior Lien
Bond Ordinance of 1998 or of the Junior Lien Bonds issued hercunder except with respect to ths
authentication of the Junior Lien Bonds of that Series; (ii} shall not be under responsibility or duty with
respect ta the issuance of sdid Sedes of Junior Lien Bonds, or the application of the proceeds thercof,
except to the extent provided for herein; and (iif) shall not be liable in connection' with the. performance

of its duties heretnder, except for its own negligence or defanlt.

Section 15.06. Trustee May Rely on Notices, etc.
. The Trustee shall at afl times be protected in acting upon any notice, ordinance, request, consent,
order, certificate, statement, opinion, bond, or other paper or document believed to be genuine and to have
been sipned by the proper party or parties,

Section 15.07. Trustee Permitted to Resign.

The Trustee may at any time resign and be discharged of its duties and obligations hereunder by
giving to the Commissioners and the Holders and the [usurers, if any, of each Series of Funjor Lien Bonds,
written natice of such resignation, specifying a date (not less than sixty (60) days after such notice) when
such resignation is intended to take effect Such resignation shall take cffect irmmediately upon but not

before the appointment and qualification of such successor.
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Section 15.08. Removal of Trusice.

(A)  The Trustee may be removed at any time by the Holders of not less than fifty percent
(50%) of the principal amount of all Funior Lien Bonds at such time Outstanding.

(B)  The Trustee may likewise be removed at any time by the Commissioners with the cogsent
and approvai of the Holders of not less than fifty percent (50%) of the principal amount of all Junior Lien

Bonds at such time -Qutstanding.
(9] Any such removal shall take effect immediately upon but not before the appointment and
‘qualification of such successor.

Section 15.09. Appointment of Successor Trustee Upon Resignation or Removal of Trustee,

(A)  In case atany time the Trustee shall resign, or be removed or become incapable of acting,
or be adjudged a bankrupt or insolvent, or a recciver of its property shall be appointed, or any public
officer shall take charge or control of its property or afffairs, a successor thereto shall be promptly
appainted -by a resoluticn of the Commissioners duly adopted. Such successor shall in ail instances be
a bank or a trust company, acceptable to cach Insurer and duly chartered pursuant to the laws of the
United Statés or of any state and shall have a combined capital and surplus of not less than $100,000,000.

(B)  Tmmediately .‘follcwing such appointment the Carnmissioners shall give written notice of
such appointment to the Holders of such Series of Junior Lien Bonds and the Registrar and Paying Agent

of such Sedes of Junior Lien Bonds (if other than the Trustee),
Secetion 15.10. When Junior Lien Bondholder May Seek Successor Trustee,

. If, in a proper case, no appointment of a successor Trustee shall be promptly made pursuant to
Section 15.09, any Junior Lien Bondholder, the resigning or removed Trustee or the Insurers, if any, may
make application to any court of competent jutisdiction for the appointment of a successor and said court
may thercupon, after such notice, if any, as such court may prescribe, appoint a successor.

Section 15.11, Acceptance by Successor Trustee.

Any successor Trustee nppointed hercunder shall exectite and deliver to its predecessor and to the
Commissioners a writen acceptance of such appointment, and thereupan such successor, without any

further act, deed or conveyance, shall become fully vested with all moneys, estates, properties, rights,
powers, duties and obtigations of its predecessor herednder with like effect as if ariginally named as such

Trustee and its predecessor shall bes obligated to pay over, transfer, assign and deliver all moneys,
_ securities and other praperty held by it (o its successor, and ou the written request of the Commissioners,

or the successor, shall execute, acknowledge and defiver such instruments of conveyance and further
assurance and do such other things as may be reasanably required for the vesting and confimming in such
successor all the dgh, title and interest of the predecessor in and to any property held by it.
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Section 15.12. Effect of Trustee Merging With Anoether Bank.

Any bank or trust company into which the Trustee may be merged, or with which it may be
consolidated, or any bank or trust company resulting from any merger or consolidation to which it shall
be a party, or any bank or trust company to which the Trustee may sell or transter all or substantially all
of its corporate trust business, shall become the successor without the execution ot filing of any paper or
the petformance of any further act; provided, always, that if the Commissioners shall be dissatisfied with
the institution resuiting from the merger, consolidation or other action spoken of abaove, then the
Commissioners may at any time within thirty (30) days after being notified in writing by the successor
Trustee of such action, name a new Trustee (with the qualificatious prescribed by Section 15.09 hereof)

in lieu of the Trustee then acting.

Section 15.13. Trustee to Secure Funds and Securities Held in Trust.

(A)  Unless the same be secured as trust funds in the manner provided by the regulations of

the Comptroller of the Currency as from time to time in effect, all funds or securities in the custody of
the Trustee, in excess of the amount of such deposit insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Cortporation,

shall be secured and kept secured by direct obligations of the United States of a ‘market value at least
equal to the sum on deposit and not msured as aforesaid by the Federal Deposit Insurance -Corporation.

®B) AH securities which shall be given to secure any fund as required by lhc provisions of this
Article, shall be placed in the custody of a duly chartered bank, other than that of the Trustee, which is
a member. of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation. Such other bank shall have a combmcd capital

and surplus of not léss than $50 million.
Section 15.14. Disposition of Paid Junior Lien Bands.

It shall be the duty of the Trustee to cancel all Junior Lien Bonds which shall ave been paid,

whether upon their maturity or redemption prior to maturity; such canceflation shall be done in such
fashion as to render such Junior Lien Bonds incapable of further negotiation or hypothecation. In sny

event it shall furnish appropriate certificates to the Commissicuers indicating the disposition of such Junior
Lien Bonds. Upon effecting such cancellation, such Trustee shall fumish appropriate cerfificates to the

Commissioners setting forth the disposition madé of the Junior Lien Bonds so cancelled,

Section 15.15. Appointinent of Substitute Registrar,

The Commissioners may, from time to time, appoint a Registrar or Registrars to act in the place
and stead of the Trustee as Registrar of the Junior Lien Bonds of one or more Seres. The Commissioners
shall cause written notice of such appointient to be mailed to the Holders of all Junior Lien Bonds

affected by such appointment thirty (30) days prior to the effective date of such appointment.

‘Section 15.16: Trustee Not to Consider Insurance.

Notwithstanding any ather provision of this funior Lien Bond Ordinance of 1988, in determining
whether the rights of the Junior Lien Bondholders of a particular Series will be adversely affected by any
action taken pursuant ta the tenus and provisions of this Junior Lien Bond Ordinance of 1998, the Trustee
shall consider the effect on such Junior Lien Bondholders as if there were no Muaicipal Bond Insurance

Policy in effect for such Series of Junior Lien Bonds.
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ARTICLE XVI
DEFEASANCE

Sectien 16.01. Defeasance Generally.

Subject to the provisions of any Junior Lien Series Ordinance, if all of the Junior Lien Bonds
issued pursuant to this Junior Lien Bond Ordinance of 1998 and any othet amounts required to be paid
to a provider-of a surety bond, line of credit, insurance policy or leiter of credit hereunder shall have been
paid and discharged, then the obligations of the City and the Cominissioners under this Junior Lien Bond
Ordinance of 1998, the pledge of Gross Revenues made hereby, and all other rights granted hereby shall
cease and determine. Subject to the provisions of any Junior Lien Series Ordinance, Junior Lien Bonds
shall be deemed to have been paid aud discharged within the meaning of this Article under each of the

following circumstances:

{4) The Trustee shall hold, at the stated maturities of such Junior Lien Bonds, in trust and
irrevocably appropriated thereto, sufficient money for the payment thereof.

8) If default in the payment of the principal of a Series of Junjor Lien Bouds or the interest

thereon shall have occurred and thereafter tender of such payment shall have been made, and the Trustes
shall then hold in trust and irrevocably appropriated thereto, sufficient money for the payroent thereof to

the date of the tender of such payment,

(&) If thete shall have been deposited with the Trustee, or any other bank which would
otherwise meet the chartering and capital and sarplus requirements contained in Section 15.09(A) hereof,
in an irrevocable trust money or Defeasance Obligations, the principal of and interest on which when due
(without reinvestment thereof) will, as certified in a verification report provided by an independent
nationally recognized certified public accountant, provide money which, together with the money, if any,
" deposited at the same time, shall be sufficient to pay, when due, the principal, interest and redemption
premium, if any, due and to become due on and prior to the maturity, or, 'if the Commissioners has
irrevocably elected to redeem such Series of Junior Lien Bonds, on and prior to the redemption date, of

such Seres of Junior Lien Bonds.
§

Section 16.02. Moncy to be Held in Trust - When Returnable to the Commissioners.

Any money which at any time shall be deposited with the Trustee or other escrow holder
authorized under Section 16.01(C), by or on behalf of the City, for the purpose of paying and discharging
any Junior Lien Bonds or the interest thereon, shall be and is hereby assigned, transferred and set over
to the Trustee or such other escrow holder in trust for the respective Holders of such Junior Lien Boads,
and such money shall be and is hereby imevocably appropriated to the payment and discharge thereof.
But if, through lapse of time or otherwise, the Holders of said Junior Lien Bonds shall no Jonger be

entitled to enforce payment of their obligations, then, in such event, it shall be the duty of the Trustee or
such othier escrow holder to forthwith retum said funds to the Commissioners.

Scctien 16.03. Deposits With Trustee Subject to Conditions of Article XVL

The Commissioners covenant and agree that any money which it shall deposit with the Trustee
shall be deemed to be deposited in accordance with, and subject to, the applicable provisions of this
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Article, and that whenever it shall have elected to redeem a Series. of Junior Lien Bands it will irrevocably
bind and obllgatc itsell to give notice of redemption thereof, and will further authorize and empower the
Trustee to cause the publication of such notice of redemption in its name and on its behalf,

Section 16,04, No Defeasance of Series of Junior Lien Bonds Paid by Insurer.

In the event that the principal and/or interest due on a Series of Junior Lien Bonds shall be paid
by the Insurer for such Series of Junior-Lien Bonds pursuant to a Mumcxpai Bond Insurance Policy, such
Series of Junior Lien Bonds shall remain Outstanding for all purpeses, not be defeased or otherwise
satisfied and not be considered paid. by the Commissioners until thé [nsurer has been reimbursed in full

_therefor in accordance with the terms of the Municipal Bond Insurance Policy, and the assignment and
pledge of the Gross Revenues of the Water System and all covenants, agreements and other obligations
af the City to the registered Holdets shall continue to exist and shall run to the benefit of the Insurer, and

the Insurer shalt be subrogated to the rights of such registered Holders.

ARTICLE XViI
MISCELLANEQUS

Section 17.01. Miscellaneous Insurer Riglts.

" (A)  Notwithstanding any provision of this Junior Lien Bond Ordinance of 1998 ta the contracy,
each Insurer shall be deemed the exclusive Holder of all Junior Lien Bonds of a Series insired by that
Insurer, for the purposes of all apptovals, consents, waivers, instituion of any action, and ail provisions
governing Events of Default (except for the giving of notice of default to affected Junior Lien
Bondholders) and the direction of all remedié, including specifically any acceleration or any annulment
of such acceleration of a particular Series of Junior Lien Borids (each of which shiall be subject to the prior
written conséat of the [nsurer); pravided, however, that for those matters which require the consent of each
affected Junior Lien Bondholder specified in Section 12.02, subparts (A) through (G), of this Junior Lien
Bond Ordinance of 1998, the consent of such Junior Lien Bondholders and the, prior written consent of
the Insurer of such Series of Junior Lien Bonds, if any, shall be required. No rights granted to an Insurer
by this Pamgmph 17.01(A) shall bo effective at any time ‘that (i) such Insurer is in breach of its obligations
under the Municipal Bond Insuranee Palicy, (ii) the Insurer's Municipal Bond Insurance Policy does not
confer on the insured Junior Lie¢n Bonds one of the twa highest ratings of each of Moody's and S&P and

.Fitch; or (iii) the Insurer is in bankntptcy or receivership proceedings.

(B)  Any provision of this Junior Lien Bond Ordinance of 1998 expressly recognizing or
granting rights in or to Insurers may not be amended in any manner which affects the rights of such
Insurers hereunder without the prior written consent of each such Insurer.

(C)  To the extent that an Insurer makes payment of the principal of or interest on any Junior
Lien Bonds, it shall become the owner and Holder of such Junier Lien Bonds, appurtenant coupons or
right to payment of such principal of or interest on such Junior Lien Bonds and shall be fully subrogated
to all of the registered Holders' rights thereunder, including the registered Holders' rights to payment
thereof. To evidence such subrogation (i) in the case of subrogation as to claims for past due intarest, the
Trustee or Registrar for that Sedes of Junior Lien Bonds, as the case may be, shiall note the Insurer's
rights as subrogee on the registation books of the City maintained by the Trustee or Registrar upon
receipt of praof from the Insurer as to payment of interest thereon to the registered Holders of such Junior
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Lien Bonds, and (ii) in the case of subrogation as to claims for past due principal, the Trustee or Registrar,
as the case may be, [or that Series of Junior Lien Bonds shall note the Insurer's dghts as subrogee au the
registration books of the City maintained by the Trustee or Registrar upon surrender of the Junior Liesn

Bonds by the registeced Holders thereof to the Insurer or its agent.

{D) [n the event that the principal of and/or interest on any Junior Lien Bonds shall be paid
by the Insurer pursuant to the terms of its Municipal Bend Insurance Policy, (i) such Junior Lien Bonds
shall continue to be "Outstanding" under this Junior Lien Bend Ordinance of 1998 and (ii) the assignment
and pledge of the Gross Revenues and all covenants, agreements and other obligations of the City to the
registered Holders shall continue to exist, and the Insurer shall be fully subrogated to all of the rights of
such registered Holders in accordance with the tenns and conditions of subparagraph (C) above and the

Insurer's Municipal Bond Insurance Policy.

(B) No rights granted to an Insurer by this Junfor Lien Bond Ordinance of 199§ except rights
of subrogation under Section 14.11 hereof shall be effective at any titne that sach Insurer is in breach of
its obligations under the Municipal Bond [nsumncc Policy or is subject to bdnkruptcy or receivership

proceedings.

() ‘The terms and provisions of this Junjor Lien Bond Ordinance of 1998 or of any applicable
Junior Lien Series Ordinance or Junior Lien Series Resolution may not be terminated as long as thers are
any moneys owed to an Insurer under such terms and provisions of this Junior Lien Bond Ordinance of
1998 or the applicable Junior Lien Series Ordinance or Junior Lien Series Resolution or any agreement
between such Insurer and the Commissioners, acting on behalf of the City,

Section 17.02. Purpose of Covenants in Junior Lien Bond Ordinance of 1998,

Hvery covenant, undettaking and agreement made on behalf of the Cily and the Commissioners,
as set forth in this Junior Lien Bond Ordinance of 1998 is made, undeitaken and agreed to, for the proper
$ecuring of the payment of the principal of and interest on the Junior Lien Bonds. Each shall be deefned
to partake of the obligation of the contract between the City and the Junior Lien Bondholders and shall
be enforceable secordingly. In this connection, any provider of a surety bond, line of credit, insumnce
policy er letter of credit as contemplated under Section 7.04¢D) hereof may. enforce the terms, conditiors
and obhgauons under this Junior Lien' Bond Ordinafice of 1998 ag a third'party beneficiary hereunder.

Nothing in this Ordinance expressed or implied is intended or shall be construed to confer upon, or to give
to, any person or entity, other than the City and the Commxssxoners, the Insurers and the Trustes, the

Paying Agent, if any, and the registered ownets of the Junior Lien Bouds, any right, remedy or claim
under or by reason of this Junior Lien Bond Ordinance of 1998 or any covenant, condition or stipulation

hereaf, and all covenants, stipulations, promises and agreements in this Junior Lien Bond Ordinance of
1998 contained by and.on behalf of the Issuec shall be for the sole dnd exclusive benefit of the City and
the Commissioners, the Insurers, the Trustee, the Paying Agent, if any, and the Funior Lien Bondhaolders.

Section 17.03." Effect of Invalidity of Provisions of Junior Lien Boad Ordinance of 1998,

+ If any Section, paragraph, clause or provision of this Juntior Lien Bond Ordinance of 1998 shall
be held invalid, the invalidity of sach Section, paragraph, clause or provision shall not affect any of the
remaining provisions of this Junior Lien Bond Ordinance of 1998,
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Section 17.04. Repealing Clause.
All ordinances, or parts thereof, inconsistent herewith shall be and the same are hereby iepealcd

to the extent of such inconsistencies.
Section 17.05. Closing of Bond Crdinance of 1992,

No additional bonds shall henceforth be issued under the provisions of the Bond Ordinance of
1992, nor shall any Junior Lien Bonds be entitled to the accession provisions set forth in Article VI gf

the Bond Ordinance of 1992.

Sect-ion 17.06. Direction to Index Junior Lien Bond Ordinance of 1998.

This ordinance shall be forthwith filed with the other City ordinances under the general- heading
CJUNIOR LIEN WATER SYSTEM REVENUE BONDS OF THE CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH
CAROLINA " and shall be kept in a permanent binding in the Office of the City Clerk.

DONE, RATIFIED AND ADOPTED ON OCTOBER 26, 1998,

Y S -2

MAYﬁ)R City of Spamml‘ﬁlrg, South Camhn@“
- Aftest:

Ci%; CLERK, C.‘ity. of Spartanburg, South Carolina

First Reading: Ootober 72, 1998
Second Reading: October _24, 1998

This Ordinance has been reviewed by me and is hereby approved as to form and [egality.

%;%ﬁg—

City W City of Spartanbarg, South Carolina
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EXHIBIT A

Escrowed Senior Lien Bonds

Water Syslem Revenue Bonds, Series 1977

Qriginal [ssue Amount: $7,000,000

Date of Issue: March [, 1977

Interest Payment Dates: June [ and December |

Principal Payment Dates: June [, though 2006

Principal Amount Outstanding as of June I, 1998: $4,025,000

Water System Revenue Bonds, Serdes 1979
Original Issue Amount: $5,000,000

Date of Issue: June 1, 1979

Interest Payment Dates: June 1 and December 1

Principal Payment Dates: June 1, through 2008

Principal Amount Qutstanding as'of June [, 1998: $2,575,000



EXHIBIT B

Senjor Lien Donds

Water System Improvement and Refunding Revenue Bands, Series 1992
Original Issue Amount: $33,875,000

Date of Issue: Qctober 15, 1992

Interest Payment Dates: June [ and December 1

Principal Payment Dates: June [, through 2015

Principal Aniount Qutstanding as of June [, 1998: $18,430,000

Water System Revenue Bonds, Series 1996

Qriginal Issue Amount: $45,500,000

Date of Issue: Jume 1, 1996

Interest Payment Dates: June 1 and December 1

Principal Payment Dates: June 1, through 2006

Principal Amount Qutstanding as of June 1, 1998: $2,615,000

Water System Refunding Revenue Bonds, Sedes 1997
Original Issue Amount: $60,220,000

Date of Issue; July 15, 1997

Interest. Payment Dates: June 1 and December |

Principal Payment Dates: June 1, through 2027
Principal Amount Outstanding as of Yune I, 1998: $60,220,000
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STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA )
) CERTIFIED COPY OF ORDINANCE

COUNTY OF SPARTANBURG )

I, the undersigned, Clerk of the City of Spartanburg, Scuth Carolina (the "City"), DO HEREBY
CERTIFY that attached hereto is a true, comect and vecbatim copy of 2 an ordinance (the "Junior Lien
Bond Ordinance of 1998") duly adopted by the City Council of the City (the "City Council™). The Junior
Lien Bond Ordinance of 1998 was read at two public meetings of City Council on two separate days, An
interval of at least six days ocourred between each reading. At each meeting, a quorum of City Council
was present and remained present through the meeting. The Junior Lien Bond Ordinance of 1998 has not
been modified, amended or repealed and is in full force and effect on and as of the date hereof in the form

attached hereto.
- IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand this:?.ﬁkﬁay of November, [998.

City Clekk, City of Spartanburg, South Carolina




2001 AMENDMENTS TO BOND RESOLUTION

ARTICLE Vil
AMENDMENTS TO JUNICR LIEN BOND ORDINANCE Q) 1998

Section 8.01  Amendment to Definition of *“Net Earnings.”

The definition of “Net Earnings” contained in Section 2,01 of the Junior Lien Bond Ordinance of
1998 shall include as a final paragraph the following:

For purposes (anly) of Section 4.02(7) of the 1998 Bond Ordinance, al! amounts
paid by way of Annual Principal and Interest Requirements (as such are defined under the
provisions of the Bond Ordinance of 1992) on all Senior Lien Bonds for the period under
consideration shall be subtracted as expenses in determining Net Barnings.

Seclion 8,02  Amendment to Section 4.18.

The provisions of Section 4.18 of the Junior Lien Bond Ordinance of 1998 is hereby amended
and restated in its entirety o read as follows;

The Junior Lien Bonds shall be payable solely from and shail be secured by a
pledge of and a lien upon that portion of the Gross Revenues of the Water System as shall
retnain after payment of all Operation and Maintenance Expenses. The Junior Lien Bonds
sl:all be junior and subordinate in all respects to the Senior Lien Bonds and the Escrowed
Senior Lien Bonds. Pursuant to Section 6-21-330 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina
1976, as emended, and as additional securily for the payment of the Junior Lien Bonds, the
City hereby grants the holders of the Junior Tien Bonds & statwtory lien on the Water
Systern, Such pledge and lien securing the Junior Lien Bonds at all times and in all
respects shall be and remain superior to pledges and liens made to secure any other bonds
or other obligations payable from the revenues of the Water System, except for those
pledges and liens previously made to secure the Senior Lien Bonds and the Bscrowed
Senior Lien Bonds. The Junior Lien Bonds shall not constitute an indebtedness of the City
within the meaning of any provision, limitation or restriction of the Constitution or the laws
of the State, other than those provisions authorlzing indebtedness payable solely from a
revenue-producing project not involving revenues from any tax or license; and the faith,
credit and taxing power of the City are expressly not pledged therefor. The City is not
obligated to pay any of the Junior Lien Bonds or the interest thereon except from that
portion of the Gross Revenues of the Water Sysiem as herein stated,

Section 8.03  Amendment to Section 5.02(B),

The provisions of Section 5,02{B) of the Junior Lien Bond Ordinance of 1998 is hereby amended
and restated in its entirety to read as follows:

(B) The Commissioners covenant and agree that they will, at all times,
prescribe and maintain and thereafier collect rates and charges for the scrvices and facilities
furnished by the Water System whicly, together with other income, are reasonably expected
{o yield annual Net Faruings in a Fiscal Year equal to at least the sum of (i) one hundred ten
percent (110%) of the Annual Principal and Interest Requirements for all Series of Junior
Lien Bonds Outstanding in such Fiscal Year plus (if) one hundred percent (100%) of the
emount necessary to make payment of any amounts owing in such Fiscal Year under a
reimbursement agreement with any provider of a surety bond, line of credit, insurance



policy ot letter of credit as contemplated under Section 7.04(D) hereof plus (iil) one
hundred percent (100%) of the principal and interest on all Senior Lien Bonds and on all
Subordinate Lien Bonds, plus (iv) onc hundred porcent (100%) of any required payment
into a Debt Service Reserve [fund due in such Fiscal Year; and, promptly upon any material
change in the circumstances which were contemplated at the time such rates and charges
were most recently reviewed, but not less frequently than onee in each Fiscal Year, shall
review the rates and charges for its services and shall promptly revise such rates and
charges as necessary to comply with the foregoing requirement,

Section 8.04  Amendment to Section 14.03{(B).

The provisions of Section 14.03(B) of the Junior Lien Bond Ordinance of 1998 is
amended and restated in its entirety to read as follows;

(B) During the continuance of an Event of Default, the Trustee shall apply all
moneys, securities, Gross Revenues, payments and receipts in its possession and the
income therefrom as follows and in the following order:

(1) To the payment of the reasonable and proper charges of the
Trustee and its reasonable counsel fees and expenses;

(2) To the payment of the necessary costs of operating and
maintaining the Water System;

(3) To the payment of all amounts required to fund the debt service
funds and debt service rescrve funds established to provide for the payment of all
Senior Lien Bonds;

(4) To the payment of the interest and principal (and redemption
premium, if any) then due on that Series of Junior Lien Bonds, as follows:

{a) Unless the principal of al! of such Junior Lien Bands shall
have become or have been declared due and payable,

1) First: To the payment of the petsons entitled
therefo of all installments of interest then due in the order of the
malurity of such installments, and, if the amount available shall
not be sufficient to pay in full any installment or installments
maturing on the seme date, then to the payment thereof ratably,
according fo the amounts due thereon to the persons entitled
thereto, without any discrimination or preference;

(ii) Second: To the payment to the persons entltled
thereto of the unpnid Principal Installments (and redemption
premiums, if any) of any Junior Lien Bonds of such Series which
shall have bccome due, whether at maturity or by call for
redemption, in the order of their due dates, and if the amounts
available shall not be sufficient to pay in full all the Junior Lien
Bonds of such Series due on any date, then to the payment thereof
ratably, according to the amounts of principal (plus redemption
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premium, if any) due on such date, to the persons entitled thereto,
without any discrimination or preference,

b) If the principal of all of the Junior Lien Bonds of that
Series shall have become or have been declared due and payable, to the
payment of the principal and interest then due and unpaid upon the Junior
Lien Bonds of such Series without preference or priority of principal over
interest or of interest over prineipal, or of any installment of interest over
any other installment of interest, or of any Junior Lien Bond of such Series
over any other Junior Lien Bond of that Scries, ratably, according to the
amounts due respectively for principal and inlerest, to the persons entitled
thereto without any discrimination or preference except as to any
differences as (o the respective rates of interest specified in the Junior Lien
Bonds of that Series;

(5) To the payment of the amounts required by Sections 8.03 and
8.04, ratably, according to the amounts due thereon to the persons entitled thereto;

(6) To the payment of the amounts required by Section 8,06, ratably,
according to the amounts due thereon to the persons entitled thereto; and

(7) To the payment of the amounts required by Section 8.07.

[End of Artlcle VIEI]
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[Date of Delivery]

Commissioners of Public Works of the
City of Spartanburg
Spartanburg, South Carolina

Re: $28,875,000 City of Spartanburg, South Carolina Taxable Water System Refunding Revenue
Bonds, Series 2020

Ladies and Gentlemen:

We have acted as Bond Counsel to the City of Spartanburg, South Carolina (the “City”), in connection with
the issuance by the City of its $28,875,000 Taxable Water System Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2020 (the “Series
2020 Bonds”). The Series 2020 Bonds are issued by the City pursuant to a bond ordinance (the “Bond Ordinance”)
duly enacted by the City Council of the City (the “City Council”), the governing body of the City, on October 26,
1998, as amended, and a series ordinance (the “Series Ordinance” and together with the Bond Ordinance, the
“Ordinances”) duly enacted by the City Council on February 24, 2020 and a series resolution (the “Series
Resolution”) duly adopted on February 25, 2020 by the Commissioners of Public Works of the City of Spartanburg
(the “Commissioners”), the governing body of the Spartanburg Water System (the “System”), and under and in full
compliance with the Constitution and statutes of the State of South Carolina (the “State”), including particularly Title
6, Chapter 21 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, as amended (the “Enabling Act”). The Series 2020 Bonds
are being issued in order to obtain funds which will be used, together with other funds of the Commissioners, to defray
the cost of (i) refunding the Series 2013 Bonds and (ii) paying costs of issuance of the Series 2020 Bonds.

In these regards, we have examined a certified copy of the transcript of proceedings (the “Transcript”) and
other proofs submitted to us, including the Constitution and Statutes of the State. As to questions of fact material to
our opinion, we have relied upon the Transcript and other certifications of public officials furnished to us, without
undertaking to verify the same by independent investigation.

Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in the Ordinances or
in the Series Resolution.

The Series 2020 Bonds are issued in registered, book-entry form and are dated as of the date of original
delivery thereof. The Series 2020 Bonds bear interest payable initially on December 1, 2020 and semiannually
thereafter on the first days of June and December at the respective interest rates per annum set forth on the inside
cover of the Official Statement dated April 23, 2020 (the “Official Statement”) for the Series 2020 Bonds. The Series
2020 Bonds mature on June 1 in the years and in the respective principal amounts as set forth on the inside cover of
the Official Statement. Certain of the Series 2020 Bonds are subject to optional and mandatory redemption prior to
maturity in the manner and upon the terms set forth in the Series 2020 Bonds, the Ordinances and the Series Resolution.

Further bonds (the “Additional Bonds”) on a parity with the Series 2020 Bonds and the City’s Series 2012
Bond, Series 2015A Bonds, Series 2015B Bonds, Series 2017A Bond and Series 2017B Bonds (collectively, the “Parity
Bonds”), may be issued under the conditions prescribed in the Ordinances.

Based upon the foregoing, we are, as of the date hereof, of the opinion that:

(1) The City is a duly created and validly existing municipal corporation and political subdivision of
the State.

(2) The City, through the Commissioners, has the right and power to operate the System. The City
Council is duly authorized to enact the Ordinances, and the Commissioners are, likewise, duly authorized to adopt the
Series Resolution. The Ordinances and the Series Resolution are in full force and effect and are valid, binding and
enforceable in accordance with their terms, except to the extent that the enforceability thereof may be limited as
described below.
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3) The Series 2020 Bonds have been duly authorized, executed and delivered and are enforceable in
accordance with their terms and the terms of the Ordinances and the Series Resolution, and constitute valid and binding
special obligations of the City, except to the extent that the enforceability of the Series 2020 Bonds may be limited as
described below. The Series 2020 Bonds are secured in the manner and to the extent prescribed by the Ordinances and
the Series Resolution and are entitled to the equal benefit, protection and security of the provisions, covenants and
agreements set forth therein.

4) Both the principal of and interest on the Series 2020 Bonds are payable solely from that portion of
the Gross Revenues of the System as shall remain after the payment of all Operation and Maintenance Expenses of
the System, and are secured by a valid pledge of such portion of the Gross Revenues and by a statutory lien upon the
System within the meaning of Section 6-21-330 of the Enabling Act.

(5 The pledge of the portion of the Gross Revenues of the System and the statutory lien on the System
made and given to secure the Series 2020 Bonds as described above have priority over all pledges and liens heretofore
or hereafter made and given, except:

(a) the pledge and lien (on a parity with the pledge and lien securing the Series 2020 Bonds)
made and given to secure the Parity Bonds; and

(b) any subsequent pledges and liens (on a parity with the pledge securing the Series 2020
Bonds and the Parity Bonds and the statutory lien on the System) made and given to secure Additional Bonds,
if such Additional Bonds are issued in the manner and under the conditions prescribed by the Ordinances.

(6) Neither the principal of nor the interest on the Series 2020 Bonds constitutes an indebtedness of the
City within the meaning of any provision, limitation or restriction of the Constitution or Laws of the State, nor a
charge, lien or encumbrance, legal or equitable, upon any property of the City or upon any income, receipts or revenues
of the City save and except those revenues derived from the operation of the System and pledged to the payment of
the principal of and interest on the Series 2020 Bonds and the statutory lien on the System, and neither the credit nor
the taxing power of the City is pledged therefor.

(7 Interest on the Series 2020 Bonds will not be excludable from gross income for federal income tax
purposes under Section 103 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

() The Series 2020 Bonds and the interest thereon are exempt from all State, county, school district,
municipal and all other taxes or assessments imposed within the State, direct or indirect, general or special, whether
imposed for the purpose of general revenue or otherwise, except inheritance, estate, transfer and certain franchise
taxes.

It is to be understood that the obligations of the City and the Commissioners under the Series 2020 Bonds,
the Ordinances and the Series Resolution, and the enforceability thereof, may be subject to judicial discretion, the
valid exercise of the sovereign police powers of the State and of the constitutional powers of the United States of
America, and applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and other laws affecting creditors’
rights.

As Bond Counsel to the City, we have been retained solely for the purpose of examining the validity and
legality of the Series 2020 Bonds and of rendering certain specific opinions herein stated and for no other purpose.
We have not verified the accuracy, completeness or fairness of any representations or information concerning the
business or financial condition of the City, the Commissioners or the System in connection with the sale of the Series
2020 Bonds, including any information set forth as to the same in the Official Statement, or appendices thereto,
pertaining to the Series 2020 Bonds. Accordingly, we express no opinion on the completeness, fairness or adequacy
of any such representation or information.

We express no opinion herein regarding the accuracy, adequacy or completeness of the Official Statement or
regarding the perfection of the pledge on the Gross Revenues or other funds created under the Ordinances or the Series
Resolution (or any other document or instrument mentioned herein) or regarding the statutory lien on the System. This
opinion is given as of the date hereof, and we assume no obligation to revise or supplement this opinion to reflect any
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facts or circumstances that may hereafter come to our attention or any changes in law that may hereafter occur. Our
advice did not include financial or non-legal advice.

Very truly yours,

HAYNSWORTH SINKLER BOYD, P.A.
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APPENDIX D

INFORMATION REGARDING
CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA
AND SPARTANBURG COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA

This Appendix D contains demographic information on the City of Spartanburg, South Carolina (“City”),
and Spartanburg County, South Carolina (“County”). The full faith, credit and taxing powers of the City and the
County are not pledged to secure the Series 2020 Bonds.

Description of the City of Spartanburg
Population

The City, incorporated in 1831, serves as the county seat and has an area of 19.5 square miles. It is governed
by the Council-Manager form of government. The City’s population according to the 2010 U.S. Census was 40,387.
The City’s estimated population for the past five Fiscal Years is set forth below:

Fiscal Year Population
2015 37,525
2016 37,867
2017 37,876
2018 37,498
2019 37,644

Source: City of Spartanburg Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the Fiscal Year ending June 30, 2019.

Assessment Summary of the City

Fiscal Real Personal Privately Owned

Year Property Property Public Utilities Total
2015 $113,122,699 $21,036,812 $7,373,620 $141,533,131
2016 113,476,606 22,847,265 7,324,060 143,647,931
2017 111,225,265 21,681,758 8,000,230 140,907,253
2018 116,057,323 22,415,113 7,807,410 146,279,846
2019 126,985,041 20,773,514 8,097,060 155,855,615

Source: City of Spartanburg Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the Fiscal Year ending June 30, 2019.

Principal Taxpayers of the City

2019 Assessed Percentage of Total
Taxpayers Valuation Assessed Valuation
Duke Energy Corp $ 3,796,254 2.6%
Suso 4 Dorman, LP 2,760,000 1.9
ERP Hillcrest, LLC 1,745,020 1.2
J.M. Smith Corp 1,485,780 1.0
SSK Land, LLC 1,263,560 0.9
East Main Redevelopment, LLC 1,173,600 0.8
HD Development of Maryland, Inc. 1,069,330 0.7
Bellsouth Telecommunications 1,021,950 0.7
White Oak Manor, Inc. 882,340 0.6
Denny's Corp 874.880 _0.6
Total $16,072,714 11.0%

Source: City of Spartanburg Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the Fiscal Year ending June 30, 2019.
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Description of Spartanburg County

The County is located in the northwestern Piedmont section of the State of South Carolina (the “State™),
approximately 175 miles northeast of Atlanta, Georgia, and 75 miles southwest of Charlotte, North Carolina. The County
comprises the Spartanburg MSA. The County includes the City which is the county seat and the eighth largest city in the
State.

Manufacturing is the major employment sector in the County. The County is heavily industrialized with a
number of large textile mills, a large plumbing fixtures plant, textile finishing plants, a large textile machinery plant, a
textile chemical plant, an automotive plant, and numerous other manufacturing plants.

Employment Information

The annual unemployment rates for the County and the State for the calendar years 2014 through 2019 were as
follows:

Year Spartanburg County South Carolina
2014 6.3% 6.4%
2015 5.7 6.0

2016 4.6 4.8

2017 4.0 43

2018 3.1 34

2019 2.2 2.8

Source: U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics

The unemployment rates (not seasonally adjusted) in the County for the 12 months indicated are shown

below:

Date Spartanburg County
March 2020 2.7%
February 2020 2.8
January 2020 2.7
December 2019 2.1
November 2019 1.9
October 2019 1.9
September 2019 1.6
August 2019 2.5
July 2019 2.8
June 2019 3.1
May 2019 2.9
April 2019 2.6

Source: South Carolina Department of Employment & Workforce-Labor Market Information Division
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Some of the major employers in the County as of June 30, 2019 are as follows:

Average Number

Employers Industry of Employees
BMW Manufacturing Corporation Automobiles 11,000
Spartanburg Regional Medical Center Health Services 7,500
Milliken & Company R&D on yarns and chemicals 4,007
Michelin Tire Company Radial truck tires 3,435
Spartanburg County Schools Public School System 7,093
State of South Carolina State Government 3,159
Adidas Apparel Distributor 2,520
Spartanburg County Government 1,553
Draexlmaier Automotive of America LLC  Automotive Supplier 1,075
AFL Corporation Fiber Optic Cable 858
Benore Logistics Systems Transportation Services 800
Lear Corporation Automotive Seating 800
SEW- Eurodrive, Inc Drive Technology 750
Inman Mills Manmade woven fabric 700
Spartanburg Steel Fabricate structural metal products 618

Source: City of Spartanburg Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the Year Ended June 30, 2019
Population Figures

The following table shows population information for the County for the last four decades for which census
figures are available, as well as a population estimate for 2018:

Percent Increase

Year Population Prior Census
1980 201,861 16.2%
1990 226,793 12.4
2000 253,791 11.9
2010 284,307 12.0
2018%* 313,888 10.4

*Estimated
Source: U. S. Census Bureau

Per Capita Income

The per capita personal income for each of the last five years for which information is available is shown

below:
Year County South Carolina
2014 $38,173 $37,622
2015 39,772 39,496
2016 40,785 40,404
2017 41,783 42,081
2018 43,148 43,702

Source: U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of Economic Analysis

D-3



Retail Sales

The following table shows retail sales for businesses located in the County for the five years shown:

Total Retail
Year Sales
2015 $10,118,783,829
2016 10,355,126,909
2017 10,487,903,498
2018 11,559,427,445
2019 13,954,242,730

Source: South Carolina Department of Revenue
Capital Investment

The following table sets forth the total capital investment for new and expanded industry in the County over
the five calendar years shown.

Year Announced Jobs Announced Investment
2014 2,114 $2,327,950,000
2015 1,999 479,467,360
2016 1,300 555,300,000
2017 1,789 885,310,000
2018 2,094 779,539,000

Source: Spartanburg Economic Futures Group
Construction Activity

The following table shows the number of residential and non-residential building permits issued by the
County for the calendar years shown.

RESIDENTIAL COMMERCIAL
Year # of Permits Cost # of Permits Cost
2014 1,040 $179,673,160 274 $117,939,699
2015 1,334 226,205,210 384 489,242,927
2016 1,741 295,991,116 371 231,838,570
2017 2,091 357,782,843 386 519,314,365
2018 2,442 397,807,362 384 455,284,920

Source: Spartanburg County Building Officials
Facilities Serving the County

Public Schools. The County is home to seven public school districts comprised of more than 44,000 students.
The combined school districts consist of 44 elementary schools, 18 middle schools, five junior high school, nine high
schools and four career centers or vocational schools. Approximately 17 fully accredited private and parochial schools
also are located in the County. The school districts are independent political entities and receive no funding from
County government.

The South Carolina School for the Deaf and the Blind offers programs for preschool, elementary, middle and

high schools, sensory multidisabled vocational and postsecondary education students in addition to a vast array of
outreach services. The Charles Lea Center, a comprehensive facility for evaluation, training, education and
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rehabilitation of exceptional children, also assists the area schools through therapeutic programs for learning or
emotional disorders.

Higher Education. The University of South Carolina-Upstate had a Fall 2019 enrollment of more than 6,000
students, and is one of the largest campuses of the University of South Carolina System. The four-year institution
offers undergraduate degree programs in 11 fields of study in business administration and economics, education,
humanities and sciences and nursing. Several graduate programs are also offered. Wofford College, a four-year liberal
arts college with a Fall 2019 enrollment of approximately 1,672 students, and Converse College, a four-year liberal
arts college for women with a Fall 2019 enrollment of approximately 918 undergraduate and graduate students, are
also located in the County. Spartanburg Community College, a public two-year college offering associate degrees
and certificates in a variety of fields, had a Fall 2019 enrollment of over 5,000 credit-seeking students. Sherman
College of Straight Chiropractic had a Fall 2019 enrollment of approximately 97 students. Spartanburg Methodist
College, a fully-accredited private junior college, had a Fall 2019 enrollment of approximately 837 students and offers
associate degrees in liberal arts and science and several career tracks. The Edward Via College of Osteopathic
Medicine (“VCOM?”) is a private, nonprofit osteopathic medical school. VCOM established its Spartanburg campus
in 2010 and had a Fall 2019 enrollment of approximately 1,900 students.

Medical Facilities. The County is served by numerous state-of-the-art healthcare facilities. The Spartanburg
Regional Health Services District, Inc. (“Spartanburg Regional”) operates an integrated health care system offering a
complete array of medical services and is the major healthcare provider in the three-county area of Spartanburg, Union
and Cherokee Counties, South Carolina, and is presently undergoing a large capital expansion. Spartanburg Regional
owns and operates four hospitals: Spartanburg Medical Center and Spartanburg Hospital for Restorative Care, each
located in Spartanburg; South Carolina, Pelham Medical Center, located in Greer, South Carolina; and Union Medical
Center in Union, South Carolina. Spartanburg Regional also operates three skilled nursing facilities: Spartanburg
Hospital for Restorative Care Skilled Nursing Facility in Spartanburg, South Carolina, the Ellen Sagar Nursing Center
in Union County, South Carolina and Woodruff Manor in Woodruff, South Carolina. Spartanburg Regional’s hospital
facilities have undergone progressive change and expansion, growing to the present size of 575 licensed beds at
Spartanburg Medical Center (with 464 beds operating), 97 long-term acute beds at Spartanburg Hospital for
Restorative Care (with 66 beds operating), 48 licensed and operating beds at Pelham Medical Center, and 143 licensed
beds at Union Medical Center (with 50 beds operating). The Spartanburg Regional’s system also includes the Medical
Group of the Carolinas, a network of more than 300 physicians’ practices.

On December 31, 2018, Spartanburg Regional acquired Mary Black Health System, consisting of Mary Black
Health System — Spartanburg, Mary Black Health System — Gaffney, Mary Black Physicians Group, and Mary Black
Health Network. The acquired organization added 332 licensed beds to the capacity of Spartanburg Regional.
Following the acquisition, Spartanburg Regional employs 400 physicians, encompasses 100 doctor offices, employs
almost 9,000 people, and manages six hospitals in Spartanburg, Cherokee and Union counties.

Ernest Health, Inc. constructed a 40-bed rehabilitation hospital, the Spartanburg Rehabilitation Institute
(“SRI”), which is the only freestanding acute rehabilitation hospital in the County. SRI provides comprehensive
physical medicine and rehabilitation services to patients with functional deficits resulting from injury or illness.
Inpatient services include acute rehabilitation, nursing care and medical management for patients suffering from
stroke, spinal cord injury, brain injury, and amputation to name a few.

Also within the County is the Carolina Center for Behavioral Health, a 138-bed private behavioral health
system which specializes in psychiatric and chemical dependency treatment and provides inpatient, partial
hospitalization and intensive outpatient programs.

Air. The Greenville-Spartanburg International Airport (“GSP”), which is located approximately 20 miles
from the City of Spartanburg, serves more than two million passengers per year by six major airlines offering an
average of 50 nonstop daily departures to 20 designations across the United States. The GSP terminal building has
more than 322,446 square feet and 13 departure gates. At 11,001 feet long, GSP can accommodate any aircraft
currently in operation today. A 120,000 square-foot Federal Express facility and rental car service facilities are
adjacent to GSP. GSP completed a major terminal expansion with a project budget of $128 million in the second
quarter of 2017. The so-called Wingspan Project consisted of moving the rental car customer care center, extensive
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concourse renovations, installing new baggage carousels and equipment, and consolidating security areas. On
November 19, 2018, the GSP commission announced plans for a $456.1 million master plan to be implemented over
the next 20 years. The plan provides for runway rehabilitation, additional structured parking, additions to air cargo
facilities, and other improvements.

In addition, the County has access to general aviation services through the Spartanburg Downtown Memorial
Airport which hosts business executives, government officials and tourists traveling by private aircraft and charter
services. The Spartanburg Downtown Airport recently completed a significant $25 million capital project related to
the rebuilding and extending of its runway and upgrading airport navigational and lighting systems. The Spartanburg
Downtown Memorial Airport has nearly 80,000 operations annually and serves more than 100 local aircraft with a
6,000 foot by 100-foot runway.

Mass Transit. Spartanburg Area Regional Transit Agency (“SPARTA”) provides public transit in and around
the City. The bus system has eight fixed routes which serve employment sites, education centers, medical facilities
and retail areas. All SPARTA buses are handicapped accessible. Intercity bus service is provided by Greyhound Bus
Lines. As the hub of a modern highway system and served by interstate highways I-85, [-26, and three U.S. highways,
the County is easily accessible to major metropolitan areas by car, truck and bus.

Railway and Trucking. CSX Transportation Company and Norfolk-Southern Corporation offer rail service
within the County. Piggyback service is available through Norfolk-Southern Corporation. Trucking facilities in the
County include 25 major common carrier terminals and over 50 freight lines.

Inland Port. The South Carolina Inland Port Greer (the “SCIP”), owned and operated by the South Carolina
Ports Authority, opened in October 2013 as a 91-acre intermodal facility located near GSP in the County. Rail service
between Charleston, South Carolina and Inland Port Greer runs six days per week allowing for the flow of cargo
between the Port of Charleston and many manufacturing and distribution facilities located in Spartanburg, Greenville,
and other counties in the upstate of South Carolina. The SCIP boosts efficiency for international freight movements
between the Port of Charleston and companies located across the Southeast. In Fiscal Year 2019, SCIP had 143,204
rail moves. Norfolk Southern serves SCIP through its main rail line, and the facility is positioned along the Interstate
85 corridor between Charlotte and Atlanta, where Norfolk Southern operates additional rail yards.

Utilities. Electric power is provided by Duke Energy, which serves most of the County. Broad River Electric
Cooperative, Laurens Electric Cooperative, Lockhart Power Company and the Greer Commission of Public Works
also serve consumers in the County. Natural gas is supplied and distributed by Piedmont Natural Gas Company and
the Greer Commission of Public Works. In addition to the Spartanburg Water System that supplies water to
approximately 80% of the County’s population, other waterworks service is provided by Woodruff-Roebuck Water
District, Startex-Jackson-Wellford-Duncan Water District, Inman-Campobello Water District and the Greer
Commission of Public Works. Several not-for-profit water companies also provide water service in the County. The
Spartanburg Sanitary Sewer District owns and operates several sewage treatment facilities which serve the County.
The Greer Commission of Public Works and the Town of Lyman also provide sewage treatment facilities.

Recreation. The County oversees 26 County parks along with numerous organized team sports. One of these
parks is the Tyger River Park which is a 137-acre youth baseball and softball regional sports complex which includes
12 lighted fields, a lighted championship stadium, meeting space, concession stands, multiple restrooms, a playground
and an observation tower.

Tourists and residents also are drawn to the Zentrum, a visitor’s center operated by BMW Manufacturing
Corp. The Zentrum houses a museum, an auditorium and other special attractions and draws approximately 60,000
visitors annually. Located in the County are Cowpens National Battlefield, which is the site of a major battle of the
Revolutionary War, and Walnut Grove Plantation, which is a restored estate with authentic furnishings and a number
of restored outbuildings. Also located in the County is the Upward Star Center, which is a private, nonprofit sports
complex owned and operated by Upward Sports. It features six full-sized basketball courts, twelve regulation indoor
volleyball courts, four batting cages, a running track, a strength and conditioning area with trainers, weights and cardio
machines, a speed and agility area, team rooms, players’ lounge, meeting rooms, a café, a retail shop, four lighted
sand volleyball courts, two lighted artificial turf and four grass fields.
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DISCLOSURE DISSEMINATION AGENT AGREEMENT

This Disclosure Dissemination Agent Agreement (the “Disclosure Agreement”), dated as of May 28, 2020,
is executed and delivered by the Commissioners of Public Works of the City of Spartanburg, South Carolina (the
“Commissioners”), the governing body of the Spartanburg Water System (the “System”) and Digital Assurance
Certification, L.L.C., as exclusive Disclosure Dissemination Agent (the “Disclosure Dissemination Agent” or “DAC”)
for the benefit of the Holders (defined below) of the Bonds (defined below) and in order to assist the Commissioners
in processing certain continuing disclosure with respect to the Bonds in accordance with Rule 15¢2-12 of the United
States Securities and Exchange Commission under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as the same may be amended
from time to time (the “Rule”).

The services provided under this Disclosure Agreement solely relate to the execution of instructions received
from the Commissioners through use of the DAC system and do not constitute “advice” within the meaning of the
Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (the “Act”). DAC will not provide any advice or
recommendation to the Commissioners or anyone on the Commissioners’ behalf regarding the “issuance of municipal
securities” or any “municipal financial product” as defined in the Act and nothing in this Disclosure Agreement
shall be interpreted to the contrary. DAC is not a “Municipal Advisor” as such term is defined in Section 15B of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and related rules.

SECTION 1. Definitions. Capitalized terms not otherwise defined in this Disclosure Agreement shall
have the meaning assigned in the Rule or, to the extent not in conflict with the Rule, in the Official Statement (defined
below). The capitalized terms shall have the following meanings:

“Annual Filing Date” means the date, set in Sections 2(a) and 2(f) hereof, by which the Annual Report is to
be filed with the MSRB.

“Annual Financial Information” means annual financial information as such term is used in paragraph
(b)(5)(i) of the Rule and specified in Section 3(a) of this Disclosure Agreement.

“Annual Report” means an Annual Report containing Annual Financial Information described in and
consistent with Section 3 of this Disclosure Agreement.

“Audited Financial Statements” means the annual financial statements of the Commissioners for the prior
fiscal year, certified by an independent auditor as prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles or otherwise, as such term is used in paragraph (b)(5)(i)(B) of the Rule and specified in Section 3(b) of this
Disclosure Agreement.

“Bonds” means the bonds as listed on the attached Exhibit A, with the 9-digit CUSIP numbers relating
thereto.

“Certification” means a written certification of compliance signed by the Disclosure Representative stating
that the Annual Report, Audited Financial Statements, Notice Event notice, Failure to File Event notice, Voluntary
Event Disclosure or Voluntary Financial Disclosure delivered to the Disclosure Dissemination Agent is the Annual
Report, Audited Financial Statements, Notice Event notice, Failure to File Event notice, Voluntary Event Disclosure
or Voluntary Financial Disclosure required to be submitted to the MSRB under this Disclosure Agreement. A
Certification shall accompany each such document submitted to the Disclosure Dissemination Agent by the
Commissioners and include the full name of the Bonds and the 9-digit CUSIP numbers for all Bonds to which the
document applies.

“Disclosure Dissemination Agent” means Digital Assurance Certification, L.L.C, acting in its capacity as
Disclosure Dissemination Agent hereunder, or any successor Disclosure Dissemination Agent designated in writing
by the Commissioners pursuant to Section 9 hereof.

“Disclosure Representative” means the Chief Financial Officer or his or her designee, or such other person

as the Commissioners shall designate in writing to the Disclosure Dissemination Agent from time to time as the person
responsible for providing Information to the Disclosure Dissemination Agent.
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“Failure to File Event” means the Commissioners’ failure to file an Annual Report on or before the Annual
Filing Date.

“Financial Obligation” means (i) a debt obligation; (ii) a derivative instrument entered into in connection
with, or pledged as security or a source of payment for, an existing or planned debt obligation; or (iii) a guarantee of
either (i) or (ii). The term “Financial Obligation” shall not include municipal securities as to which a final official
statement has been provided to the MSRB consistent with the Rule.

“Force Majeure Event” means: (i) acts of God, war, or terrorist action; (ii) failure or shut-down of the
Electronic Municipal Market Access system maintained by the MSRB; or (iii) to the extent beyond the Disclosure
Dissemination Agent’s reasonable control, interruptions in telecommunications or utilities services, failure,
malfunction or error of any telecommunications, computer or other electrical, mechanical or technological application,
service or system, computer virus, interruptions in Internet service or telephone service (including due to a virus,
electrical delivery problem or similar occurrence) that affect Internet users generally, or in the local area in which the
Disclosure Dissemination Agent or the MSRB is located, or acts of any government, regulatory or any other competent
authority the effect of which is to prohibit the Disclosure Dissemination Agent from performance of its obligations
under this Disclosure Agreement.

“Holder” means any person (a) having the power, directly or indirectly, to vote or consent with respect to,
or to dispose of ownership of, any Bonds (including persons holding Bonds through nominees, depositories or other
intermediaries) or (b) treated as the owner of any Bonds for federal income tax purposes.

“Information” means, collectively, the Annual Reports, the Audited Financial Statements, the Notice Event
notices, the Failure to File Event notices, the Voluntary Event Disclosures and the Voluntary Financial Disclosures.

“Issuer” means the City of Spartanburg, South Carolina.

“MSRB” means the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board, or any successor thereto, established pursuant
to Section 15B(b)(1) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

“Notice Event” means any of the events enumerated in paragraph (b)(5)(i)(C) of the Rule and listed in
Section 4(a) of this Disclosure Agreement.

“Obligated Person” means any person, including the Issuer and the Commissioners, who is either generally
or through an enterprise, fund, or account of such person committed by contract or other arrangement to support
payment of all, or part of the obligations on the Bonds (other than providers of municipal bond insurance, letters of
credit, or other liquidity facilities), as shown on Exhibit A.

“Official Statement” means that Official Statement prepared by the Commissioners in connection with the
Series 2020 Bonds, as listed in Exhibit A.

“Trustee” means the institution, if any, identified as such in the document under which the Series 2020 Bonds
were issued.

“Voluntary Event Disclosure” means information of the category specified in any of subsections (e)(vi)(1)
through (e)(vi)(11) of Section 2 of this Disclosure Agreement that is accompanied by a Certification of the Disclosure
Representative containing the information prescribed by Section 7(a) of this Disclosure Agreement.

“Voluntary Financial Disclosure” means information of the category specified in any of subsections
(e)(vii)(1) through (e)(vii)(9) of Section 2 of this Disclosure Agreement that is accompanied by a Certification of the

Disclosure Representative containing the information prescribed by Section 7(b) of this Disclosure Agreement.

SECTION 2. Provision of Annual Reports.

(a) The Commissioners shall provide, annually, an electronic copy of the Annual Report and
Certification to the Disclosure Dissemination Agent not later than the Annual Filing Date. Promptly upon receipt of
an electronic copy of the Annual Report and the Certification, the Disclosure Dissemination Agent shall provide an
Annual Report to the MSRB not later than the end of the seventh month following the end of each fiscal year of the

E-2



System (currently, June 30), commencing with the fiscal year ending June 30, 2020. Such date and each anniversary
thereof is the Annual Filing Date. The Annual Report may be submitted as a single document or as separate documents
comprising a package, and may cross-reference other information as provided in Section 3 of this Disclosure
Agreement.

(b) If on the fifteenth (15th) day prior to the Annual Filing Date, the Disclosure Dissemination Agent
has not received a copy of the Annual Report and Certification, the Disclosure Dissemination Agent shall contact the
Disclosure Representative by telephone and in writing (which may be by e-mail) to remind the Commissioners of their
undertaking to provide the Annual Report pursuant to Section 2(a). Upon such reminder, the Disclosure Representative
shall either (i) provide the Disclosure Dissemination Agent with an electronic copy of the Annual Report and the
Certification no later than two (2) business days prior to the Annual Filing Date, or (ii) instruct the Disclosure
Dissemination Agent in writing that the Commissioners will not be able to file the Annual Report within the time
required under this Disclosure Agreement, state the date by which the Annual Report for such year will be provided
and instruct the Disclosure Dissemination Agent to immediately send a Failure to File Event notice to the MSRB in
substantially the form attached as Exhibit B, which may be accompanied by a cover sheet completed by the Disclosure
Dissemination Agent in the form set forth in Exhibit C-1.

(c) If the Disclosure Dissemination Agent has not received an Annual Report and Certification by 10:00
a.m. Eastern time on Annual Filing Date (or, if such Annual Filing Date falls on a Saturday, Sunday or holiday, then
the first business day thereafter) for the Annual Report, a Failure to File Event shall have occurred and the
Commissioners irrevocably direct the Disclosure Dissemination Agent to immediately send a Failure to File Event
notice to the MSRB in substantially the form attached as Exhibit B without reference to the anticipated filing date for
the Annual Report, which may be accompanied by a cover sheet completed by the Disclosure Dissemination Agent in
the form set forth in Exhibit C-1.

(d) If Audited Financial Statements of the System are prepared but not available prior to the Annual
Filing Date, the Commissioners shall, when the Audited Financial Statements are available, provide at such time an
electronic copy to the Disclosure Dissemination Agent, accompanied by a Certification, if any, for filing with the
MSRB.

(e) The Disclosure Dissemination Agent shall:
(1) verify the filing specifications of the MSRB each year prior to the Annual Filing Date;

(i1) upon receipt, promptly file each Annual Report received under Sections 2(a) and 2(b)
hereof with the MSRB;

(ii1) upon receipt, promptly file each Audited Financial Statement received under Section 2(d)
hereof with the MSRB;

(iv) upon receipt, promptly file the text of each Notice Event received under Sections 4(a) and
4(b)(ii) hereof with the MSRB, identifying the Notice Event as instructed by the Commissioners pursuant to
Section 4(a) or 4(b)(ii) hereof (being any of the categories set forth below) when filing pursuant to Section
4(c) of this Disclosure Agreement:

“Principal and interest payment delinquencies;”

“Non-Payment related defaults, if material;”

“Unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties;”
“Unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties;”
“Substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform;”

“Adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of proposed or final
determinations of taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue (IRS Form 5701-TEB) or other
material notices or determinations with respect to the tax status of the Bonds, or other
material events affecting the tax status of the Bonds;”

“Modifications to rights of securities holders, if material;”

“Bond calls, if material, and tender offers;”

“Defeasances;”

0. “Release, substitution, or sale of property securing repayment of the Bonds, if material;”

AN
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11.
12.
13.

14.

15.

16.

V)

“Rating changes;”

“Bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the obligated person;”
“Consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition involving an obligated person
or the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the obligated person, other than in the
ordinary course of business, the entry into a definitive agreement to undertake such an
action or the termination of a definitive agreement relating to any such actions, other than
pursuant to its terms, if material;”

“Appointment of a successor or additional trustee, or the change of name of a trustee, if
material;”

Incurrence of a Financial Obligation of the obligated person, if material, or agreement to
covenants, events of default, remedies, priority rights or other similar terms of a Financial
Obligation of the obligated person, any of which affect security holders, if material;” or
“Default, event of acceleration, termination event, modification of terms or other similar
events under the terms of a Financial Obligation of the District, any of which reflect
financial difficulties.”

upon receipt (or irrevocable direction pursuant to Section 2(c) of this Disclosure

Agreement, as applicable), promptly file a completed copy of Exhibit B to this Disclosure Agreement with
the MSRB, identifying the filing as “Failure to provide annual financial information as required” when filing
pursuant to Section 2(b)(ii) or Section 2(c) of this Disclosure Agreement;

(vi)

upon receipt, promptly file the text of each Voluntary Event Disclosure received under

Section 7(a) hereof with the MSRB, identifying the Voluntary Event Disclosure as instructed by the
Commissioners pursuant to Section 7(a) (being any of the categories set forth below) when filing pursuant to
Section 7(a) of this Disclosure Agreement:

(vii)

— O

“amendment to continuing disclosure undertaking;”

“change in obligated person;”

“notice to investors pursuant to bond documents;”

“certain communications from the Internal Revenue Service;” other than those
communications included in the Rule;

“secondary market purchases;”

“bid for auction rate or other securities;”

“capital or other financing plan;”

“litigation/enforcement action;”

“change of tender agent, remarketing agent, or other on-going party;”
“derivative or other similar transaction;” and

“other event-based disclosures;”

upon receipt, promptly file the text of each Voluntary Financial Disclosure received under

Section 7(b) hereof with the MSRB, identifying the Voluntary Financial Disclosure as instructed by the
Commissioners pursuant to Section 7(b) (being any of the categories set forth below) when filing pursuant
to Section 7(b) of this Disclosure Agreement:

1
2
3
4.
5.
6
7
8
9.
10.

(viii)

“quarterly/monthly financial information;”

“Timing of annual disclosure (120/150 days);”

“change in fiscal year/timing of annual disclosure;”

“change in accounting standard;”

“interim/additional financial information/operating data;”

“budget;”

“investment/debt/financial policy;”

“information provided to rating agency, credit/liquidity provider or other third party;”
“consultant reports;” and

“other financial/operating data.”

provide the Commissioners evidence of the filings of each of the above when made, which

shall be by means of the DAC system, for so long as DAC is the Disclosure Dissemination Agent under this
Disclosure Agreement.
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3] The Commissioners may adjust the Annual Filing Date upon change of its fiscal year by providing
written notice of such change and the new Annual Filing Date to the Disclosure Dissemination Agent, Trustee (if any)
and the MSRB, provided that the period between the existing Annual Filing Date and new Annual Filing Date shall
not exceed one year.

(2) Anything in this Disclosure Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding, any Information received
by the Disclosure Dissemination Agent before 10:00 a.m. Eastern time on any business day that it is required to file
with the MSRB pursuant to the terms of this Disclosure Agreement and that is accompanied by a Certification and all
other information required by the terms of this Disclosure Agreement will be filed by the Disclosure Dissemination
Agent with the MSRB no later than 11:59 p.m. Eastern time on the same business day; provided, however, the
Disclosure Dissemination Agent shall have no liability for any delay in filing with the MSRB if such delay is caused
by a Force Majeure Event provided that the Disclosure Dissemination Agent uses reasonable efforts to make any such
filing as soon as possible.

SECTION 3. Content of Annual Reports.

Each Annual Report shall contain Annual Financial Information with respect to the System, including:

(a) The Audited Financial Statements for the preceding fiscal year (commencing with the fiscal year
ending June 30, 2020), prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) or alternate
accounting principles, as described in the Official Statement. If the Audited Financial Statements are not available by
the Annual Filing Date, the Annual Report shall include unaudited financial statements, and the audited financial
statements shall be filed in the same manner as the Annual Report when they become available.

(b) To the extent such items are not included in the Audited Financial Statements referred to in
subsection (a) above, the financial and statistical data of the System for the preceding fiscal year, which information
is consistent with the information included in the Official Statement under the following headings:

(1) Information relating to the System’s Wholesale Customers, the billable consumption, total
charges and the percentage annual revenue for the preceding fiscal year, prepared substantially in the form
of and updating the table under the heading, “THE WATER SYSTEM- SERVICE AREA-Wholesale
Customers”,;

(i1) Information relating to the System’s Ten Largest Retail Customers (by revenue), the annual
consumption, annual revenue, and percentage of annual revenue, prepared substantially in the form of and
updating the table under the heading, “THE WATER SYSTEM-SERVICE AREA-Retail Customers”;

(1ii) The number of customers prepared substantially in the form of and updating the table under
the heading, “THE WATER SYSTEM- SERVICE AREA-Customer Base”;

(iv) The then-current Base Charge rate structure and the then-current Volume Charge Schedule,
prepared substantially in the form of and updating the tables under the headings, “THE WATER SYSTEM-
COST OF SERVICE-WATER RATES-Base Charge” and “- Volume Charge”; and

(v) The then-current Capacity Fee Schedule, prepared substantially in the form of and updating
the table under the heading, “THE WATER SYSTEM-COST OF SERVICE-WATER RATES-Capacity Fees.”

Any or all of the items listed above may be included by specific reference from other documents, including
official statements of debt issues with respect to which the Issuer or the Commissioners is an “obligated person” (as
defined by the Rule), which have been previously filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission or available on
the MSRB Internet Website. If the document incorporated by reference is a final official statement, it must be available
from the MSRB. The Commissioners will clearly identify each such document so incorporated by reference.

If the Annual Financial Information contains modified operating data or financial information different from
the Annual Financial Information agreed to in the continuing disclosure undertaking related to the Bonds, the
Commissioners are required to explain, in narrative form, the reasons for the modification and the impact of the change
in the type of operating data or financial information being provided.
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SECTION 4. Reporting of Notice Events.

(a) The occurrence of any of the following events with respect to the Bonds constitutes a Notice Event:
1. Principal and interest payment delinquencies;
2. Non-payment related defaults, if material,
3. Unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties;
4. Unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties;
5. Substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform;
6. Adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of proposed or final

determinations of taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue (IRS Form 5701-TEB) or other

material notices or determinations with respect to the tax status of the Bonds, or other

material events affecting the tax status of the Bonds;

Modifications to rights of Bond holders, if material;

Bond calls, if material, and tender offers;

9. Defeasances;

10. Release, substitution, or sale of property securing repayment of the Bonds, if material;

11. Rating changes;

12. Bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the Obligated Person;

Note to subsection (a)(12) of this Section 4: For the purposes of the event described
in subsection (a)(12) of this Section 4, the event is considered to occur when any of
the following occur: the appointment of a receiver, fiscal agent or similar officer for
an Obligated Person in a proceeding under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code or in any other
proceeding under state or federal law in which a court or governmental authority has
assumed jurisdiction over substantially all of the assets or business of the Obligated
Person, or if such jurisdiction has been assumed by leaving the existing governing
body and officials or officers in possession but subject to the supervision and orders
of a court or governmental authority, or the entry of an order confirming a plan of
reorganization, arrangement or liquidation by a court or governmental authority
having supervision or jurisdiction over substantially all of the assets or business of the
Obligated Person.

13. The consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition involving an Obligated
Person or the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the Obligated Person, other than
in the ordinary course of business, the entry into a definitive agreement to undertake such
an action or the termination of a definitive agreement relating to any such actions, other
than pursuant to its terms, if material;

14. Appointment of a successor or additional trustee or the change of name of a trustee, if
material;

15. Incurrence of a Financial Obligation of the obligated person, if material, or agreement to
covenants, events of default, remedies, priority rights or other similar terms of a Financial
Obligation of the obligated person, any of which affect security holders, if material; or

16. Default, event of acceleration, termination event, modification of terms or other similar
events under the terms of a Financial Obligation of the obligated person, any of which
reflect financial difficulties.

o~

The Commissioners shall, in a timely manner not later than nine (9) business days after its occurrence, notify
the Disclosure Dissemination Agent in writing of the occurrence of a Notice Event. Such notice shall instruct the
Disclosure Dissemination Agent to report the occurrence pursuant to subsection (c) and shall be accompanied by a
Certification. Such notice or Certification shall identify the Notice Event that has occurred (which shall be any of the
categories set forth in Section 2(e)(iv) of this Disclosure Agreement), include the text of the disclosure that the
Commissioners desire to make, contain the written authorization of the Commissioners for the Disclosure
Dissemination Agent to disseminate such information, and identify the date the Commissioners desire for the
Disclosure Dissemination Agent to disseminate the information (provided that such date is not later than the tenth
business day after the occurrence of the Notice Event).

(b) The Disclosure Dissemination Agent is under no obligation to notify the Commissioners or the

Disclosure Representative of an event that may constitute a Notice Event. In the event the Disclosure Dissemination
Agent so notifies the Disclosure Representative, the Disclosure Representative will within two business days of receipt
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of such notice (but in any event not later than the tenth business day after the occurrence of the Notice Event, if the
Commissioners determine that a Notice Event has occurred), instruct the Disclosure Dissemination Agent that either
(1) a Notice Event has not occurred and no filing is to be made or (ii) a Notice Event has occurred and the Disclosure
Dissemination Agent is to report the occurrence pursuant to subsection (c) of this Section 4, together with a
Certification. Such Certification shall identify the Notice Event that has occurred (which shall be any of the categories
set forth in Section 2(e)(iv) of this Disclosure Agreement), include the text of the disclosure that the Commissioners
desire to make, contain the written authorization of the Commissioners for the Disclosure Dissemination Agent to
disseminate such information, and identify the date the Commissioners desire for the Disclosure Dissemination Agent
to disseminate the information (provided that such date is not later than the tenth business day after the occurrence of
the Notice Event).

() If the Disclosure Dissemination Agent has been instructed by the Commissioners as prescribed in
subsection (a) or (b)(ii) of this Section 4 to report the occurrence of a Notice Event, the Disclosure Dissemination
Agent shall promptly file a notice of such occurrence with MSRB in accordance with Section 2 (e)(iv) hereof. This
notice may be filed with a cover sheet completed by the Disclosure Dissemination Agent in the form set forth in
Exhibit C-1.

SECTION 5. CUSIP Numbers. The Commissioners will provide the Dissemination Agent with the
CUSIP numbers for (i) new bonds at such time as they are issued or become subject to the Rule and (ii) any Bonds to
which new CUSIP numbers are assigned in substitution for the CUSIP numbers previously assigned to such Bonds.

SECTION 6. Additional Disclosure Obligations. The Commissioners acknowledge and understand that
other state and federal laws, including but not limited to the Securities Act of 1933 and Rule 10b-5 promulgated under
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, may apply to the Commissioners, and that the duties and responsibilities of the
Disclosure Dissemination Agent under this Disclosure Agreement do not extend to providing legal advice regarding
such laws. The Commissioners acknowledge and understand that the duties of the Disclosure Dissemination Agent
relate exclusively to execution of the mechanical tasks of disseminating information as described in this Disclosure
Agreement.

SECTION 7. Voluntary Filing.

(a) The Commissioners may instruct the Disclosure Dissemination Agent to file a Voluntary Event
Disclosure with the MSRB from time to time pursuant to a Certification of the Disclosure Representative. Such
Certification shall identify the Voluntary Event Disclosure (which shall be any of the categories set forth in Section
2(e)(vi) of this Disclosure Agreement), include the text of the disclosure that the Commissioners desire to make,
contain the written authorization of the Commissioners for the Disclosure Dissemination Agent to disseminate such
information, and identify the date the Commissioners desire for the Disclosure Dissemination Agent to disseminate
the information. If the Disclosure Dissemination Agent has been instructed by the Commissioners as prescribed in
this Section 7(a) to file a Voluntary Event Disclosure, the Disclosure Dissemination Agent shall promptly file such
Voluntary Event Disclosure with the MSRB in accordance with Section 2(e)(vi) hereof. This notice may be filed with
a cover sheet completed by the Disclosure Dissemination Agent in the form set forth in Exhibit C-2.

(b) The Commissioners, in their discretion, may instruct the Disclosure Dissemination Agent to file a
Voluntary Financial Disclosure with the MSRB from time to time pursuant to a Certification of the Disclosure
Representative. Such Certification shall identify the Voluntary Financial Disclosure (which shall be any of the
categories set forth in Section 2(e)(vii) of this Disclosure Agreement), include the text of the disclosure that the
Commissioners desire to make, contain the written authorization of the Commissioners for the Disclosure
Dissemination Agent to disseminate such information, and identify the date the Commissioners desire for the
Disclosure Dissemination Agent to disseminate the information. If the Disclosure Dissemination Agent has been
instructed by the Commissioners as prescribed in this Section 7(b) hereof to file a Voluntary Financial Disclosure, the
Disclosure Dissemination Agent shall promptly file such Voluntary Financial Disclosure with the MSRB in
accordance with Section 2(e)(vii) hereof. This notice may be filed with a cover sheet completed by the Disclosure
Dissemination Agent in the form set forth in Exhibit C-3.

The parties hereto acknowledge that the Commissioners are not obligated pursuant to the terms of this

Disclosure Agreement to file any Voluntary Event Disclosure pursuant to Section 7(a) hereof or any Voluntary
Financial Disclosure pursuant to Section 7(b) hereof.
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Nothing in this Disclosure Agreement shall be deemed to prevent the Commissioners from disseminating
any other information through the Disclosure Dissemination Agent using the means of dissemination set forth in this
Disclosure Agreement or including any other information in any Annual Report, Audited Financial Statements, Notice
Event notice, Failure to File Event notice, Voluntary Event Disclosure or Voluntary Financial Disclosure, in addition
to that required by this Disclosure Agreement. If the Commissioners choose to include any information in any Annual
Report, Audited Financial Statements, Notice Event notice, Failure to File Event notice, Voluntary Event Disclosure
or Voluntary Financial Disclosure in addition to that which is specifically required by this Disclosure Agreement, the
Commissioners shall have no obligation under this Disclosure Agreement to update such information or include it in
any future Annual Report, Audited Financial Statements, Notice Event notice, Failure to File Event notice, Voluntary
Event Disclosure or Voluntary Financial Disclosure.

SECTION 8. Termination of Reporting Obligation. The obligations of the Commissioners and the
Disclosure Dissemination Agent under this Disclosure Agreement shall terminate with respect to the Bonds upon the
legal defeasance, prior redemption or payment in full of all of the Bonds, when the Commissioners are no longer an
obligated person with respect to the Bonds, or upon delivery by the Disclosure Representative to the Disclosure
Dissemination Agent of an opinion of counsel expert in federal securities laws to the effect that continuing disclosure
is no longer required.

SECTION 9. Disclosure Dissemination Agent. The Commissioners have appointed Digital Assurance
Certification, L.L.C. as exclusive Disclosure Dissemination Agent under this Disclosure Agreement. The
Commissioners may, upon thirty days written notice to the Disclosure Dissemination Agent and the Trustee, replace
or appoint a successor Disclosure Dissemination Agent. Upon termination of DAC’s services as Disclosure
Dissemination Agent, whether by notice of the Commissioners or DAC, the Commissioners agree to appoint a
successor Disclosure Dissemination Agent or, alternately, agrees to assume all responsibilities of Disclosure
Dissemination Agent under this Disclosure Agreement for the benefit of the Holders of the Bonds. Notwithstanding
any replacement or appointment of a successor, the Commissioners shall remain liable to the Disclosure Dissemination
Agent until payment in full for any and all sums owed and payable to the Disclosure Dissemination Agent. The
Disclosure Dissemination Agent may resign at any time by providing thirty days’ prior written notice to the
Commissioners.

SECTION 10.  Remedies in Event of Default. In the event of a failure of the Commissioners or the
Disclosure Dissemination Agent to comply with any provision of this Disclosure Agreement, the Holders’ rights to
enforce the provisions of this Agreement shall be limited solely to a right, by action in mandamus or for specific
performance, to compel performance of the parties’ obligation under this Disclosure Agreement. Any failure by a
party to perform in accordance with this Disclosure Agreement shall not constitute a default on the Bonds or under
any other document relating to the Bonds, and all rights and remedies shall be limited to those expressly stated herein.

SECTION 11.  Duties, Immunities and Liabilities of Disclosure Dissemination Agent.

(a) The Disclosure Dissemination Agent shall have only such duties as are specifically set forth in this
Disclosure Agreement. The Disclosure Dissemination Agent’s obligation to deliver the information at the times and
with the contents described herein shall be limited to the extent the Commissioners have provided such information
to the Disclosure Dissemination Agent as required by this Disclosure Agreement. The Disclosure Dissemination Agent
shall have no duty with respect to the content of any disclosures or notice made pursuant to the terms hereof. The
Disclosure Dissemination Agent shall have no duty or obligation to review or verify any Information or any other
information, disclosures or notices provided to it by the Commissioners and shall not be deemed to be acting in any
fiduciary capacity for the Commissioners, the Holders of the Bonds or any other party. The Disclosure Dissemination
Agent shall have no responsibility for the Commissioners’ failure to report to the Disclosure Dissemination Agent a
Notice Event or a duty to determine the materiality thereof. The Disclosure Dissemination Agent shall have no duty
to determine, or liability for failing to determine, whether the Commissioner have complied with this Disclosure
Agreement. The Disclosure Dissemination Agent may conclusively rely upon Certifications of the Commissioners at
all times.

The obligations of the Commissioners under this Section shall survive resignation or removal of the Disclosure
Dissemination Agent and defeasance, redemption or payment of the Bonds.

(b) The Disclosure Dissemination Agent may, from time to time, consult with legal counsel (either in-
house or external) of its own choosing in the event of any disagreement or controversy, or question or doubt as to the
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construction of any of the provisions hereof or its respective duties hereunder, and shall not incur any liability and
shall be fully protected in acting in good faith upon the advice of such legal counsel. The reasonable fees and expenses
of such counsel shall be payable by the Commissioners.

(©) All documents, reports, notices, statements, information and other materials provided to the MSRB
under this Agreement shall be provided in an electronic format and accompanied by identifying information as
prescribed by the MSRB.

SECTION 12.  Amendment; Waiver. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Disclosure Agreement,
the Commissioners and the Disclosure Dissemination Agent may amend this Disclosure Agreement and any provision
of this Disclosure Agreement may be waived, if such amendment or waiver is supported by an opinion of counsel
expert in federal securities laws acceptable to both the Commissioners and the Disclosure Dissemination Agent to the
effect that such amendment or waiver does not materially impair the interests of Holders of the Bonds and would not,
in and of itself, cause the undertakings herein to violate the Rule if such amendment or waiver had been effective on
the date hereof but taking into account any subsequent change in or official interpretation of the Rule; provided neither
the Commissioners or the Disclosure Dissemination Agent shall be obligated to agree to any amendment modifying
their respective duties or obligations without their consent thereto.

Notwithstanding the preceding paragraph, the Disclosure Dissemination Agent shall have the right to adopt
amendments to this Disclosure Agreement necessary to comply with modifications to and interpretations of the
provisions of the Rule as announced by the Securities and Exchange Commission from time to time by giving not less
than 20 days written notice of the intent to do so together with a copy of the proposed amendment to the
Commissioners. No such amendment shall become effective if the Commissioners shall, within 10 days following the
giving of such notice, send a notice to the Disclosure Dissemination Agent in writing that it objects to such amendment.

SECTION 13.  Beneficiaries. This Disclosure Agreement shall inure solely to the benefit of the
Commissioners, the Trustee, if any, for the Bonds, the Disclosure Dissemination Agent, the underwriter, and the

Holders from time to time of the Bonds, and shall create no rights in any other person or entity.

SECTION 14.  Governing Law. This Disclosure Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of
South Carolina (other than with respect to conflicts of laws).

SECTION 15.  Counterparts. This Disclosure Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each
of which shall be an original and all of which shall constitute but one and the same instrument.
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The Disclosure Dissemination Agent and the Commissioners have caused this Continuing Disclosure
Agreement to be executed, on the date first written above, by their respective officers duly authorized.

DIGITAL ASSURANCE CERTIFICATION, L.L.C., as
Disclosure Dissemination Agent

By:

Name:

Title:

COMMISSIONERS OF PUBLIC WORKS OF THE
CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA, as
Obligated Person

By:

Name:

Title:
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EXHIBIT A

NAME AND CUSIP NUMBERS OF BONDS

Name of Issuer: City of Spartanburg, South Carolina

Obligated Person(s): Commissioners of Public Works of the City of Spartanburg, South Carolina
Name of Bond Issue: $28,875,000 Taxable Water System Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2020
Date of Issuance: May 28, 2020

Date of Official Statement: April 23, 2020

CUSIP Numbers:
Due
June 1 CUSIP

2021 847184 VD7
2022 847184 VE5
2023 847184 VF2
2024 847184 VGO
2025 847184 VHS
2026 847184 VI4
2027 847184 VK1
2028 847184 VL9
2029 847184 VM7
2030 847184 VN5
2031 847184 VPO
2032 847184 VQ8
2033 847184 VR6
2034 847184 VS4
2035 847184 VT2
2039 847184 VU9
2043 847184 VV7



EXHIBIT B

NOTICE TO MSRB OF FAILURE TO FILE ANNUAL REPORT

Name of Issuer: City of Spartanburg, South Carolina

Obligated Person(s): Commissioners of Public Works of the City of Spartanburg, South Carolina
Name of Bond Issue: $28,875,000 Taxable Water System Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2020
Date of Issuance: May 28, 2020

Date of Official Statement: April 23, 2020

CUSIP Numbers:
Due
June 1 CUSIP

2021 847184 VD7
2022 847184 VE5
2023 847184 VF2
2024 847184 VGO
2025 847184 VHS
2026 847184 VI4
2027 847184 VK1
2028 847184 VL9
2029 847184 VM7
2030 847184 VN5
2031 847184 VPO
2032 847184 VQ8
2033 847184 VR6
2034 847184 VS4
2035 847184 VT2
2039 847184 VU9
2043 847184 VV7

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Obligated Person has not provided an Annual Report with respect to
the above-named Bonds as required by the Disclosure Agreement between the Obligated Person and Digital Assurance
Certification, L.L.C., as Disclosure Dissemination Agent. [The Obligated Person has notified the Disclosure
Dissemination Agent that it anticipates that the Annual Report will be filed by ].

Dated:

Digital Assurance Certification, L.L.C., as Disclosure
Dissemination Agent, on behalf of the Obligated Person

CC:



EXHIBIT C-1

EVENT NOTICE COVER SHEET

This cover sheet and accompanying “event notice” may be sent to the MSRB, pursuant to Securities and Exchange
Commission Rule 15¢2-12(b)(5)(1)(C) and (D).

Issuer’s and/or Other Obligated Person’s Name: Commissioners of Public Works of the City of Spartanburg, South
Carolina

Issuer’s Six-Digit CUSIP Number:

or Nine-Digit CUSIP Number(s) of the bonds to which this event notice relates:

Number of pages attached:

Description of Notice Events (Check One):

1. “Principal and interest payment delinquencies;”

2. “Non-Payment related defaults, if material;”

3. “Unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties;”

4. “Unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties;”

5. “Substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform;”

6. “Adverse tax opinions, IRS notices or events affecting the tax status of the security;”

7. “Modifications to rights of securities holders, if material;”

8. “Bond calls, if material;”

9. “Defeasances;”

10. “Release, substitution, or sale of property securing repayment of the securities, if material;”

11. “Rating changes;”

12. “Tender offers;”

13. “Bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the obligated person;”

14. “Merger, consolidation, or acquisition of the obligated person, if material;”

15. “Appointment of a successor or additional trustee, or the change of name of a trustee, if material.”
16. “Incurrence of a Financial Obligation of the obligated person, if material, or agreement to covenants,

events of default, remedies, priority rights or other similar terms of a Financial Obligation of the
obligated person, any of which affect security holders, if material;” or
17. “Default, event of acceleration, termination event, modification of terms or other similar events under
the terms of a Financial Obligation of the District, any of which reflect financial difficulties.”
_ Failure to provide annual financial information as required.

I hereby represent that I am authorized by the obligated person or its agent to distribute this information publicly:

Signature:
Name: Title:
Digital Assurance Certification, L.L.C.
315 East Robinson Street, Suite 300
Orlando, FL 32801
407-515-1100
Date:

E-13



EXHIBIT C-2
VOLUNTARY EVENT DISCLOSURE COVER SHEET

This cover sheet and accompanying “voluntary event disclosure” may be sent to the MSRB, pursuant to the Disclosure
Dissemination Agent Agreement dated as of May 28, 2020 between the Obligated Peron and DAC.

Issuer’s and/or Other Obligated Person’s Name: Commissioners of Public Works of the City of Spartanburg. South
Carolina

Issuer’s Six-Digit CUSIP Number:

or Nine-Digit CUSIP Number(s) of the bonds to which this notice relates:

Number of pages attached:

Description of Voluntary Event Disclosure (Check One):

1. “amendment to continuing disclosure undertaking;”

2. “change in obligated person;”

3. “notice to investors pursuant to bond documents;”

4, “certain communications from the Internal Revenue Service;”
5. “secondary market purchases;”

6. “bid for auction rate or other securities;”

7. “capital or other financing plan;”

8. “litigation/enforcement action;”

9. “change of tender agent, remarketing agent, or other on-going party;”
10. “derivative or other similar transaction;” and

11. “other event-based disclosures.”

I hereby represent that I am authorized by the obligated person or its agent to distribute this information publicly:

Signature:
Name: Title:
Digital Assurance Certification, L.L.C.
315 East Robinson Street, Suite 300
Orlando, FL 32801
407-515-1100
Date:




EXHIBIT C-3
VOLUNTARY FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE COVER SHEET

This cover sheet and accompanying “voluntary financial disclosure” may be sent to the MSRB, pursuant to the
Disclosure Dissemination Agent Agreement dated as of May 28, 2020 between the Obligated Person and DAC.

Issuer’s and/or Other Obligated Person’s Name: Commissioners of Public Works of the City of Spartanburg, South
Carolina

Issuer’s Six-Digit CUSIP Number:

or Nine-Digit CUSIP Number(s) of the bonds to which this notice relates:

Number of pages attached:
Description of Voluntary Financial Disclosure (Check One):

“quarterly/monthly financial information;”
“change in fiscal year/timing of annual disclosure;”
“change in accounting standard;”
“interim/additional financial information/operating data;”
. “budget;”
“investment/debt/financial policy;”
“information provided to rating agency, credit/liquidity provider or other third party;”
“consultant reports;” and
“other financial/operating data.”

D ONAU AW~

I hereby represent that I am authorized by the obligated person or its agent to distribute this information publicly:

Signature:
Name: Title:
Digital Assurance Certification, L.L.C.
315 East Robinson Street, Suite 300
Orlando, FL 32801
407-515-1100
Date:

E-15



[THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]






Spartanburg

Water

Product group from well managed
- forests, controlled sources and
recycled wood or fiber.

[ @Y Mixed Sources ]

Printed by: ImageMaster, LLC

www.imagemaster.com

0207 SATIAS ‘SANOT ANNTATA ONIANNATH IWALSAS YALVA A TAVXVL « VNI'TOHVD HLNOS ‘DININVLAVIS A0 ALID



	OFFICIAL STATEMENT
	TABLE OF CONTENTS
	INTRODUCTION
	General
	Authorization
	Purpose

	THE SERIES 2020 BONDS
	Terms
	Redemption Provisions
	Registration, Transfer and Exchange
	Book-Entry System
	Mutilated, Lost, Stolen or Destroyed Series 2020 Bonds

	SECURITY FOR THE SERIES 2020 BONDS
	Pledged System Revenues
	Debt Service Reserve Funds
	Future Amendments Regarding Debt Service Reserve Funds
	Other Funds
	Disposition of Gross Revenues
	2013 Transfer Agreement
	Rate Covenant
	Additional Bonds
	Subordinate Lien Bonds
	Special Facilities Bonds

	PLAN OF REFUNDING
	SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS
	ANNUAL DEBT SERVICE REQUIREMENTS
	THE WATER SYSTEM
	Description of the Commission
	Description of the Water System
	Capital Improvement Program – Future Issuance
	Historical Summary of Revenues and Expenses
	Historical Debt Service Coverage
	Management’s Discussion and Analysis
	System Personnel
	Service Area
	Revenues of the System
	Cost of Service-Water Rates
	Comparative General Statistics For Past Five Fiscal Years
	Additions to Property, Plant, and Equipment
	Regulation and Permits
	Retirement Plans
	GASB 75
	Cyber Security Management
	Recent Developments

	RATINGS
	UNDERWRITING
	LEGAL MATTERS
	Litigation
	Opinions of Counsel

	TAX MATTERS
	Federal Income Tax
	State Tax Exemption

	UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY CODE
	ENFORCEABILITY OF REMEDIES
	CONTINUING DISCLOSURE
	FINANCIAL ADVISOR
	VERIFICATION
	AUTHORIZATION OF OFFICIAL STATEMENT
	CONCLUDING STATEMENT
	APPENDIX A - Comprehensive Annual Financial Report of Spartanburg Water System for the Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2019
	APPENDIX B - Bond Ordinance Together with Amendments
	APPENDIX C - Form of Bond Counsel Opinion
	APPENDIX D - Information Regarding the City of Spartanburg and Spartanburg County,
 South Carolina
	APPENDIX E - Form of Disclosure Dissemination Agent Agreement


		2020-04-28T15:15:28-0400
	MuniOS.com




